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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)

Hong Kong H-Share Registrar and Transfer
Office
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H Shares: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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Investors and Media Relations
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Fax: (86) 536-819 7073

Website: www.weichaipower.com

Public Relations Consultant:
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The Office of the Board of Directors
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6 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #%E HRHBRED T

Financial Summary B 5 WE

. Revenue amounted to approximately RMB106,135 million, an increase of o &AL A ARYE106,1358 8 T © 12
approximately 22.3%. ’#922.3% °

. Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent amountedto o BEBRBARKRENEFINNENAEARE

approximately RMB3,899 million, an increase of approximately 63.1%. 3,899F BT’ R 463.1% °
. Basic earnings per share was approximately RMB0.45. o BREAXRAEFLNABAREEC.ASTT -

(Important notice: This report is published in Chinese and English versions. In case of  (EZEIEF : AL D RIAPETFIH o 0P EXHE
inconsistency, the Chinese version shall prevail.) AZE  BARXEE - )



Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the reviewed interim results of
the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2023.

L.

Review of Operating Conditions

Since 2023, the recovery of global economy has been characterised
by prominent differentiation, and different economies and industries
have shown an “unevenly hot and cold” trend. The domestic economic
operation entered a plateau phase after experiencing a pulse recovery
at the beginning of the year. Under the combined effect of economic
recovery and improvement, continuous release of policy effect and
lower base in the corresponding period of last year, there were more
favorable factors for the development of the industry. However, affected
by factors such as the complicated and severe international environment
and insufficient domestic demand, the industry was still facing great
pressure. From January to June, the heavy-duty truck industry of China
delivered a sales volume of 488,000 units, representing a year-on-year
increase of 29%; the construction machinery industry delivered a sales
volume of 379,000 units (including 188,000 units of diesel forklift trucks),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 12%; the agricultural equipment
industry delivered a sales volume of 227,000 unites, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 17.4%.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

During the reporting period, in the face of complicated development
conditions, the Company made systematic planning and reasonable
arrangement and implemented precise policies to continuously deepen
reforms, actively expand segment markets, continuously increase
investment in research and development and stringently prevent
operational risks, which maintained a continuous improvement in the
overall operating quality and a stable development. In the first half of
the year, the Company’s revenue increased by 22.3% as compared with
that in the corresponding period of 2022 to approximately RMB106,135
million. Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB3,899 million, representing an increase of
approximately 63.1% as compared with that in the corresponding period
of 2022. Basic earnings per share was RMBO0.45, representing an increase
of approximately 64.7% as compared with that in the corresponding
period of 2022.

1. Power System Business
With the high-quality development driven by scientific
and technological innovation, we continued to reaffirm
our leading position in the industry. By establishing product
R&D systems for different segment markets and enhancing R&D
capabilities throughout the whole process, we have been able to
satisfy demands of customers more comprehensively and quickly.
We fully enhanced power performance, reliability and affordability
of our light-duty power products to continuously improve our
product competitiveness, so as to gain reputation in the market.
High-horsepower and high-end products continued to exert
their strengths, and products such as WP14H, WP14T, WP15H,
WP15T and WP15NG have set new industry benchmarks in trunk
logistics, green cold chain, express delivery, port transportation,
hazardous chemicals transportation and other markets, and become
customers’ preferred brand of power products. Supply volume of
the high-end large-diameter engines in the high-end markets such
as data centre, mine emergency power supply and mining truck,
has been rising steadily, which have become a new growth point of
the Company and demonstrated remarkable results of the product
structure adjustment. With significant differentiated advantage
in powertrains, our core competitiveness became more
outstanding. The new generation of powertrain products with
high thermal efficiency had obvious advantages of high reliability
and high transmission efficiency, and continued to lead the new
era of energy saving for high-horsepower heavy-duty trucks in

China. The newly launched WP7H excavator hydraulic powertrain
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

and WP15H excavator hydraulic powertrain with strong power and
high reliability have become excellent excavating tools for a variety
of users. The WP17T engine + Linde Hydraulics powertrain has
been applied to 80-ton excavators for bulk production for the first
time. It is the best mining excavator in the new generation due to
its reliable performance and significantly lower fuel consumption as
compared with excavators at the same ton level. High-horsepower
intelligent CVT tractors have been put into the market in large
quantities, which has quickly established our core competitive
advantage of high-end agricultural equipment and effectively
promoted the transformation and upgrading of China’s agricultural
machinery industry.

During the reporting period, the market shares of the Company in
various segment markets increased steadily which maintained our
leading position in various product markets. Sales volume of engines
amounted to 367,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase
of 29%, among which the market share of domestic heavy-duty
engines with 500hp or above reached 31.7%, representing a
year-on-year increase of 19.7 percentage points and a significant
increase in profitability. The export volume amounted to 39,000
units, representing a year-on-year increase of 52%. Sales volume of
gear boxes amounted to 425,000 units, representing a year-on-year
increase of 33%. The export volume amounted to 22,000 units,
representing a year-on-year increase of 93%. Sales volume of axles
amounted to 361,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase
of 31%. Our high-end strategic products continued to make
contribution, with the revenue of large-diameter engines achieving
RMB1.71 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of 77%, and
the domestic revenue of high-end hydraulic products achieving
RMB500 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 46%.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Commercial Vehicle Business

Focusing on the strategy of being led by complete vehicles and
machineries, the Company accelerated the structural upgrading of
the industrial chain, and continuously enhanced the competitiveness
of its products. Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi
Zhonggi”), a controlling subsidiary of the Company, seized the
market opportunities, continued to adjust and optimise its product
structure and business structure and achieved substantial growth in
product sales, with the market growth rate ranking first for several
consecutive months. In the first half of the year, it recorded a total
sales volume of heavy-duty trucks of 61,000 units, representing
a year-on-year increase of 58%. The export volume amounted
to 26,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of 97%.
With the continuous enhancement in our core competitive
advantages, we achieved great breakthroughs in key segment
markets. By seizing the rising opportunity of natural gas heavy-
duty trucks, in the first half of the year, the total sales volume of
natural gas products of Shaanxi Zhongqi exceeded 10,000 units,
representing a year-on-year increase of 241% and an increase in
market share of 2.8%, which demonstrated users’ recognition
of its high reliability, light weight, high horsepower and low gas
consumption. Construction dump trucks continued to dominate
the market and ranked first in the industry with leading edge.
Cargo trucks achieved growths in both sales volume and market
share, with sales volume having increased by 107% year-on-

year and market share having increased by 2.2 percentage points.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) F R (AR
Adhering to innovation-driven development, we seized R CEREEITHENE TEE - 1%
the commanding point of heavy-duty truck technologies. i BIRHE M)l - BEEISH
We actively promoted upgrades in high-end heavy-duty trucks HEZH  EETBTAH RETE
and successfully launched the upgraded Delong X6000 17H840 HRKIRF -

high-horsepower high-end product, marking a new record in
the domestic heavy-duty truck market again and leading the
development of high-horsepower tractor market in China. By
actively promoting the layout of new energy heavy-duty truck
industry, integrating industry resources and matching the industry-
leading self-developed electric drive and electric control technology,
we realised bulk delivery in Xinjiang, Sichuan and Heilongjiang to fill

the market gap, which greatly enhanced our brand influence.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) F (A

Agricultural Equipment Business

Since 2023, there has been a significant downward trend in the
domestic agricultural machinery market. In face of the complicated
environment such as the transition from National Ill to National IV
and overdraft of subsidies, the Company focused on businesses
of intelligent agricultural machinery and intelligent agriculture
business and conducted in-depth research on segment markets
to constantly promote high-end and intelligent products and
services, fully demonstrating our resilience in development. With
comprehensive increase in market shares in various segment
markets, we maintained our leading market position. In the
first half of the year, relying on the excellent product performance,
high-horsepower intelligent tractors, large-input grain harvesting
machineries and compound seeders of Weichai Lovol Intelligent
Agricultural remained popular in the market, with sales volume
continuing to maintain a leading position in the PRC. We actively
played the leading role in the industry and led agricultural
machinery and equipment to high-end intelligence. The
P2404-7V high-horsepower CVT intelligent tractor of Weichai Lovol
realised the perfect combination of the best power and the best
fuel, which had the comprehensive working efficiency improved by
30% and the comprehensive fuel consumption reduced by 10%. It
has been delivered to users in Northeast China, Inner Mongolia and
Xinjiang in batches, and has been widely recognised by the market.
The prototype of 12kg/s crawler-type and 18kg/s wheel-type grain
combine harvester was completed, and the product performance
reached the international level. Focusing on modern agricultural
production and smart farm construction, we realised the integrated
application of core technologies such as whole-process intelligent
agricultural machinery, farm management platform and precision
operation, and solved the problem of scientific farming. At the
same time, we established an agricultural socialised service system
with whole-process custody as the core, providing new business
entities with a full-scenario service solution for the whole process of

grain production.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Intelligent Logistics Business

KION Group AG (“KION"), an overseas controlling subsidiary of the
Company, is a globally leading supplier in the area of intralogistics,
and its business mainly includes industrial forklift trucks, storage
technology and related services and supply chain solutions. KION
assists factories, warehouses and distribution centres to optimise
their materials flow and information flow through the design,
establishment and improvement of logistics solutions in over a
hundred countries and regions around the world. In the first half of
the year, KION realised sales revenue of EUR5.6 billion, representing
a year-on-year growth of 2%. Revenue from industrial vehicle

and service business increased significantly, and the operating

performance far exceeded expectations.
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New Business Format, New Energy and New
Technology

The Company has thoroughly implemented the new development
concept to accelerate the establishment of a new pattern of
business development and realise the scale development of new
energy business. The electric powertrain product platform has
been fully launched, and key technologies have reached the
industry-leading level. We independently developed a light-duty
truck electric drive axle powertrain integrating “high-speed flat-wire
motor platform + domain controller” with high integration and cost-

effective to optimise the overall performance of complete vehicles,
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

and the overall efficiency increased by more than 5%. Light-duty
truck and heavy-duty truck hybrid power systems were applied in
small quantities, reaching a maximum mileage of a single vehicle
of more than 130,000 kilometers. With the strategic cooperation
with BYD to jointly build a power battery R&D and manufacturing
base, we continued to strengthen the development of the new
energy industry chain, innovation chain, and value chain. Our fuel
cell business has made a world-leading breakthrough, leading
the development of multiple energy technologies in the
industry. The world’s first high-power metal-supported commercial
solid oxide fuel cell SOFC commercialised product with a combined
heat and power efficiency of 92.55% has been released, setting
the world’s highest record and providing green and low-carbon
solutions for distributed energy and microgrids. The hydrogen fuel
cell business continued to lead the development of the industry.
The cumulative mileage of buses equipped with Weichai’s hydrogen
fuel cell engines exceeded 30 million kilometers with a product life
span of 30,000 hours.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

II.

Dividends and Capitalisation of Reserve

On 28 June 2023, the Company’'s 2022 profit distribution proposal
was considered and approved at the Company’s 2022 annual general
meeting to distribute to the shareholders of 8,639,291,296 shares eligible
for distribution (including 6,696,251,296 A shares and 1,943,040,000
H shares), based on the Company’s existing total share capital of
8,726,556,821 shares and deducting 87,265,525 shares held by the
Company through the securities account designated for share repurchase
a cash dividend of RMB1.58 (including tax) for every 10 shares held,

without any capitalisation of reserve.

On 30 August 2023, pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate, the
Board of the Company intended to distribute to all shareholders a cash
dividend of RMB2.26 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, without
any capitalisation of reserve, temporarily based on 8,639,291,296 shares
eligible for profit distribution (calculated by deducting 87,265,525 shares
in the securities account designated for share repurchase from the total
share capital of the Company of 8,726,556,821 shares) as at 30 June
2023. If the total number of shares eligible for profit distribution changes
when the 2023 interim dividend distribution proposal is implemented,
based on the total number of shares which shall be eligible for profit
distribution on the record date at the time of the implementation of the
A shares distribution proposal, the Company shall make corresponding
adjustment to the total distribution amount based on the principle that
the distribution proportion shall remain unchanged. Please refer to
the announcement dated 15 September 2023 issued by the Company
for details on the closure of registers of members in determining the

shareholders who are eligible for the 2023 interim dividend.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) F (A

III. Outlook and Prospects = BEJRAT SR

Looking into the second half of 2023, under the influence of the gradual
recovery of the global supply chain, tightening monetary policy and
economic growth deceleration, the overall global liquidity and financing
environment is expected to be generally tight whereas the global
economic growth will continue to slow down. On the basis of restorative
growth in the first half of the year, China’s economy is expected to
accelerate the recovery of the micro-foundation, and continue to improve
market expectations thus moving towards expansionary growth. Under
the national economic tone of “stabilising infrastructure, expanding
consumption, protecting people’s livelihood, and preventing risks”, and
coupled with export demand, the recovery of consumption will play a
supporting role in bulk logistics and trunk logistics and drive the overall
sales level of heavy-duty trucks. The gradual acceleration of infrastructure
investment will form a physical workload, which will drive the demand for
construction vehicles such as dump trucks and mixer trucks. As evidenced
by the spring plowing three-summer operation experience, customers’
recognition of National IV agricultural equipment products has increased
significantly, and their concerns about products and services have been
gradually diminished. The demand for renewal of agricultural machinery

will gradually pick up in the second half of the year.

In the second half of the year, the Company will adhere to the
technology-led and innovation driven approach, continuously enhance
product competitiveness, continue to deepen enterprise reform, improve
quality and efficiency, seize the market, secure orders, and maintain high-

quality development.

We will continue to deepen the segment markets and make
breakthroughs in multiple areas. By seizing popular market
opportunities in gas vehicles and trucks, we will conduct promotion
activities around key areas to accelerate the sales of products, actively
promote the development and launch of new products, accelerate the
development and promotion of products in new markets, and achieve
strategic breakthroughs in the high-horsepower market. We will give
full play to the differentiated competitive advantages of powertrain,
conduct precise marketing, and quickly match resources to ensure a
steady increase in market share. Through continuously increasing

the intensity of scientific and technological innovation, we will
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

IV.

accelerate the realisation of self-reliance and self-improvement in
science and technology. Focusing on the competitive advantages of
traditional power products, we strive to maintain our leading position
by carrying out in-depth research on performance indicators such as
economy, reliability and power performance. We will also actively
explore the research of new generation of emission control technology
for better product reserves, and accelerate the application, development
and promotion of WPDI, methanol engine, and hydrogen internal
combustion engine. We will build complete test capabilities for electric
drive components, motor assemblies and powertrains, and continue to
increase research and development efforts on core technologies such as
self-developed motors, self-developed motor controllers, and new energy
powertrains, in order to make breakthroughs in fuel cell core technology
and accelerate the realisation of marketisation. Through deepening
reforms and reinforcing our foundation, we aim to move towards
a world-class enterprise. We will strengthen incentives for technological
achievements and performance evaluation of functional departments
to continuously improve management efficiency and R&D efficiency,
promote construction of process management system to focus on
strategic requirements and business objectives, and further improve and
optimise the process architecture system. We will also systematically plan
WOS promotion and evaluation to build a WOS management practice

sharing platform, and boost the management of the entire industry chain.

Appreciation
Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to all
our shareholders, the general public and our customers for their care and

support, as well as to all of our staff for their hard work and dedication!

Tan Xuguang

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 August 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of

the results of operations of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023

(the "Period” or the “reporting period”) as follows:

L.

Industry Analysis

The Company is one of the vehicle and equipment manufacturing
conglomerates in the PRC with the best comprehensive strengths. Our
development vision is to become a world leading, well-respected and
sustainably developing multinational group of intelligent industrial
equipment, with complete vehicles and machineries as the leading
business, and with powertrain as the core technology support. Over
the years, the Company has been dedicated to the dual-wheel drive
of product management and capital operation and striving to develop
competitive products in terms of three key aspects: quality, technology
and cost efficiency, thereby developing a new pattern of synergetic
development among business segments including powertrains (including
engines, gear boxes, axles and hydraulics), complete vehicles and

machineries, agricultural equipment and intelligent logistics.

1. Commercial Vehicles, Construction Machinery
and Agricultural Equipment Industries
In the first half of 2023, as the economy and society fully resumed
normal operation and the effect of macro-policies unleashed
significantly, the national economy began to rebound with
steady and progressive high-quality development. However, the
global political and economic situation was complicated and the
foundation for the sustained recovery and development of the
domestic economy was still not solid, and hence it was still facing

great pressure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) & T

The heavy-duty truck market performed generally well in the first
half of 2023. During the Period, the heavy-duty truck market
achieved sales of approximately 488,000 units, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 29%. The performance of the
domestic construction machinery market was still unsatisfactory due
to multiple factors. The bottoming trend continued throughout the
first half of the year. The construction machinery industry achieved
sales of approximately 379,000 units (including approximately
188,000 diesel forklifts) in the first half of the year, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 12%. Since 2023, due to
the superimposed influence of multiple factors such as upgrading
from National Ill to National IV and subsidy overdraft, the domestic
agricultural machinery market has experienced a sharp decline.
During the Period, the sales volume of the agricultural equipment
industry amounted to approximately 227,000 units, representing a

year-on-year decrease of approximately 17.4%.

Industrial Trucks and Supply Chain Solutions

The international industrial truck market in the EMEA and Americas
regions saw a substantial fall in order numbers in the Period.
The robust figures for the first half of 2022 had been bolstered
by customers placing orders earlier than scheduled intended in
response to longer delivery times. By contrast, the order numbers in

the APAC region went up noticeably in the Period.

The global market for supply chain solutions continued to be
affected by economic uncertainties in the first half of 2023. The
research institute Interact Analysis (2023) currently forecasts a fall in
new warehouse space for 2023 as a whole, compared with the very
strong figure for the previous year. But the positive medium- and

long-term trends in the supply chain solutions market remain intact.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

II. The Group’s Business
During the Period, the market shares of the Group in various segment
markets increased steadily which maintained our leading position in
various product markets. An analysis of the Group’s business segments
is set out in Note XIV.2 to the consolidated financial statements. The
following is an overview of the operating conditions of the major products

of the Group:

1. Powertrains, Complete Vehicles and Machineries
and Key Components
The Company has always adhered to scientific and technological
innovation in driving high-quality development and continuously
consolidating its leading position in the industry. It has established a
product research and development system for each segment market
and improved its full-process research and development capabilities
to meet customer needs in @ more comprehensive and rapid way.
With the Company’s significant differentiated advantages of the

powertrain, its core competitiveness continued to increase.

During the Period, the Company focused on the leading strategy
of complete vehicles and complete machineries, accelerated the
upgrading of the industrial chain structure, and continued to
enhance product competitiveness. Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive
Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhongqi”), a controlling subsidiary of the
Company, seized market opportunities and continued to adjust and
optimise its product and business structures. Its products achieved
a substantial growth in sales and its market growth rate ranked first

for many consecutive months.

During the Period, the Company sold a total of approximately
367,000 units of engines, representing a year-on-year increase
of 29%, among which the market share of domestic heavy-duty
engines with 500hp or above reached 31.7%, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 19.7 percentage points and a
significant increase in profitability. Sales volume of gear boxes and
axles amounted to approximately 425,000 units and approximately
361,000 units respectively, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 33% and 31%, respectively. In the first half of
the year, it recorded a total sales volume of heavy-duty trucks of
approximately 61,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of

approximately 58%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) & T

During the Period, the engine business contributed sales revenue
of approximately RMB23,363 million to the Group, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 37.6%, while the
automobile and auto parts business contributed sales revenue of
approximately RMB32,113 million to the Group, representing a

year-on-year increase of approximately 47.7%.

Intelligent Logistics

Revenue from industrial trucks & services business increased
significantly during the Period. The operating result far exceeded
expectations, increasing by approximately 19.9% year-on-year
from approximately EUR3,449 million for the corresponding
period last year to EUR4,135 million. However, the number of
new vehicle orders in industrial trucks & services business declined
by approximately 30% year-on-year to approximately 122,000
units due to slower market growth. The total value of order intake
declined by approximately 18.0% year-on-year from approximately
EUR4,827 million for the corresponding period last year to
approximately EUR3,957 million. On the other hand, after several
years of strong growth, the market for warehouse automation
solutions has become relatively weak and customer demand has
weakened significantly, with the total value of order intake of the
first half of the year amounting to approximately EUR1,371 million,
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 26.5% compared to the

corresponding period last year.

During the Period, the intelligent logistics business contributed
approximately RMB42,198 million to the Group's sales revenue,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately RMB3,036
million or approximately 7.8% compared to approximately

RMB39,162 million for the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Agricultural Equipment

Since 2023, the domestic agricultural machinery market has
experienced a sharp decline in the face of the complicated
environment such as upgrading from National Ill to National IV and
subsidy overdrafts. The Company focused on the development
of intelligent agricultural machinery and intelligent agricultural
business, conducted in-depth research on segment markets, and
continuously promoted high-end and intelligent products and
services, which fully demonstrated the resilience of development.
The market share of each segment market has increased in general
with continuously leading market position. During the Period,
the agricultural equipment business contributed sales revenue of

approximately RMB8,461 million to the Group.
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III. Financial Review =~ A Inl g
1. The Group’s Results of Operations 1. AEEZREXE

a. Revenue
In the first half of 2023, the Group’s revenue amounted to
approximately RMB106,135 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB 19,366 million or approximately 22.3%
from approximately RMB86,769 million in the corresponding
period in 2022, mainly attributable to the combined effect of
economic recovery and improvement, continuous release of
policy effects and the lower base in the corresponding period
last year, which resulted in the increase of favorable factors
for industry development and sales growth. Revenue from
principal operations amounted to approximately RMB104,410
million, representing an increase of approximately RMB18,879
million or approximately 22.1% from approximately

RMB85,531 million in the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Gross Operating Margin

During the Period, the Group’s gross operating margin was
19.4%, representing a rebound of 1.7% as compared with
that of the corresponding period last year. Among them, the
domestic segment was mainly affected by factors including
the rebound in overall sales revenue, the dilution of fixed
production costs and the increasing profitability of products,
while the overseas segment mainly benefited from the
increase of sales price and the stabilisation of material cost,
which resulted in the increase in the gross profit margin of

the overseas segment.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The distribution and selling expenses increased by
approximately RMB1,192 million or 23.8% from
approximately RMB5,013 million in the corresponding
period of 2022 to approximately RMB6,205 million during
the Period. The increase of distribution and selling expenses
was primarily attributable to an increase in after-sales
and repair fee and marketing expenses as affected by the
significant increase in turnover. During the Period, the
proportion of distribution and selling expenses to revenue
was approximately 5.8%, which was almost the same as the

corresponding period last year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB745 million or 19.2% from approximately
RMB3,879 million in the corresponding period of 2022 to
approximately RMB4,624 million during the Period. The
increase in general and administrative expenses was mainly
due to the recovery of business expansion which resulted in
an increase in staff costs and external support fee. During the
Period, the proportion of general and administrative expenses
to revenue was approximately 4.4%, which was almost the
same as approximately 4.5% for the corresponding period

last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Earnings before Interest and Tax (EBIT)

During the Period, the Group’s EBIT was approximately
RMB7,077 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB3,076 million or 76.9% from approximately RMB4,001
million in the corresponding period last year. The increase in
EBIT was primarily attributable to the increase in sales and
significant economies of scale, and the Group’s effective
control of expenses, which led to an increase in the EBIT
margin of the Group from approximately 4.7% in the
corresponding period of 2022 to approximately 6.7% during
the Period.

Finance Expenses

During the Period, finance expenses increased by RMB547
million as compared with that of the corresponding period
last year, mainly due to the further increase in the scale of
interest-bearing liabilities and the relatively high increase in
interest rates resulting from interest rate hikes, which resulted
in an increase in interest expenses of approximately RMB753
million as compared with that of the corresponding period
last year. On the other hand, during the Period, the exchange
rate of RMB against the US dollar presented an overall
upward trend, and the foreign exchange gain increased
significantly by approximately RMB151 million as compared

with that of the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

g.  Provision for Impairment

In accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises, Stock Listing Rules of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange and the relevant provisions of the Company’s
accounting policies, based on the principle of prudence, the
Company has conducted impairment tests on its assets with
signs of impairment within the scope of the consolidated
financial statements as at 30 June 2023 and made
corresponding impairment provisions for assets with signs of
impairment. According to the test results, provision made for
the impairment by the Company during the Period amounted
to approximately RMB555 million, of which the provision for
credit losses amounted to approximately RMB305 million,
provision for decline in value of inventories amounted to
approximately RMB215 million, provision for impairment
of goodwill amounted to approximately RMB18 million,
provision for impairment of fixed assets and intangible assets
amounted to approximately RMB10 million and provision for
impairment of right-of-use assets amounted to approximately
RMB7 million.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses increased by approximately
106.9% from approximately RMB465 million in the
corresponding period in 2022 to approximately RMB962
million during the Period, which was mainly attributable to
a significant increase in total profit. The Group's average
effective tax rate increased from approximately 13.6% in
the corresponding period last year to approximately 16.7%

during the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s net profit for the Period was approximately
RMB4,785 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB1,826 million or 61.7% from approximately RMB2,959
million in the corresponding period last year. Net profit
margin for the Period was approximately 4.5%, which
increased by 1.1 percentage points from approximately 3.4%

in the corresponding period last year.

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the Period, the Group generated operating cash
flows of approximately RMB12,893 million. A portion of
such proceeds was applied to repayment of debts, payment
of investment monies and payment of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment for the expansion of the

Group’s business.

As of 30 June 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
(net of interest-bearing debts) amounted to net cash of
RMB30,871 million. Based on the above calculations, the

Group is in @ net cash position.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio (interest-
bearing debts/(interest-bearing debts + shareholders’
equity)) was approximately 24.8% (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately 26.1%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

2. Financial Position 2.

a.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB322,610 million, of which approximately
RMB190,274 million were current assets. As at 30 June 2023,
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB76,747 million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
RMB70,842 million). As at the same date, the Group's total
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB213,061 million,
of which approximately RMB139,326 million were current
liabilities. The current ratio was approximately 1.37x (as at 31
December 2022: 1.41x).

Capital Structure

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB109,549 million, of which approximately
RMB76,997 million was attributable to equity holders of the

Company and the remaining balance was minority interests.

a.
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The borrowings of the Group as at 30 June 2023 amounted REBR_Z_=F A=+

to approximately RMB36,106 million, which included bonds
of approximately RMB6,434 million and bank borrowings of
approximately RMB29,672 million.

HOEBEESEHNAARKE
36,106 B 87T - HFBELHA
R¥6434EEBTTHNEHFRY
ARM29,6728H B ILHRITE
B o



28 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The bank borrowings included fixed interest rate bank
borrowings of approximately RMB8,209 million and floating
interest rate bank borrowings of approximately RMB21,463

million.

Borrowings repayable on demand or within a period not
exceeding one year were approximately RMB6,856 million;
borrowings repayable within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years were approximately RMB6,395
million; borrowings repayable within a period of more than
two years but not exceeding five years were approximately
RMB 16,345 million; and borrowings repayable within a period
of more than 5 years were approximately RMB76 million.
Other than Euro-denominated borrowings, USD-denominated
borrowings and GBP-denominated borrowings equivalent to
approximately RMB20,180 million, approximately RMB1,043
million and approximately RMB254 million respectively, the

borrowings were Renminbi-denominated borrowings.

The revenue of the Group is mainly in Renminbi and Euro
and the Group does not consider its currency risk significant.
The key objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
maintain the Group's going concern and a sound capital ratio
so as to support business development and maximise the
value to shareholders. The Group’s overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Pledge of Assets

As at 30 June 2023, bank deposits, notes receivable and
receivable financing of approximately RMB18,169 million (as
at 31 December 2022: approximately RMB16,220 million)
were pledged to banks to secure the Group’s notes payable,
letters of guarantee, acceptance bills and letters of credit, etc.
issued by banks. The pledged bank deposits carry prevailing
bank interest rates. The pledge will be released upon the
settlement of the relevant bank borrowings. The fair value
of the bank deposits as at the balance sheet date was
approximately the same as the carrying amount. Fixed assets,
long-term receivables and accounts receivable amounting
to approximately RMB9,119 million (as at 31 December
2022: approximately RMB8,326 million) were also pledged
by the Group to secure bank borrowings, guarantee its
liabilities under the staff retirement benefit and use in asset

securitisation financing.

Contingencies

As at 30 June 2023, the Group provided certain distributors
and agents bank guarantee amounting to approximately
RMB997 million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
RMB873 million) to secure their obtaining and use of banking

facilities.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group provided buy-back guarantee
liability in respect of potential failure of the leasees under
finance leases to settle instalment payments plus interest with
a risk exposure of buy-back guarantee liability amounted to
approximately RMB1,956 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately RMB1,831 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Commitments

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately RMB5,481 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately RMB6,952 million), principally for the capital
expenditure in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment. The capital expenditure will be financed by

internal resources.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no external investment

commitments (as at 31 December 2022: nil).

Intangible assets

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s total intangible assets
amounted to approximately RMB23,351 million, of which
land use rights amounted to approximately RMB2,796 million,
trademark rights amounted to approximately RMB8,240
million, customer relationship amounted to approximately
RMB4,395 million, technology know-how amounted to
approximately RMB1,325 million, and license and software
etc. amounted to approximately RMB6,595 million. Intangible
assets arising from in-house research and development as at
the end of the Period accounted for 25.22% of the balance

of intangible assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Hedging arrangements

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, conducted cash
flow hedging on forward currency contracts designated
to the exchange rate risk of forecast sale, forecast
purchase and firm commitment. The total cash flow of
the hedged item amounted to RMB3,619,902,897.24
(EUR459,547,663.13), of which the amount due within 1
year was RMB2,996,026,502.35 (EUR380,346,384.12), and
the remaining portion will become due in 2024. The hedged
items would affect the profit and loss for the period from
2023 to 2024. There was no material invalid hedge within the
Period. During the Period, the gain on fair value changes of
the hedging instrument included in the other comprehensive
income amounted to RMB54,506,024.94 (EUR6,848,000.00)
and income transferred to profit or loss for the period
amounted to RMB21,928,168.62 (EUR2,755,000.00).

On 15 January 2020, Weichai Power (Hong Kong)
International Development Co., Limited (“Hong Kong
Power”, a subsidiary of the Company) used the interest rate
swap instrument as hedging instrument, and conducted cash
flow hedging on the floating rate borrowings amounting to
EUR241 million against the cash flow fluctuation incurred by
change in interest rates. The hedged items would affect the
profit and loss for the period of 2023 to 2024. There was no
material invalid hedge within the Period. During the Period,
the loss on fair value changes of the hedging instrument
included in the other comprehensive income amounted
to RMB10,525,975.10 (EUR1,426,385.38). There was no

amount transferred into profit or loss for the period.
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On 31 December 2018, KION, a subsidiary of the Group,
entered into interest rate swap contracts to conduct fair value
hedging on the interest rate risk of fixed-rate medium-term
notes issued with par value of EUR100,000,000.00. As at 30
June 2023, the aforesaid hedged items of the Group were
presented as bonds payable in the financial statement with
a book value of RMB587,883,727.20 (EUR74,632,000.00).
During the Period, the book value of the changes and
adjustments of fair value of hedged items accrued to hedged
items was RMB2,387,413.36 (EUR317,000.00). There was no

material invalid hedge within the Period.

KION, a subsidiary of the Group, signed an amortised interest
rate swap contract to hedge the interest rate risk of lease
receivables at fair value. The interest rate swap contract
as a hedging instrument reflects the notional amount
and maturity of the portfolio of hedged items and will
mature in 2029. Overall, this fair value hedge exposes the
lease receivable to a variable interest rate consistent with
its relevant currency zone. Therefore, from an economic
perspective, this variable rate is equivalent to the variable
rate for refinancing the portfolio of hedged items. On 30
June 2023, the abovementioned hedged items of the Group
were accounted for in the financial statements as long-
term receivables and non-current assets due within one
year, with a carrying amount of RMB 16,115,262,632.70
(EUR2,045,837,000.00), and the accumulative adjustment
of the fair value change of the hedged item included in
the carrying amount of the hedged item amounted to
RMB388,325,275.80 (EUR49,298,000.00). The change in fair
value of the ineffective portion of the hedged item during the
Period amounted to RMB6,517,429.00 (EUR 865,000.00).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

3. Other Financial Information 3. HBigER

a. Employees a. EEEH

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had approximately 89,000
employees (including approximately 41,000 employees of
KION). During the Period, the Group paid remuneration of
approximately RMB 16,740 million. The Group has established
and refined a remuneration incentive policy to promote
the high quality and rapid development of the enterprise
by evaluating the value of various types of personnel
and referencing the market remuneration levels, setting
competitive remuneration standards, reasonably setting
personnel remuneration levels, determining the salary scale
based on position and performance, and adjusting salary

based on performance appraisals.

Maijor Investment, Acquisition and Disposal
The Group did not have any major investment, acquisition or

disposal during the Period.

Subsequent Events

On 30 August 2023, under the authority granted by the
shareholders of the Company, the Board considered and
approved the distribution to all shareholders of cash dividend
of RMB2.26 (including tax) for every 10 shares held, without
any capitalisation of reserve, based on the total number of
shares eligible for profit distribution on the record date at the

time of the implementation of distribution plan in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Use of proceeds

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 December 2020, 25 January 2021, 26 January
2021, 29 January 2021, 12 April 2021, 23 April 2021 and 26
May 2021, and the circular (the “Circular”) of the Company
dated 11 January 2021, in respect of, inter alia, the non-

public issuance of A Shares of the Company (“A Shares”).

The reasons for the non-public issuance of A Shares include
to raise funds for the specific investments projects detailed
in the table below and to replenish working capital, which
will strengthen the capital capability of the Group and lay a
sound foundation for the Group’s further expansion of its
operations, and, in turn, enable it to realise breakthrough in

its development and enhance its competitive strength.

The non-public issuance of A Shares of the Company was
completed on 31 May 2021 and the relevant new A Shares
were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 1 June 2021.
A total of 792,682,926 A Shares of RMB1.00 each (with an
aggregate nominal value of RMB792,682,926) were issued
to 25 subscribers which are in compliance with the relevant
requirements of the “Measures for Administration of Issuance
of Securities by Listed Companies” ({ F R RIZEHFEITE
B¥E)) and the “Implementation Rules for the Non-public
Issuance of Shares by Listed Companies” ({_ MR FIIEAF
BTIREE MmAMAN) ) and are third parties independent of
the Company and its connected persons at the issue price of
RMB16.40 (and net price of approximately RMB16.38) per A
Share.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) R B A ()
The issue price of RMB16.40 per A Share represents a AR EITERAARE
premium of approximately 9.26% to the benchmarked 16.407T © WEKEE18.028
price of HK$18.02 (equivalent to approximately RMB15.01), T(HEERHARKE15.017T)
such benchmarked price being the closing price of H wm B #9.26% + ™A MEE
Shares on the date of the Company’s acceptance of the BRAANAEMREMAER—
subscriptions involving the non-public issuance of A Shares MR EIE T IERARABITAR
under the relevant general mandate. The total proceeds Z BHER K TE - ERFE
of the non-public issuance of A Shares amounted to TAREEESBRERARK
RMB12,999,999,986.40. The status of the use of such 12,999,999,986.40 7T ° # &
proceeds as of 30 June 2023 is set out below: ZE = A=1TH%ZEHE
SESERABROT
RMB million
AEHEER
Total Amount of Application plan of Unutilised Proceeds
amount of Totl  unutilised *IRERELRAHH
proceeds  amount of proceeds
proposed to proceeds  ("Unutilised 1 July
Name of investment project be applied applied  Proceeds”) 2023 to
BRERZE to the relevant asof asof 31 December
Name of project Name of subproject project  30June 2023 30 June 2023 223 Year2024  Year2025 Year2026  Year 2027
BE
BE c8zE
Z§IZE RRSTR ZEI=E
BEEE  ABZtR  ABRER  tA-RHE
BRES  BRES Be(RER -3o=%
BRA BRA  BEEE)) =
EE4R FER4R kR ok ¢8 St-A ZBIRE ZBCRE CECRE CECtE
Fuel Cell Industry Chain Hydrogen-fueled cell and key components 50000 14463 35537 21719 9951 10043 85.42 221
Development Projed industrialisation project
MHEHES RS REEPRARTHEEE R
Solic oxice fuel cell and key components 500.00 50.51 44949 2961 103.04 150.00 12046 46.38
industrialisation project
EEarmisEnREREIE
EX(UER
Key components of fuel cell powertrain 1,000.00 362.08 637.92 90.05 206.01 17220 12235 413

research and development and

construction capabiliies project
RHERD NI THRTER

eSS UL

35



36 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. 48 HRHDER AT

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) R ) B A (A
RMB million
AR¥EET
Total Amount of Application plan of Unutilised Proceeds
amount of Total  unutilised RBRERELHAT
proceeds  amount of proceeds
proposed to proceeds  ("Unutilised 1 luly
Name of investment project be applied applied  Proceeds") 203 to
ERERZH to the relevant as of asof 31 December
Name of project Name of subproject project  30June 2023 30June 2023 023 Year2024  Year2025  Year2026  Year 2027
Bz
BE CBIzE
Z2ZZE O RBETR CEI=E
BEEE  AA=tR  ABREE  tA-BZ
EREe  HRES EG(ABR -83c=f
BRA BRA  EREL)) t2R
BRER TERER Bek 428 8 St-B ZBIBE ZBIRE ZRIRE ZRItE
Ful Series of H Platform High-end  New million units digitalised power 3,000.00 519.78 24802 187.27 72401 684.21 67492 209.79
Road-going Engines of industry base stage | project
ChinaViorsboweEmission ~~ EZAETFHENEEES
Standards Project -HEA
2ZHEARN LR EENT S
BRERREDEER
H platform engines intelligent 1,000.00 41485 585.15 4368 24,04 266 2983 -
manufacturing upgrade project
HTRERELRERREE
Large Diameter High-end Engine  Large diameter high-end engine 1,075.00 426.13 648,87 21.03 209.35 19484 15076 7289
Industrialsation Project [aboratory project
AIERREDRERLER  ADESsEBRERERIER
High efficiency and high speed self-owned 685.00 456.75 2825 35.19 193.07 - - -
brand engine industrialisation project
BIRRANERRRESIER
Large diameter high-end engine 1,240.00 595.01 64499 4426 18044 25.1 191.91 60.79

development project
KEGEAEIRREE
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RMB million
WL
Total Amount of Application plan of Unutilised Proceeds
amount of Total  unutilised RORERELERTE
proceeds  amount of proceeds
proposed to proceeds  ("Unutilised 1 July
Name of investment project be applied applied  Proceeds”) A23to
ERERZR to the relevant a of asof 31 December
Name of project Name of subproject project  30June 2023 30 June 2023 223 Year2024  Year2025 Year2026  Year 2027
BE
HE CBIzf
Z§IZE RRSR ZEI=E
BEEE  AAZtR  ABAER  tA-RE
BERE¢  HREC EG(ABR B0z
BRA BRA  BEEE)) =
ERER TERER 51 BeE $8 -8 ZBI@F -BCRE ZSIRE CRItE
Full Series hydraulic pressure powertrain and large-scale continuously variable 3,000.00 698.21 2301.79 25545 89751 8934 25044 -
transmission (CVT) powertrain industrialisation project
RRSREG N ERARETE NERER(BE
Replenishment of working capital 1,000.00 800.72 19928 Expected to be applied by the end of 2027
CFNEI6 ERRR L ERENRARS
Total &3t 13,000.00 4,468.66 8,531.34

It is expected that the remaining proceeds, being
approximately RMB9.029 billion in aggregate (including
accumulated interest received from bank deposits and wealth
management income net of bank handling fees), would
continue to be used for the relevant investment projects as
set out above and any shortfall in the investment amounts
for such projects will be made up by utilising the internal
funds of the Company or through other financing methods.
The Board considers that the proceeds from the issuance of
A shares had been and will be applied in accordance with
the specific uses and timeline of proposed use of proceeds as
disclosed in the Circular (with adjusted timeline approved by
the Board on 30 March 2022 and 30 March 2023).

EHHBRTEEES (BIEH#Y
AR®90.29B T (& AT E
IRITFRF B - BB W= 0Bk
RITFEEBFHE)) BEERR
N ERPIMMABERIER - M
EEEBREBEBRERERATRHI
D BBRBARATANIBE S K
HMmEAA MR - EFER
RARZETEEESDKELH
SRBRE KA ENSTERS
RESEESEATEREIRA
(BREZEGEN T -—F=8
=t+RARZZEZ=F=ZA=+
H#bE SRR AETHAE) -
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HRBORHERDE

Auditors’ Review Report

KPMG Huazhen Zhuan Zi No. 2301612
To the Shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.:

We have reviewed the accompanying interim financial statements of Weichai
Power Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Power”) which comprise the consolidated and
Company balance sheets as at 30 June 2023, the consolidated and the Company
income statements, consolidated and the Company cash flow statement and
consolidated and the Company statement of changes in equity for the period
from 1 January to 30 June 2023 and relevant notes to the financial statements.
The management of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. is responsible for the preparation
of these interim financial statements. Our responsibility is to issue our review
report on these interim financial statements based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the Review Standard for Chinese
Certified Public Accountants No. 2101 Review of Financial Statements. The
standard requires us to plan and conduct a review to obtain limited assurance as
to whether the interim financial statements are free from material misstatement.
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of personnel of Weichai Power and
performing analytical procedures on the data. A review provides less assurance
than an audit. We have not performed an audit. Accordingly, we do not express
an audit opinion.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the aforesaid interim financial statements of Weichai Power are
not prepared in accordance with the requirement in Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic
of China, or do not fairly reflect the consolidated and the Company’s financial
position of Weichai Power as at 30 June 2023 and the consolidated and the
Company’s operating results and cash flow of Weichai Power for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 in any material respect.

KPMG Huazhen LLP
Beijing, PRC

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Fu Qiang
Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Jiang Hui

30 August 2023
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FHEERME

2023F6H30H AR%T

Consolidated Balance Sheet

30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Note 30 June 2023 31 December 2022
g 202356 H30H 2022%F12A318
Assets BE
Current assets TENE =
Cash and cash equivalents BEE® VE1 Sy ek e 70,841,690,615.34
Incl: Deposits with finance companies Hr EHRES AT RIE Ayl A A Elsel | 23,558,435,638.00
Financial assets held for trading RHMEMEE VE2 | RS PR 11,864,020,567.44
Notes receivable FEMEBR YEcll 12,106,878,748.40 9,602,586,343.47
Accounts receivable UK BR 3k VT4 | eEE A s 21,418,523,616.59
Receivable financing U FRIE LA VES5 8,212,214,639.91 6,972,217,007.03
Prepayments TET FRIE VH6 1,733,556,552.82 1,472,527,993.82
Other receivables HAth FE K VA7 1,642,626,717.36 1,260,827,218.05
Inventories FE VHES Sl A e RN 33,373,961,762.55
Contract assets AREE VH9 3,977,297,239.04 4,042,186,086.76
Assets held for sale BEGERE 180,180,785.40 203,550,763.80
Non-current assets due within one year —FRIERBEE VE10 4,415,634,438.60 3,858,312,076.50
Other current assets Hipmeh & E VA1 3,677,624,069.41 3,573,816,314.90
Total current assets REEESG el PN 168,484,220,366.25
Non-current assets SERENEE
Long-term receivables £ HA B IR VE12  FREEEEREEr S 10,172,965,683.60
Long-term equity investments REIRERE VE13 5,444,310,335.65 5,340,553,607.62
Investment in other equity instruments HiiEm TAKE VE14 4,410,966,522.29 3,395,947,023.27
Other non-current financial assets HinIEnBemEE VA 15 1,031,489,832.80 902,292,850.10
Investment property KEEEE VE16 624,425,534.53 621,930,393.42
Fixed assets & EEE VR 17 | RS Ve AT 37,894,423,285.01
Construction in progress EEITRE Va18 7,547,631,541.56 7,980,410,006.36
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE VE19 5,088,583,597.54 5,034,097,940.33
Intangible assets mIVEE VE20 | EEEOEGEREAE Y 22,759,467,050.26
Development expenditure M H VA21 203,268,746.54 339,108,712.35
Goodwill Gk VE22 [k UEEG PR 24,019,149,507.73
Long-term prepaid expenses REGHEER VE?23 301,562,254.04 312,130,240.35
Deferred tax assets RIEFTISEE SlEALEEEES  4,905,290,205.76
Other non-current assets HiIEmEEE VH24 981,967,049.57 1,504,100,980.08
Total non-current assets EmEEESET (lepl sl iRl 125,181,867,486.24
Total assets BEAE PP PIEER S 293,666,087,852.49

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

&R B IS R B S R A T R AR AR -
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HRB D RHBRAF

Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)

30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

aHEEAME (H)

2023F6H30H AR%T

Note
B s
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMBREER
Current liabilities nEBE
Short-term loans EHIE R VE25
Financial liabilities held for trading RPECRHEE VEH26
Notes payable EAEE VHT27
Accounts payable JERTER K VE28
Contract liabilities cREAaRE VHE29
Payroll payable JRE < B T 37 B VE30
Taxes payable ERXTE VE31
Other payables H th FE AT 3K VE32
Liabilities classified as held for sale BEGEAE
Non-current liabilities due within one year ~ —F R E|HRIERS B E VE33
Other current liabilities ey UN=N VHh34
Total current liabilities wBAESE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term borrowings RAAE K VE35
Bonds payable e B VE36
Lease liabilities HEBE Vh37
Long-term payables R HAFE T 3R VE38
Long-term payroll payable £ AR FE A5 B T % A VE39
Accruals and provisions B’ VE40
Deferred income BIEW 25 V41
Deferred tax liabilities BEFBHRAE
Other non-current liabilities HiIEmsaE VE42
Total non-current liabilities FERBEEES
Total liabilities aEas

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

30 June 2023
202346 H30H

3,426,254,957.08
159,447,426.88
24,408,230,471.83
58,563,388,632.59
14,599,553,119.97
6,503,955,101.73
1,959,120,103.08
8,312,459,983.22
178,132,739.40
12,519,792,124.38
8,695,639,639.35

139,325,974,299.51

22,816,460,922.92
5,886,871,914.00
4,409,887,088.63
9,561,114,862.37
7,616,630,521.86
801,131,773.77
4,638,467,360.93
4,621,042,397.55
13,383,415,727.78

73,735,022,569.81

213,060,996,869.32

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

4,609,106,808.74
85,556,345.40
22,024,750,934.33
45,560,077,179.76
13,086,786,850.63
6,133,750,533.67
1,665,377,748.46
8,190,858,301.41
201,695,038.80
11,215,162,500.91
6,969,573,180.76

119,742,695,422.87

22,782,303,500.82
6,056,952,787.80
4,424,326,131.24
8,015,209,194.73
6,863,810,957.10
671,834,753.46
4,650,817,121.11
4,449,817,821.47
11,897,668,001.48

69,812,740,269.21

189,555,435,692.08

RIS MR R AR B MR A -
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued) G EEAER (8
30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan 2023F6H30H ARKT
Note 30 June 2023 31 December 2022
s 2023F6H30H 20224F12A31H
Shareholders’ equity IR A 7
Share capital & 2 VHh43 8,726,556,821.00 8,726,556,821.00
Capital reserve YN VHEA44 PR ERRE G 11,350,199,586.08
Less: Treasury shares B BER V45 1,036,022,358.39 1,036,022,358.39
Other comprehensive income HE iR & Ham VI46 2,016,678,725.79 739,485,609.80
Special reserve HIEHE VE47 308,844,477.16 307,793,867.29
Surplus reserve BB NTE VH48 2,765,811,169.85 2,765,811,169.85
Retained earnings Ko B FE VE49 [ epEdi iy ERiEs 50,330,429,225.83
Total equity attributable to EBNEAFKRE
the shareholders of the parent BmAE SRS NPT EEESER Y 73,184,253,921.46
Minority interests DHRR R VIS0 [ epieerieerlciviil | 30,926,398,238.95
Total shareholders’ equity R AT (ORTELETE TR PR 104,110,652,160.41
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMRRE R LT PR PA PPN e 293,666,087,852.49
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. BB ERENTE ARV IERROAK D -

39EEFI7TENMBEREBTIEEARE

#

The financial statements on pages 39 to 307 have been signed by:

Legal representative Principal in charge of accounting Head of accounting department
EEREKA FEEFIEERA BIREBEEA
Tan Xuguang Qu Hongkun Qu Hongkun

REB ith A 3 ih At



472 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRB D RHBRAF

Company Balance Sheet

30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Al EE A

N

2023F6H30H AR%T

Note
=3

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Incl: Deposits with finance companies

Financial assets held for trading

BE
MEEE

Heh : BB RRRA

Notes receivable EWZE % XV+H1
Accounts receivable JE U BR 5K XV+H2
Prepayments AT RIE
Other receivables o fth fE UK XV+H3
Inventories rE
Other current assets Hinmeh & E
Total current assets MEVEES
Non-current assets EMEEE
Long-term equity investments RERERE XV+TH4
Investment in other equity instruments H s TAKRE
Investment property "EEEHE
Fixed assets EEEE
Construction in progress ERTRE
Intangible assets BmEEE
Development expenditure FEE
Goodwill [EES
Long-term prepaid expenses REFEER
Deferred tax assets RIEFTISR A E
Other non-current assets BEMIERBEE
Total non-current assets IRBEESET
Total assets AEMET

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

30 June 2023
202346 H30H

28,351,707,207.45
21,315,128,623.26
5,126,686,849.32
15,951,956,773.14
5,122,009,628.62
1,281,234,483.67
297,132,490.50
3,340,061,717.88
225,801,238.01

59,696,590,388.59

26,040,526,409.38
1,513,327,294.02
1,039,236,320.23
5,764,875,974.38
3,940,010,571.57
939,593,365.42
179,773,420.33
341,073,643.76
2,521,897.01
821,083,468.44
25,690,980.00

40,607,713,344.54

100,304,303,733.13

&S

31 December 2022
2022912 A831H

27,848,701,297.77
18,175,230,353.20
5,909,166,027.41
12,342,277,798.91
2,492,229,542.60
249,946,738.44
521,391,702.76
2,518,267,357.24
668,347,787.88

52,550,328,253.01

25,697,689,056.62
1,123,406,877.60
1,082,400,464.23
5,267,992,985.20
3,929,593,060.22
791,816,609.98
316,546,767.14
341,073,643.76
1,169,417,817.15
25,690,980.00

39,745,628,261.90

92,295,956,514.91

BRI ISR AR M B MRNAEKAS
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Company Balance Sheet (Continued) AFAEEAMER (B
30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan 2023F6H30H ARKT

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
20236 H30H 2022%12A831H

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMBKEEERS
Current liabilities mENAE
Notes payable FENZEE (st elieeiels | 11,170,209,871.00
Accounts payable FEATBR IR (S iR PR VRN 10,048,680,823.68
Contract liabilities ARAaE 2,363,460,936.66 1,261,181,403.94
Payroll payable FE AT B8k T %5 B 775,994,214.66 714,897,086.21
Taxes payable FEATH & 39,835,228.44 64,238,914.11
Other payables L A 3R 3,149,071,579.70 2,591,447,664.06
Other current liabilities Hihnshad 614,768,710.93 530,348,756.84
Total current liabilities mEHBEEASE SVl el A el sA | 26,381,004,519.84
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE
Long-term payroll payable £ HA FE A< B8 T %5 88,616,003.15 72,428,670.89
Deferred income RFE Wz 1,574,604,997.47 1,648,514,398.21
Deferred tax liabilities BEESEHAE 5,294,681.56 5,074,478.20
Total non-current liabilities ERBEESS 1,668,515,682.18 1,726,017,547.30
Total liabilities B RMEET leP kP PR 28,107,022,067.14
Shareholders’ equity 1% B4
Share capital A% AN 8,726,556,821.00 8,726,556,821.00
Capital reserve ERRNTE (TGRSR 11,706,934,865.31
Less: Treasury shares B B 1,036,022,358.39 1,036,022,358.39
Other comprehensive income Hibira s 449,484,388.68 118,052,034.71
Special reserve BIEFEE 157,106,564.78 167,310,361.12
Surplus reserve BB NTE 5,430,332,411.54 5,430,332,411.54
Retained earnings & Be 7 A Pl s 39,075,770,312.48
Total shareholders’ equity REREZIS S eSS 64,188,934,447.77
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMKRRERE OIEIENEVEERERS 92,295,956,514.91

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. BT SRR AR S HRRMWAERID -
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HRB D RHBRAF

Consolidated Income Statement

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

& P FE 2%

202351 H1HZ2023F6 A308 1 AEET

Note
B sE
. Revenue — BERA VA5
Less: Cost of sales A B ERCR VA5
Taxes and surcharges Bi & KB o VES52
Distribution and selling expenses HEER VES53
General and administrative expenses ERER VH54
Research & development expenses &R VAS55
Finance expenses HiBER VA56
Incl:  Interest expenses He - MEEBA VA56
Interest income LS WA V56
Add: Other income o Efb s VAS57
Investment income &&= VA58
Incl: Investment (loss)/income from Hepb o« SRR
associates and joint ventures SEPEDN
REEX)/
W
Profit on change of fair value NABEZ VAS59
Impairment loss of credit ERRERERKX VAG60
Impairment loss of assets BERERX VEGE1
Gain on disposal of assets BERENE
Il Operating profit Z BERH
Add: Non-operating income m:EEIMNEA VH62
Less: Non-operating expenses W EENTE VH63
Il Total profit = NE4EE
Less: Income tax expenses o EHER Vho64

IV. Net profit M F R

(I) Breakdown by continuity of operations

(I) Breakdown by attributable interests

1. Net profit attributable to shareholders 1. BERERATE
of the parent R 3R 895 F
2. Minority interests 2. PEERFEER

(—) REEHEEHE
1. Net profit from continuing operations 1. BECEFERE

(Z) BREERENE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

From 1 January 2023

to 30 June 2023
2023F1H1HZE
2023%6H30H

-l

106,135,266,883.70
85,503,651,579.37
332,607,945.88
6,205,010,917.22
4,624,238,500.38
3,721,051,210.11
20,989,322.75
1,330,091,722.10
1,156,307,939.25
128,459,146.18
191,459,493.08

(20,383,006.79)
32,360,522.89
(304,646,325.05)
(249,812,747.87)
64,090,657.14

5,589,628,154.36
214,778,666.25
57,097,620.98

5,747,309,199.63
961,900,716.75

4,785,408,482.88

4,785,408,482.88

3,899,023,175.98
886,385,306.90

From 1 January 2022
10 30 June 2022
2022F1A1BE
2022%6A30H

1 EAfE]

(Restated)

(BEu)

86,769,307,003.98
71,388,757,745.97
221,986,015.71
5,012,573,717.92
3,879,109,144.03
3,689,716,164.08
(526,359,559.03)
576,902,796.46
1,072,474,869.46
196,312,983.23
180,705,749.04

7,105,527.80
507,847,686.03
(336,256,382.19)
(304,006,174.56)
22,667,230.91

3,370,794,867.76
112,688,256.38
59,503,061.09

3,423,980,063.05
464,986,904.48

2,958,993,158.57

2,958,993,158.57

2,391,013,134.13
567,980,024.44

1R P RO B 75 SRR I R R A B B SRR MO AR RE D



Consolidated Income Statement (Continued)

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan
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A HEFIE R ()
B20235E1 H1HZ2023F6 H308 1 AEET

Note to 30 June 2023
2023118 Z
2023%6H30H
(k3 i)
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax T EfkR e WaEa g e 2,108,829,890.20
Net other comprehensive income attributable to Eﬁ ﬁé\l AR R A E A
shareholders of the parent after tax 145( E’]%mé@ﬁﬁ VHA46 1,277,193,115.99
(I) Those other comprehensive income not to be (—) DEEBEN
reclassified into profit or loss H‘rﬂlT &l
1. Changes arising from re-measuring of 1. EFFERES S
defined benefit plan REEE (65,072,944.67)
2. Other comprehensive income not to be 2. BERETTHE
reclassified into profit or loss using BERHEMEE
the equity method Wz (4,708,656.85)
3. Change in fair value of investment in 3. HithERTIAKRE
other equity instruments N EEEH 864,621,416.85
() Those other comprehensive income to be (Z) BESEEERN
reclassified into profit or loss Hfth 47 & fues
1. Other comprehensive income to be 1. AT A EER
reclassified into profit or loss using the E MRS W
equity method 4,034,951.90
2. Cashflow hedging reserve 2. BeRsEHHE (239,828.58)
3. Exchange differences on foreign currency 3. ANEBIISHRRITE
translation = 478,558,177.34
Net other comprehensive income attributable to BERNEBRENE M
minority interests after tax mElEnTEEE 831,636,774.21
VI. Total comprehensive income N kR EieE 6,894,238,373.08
Total comprehensive income attributable to the FBENTQRRER
shareholders of the parent el eE 5,176,216,291.97
Total comprehensive income attributable to minority 538 74 4 Bl SR &Y
interests melmEs 1,718,022,081.11
VII. Earnings per share + BlRWE VGBS
() Basic earnings per share (=) BERGRkE
() Diluted earnings per share (Z) HREERkE
There was an acquisition through combination under common control by the AR/ &2022%F9 B2 £ R —

Company in September 2022. The acquiree was a components branch under

Weichai Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd. (hereinafter the “Components Branch

of Heavy Machinery”). The Company has restated the consolidated income

statement for the period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

From 1 January 2023

From 1 January 2022

10 30 June 2022
2022%1H18Z
2022%6A30H
1HEAE

(Restated)
(BEu)

2,739,081,254.75

1,338,778,926.01

1,206,052,769.01

(5,921,061.10)

(68,023,518.59)

913,637.20
63,544,391.64

142,212,707.85

1,400,302,328.74

5,698,074,413.32

3,729,792,060.14

1,968,282,353.18

0.27
0.27

ZH T RES G

WREHDHRERBOBERARTIHED A A

(ATHEERT

RS NCTH DA

NN IR 8

2022F1A1BHE2022F6 A308 (FHM /A 6

MER -
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HRB D RHBRAF

Company Income Statement
From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

B3 7] R 2R

2023F 1 B1HE2023F6H30H IFHE] AR

Note 30 June 2023 30 June 2022
2023F1B1BZE 2022F1A1HZE
20236 H30H 202296 A30H
B 5 LEHARE 1EHAfA
(Restated)
(BEi)
I. Revenue CEEIA Ykl 20,675,620,705.21 12,972,622,233.93
Less: Cost of sales AR bkl 15,293,142,475.01 9,798,531,841.01
Taxes and surcharges e LM 72,553,708.94 42,021,453.09
Distribution and selling expenses HEBH 570,297,342.72 92,293,229.75
General and administrative expenses EIEE 625,055,512.75 511,854,648.68
Research & development expenses e R 1,369,869,517.47 1,582,550,968.46
Finance expenses %8 A (208,119,101.45) (337,909,812.31)
Incl: Interest income He: FLEWA 207,994,231.19 338,220,484.27
Add: Other income moe EAb U 55,432,831.98 48,258,416.96
Investment income RE W XV+h6 52,880,451.91 249,170,014.74
Incl: Investment (loss)/income from Hep oo B
associates and joint ventures ME &
(HRE
(BX),/
Wz (7,645,657.98) 129,061,497.47
Profit on change of fair value ARnEEEHKE 29,322,328.77 58,164,794.50
Impairment loss of credit = AREE % (30,136,119.45) (57,681,422.53)
Impairment profit/(loss) of assets BEERERNE
(1B%) (18,713,496.10) 24,299,258.20
Gain on disposal of assets BERENE 15,673,877.41 991,840.92
Il Operating profit ZBEMNE 3,057,281,124.29 1,606,482,808.04
Add: Non-operating income o EEINIA 37,937,488.45 12,971,860.83
Less: Non-operating expenses o BN 5,699,021.75 26,187,637.11
lll. Total profit =R B4z 3,089,519,590.99 1,593,267,031.76

Less: Income tax expenses

B SIHER

. Net profit

FRE

From
1 January 2023 to

255,612,611.34

2,833,906,979.65

From
1 January 2022 to

(2,183,244.55)

1,595,450,276.31

(I) Breakdown by continuity of operations (—) Hz,%‘é A 4 g2 N S

1. Net profit from continuing operations C BEKRE
SEFHE 2,833,906,979.65 1,595,450,276.31
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax T~ {43 A U288
i1z 5}% 331,432,353.97 119,513,665.68
() Those other comprehensive income not to (=) TReEDFHEER
be reclassified into profit or loss El’] L 4R & W
1. Change in fair value of investment in HihER T A
other equity instruments RERNARE
BEE &) 331,432,353.97 119,513,665.68
VI. Total comprehensive income N kel R 3,165,339,333.62 1,714,963,941.99

BT BRI ERA M ERROAEKELS

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity E 1 B R R 4 A ) R

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan B2023F1A1HZ202356A308 L5 ARET

Equity attributable to parent company

SERSNARRER
Other
Share Less:  comprehensive Spedial Surplus Retained Minority
Note capital treasury shares income reserve reserve earnings Subtotal interest Total equity
fem R Wit e § BOERR  EbRAUE EERE BBOR FARAE Mt JBRRRE  RRESAH
I, Atbeginning of period - REBTHE 8726,556,821.00 11,350,199,586.08  1,036,022,35839 73948560980  307793867.29  2,765811,169.85 50,330,429.22583 7318425392146 30,926,398,23895 104,110,652, 160.41
Il Mosements n curent period o RgERRELE
() Total comprehensive income (-)GAhGEE - 127719311599 - 380902317598 517621629197 1,718,022,081.11  6,894.238373.08
(1) Injction and reducton from shareholders (=) REFAREHER
1. Capital inection from shareholders 1. RRRAER 11341000 11341000
(1) Profit approprizton (=) HHAR
1. Distbution toshareholders 1. 4RENAE VR4 (1,365,008,024.77) (1,365,008,024.77)  (102,810,609.29) ~ (1,467,818,634.06)
(V) Speci esenve (m) 256k
1. Agproprition during the perod 1. HER VR4 31,916,336.21 - 3191633621 2259343887 5450977508
2. Used during the period 1 FEER it (30,865,726.34) - (3086572634 (11,984006.95)  (42,849,73330)
II. Atend of period = RERHE 8726,556,821.00 11,350,199,586.08  1,036,022,35839 201667872579  308844477.16  2,765,811,169.85 52,864444377.04 76996,512,79853 32,552,332,552.68 109,548,845,351.21

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. W E B IRR I T AR S WMER BRI o
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48 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

HRBORHERDE

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

A D B R £ B 3R (A
202351 H1HZ2023F6 A308 1 AEET

Equity attributable to parent company

BERSNTRRER
Other
Share Capital less:  comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Minority
Note capital reserve  treasury shares income resenve reserve eamings Sub-total interest Total equity
fem ik B EA0F HOERR  RhEeNE EERE LI AORHR Mt JERREE  BREEAH
I, Atend of previous year - LEEREE 8726,556,821.00 13,305,688,062.91 - (112820794766) 26381969247 239719859054 4843040157717 71.995,4%6,796.43  33,382,906,010.71 105,378,362,807.14
Busiess combinatons inohingenterises - TAEA
under common control - - - - 180,336.61 - 389820528 3910854189 2490098689 64,009528.78
Il At beginning of period restated) - TEBRE(RED) 8726,556,821.00 13,305,688,062.91 - (112820794766) 26400002908 239719859054 48469,329,782.45 72,034,565,338.32  33,407,806.997.60 105,442372,33592
II. Movements n current period
(I Total comprehensive income - - - 133877892601 - 239101313413 372979206014 1968282,353.18  5,698,07441332
(1) Inection and reduction fiom shareholders (=) RERARESEK
1. Capitalinection from shareholders 1. RERAER - 1421464002 - - - - - TUA6000  MAAD3806438 56845270440
2. Consideration paid for business 1 R-EHTRE
combinatons nvoling enerpries ARERYE
under common control - (2140,669,349.92) - - - - - (2140,669349.92) - (2140,669,349.92)
3. Amount of hare bsed payment 3 RETRHARR
taken to owners' equity EaNeE i - 595,951.93 - - - - - 595,951.93 165127 1317603.20
4. Repurchase of shares 4 BERR - - 50013788194 - - - - (500,137881.94) - (500,137,881.94)
5. Acguiston of minory netest n 5. BEFRNE
subsiciares REiE - (4.830,14357) - - - - - (4830,14357) (3116290405 (35,99304762)
6. Others 6 Eft - 832,094.29 - - - - - 832,949 790,175 1,622,406.04
(1) Proft aporopriation (Z) HEAR
1. Distrbuton to shareholders 1. HERWAR - - - - - - (1606835411.89) (1,606,835411.89)  (965.892,74363) (2,572,728,155.52)
2. Distoution o holdrs of oher 1 HFhAEbER
equty instruments of subsidiaies TEREENOR - - - - - - - - (0491112975 (94911,129.79)
3. Others - - - - - - (122,526,000000  (122,526,00000) - (122,526,000.00)
(V) Transerof owmers'equiy i
1. Transte other comprehersive 1. KEpSalaEE
income to retaned eamings Plediead - - - 911,208 - - 911,280.85) - - -
(V) Special resene (%) ERGE
1. Approprigtion during the period 1. TERD - - - - 57260828589 - - ST20828589 3038003472 8764892061
2. Used during the period 1 THER - - - - %) - - (2om9nnt3 (1303324608)  (45,975,148.19)
(V) Others (n) &t - (653258.47) - - - - - (653,25847) (40038422)  (1,093642.69)
V. Atend of period B FHERHE 872655682100 1128517819719 50013788194 21148225920 28832641284  2397,198,590.54 49,130,070.20384  71,538674,62267 34,746,819,405.19 106,285,494,027 86

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

B F R HE

Interim Report 2023 FHiFRE 49

S g

ﬁ RN

B20235E1 H1HZ2023F6 H308 1 AEET

iFS

Other
Less: comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Total
Note Share capital Capital reserve treasury shares income reserve reserve eamnings equity
fem BR Fd B ER0R 7 ERR LLEE BERE BB FARAR RREZA
. Atbeginning of period - THETHE 872655682100 1170693486531 103602235839 11805203471 16731036102 5430341054 3007577031248 6418893444717
Il Movements in current period o HERZELE
) Total comprehensive income (=) #akasg 331432,353.97 IB30697965 316533933362
(1) Profit appropriation (z) #EAR
1. Distribution to shareholders 1. HRENAR VA9 (1365,008,024.77) (1,365,008,024.77)
(1) Spedl reserve (=) ZEEE
1. Appropriation during the period 1. ABRR = =
2. Used during the period 2 KBER (10,203,793 (1020379634
Il Atend of period = TEERBE §T0655682100 1170693496531 103602235639 M9443068 1511065478 SAN3NAIMSE  AOSHAGEI2T6 6597906196028
Other
less: comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Total
Note Sharecapital ~ Capital reserve~ treasury shares income Teserve Teserve eamings equity
ltem i fist R LN WoERR  Atheka BERE BB RARAE  RRERAT
. Atbeginning of period - KEBRE 8,726,556,821.00  12,830,652,737.03 - 16620801650 15190822774 5,061,719832.23 38,187,565,82039 65,124,611,454.89
I Movements in current period oo FERREYLE
() Total comprehensive income (=) Hakats - - 119513,665.68 - - 159545027631 1,714,963,941.9
(I} Injection and reducton from (2) RERAMEVER
shareholders
1. Repurchaseof hares 1. BERH VS - - 5001378819 - - - - (500,137.881.94)
2. Busiess combination niohing ) A-BHTLE
enteprses under common contrl Y - (1,069,195,582.04) - - - - - (1,069,155,582.04)
(i) Profit appropriation (z) 7EAR
1. Distribution to shareholders 1. #ERNAR VE49 - - - - - - (1,606,83541189) (1,606,83541189)
(V) Special reserve (m) ZEEE
1. Appropriation uring the period 1. THRE - - - - 2009372573 - - 2009372573
2. Used during the period 2. TEFER - - - - (10732,74971) - - (10732,749.1)
Il Atend of period = FEERME 872655682100 11761497,154.99  500,137,881.94  285721,682.18 16126920376  5061719,832.23 38,176,180,68481 63,672,807,497.03

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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50 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRB D RHBRAF

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

/\ 1 v2s EL
EHHEMER
202351 H1HZ2023F6 A308 1 AEET

From 1 January 2023

From 1 January 2022

Note to 30 June 2023 t0 30 June 2022
20231818 & 2022F1A1HZE
20236 HA30H 20226 A30H
ltem b Ml 1A IRl
(Restated)
(B&EM)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  ~ — K& EHELWIRS

mE

Cash received from sales of goods or rendering HEEM - RES K

of services W24 98,828,144,414.76 83,239,957,669.56

Refunds of taxes

Other cash received relating to operating

activities

W B0 B R IE
Yo B A 4 G 2R B
BARNRE

1,624,817,681.24

VH66 1,400,822,145.32

Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities

REBRHRSMANE

101,853,784,241.32

Cash paid for goods and services

BEMm BREK

2,254,733,682.43

1,185,273,072.43

86,679,964,424.42

YRR S 63,804,478,212.49 65,274,005,368.05
Cash paid to and on behalf of SEBIARART
employees YRR E 17,275,695,376.30 16,035,165,076.78
Cash paid for all types of taxes TR EERE 2,489,080,316.35 1,764,133,262.36
Other cash paid relating to operating T HMELEED
activities BENRS V66 5,392,029,668.67 4,742,943,188.39

Subtotal of cash outflows from operating

REERPRE R/

activities 88,961,283,573.81 87,816,246,895.58
Net cash flows from operating R TEBEER
activities REnREFH Vh67 12,892,500,667.51 (1,136,282,471.16)
Il. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - REEHEALHN
Rene
Cash received from sale of investments WEEEWRE RS 16,796,986,160.00 11,847,508,219.19
Cash received from return on investments IMEERE W R E
Re 278,656,342.07 407,976,283.99
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, REBETEE  EFE
intangible assets and other long-term assets ENEMEREERK
[EIENE R pE 206,794,991.30 18,287,692.84
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries BRETARIREMEE

BREIMREFR
WA MEBRERDE
BB

RERHRE WA
BRETEE B

and other business units 51,723,909.19 15,792,193.71

Other cash received relating to investing
activities

44,650,685.52 2,213,575,104.57

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities 17,378,812,088.08 14,503,139,494.30

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets,

intangible assets and other long-term assets EEMEMRBMEE

TR 3,295,526,082.42 3,327,300,998.08
Cash paid for acquisition of investments RELMHHRE 19,038,513,100.33 20,415,734,740.45
Other cash paid relating to investing activities T H MR EES

BA8HR 48,437,066.78 351,162,971.58
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing activities BEZRSHRS T/ NG 22,382,476,249.53 24,094,198,710.11
Net cash flows from investing activities REETEELR

REeEnEF8R (5,003,664,161.45) (9,591,059,215.81)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Interim Report 2023 AR HAZRE

EMBERER ()

B20235E1 H1HZ2023F6 H308 1 AEET

From 1 January 2023

Note to 30 June 2023
2023F1R1HZE
2023%6 5308
Item HE = i1
. CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTMITES = EE&EHELN
Rene
Cash received from capital contributions e - vrell:op:kn 113,410.00
Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries from capital Hep « FRRRK A E
contributions of minority shareholders [ 5% & U B
HIRE 113,410.00
Cash received from borrowings NS ETWEIHIRE 3,849,722,764.58
Other cash received relating to financing H&i‘lﬁ{ﬁiﬁi%—éﬁﬁ
activities BRNES 117,605,455.37
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing activities EEFTYPRERANET 3,967,441,629.95
Cash repayments of borrowings EBREBIMNNES 5,183,275,712.20
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or profits DERA - FRH K ER
and for interest expenses MEYXHES 1,033,766,877.96
Incl: Cash paid to minority shareholders for Hip o FREIZM4
distribution of dividends or profits by DB R
subsidiaries R F) ~ F)5E 393,164,185.31
Other cash paid relating to financing TR EMEEE
activities BRENRE VF66 1,559,027,088.18
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing EETYPRE
activities T NE 7,776,069,678.34
Net cash flows from financing BEEHEENRS
activities mERE (3,808,628,048.39)
V. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATEON 7. [EREE%E 4 );z
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HEeEBYHTE 135,636,252.05
V. NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND - HeRBSEEMTF
CASH EQUIVALENTS R )i 4,215,844,709.72
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of m:ByBReRES
period LEMHE 62,761,077,773.98
VI CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF N BERBREEREEEY
PERIOD BREE VH6E7 66,976,922,483.70

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

From 1 January 2022
to 30 June 2022
2022F1A18%
2022%6A30H
1EHARE

(Restated)

(B&Eu)

568,452,704.40

568,452,704.40
13,840,019,776.37

1,317,656,771.00

15,726,129,251.77

7,724,296,461.30

1,787,725,728.13

259,297,268.17

2,638,827,626.59

12,150,849,816.02

3,575,279,435.75

47,688,820.07

(7,104,373,431.15)

68,626,280,826.76

61,521,907,395.61

BT BRI ERSAM ERROAEKELS



52 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

Company Cash Flow Statement

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

HRB D RHBRAF

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from sales of goods or rendering

of services
Refunds of taxes

Other cash received relating to operating

activities

@ EREED
REHE
HEBR - RUBBK
EES
WE| B R
WEE R EREE
BHNRS

Subtotal of cash inflows from operating activities

RETBRBMANG

Cash paid for goods and services

BERm EXEK

TRERE
Cash paid to and on behalf of IRGEBIARABT
employees TRHEE
Cash paid for all types of taxes TR EERE
Other cash paid relating to operating F T E i AR R B
activities EHENFAE
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating REEBHRS
activities /NG
Net cash flows from operating KEEREEER
activities ReEneFs
Il CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES — REEDELEN
Hene

Cash received from sale of investments
Cash received from return on investments

Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets,
intangible assets and other long-term assets

Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries
and other business units

fERERENE S
RERERZEREM
Be
REETEE B
BENMEMRHEE
Ye Bl ) 3R &5
BETAAREMESR
B WBINR S FE

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing activities

REZHHEMANGT

Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets,

BRETEE EBVE

intangible assets and other long-term assets EMEMRAEES
NERE
Cash paid for acquisition of investments BREIZAOEE
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing activities BEFEHES TGt
Net cash flows from investing activities REETBEEN
Rene s

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

From 1 January 2023
to 30 June 2023

2023F1H1B &
2023F6H30H
1 2R

20,195,898,270.03
189,057,972.03

262,926,175.66

20,647,882,417.72

16,929,056,635.39

1,237,389,607.53
375,636,075.67

893,996,152.14

19,436,078,470.73

1,211,803,946.99

7,000,000,000.00

377,166,703.75

115,706,183.59

39,529,183.26

7,532,402,070.60

1,597,052,203.03
6,667,143,848.74

8,264,196,051.77

(731,793,981.17)

D S N =
N RS E R
202351 H1HZ2023F6 A308 1 AEET

From 1 January 2022
to 30 June 2022

2022F1/18%
2022%6A30H
LFEARE
(Restated)

(B&Ei)

16,312,163,824.75
152,050,443.79

382,750,448.28

16,846,964,716.82

18,468,691,125.83

1,166,969,459.45
251,051,284.15

680,197,791.51

20,566,909,660.94

(3,719,944,944.12)

5,798,300,000.00

424,698,064.93

737,282.00

6,223,735,346.93

1,877,374,600.24
8,938,274,700.00

10,815,649,300.24

(4,591,913,953.31)

B MR E R AN B RERAMAKAD -



Company Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

From 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023  Expressed in Renminbi Yuan

Interim Report 2023 FRHAZRE 53

BN R B 4w R (4)
B20235E1 H1HZ2023F6 H308 1 AEET

From 1 January 2023 From 1 January 2022

Note to 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022
2023F1H1RE 202F1818%
202356 H30H 2022%6A30H
F s 1E HA R 1FEAfE
(Restated)
(B &)
Mll. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES = EEEHELEN
BenE
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or profits AERF - MERER
and for interest expenses MELZAHHIRS 2,325,376.00
Other cash paid relating to financing TRHHEMEEE TR
activities R e 500,137,881.94
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing SEEYRE
activities /e 502,463,257.94
Net cash flows from financing EETEHELD
activities ReneFH (502,463,257.94)
IV.  EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATEON [+ EXZHEHIRE RIRE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS LEYHTE 525,450.09 288,756.89
V. NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND - BeRBELEEDT
CASH EQUIVALENTS CR ),/ 480,535,415.91 (8,814,033,398.48)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of m: BRe ke
period L EYHBEE 27,551,216,888.13 39,839,286,968.11
VI. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF N HIRBELBESZEY
PERIOD e 28,031,752,304.04 31,025,253,569.63

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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54 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.  #4%¢8) h R0 B R D 7

Notes to Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

L.

Corporate Background
Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock company limited

by shares incorporated in Weifang, Shandong on 23 December 2002.

The RMB ordinary A shares and overseas listed foreign H shares issued by
the Company were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, respectively. The registered address of
the Company’s headquarters is 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High
Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province.
The Company operates in the transportation equipment manufacturing
industry. The major scope of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) covers: design, development, production, sale,
repair, import and export of engines and auxiliary products, automobile,
automobile axle and components, gear boxes and components and other
automobile components, agricultural machinery and parts of agricultural,
livestock and fishery machinery, hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors,
hydraulic valves, gears and gear transmission devices, ancillary casting
and casting products of hydraulic components, internal combustion
engines, new energy powertrain systems and ancillary products; technical
consultation and technical services; leasing of self-owned houses;
sale of steel; business management service; forklift trucks production,
warehousing technology and supply chain solution services. For the
aforesaid scope of operation, operating permit(s) should be held for those

operations requiring administrative permission.

Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate

holding company of the Group, respectively.

These interim financial statements of the Company were approved by the

board of directors of the Company on 30 August 2023.

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is determined

on the basis of control. Please refer to Note VI for changes in this period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

II.

Preparation Basis of the Financial Statements
Preparation basis

These interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises — No. 32 Interim Financial
Reporting issued by the Ministry of Finance (the “MOF”). In addition,
the Group also disclosed relevant financial information in accordance
with relevant disclosure requirements of Compilation Rules No. 15 for
Information Disclosure by Companies Offering Securities to the Public —
General Requirements for Financial Reporting (2014 Revision) and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited.

These interim financial statements include selected explanatory notes,
which are provided for easy understanding of the Group’s important
events and transactions leading to its financial position and change of
results of operations since the financial statements for the year 2022.
These selected notes do not include all information and disclosures
required under the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises for a
full set of financial statements. As such, these statements shall be read in

conjunction with the financial statements of the Group for the year 2022.

Continuing operations

The interim financial statements are presented on a going concern basis.

Basis of book-keeping and principle of
measurement

The Group adopts the accrual basis as the basis of book-keeping in
accounting. Other than certain financial instruments, these financial
statements have been prepared at historical costs. A disposal group held-
for-sale is carried at the lower of carrying amount or the net value of
fair value less selling expenses. If the assets are impaired, corresponding

provisions for impairment shall be made according to relevant provisions.

Under historical cost method, the amount of assets was measured at the
fair value of cash or cash equivalents or consideration paid at the time
of purchase. Liabilities were measured at the amount of money or assets
due to the current obligations actually received, or a present obligation
of the contract amount, or the measurement of cash or cash equivalents
in accordance with daily activities to repay the liabilities of the amount

expected to be paid.

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE
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56 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #L8) hIRHER A T

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

II. Preparation Basis of the Financial Statements
(Continued)
Basis of book-keeping and principle of
measurement (Continued)
The fair value refers to the amount, at which both willing parties engaged
to an orderly transaction who are familiar with the condition sell their
assets or transfer their liabilities. Whether the fair value is observable or
measured by valuation techniques, the measurement and disclosure of the

fair value in these financial statements were all based on it.

For financial assets with transaction prices as the fair value upon initial
recognition and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals to the

transaction price.

Fair value measurements are categorised into three levels based on the
degree to which the inputs of the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its

entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date.
o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly.

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates
Accounting policies and accounting estimates are formulated based on
the actual characteristics of production and operation. These are reflected
in the identification of leases, provision for credit losses in respect of
receivables, classification of fixed assets and depreciation estimation,
classification of intangible assets and long-term pre-paid expenses and

estimation of amortisation.

1. Accounting period
The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31 December
of each calendar year. The accounting period for these interim

financial statements is from 1 January to 30 June.

2. Business cycle
Business cycle refers to the period from the purchase of assets used
for processing to the realisation of cash and cash equivalents. The

business cycle of the Group is twelve months.

3. Functional currency
Renminbi (RMB) was the currency used in the major economic
environment in which the Company and its domestic subsidiaries
operate the business. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries
used RMB as their functional currencies. The Company’s overseas
subsidiaries may determine their own functional currencies based on
the currency used in the major economic environment in which they
operate the business. In preparation of these financial statements,

the Company adopted RMB as the functional currency.

4. The accounting treatment of business
combinations involving enterprises under
common control and business combinations
involving enterprises not under common
control
Business combinations include business combinations involving
enterprises under common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common control.
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58 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

The accounting treatment of business

combinations involving enterprises under

common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common

control (Continued)

4.

(1)

Business combinations involving enterprises under
common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common
control is a business combination in which all of the
combining enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same
party or parties both before and after the combination, and
that control is not transitory.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained in a business
combination shall be measured at the carrying amounts on
the financial statements of the acquiree as at the combination
date. The difference between the carrying amount of the net
assets obtained by the acquirer and the carrying amount of
the consideration paid for the combination (or the aggregate
face value of shares issued as consideration) shall be adjusted
to share premium under capital reserve. If the capital reserve
is not sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess shall be
adjusted against retained earnings.

Costs that are directly attributable to the combination are
charged to profit or loss when incurred.

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill

A business combination involving enterprises not under
common control is a business combination in which all of the
combining enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the
same party or parties before and after the combination.

Combination cost refers to the fair value of assets paid,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued
by the acquirer for acquiring control of the acquiree. For
business combinations of enterprises not under common
control achieved in stages through multiple transactions, the
combination cost shall be the sum of the consideration paid
on the date of acquisition and the fair value, as at the date of
acquisition, of the equity interests in the acquiree held prior
to the date of acquisition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

The accounting treatment of business

combinations involving enterprises under

common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common

control (Continued)

4.

()

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)

The fees paid to intermediaries including audit, legal services,
appraisal and so forth and other related administrative
expenses incurred by the acquirer for the business
combination are charged to profit or loss for the current

period when incurred.

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
acquiree qualifying for the conditions of recognition acquired
by the acquirer in the business combination are measured
at fair value on the date of acquisition. When the business
combination contract provides that, upon the occurrence of
multiple future contingencies, the acquirer shall require the
return of consideration paid for the business combination,
such contingent consideration as set out in the contract
shall be recognised as an asset by the Group as a part of
the aggregate consideration transferred in the business
combination, and be included in the cost of combination
at the fair value at the date of acquisition. Within twelve
months after the acquisition, if the contingent consideration
needs to be adjusted as new or further evidences are
obtained in respect of circumstances existed as of the
date of acquisition, the amount previously included in the
goodwill shall be adjusted. A change in or adjustment to the
contingent consideration under other circumstances shall
be measured in accordance with Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Instruments and Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies. Any change or

adjustment is included in profit or loss for the current period.
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60 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

The accounting treatment of business

combinations involving enterprises under

common control and business combinations

involving enterprises not under common

control (Continued)

4.

(2)

Business combinations involving enterprises not
under common control and goodwill (Continued)

Where the combination cost is larger than the portion of
fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination, the difference is recognised
as goodwill as an asset, and initially measured at cost. For
those with combination cost lower than the portion of fair
value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired in the
business combination, re-verification is first carried out on
the measurement of the fair value of all identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities as well as the combination
cost. For those with combination cost lower than the portion
of fair value of net identifiable assets of acquiree acquired
in the business combination after re-verification, they are

charged to profit or loss for the current period.

If either the fair values of identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired in a combination or the cost of
business combination can be determined only provisionally
by the end of the period in which the business combination
was effected, the acquirer recognises and measures the
combination using those provisional values. Any adjustments
to those provisional values within 12 months after the
acquisition date are treated as if they had been recognised

and measured on the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising from the business combination shall be
recognised separately in the consolidated financial statements

and measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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5. Basis for preparation of consolidated financial 5. BB BRRNERS E

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Control refers to the power of
an investor over an investee, and exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee, and the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns.
Once the relevant facts and situation which alters the elements that

define control change, the Group shall perform re-evaluation.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control

of the subsidiary.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination not
involving enterprises under common control, the operating results
and cash flows from the date of acquisition (the date when the
control is obtained) are included in the consolidated income

statement and consolidated cash flow statement, as appropriate.

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting
period, subsidiaries acquired through a business combination
involving enterprises under common control or the party being
absorbed under merger by absorption are included in the Group's
scope of consolidation as if they had been included in the scope
of consolidation from the date when they first came under the
common control of the ultimate controlling party. Their operating
results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest reporting
period or from the date when they first came under the common
control of the ultimate controlling party are included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow

statement, as appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods adopted
by the subsidiaries are determined based on the uniform accounting

policies and accounting periods set out by the Company.

BHMBHRRNEHBE NG AR
BT IAREE © %%‘Jr&%a?xé“?’ﬁﬁ*ﬁﬂ
WIRE RS BRESERRET
E’]*Hﬁﬁ/éﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁ—f“@#& "W EA
EENERBRIRENTNEAZERD
HeE - —BRBEFENBRANEL
%@U:ﬂ HE RS MR E = E
TR REBASETERNMG -

RAEINA RN A EEESHZ
’AETE’\JT“%IMEE*% CRRIER AR E TR
REIZF R RSB RERF

HRBBIER —E %HTE’]i%AHHX

SWFAR - HEEER (RS
B HH)%EEI’J%“ **W%&ﬁémbi
ELEEHEEESHNBERMA G
}m%%qﬂ

\

‘rH

HRBEBER S THDEA PR
BEFRE (B A G TR A 6
) B ALCRAHELEERS
HIWE—RE - RRZTRA (S
BO7T) A REEGITTES 2 AR
MARSEMEHRE EaREMN
=T I IO R X R AR 42 6 07 12
ZHENKEKRNBEERECEE
WEEREAHNBRMEMHEZRE
R e

%Qﬁj}%ﬁﬁ E"]EEZZ = H‘I»Ekﬁﬁ(u = q‘l’%ﬁ
FHZIRAN R B 48— #2 E B & 5 BER A
SEtHARERE -



62 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

5.

Basis for preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The effect of all intra-group transactions between the Company and
its subsidiaries and among subsidiaries on the consolidated financial

statements is eliminated on consolidation.

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the
Company is treated as minority interests and presented as “minority
interests” in the consolidated balance sheet within shareholders’
equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries
attributable to minority interests is presented as “minority interests”
in the consolidated income statement below the “net profit” line

item.

Where the amount of losses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders exceeds their share of the opening balance
of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess shall be allocated

against minority interests.

Acquisition of minority interests or disposal of interest in a
subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control over the
subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying
amounts of the interests attributable to the parent and minority
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. The difference between the amount by
which the minority interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is adjusted to capital reserve. If the
capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is

adjusted against retained earnings.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

6.

Classification of joint arrangements and
accounting treatments for joint operations

Joint arrangements include joint operations and joint ventures. The
classification is determined by considering the structure, legal form
and contract terms of the arrangement according to the rights
and obligations of the joint parties in the joint arrangements. A
joint operation refers to the arrangement whereby the parties have
rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the
arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the

parties only have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group adopts equity method for computing the investments
in joint ventures. For details, see Note Ill. 13(3)(b) Long-term equity

investment calculated by equity method.

The following items should be recognised by the Group in relation
to its sole and shared ownerships in the joint operation: solely held
assets, as well as jointly held assets according to its share; solely
assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed liabilities according to
its share; income derived from its entitled share of production of
the joint operation; income derived from the sales of production of
the joint operation according to its share; solely incurred expenses,
as well as expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its
share. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to the joint
operation are computed according to requirements applicable to

specific assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
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64 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRHDER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

6.

Classification of joint arrangements and
accounting treatments for joint operations
(Continued)

If the Group invests or sells assets, etc. to the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognised only before the assets are sold
to a third party by the joint operation. Where asset impairment
losses are incurred in respect of assets invested or sold, the Group

recognises the losses in full amount.

If the Group purchases assets, etc. from the joint operation (except
when the assets constitute business), the part pertaining to other
participants in the joint operation among the profit or loss due to
the transaction will be recognised only before the assets are sold to
a third party. Where asset impairment losses are incurred in respect
of assets purchased, the Group recognises the losses to the extent

of its share.

Recognition criteria for cash and cash
equivalents

Cash comprises the Group'’s cash on hand and deposits that can
be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-term
(usually mature within 3 months from the date of acquisition),
highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
8. Foreign currency operations and foreign
currency translation

(1)

Foreign currency operations

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial
recognition, in the functional currency, by applying to the
foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate prevailing
on the transaction dates. On the balance sheet date, foreign
currency monetary items are translated into Renminbi using
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising from the difference between
the spot exchange rate on that day and on the date of initial
recognition or the previous balance sheet date are taken to
profit or loss in the current period except for the following:
(1) The exchange difference in respect of special borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies that meet the criteria for
capitalisation are capitalised during the capitalisation period as
a cost under the relevant assets; (2) The exchange difference
in respect of hedging instruments used for hedging for
avoiding foreign exchange rate risks is accounted for using
hedge accounting; (3) For monetary items classified as at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI),
exchange difference arising from the change in other gross
carrying amounts other than amortised costs is taken to other

comprehensive income.

Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical
cost shall still be measured at the amount in the functional
currency translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing on
the transaction date. Non-monetary foreign currency items
measured at fair value are translated at the spot exchange
rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The difference between the amount in the
functional currency after translation and the amount in the
original functional currency is accounted for as fair value
change (inclusive of exchange rate change) and is taken to
profit or loss for the current period or recognised as other

comprehensive income.
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66 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRHDER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
8. Foreign currency operations and foreign
currency translation (Continued)

()

Translation of foreign currency financial statements

To prepare the consolidated financial statement, the financial
statements denominated in foreign currency of a foreign
operation are translated to RMB in compliance with the
following requirements: all assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet are translated at the spot exchange rate prevailing
at the balance sheet date; all equity items are translated at
the spot exchange rates at the dates on which such items
arose; income and expenses and profit appropriation items
in the income statement are translated at the spot exchange
rate at the date of transaction; all exchange differences of
assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity resulting from the
translation are recognised as other comprehensive income

and taken to shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the spot exchange rate
as of the date on which the cash flows occur. The effect
of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents is
presented separately as an adjustment item under “effect of
changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents” in

the cash flow statement.

The opening balances of the year/period and prior
year's/period’s figures are presented according to the translated

amounts of the financial statements of the prior year/period.

When control over the Group’s foreign operation is lost
due to the disposal of ownership interests of foreign
operation or partial disposal of equity investment or
other reasons, exchange differences of foreign currency
statements attributable to the shareholders of the parent
company related to such foreign operation and presented
under shareholder’s equity item in the balance sheet are all

transferred to profit or loss for the current period.
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Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)

8. Foreign currency operations and foreign 8. NEBEBNINIEBERITE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

9.

currency translation (Continued)

(2) Translation of foreign currency financial statements
(Continued)
In partial disposal of the equity investment or other reasons
that lead to the reduction of the proportion of interests
in foreign operation but there is no loss of control over
such foreign operations, the difference of foreign currency
translation related to the part of foreign operation disposal
will be attributed to minority interests and will not be taken
to profit or loss for the current period. In partial disposal of
equity interest in an overseas associate or joint venture, the
foreign currency translation difference related to the foreign
operation shall be taken to profit or loss for the current
period according to the proportion of the disposal of the

foreign operation.

Financial instruments
The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial

instrument.

Where financial assets are purchased or sold in a regular way, assets
to be received and liabilities to be borne for it are recognised on the
date of transaction, or sold assets are derecognised on the date of

transaction.

The financial assets and financial liabilities were initially recognised
at fair value. For the financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for the current
period, related transaction expenses are directly taken to the profit
or loss for the current period; for other types of financial assets
and financial liabilities, related transaction expenses are included
in the initial recognised amount. For accounts receivable excluding
significant financing components or regardless of financing
components of contracts less than one year initially recognised
based on Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No.14-
Revenue (“Standard on Revenue”), they are initially measured at

transaction price defined based on the Standard on Revenue.
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method is the method that is used in the
calculation of the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest income

or interest expense over the accounting periods.

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Group shall estimate the expected
cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial
assets or liabilities (for example, early repayment, extension, call and

similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses.

Amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount
at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount

and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

(1) Classification and measurement of financial assets
After initial recognition, the Group shall measure different

types of financial assets at amortised cost, FVTOCI or FVTPL.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

(1)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows, the
Group shall classify the financial asset into a financial asset
measured at amortised cost. Such financial assets mainly
include: cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable, accounts

receivable and other receivables etc.

If the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
and the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell such
financial assets, the Group shall classify the financial asset
into a financial asset at FVTOCI. Notes receivable classified as
at FVTOCI upon acquisition by the Group are presented as

receivable financing.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(1) Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets classified
as at FVTPL and those designated as at FVTPL which are
presented in held-for-trading financial assets. Those due over
one year and expected to be held for over one year since
the balance sheet date are presented in other non-current

financial assets.

o A financial asset which does not satisfy the criteria
for a financial asset classified as being measured at
amortised cost or a financial asset at FVTOCI shall be

classified as a financial asset at FVTPL.

o At initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting

mismatch.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

(1)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

On initial recognition, the Group may, based on an individual
financial asset, irrevocably designate a non-trading equity
instrument investment which is non-contingent consideration
and recognised in business combination not involving
enterprises under common control as financial asset
measured at FVTOCI. Such financial assets are presented as

investment in other equity instruments.

The Group’s purpose of holding the financial assets is for

trading if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

° The Group's purpose of holding the relevant financial

assets is primarily for recent sale.

° The relevant financial assets are, on initial recognition,
a part of the centrally-managed identifiable financial
instrument portfolio, and objective evidence indicates

that short-term profit model exists in the near future.

° The relevant financial assets are derivative instruments.
However, derivatives that meet the definition of
financial guarantee contracts and those designated as

effective hedging instruments are excluded.
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72 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

(M

Classification and measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(@)

Financial assets at amortised cost

The financial asset at amortised cost is subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Gain or loss arising from derecognition,
impairment or amortisation is recognised in profit or

loss.

The Group recognises interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The Group calculates interest income based on
the gross carrying amount of financial assets multiplied
by the actual interest rate, unless the financial assets
become credit-impaired financial assets in subsequent
reporting period. For those financial assets, the Group
shall apply the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset in subsequent
reporting period. If the financial assets no longer has
credit impairment during the subsequent period as
a result of an improvement in its credit risk, and this
improvement may be linked to an event that occurred
after the application of the above regulations, the
Group calculates interest income based on the gross
carrying amount of financial assets multiplied by the
actual interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(1) Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
(b)  Financial assets classified as at FVTOC!

Impairment gains or losses on a financial asset classified
as at FVTOCI and the interest income calculated using
the effective interest method and exchange gains and
losses shall be recognised in profit or loss. Except for
them, changes in fair value of such financial assets shall
be recognised in other comprehensive income. The
amount of such financial asset recognised in profit or
loss of each period is equal to the amount deemed as
measured at amortised cost all the time and recognised
in profit or loss of each period. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit

or loss.

After designating a non-trading equity instrument
investment as a financial asset at FVTOCI, the changes
in fair value of such financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are transferred from other comprehensive income to
retained earnings. During the period that the Group
holds these non-trading equity instrument investments,
the Group has established the right of collecting
dividends, whose economic benefit will probably flow
into the Group, and the amount of the dividends can
be reliably measured, then the Group will recognise

dividend income in profit or loss.
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74  Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
(c)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL shall be subsequently
measured at fair value. Gains or losses from change in
fair value and dividends and interest income related
to such financial assets shall be recognised in profit or

loss.

Impairment of financial instruments and other items
The Group shall recognise a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost, financial
assets classified as FVTOCI, a lease receivable, contract assets
and financial guarantee contracts that are not designated as
financial liabilities at FVTPL.

The Group makes a loss allowance against amount of lifetime
expected credit losses of the receivables and contract assets
arising from transactions adopting Standard on Revenue
and the lease receivables arising from transactions adopting
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 21 —

Leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

()

Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

For other financial instruments, at the balance sheet date,
the Group assesses changes in credit risk of relevant financial
instruments since initial recognition. If the credit risk of the
above financial instruments has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures loss allowance based
on the amount of lifetime expected credit losses; if credit risk
of the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group recognises loss allowance
based on 12-month expected credit losses of the financial
instrument. Increase in or reversal of credit loss allowance is
included in profit or loss as loss/gain on impairment. Except
financial assets classified as at FVTOCI, allowance for credit
losses decreases the carrying amount of the financial assets.
For financial assets at FVTOCI, the Group recognises credit
loss allowance in other comprehensive income and does not
decrease the carrying amount of such financial assets in the

balance sheet.
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76 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

()

Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

The Group measures loss allowance at the full lifetime
expected credit losses of the financial instruments in the
previous accounting period. However, at the balance sheet
date, for the above financial instruments, if significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition no longer
applies, the Group measures loss allowance for the financial
instrument at 12-month expected credit losses at the balance
sheet date for the current period. Relevant reversal of loss
allowance is included in profit or loss for the current period as

gain on impairment.

(@)  Significant increases in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk
of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since the initial recognition at each balance
sheet date. While determining whether the credit risk
has significantly increased since initial recognition,
the Group takes into account the reasonable and
substantiated information that is accessible without
exerting unnecessary cost or effort, including qualitative
and quantitative analysis based on the historical data
of the Group, external credit risk rating, and forward-
looking information. Based on the single financial
instrument or the combination of financial instruments
with similar characteristics of credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of default of financial instruments
on the balance sheet date with that on the initial
recognition date in order to figure out the changes
of default risk in the expected lifetime of financial
instruments. For financial guarantee contracts, the
date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition in the application of criteria related to the
financial instrument for impairment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(2) Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)
(@)  Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk

When triggering one or more of the following
guantitative and qualitative criteria, the Group believes
that the credit risk of financial instruments has

increased significantly:

o Quantitative criteria are primarily that the
probability of default of the remaining duration
of the reporting date rises by more than a certain

proportion compared with the initial recognition

o Qualitative criteria primarily include major
adverse changes in the debtor’s business or
financial position, the debtor’s internal credit
rating is actually lowered or is expected to be

lowered, etc.

At the balance date, the Group assumes that credit
risk of the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the Group
determines that the financial instrument is only exposed
to lower credit risk. If the risk of default of a financial
instrument is low, the borrower is highly capable of
meeting its contract cash flow obligations in the short
term, and the financial instrument is considered to have
a lower credit risk even if there is an adverse change
in the economic situation and operating environment
over a longer period of time, but it may not necessarily
reduce the borrower’s performance of its contract cash

obligations.
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78 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRHER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(2) Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

(b)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include

observable data about the following events:

(i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
debtor;

(i) A breach of contract by the debtor, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

(i) The creditor, for economic or contracted reasons
relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty,
granting to the debtor a concession which
will not otherwise be granted in any other

circumstances;

(iv) It becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisations;

(v)  The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties of

the issuer or the debtor.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and

Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(2) Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)
(c)  Recognition of expected credit losses

The Group assesses the expected credit losses of
financial instruments based on individual and group
basis. The Group recognises the credit loss on
receivables, lease receivables, contract assets, etc., of
significant amount and insignificant amount but with
special credit risk on an individual asset basis, and
otherwise recognises credit loss of relevant financial
instruments on a group basis. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics of different customers
and evaluates the expected credit losses of accounts
receivable on the basis of groupings by age, by quality
of credit history and by overdue age. The Group
considers various credit risk characteristics including
instrument type, credit risk ratings, collateral type,
date of initial recognition, remaining term to maturity,
industry, geographical location of the debtor and the

value of collateral relative to the financial asset, etc.

The Group determines expected credit losses of relevant

financial instruments using the following methods:

o For financial assets, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group

expects to receive.
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80 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(2) Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

©

Recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

For lease receivables, a credit loss is the present
value of the difference between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group under
the contract and the cash flows that the Group

expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, credit loss
is the present value of difference between the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the

debtor or any other party.

For credit-impaired financial assets at the balance
sheet date, credit loss is the difference between
the gross carrying amount of financial assets and
the present value of expected future cash flows

discounted at original effective interest rate.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(2) Impairment of financial instruments and other items
(Continued)

(c)  Recognition of expected credit losses (Continued)

The Group’s measurement of expected credit losses of
financial instruments reflects factors including unbiased
probability weighted average amount recognised by
assessing a series of possible results, time value of
money, reasonable and supportable information related
to historical events, current condition and forecast
of future economic position that is available without

undue cost or effort at the balance sheet date.

(d)  Write-off of financial assets
The Group shall directly reduce the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial
asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition of the relevant financial

asset.

(3) Transfer of financial assets
The Group shall derecognise a financial asset when one of
the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; (2)
the financial asset has been transferred and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset is
transferred to the transferee; (3) although the financial asset
has been transferred, the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset but has not retained control of the financial

asset.
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82 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(3) Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

If the

Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset, and it

retains control of the financial asset, the Group will recognise

the financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement

in the transferred financial asset and recognise an associated

liability. Relevant liabilities are measured using the following

methods:

If the transferred financial asset is measured at
amortised cost, the carrying amount of relevant
liabilities is the carrying amount of continuing
involvement in the transferred financial asset less the
amortised cost of the rights retained by the Group (if
the Group retains rights for the transfer of the financial
asset) plus the amortised cost of the obligations
undertaken by the Group (if the Group undertakes
relevant obligations for the transfer of the financial
asset), and the relevant liabilities are not designated as
financial liabilities at FVTPL.

If the transferred financial asset is measured at fair
value, the carrying amount of relevant liabilities is the
carrying amount of continuing involvement in the
transferred financial asset less the fair value of the
rights retained by the Group (if the Group retains rights
for the transfer of the financial asset) plus the fair value
of the obligations undertaken by the Group (if the
Group undertakes relevant obligations for the transfer
of the financial asset), and the fair value of the rights

and liabilities is measured on a stand-alone basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

3)

Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset transferred and the sum of the
consideration received from the transfer and accumulated
amount of the fair value changes originally taken to other
comprehensive income corresponding to the derecognised
part shall be taken to profit or loss for the current period.
Where the financial asset to be transferred by the Group is
a non-trading equity instrument investment designated as
at FVTOCI, accumulated gains or losses previously taken to
other comprehensive income are transferred out from other

comprehensive income and taken to retained earnings.

For a part of transfer of a financial asset that satisfies
the derecognition criteria, the carrying amount of the
transferred financial asset is allocated between the part
that is derecognised and the part that is continuously
involved, based on the respective fair values of those parts
on transfer date. The difference between the sum of the
consideration received for the part of the derecognition and
the accumulated amount of the fair value changes originally
taken to other comprehensive income corresponding to the
derecognised part and the carrying amount on the date of
derecognition for the derecognised part shall be taken to
profit and loss for the current period. Where the financial
asset to be transferred by the Group is a non-trading equity
instrument investment designated as at FVTOCI, accumulated
gains or losses previously taken to other comprehensive
income are transferred out from other comprehensive income

and taken to retained earnings.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that does not
satisfy the derecognition criteria, the Group will continuously
recognise the transferred financial asset in its entirety.
Considerations received should be recognised as a financial
liability.
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84 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRHDER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments
Financial instruments or their constituent parts issued by
the Group are classified into financial liabilities or equity
instruments on initial recognition on the basis of the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the economic
nature but not only its legal form, together with the definition

of financial liability and equity instruments.

(a) Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified
into financial liabilities at FVTPL and other financial

liabilities.

(i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL consist of financial
liabilities held for trading (including derivative
instruments of financial liabilities) and those
designated as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are presented as held-for-trading financial
liabilities or other non-current liabilities according

to their liquidity.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
(@)  Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)
(i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

If one of the following conditions is met for
a financial liability, it suggests that the Group

recognises financial liability held-for-trading:

o The purpose of undertaking the relevant
financial liability is mainly for the purpose

of repurchasing in the near future.

° The relevant financial liability is, upon initial
recognition, a combination of identifiable
financial instruments that are centrally
managed and there is objective evidence
that the Company has recently adopted

short-term profit-making methods.

° The relevant financial liability is a derivative
instrument, except for derivatives that
qualify for financial guarantee contracts
and derivatives that are designated as

effective hedging instruments.
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86 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments (Continued)

(a)

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

The Group designates a financial liability as FVTPL
on initial recognition when the financial liability
satisfies one of the following criteria: (1) such
designation eliminates or significantly reduces
accounting mismatch; (2) The financial liability
forms part of a group of financial liabilities or a
group of financial assets and financial liabilities,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the documented risk management
or investment strategy of the Group, and
information about the grouping is reported to
key management personnel on that basis; (3) The
qualified hybrid financial instrument combines

financial liability with embedded derivatives.

Held-for-trading financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at fair value, and any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
and any dividend or interest income earned on
the financial liabilities are recognised in profit or

loss.

AR #o R M R (48)
(B 1 RIEBE )

(%)

THEEEBARET)
2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

= 2 A BOR K| atk Al wt

9. ©mIA(HE)

(4) TRAEMERT
B|(E)

HE D

(a) =HMEENDERTE

(&)

(i)

IHJ

hEETER
SB) A E Hi 18
mﬁéﬂ &
$§IhﬁéT§
Btz —HMERE
& £ 108 HE R B

AUEERAAR
BEFEAEHE

AEHEZNS
MEE: (1)&EE
B 508 bR sk BR E R
LEEEEL ()R
BAEEEAE®R
NP RRE
BRFEERE -
AREEREMRY
cHEEHEASKS
MEEMSARE
BEETEBME
BEE WEASE
5] =B LA L A E AR
mEREIEABR
RN EIES RSN I ta:y
BERATELEA

P va
]

e

S
ot

i
)

N
I
/ﬂﬂW
—
b
—

RPETREBER
RAREBEETR

%ﬁé'ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

E%M&ﬁa%w
b & 548 BE & B A
FHMBZHEFAE
Hifas -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
(a) Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)
(i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For the financial liabilities designated as FVTPL,
changes in fair value arising from changes in the
Group’s own credit risk are included in other
comprehensive incomes and other changes
in fair value recognised in profit and loss.
Upon derecognition of the financial liabilities,
cumulative changes in fair value arising from
changes in the own credit risk previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred and included in retained earnings.
Dividends or interest incomes earned on the
financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.
If the impact of the change in credit risk of such
financial liability dealt with in the above way
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss, the Group shall present all gains
or losses on that liability (including the effects of
changes in the credit risk of that liability) in profit

or loss.
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88 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
(@)  Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

(i)

Other financial liabilities

The Group shall classify all financial liabilities
as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
except for financial liabilities, financial guarantee
contracts that arise when a transfer of a financial
asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies,
and gains or losses arising from derecognition or
amortisation are recognised in profit or loss for
the period.

When the contractual cash flows are changed
due to the renegotiation or modification of
the contract made between the Group and
the counterparty and the renegotiation or
modification does not result in the derecognition
of the financial liability that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost, the Group shall
recalculate the carrying amount of the financial
liability and shall recognised related gains or
losses in profit or loss. The carrying amount of
the financial liability shall be recalculated as the
present value of the renegotiated or modified
contractual cash flows that are discounted at the
financial liability’s original effective interest rate.
Any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying
amount of the modified financial liability and
are amortised over the remaining term of the
modified financial liability.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity

instruments (Continued)

(@)  Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

(i)

Other financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder of the contract for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition,
financial guarantee contracts that are not
designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL, or
arise when a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition or when the
continuing involvement approach, are measured
at the higher of amount of loss provision and
the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation amount determined based on the
relevant requirements under the Standard on

Revenue upon initial recognition.
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90 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRHDER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
(b)  Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability (or part of
it) when the underlying present obligation (or part of it)
is discharged. An agreement between the Group (the
debtor) and the creditor to replace the original financial
liability with a new financial liability with substantially
different terms is accounted for as a derecognition of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a

new financial liability.

When the Group derecognises a financial liability or
a part of it, it recognises the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the
financial liability) derecognised and the consideration
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or new

financial liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)
(4) Classification of financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)
(c)  Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
(including refinanced), repurchased, sold or cancelled
by the Group are recognised as changes of equity.
Changes of fair value of equity instruments is not
recognised by the Group. Transaction costs related to

equity transactions are deducted from equity.

The Group recognises the distribution to holders of the
equity instruments as distribution of profits. Dividends

paid do not affect total amount of shareholders’ equity.

The Group is entitled to extend the term of the
perpetual bonds issued by the subsidiaries of the
Company for an indefinite number of times. The Group
is also entitled to defer payment of coupon interest
on its perpetual bonds. The Group is not contractually
obliged to pay cash or other financial assets. The
perpetual bonds are classified as equity instruments
and presented as minority interests in the consolidated

financial statements.
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92 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
9. Financial instruments (Continued)

(5)

Derivatives and embedded derivatives

Derivatives include forward foreign exchange contracts,
cross currency swap and interest rate swap instruments,
etc. Derivatives are initially measured at fair value at the
date when the derivative contracts are entered into and are

subsequently re-measured at fair value.

For hybrid contract constituted by embedded derivatives
and host contract, if the host contract is a financial asset,
the embedded derivative is not separated from the hybrid
contract, and the hybrid contract shall be taken as a whole
to which the accounting standards on the classification of

financial assets apply.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Where the Group has a legal right that is currently
enforceable to set off the recognised financial assets and
financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability
simultaneously, a financial asset and a financial liability shall
be offset and the net amount is presented in the balance
sheet. Except for the above circumstances, financial assets
and financial liabilities shall be presented separately in the

balance sheet and shall not be offset.

10. Receivable financing

For notes and accounts payables classified at FVTOCI with a maturity

of less than one year (inclusive) are included in receivable financing.

Please refer to Note II1.9 for the related accounting policies.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
11. Inventories

(1)

Classification of inventories

The Group’s inventories mainly include raw materials,
finished goods, materials under entrusted processing, self-
made semi-finished goods and work-in-progress and second-
hand forklift trucks etc. Inventories are initially carried at cost.
Cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of

conversion and other costs.

Calculation of cost of inventories transferred out
The actual cost of inventories transferred out is assigned by
using weighted average method, first-in-first-out method or

specific identification method.

Basis for determining net realisable value of inventories

At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the
lower of cost or net realisable value; provisions for inventory
write-down are made on the excess of its cost over the net

realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale and relevant taxes. Recognition of the net realisable value
is based on the verified evidences and considers the purpose
of holding inventories and the effect of post balance sheet

events.

Provision for decline in value of other inventories is made
based on the excess of cost of inventory over its net realisable

value on an item-by-item basis.
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94 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

11.

12.

Inventories (Continued)

(3) Basis for determining net realisable value of inventories
(Continued)
Following a provision for impairment of inventories is made, if
factors that previously resulted in the provision for decline in
value of inventories no longer exist, so that the net realisable
value is higher than the carrying amount, the amount of
the write-down is reversed. The amount of the reversal is

recognised in profit or loss for the current period.

(4) Inventory system

The Groups adopts perpetual inventory system.

(5) Amortisation method of low-value consumables
Low-value consumables are amortised in full when received

for use.

Assets held-for-sale

A non-current asset or disposal group shall be classified as held
for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction (inclusive of non-monetary asset swap with

commercial substance) rather than continuous use.

A non-current asset or disposal group classified as held for sale
must also satisfy the following conditions: (1) according to the
practice of disposing of this type of assets or disposal groups in a
similar transaction, a non-current asset or disposal group is available
for immediate sale in its present condition; (2) the sale will likely
occur as the Group has made a resolution in respect of a disposal
plan and obtained a firm purchase commitment from a buyer, and

the sale is expected to be completed within one year.

B 5 3 M 5 (4)

(B#FIFEHS) - 2 BEBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

ENRY: S g g i
(74)

11.

12.

FE (&)

(3) 77 & A& F(E R T K
&(&E)
SHETRBMERE - MR
MRETEEENYEREE
BHK  EREENTRIF
EERARABED  ERC
HENTEBREERSENT
BT - B0 8S R A AR

B e

(4) FENBREFHE
FEMNBTFHERAXERT
il o

(5) EKEZEMOEHETTA
{18 5 Fm B A — R iR
TH# -

REGEEE
EAEEIBRBNE(REAER
SEE S A A ) MIEHS
BER—EFADAERERMARD
HEEEEEN  SEUDARARE
A -

DEAKARERINERDEE
KGR B AR R B R A MR - (1)
REBUXSGTFHERBEERRE
MAEED - EE AT T BN SZEN K
B QHERATREL  BIAEE
EER—BHEEFHRZARST
BMENBEAR BbhE8E—F
MFERK,



Interim Report 2023 FHiFRE 95

BB #Ro R Mt R (48)

(BRI RIFEERS) » 2 BB BARET)

2023%F1A1HZE6H30A 1B

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 14 5t
Accounting Estimates (Continued) (%)

12. Assets held-for-sale (Continued) 12. BESEEE(HE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

The Group measures the non-current assets or disposal groups
classified as held for sale at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Where the carrying amount is higher
than the net amount of fair value less costs to sell, carrying amount
should be reduced to the net amount of fair value less costs to sell,
and such reduction is recognised in impairment loss of assets and
included in profit or loss for the period. Meanwhile, provision for
impairment of held-for-sale assets are made. When there is increase
in the net amount of fair value of non-current assets held for sale
less costs to sell at the balance sheet date, the original deduction
should be reversed in impairment loss of assets recognised after the
classification of held-for-sale category, and the reversed amount is
include in profit or loss for the period, except for the impairment

loss of assets recognised before classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held-for-sale are
not depreciated or amortised. Interest and other costs of liabilities in

disposal groups classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.
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96 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments

(1)

Basis for determining joint control and significant
influence

Control exists when the investor has power over the
investee; is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect its returns. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic
activity, and exists only when decisions relating to the
activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies. When
determining whether an investor is able to exercise control or
significant influence over an investee, the effect of potential
voting rights of the investee (for example, warrants and
convertible debts) held by the investors or other parties that

are currently exercisable or convertible shall be considered.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)

()

Determination of initial investment cost

For a long-term equity investment acquired through a
business combination involving enterprises under common
control, the initial investment cost of the long-term equity
investment is the attributable share of the carrying amount
of the shareholders’ equity of the acquiree on the date of
combination in the consolidated financial statements of
the ultimate controlling party. The difference between the
initial investment cost and the carrying amount of cash
paid, non-cash assets transferred and liabilities assumed
adjusted to capital reserve. If the balance of capital reserve
is not sufficient, any excess is adjusted to retained earnings.
For issuing equity securities as consideration, the initial
investment cost of the long-term equity investment is the
attributable share of the carrying amount of the shareholders’
equity of the combining party on the date of combination
in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate
controlling party. The aggregate face values of the shares are
accounted for share capital. The difference between the initial
investment cost and the aggregate face values of the shares
issued is adjusted to capital reserve. If the capital reserve is
insufficient to be written down, the retained earnings shall be

adjusted.

As for the long-term equity investment acquired through
business combinations involving enterprises not under
common control, the initial investment cost of the long-term
equity investment shall be taken as the merger cost on the

acquisition date.
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98 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)

(2)

Determination of initial investment cost (Continued)
The intermediary fees such as auditing, legal services,
appraisal and consultation and other related administrative
expenses incurred by the combining party or the acquirer for
business combination shall be taken to profit or loss of the

current period when incurred.

The initial measurement of the long-term equity investment
obtained by means other than the long-term equity
investment formed by business combination shall be
accounted for at cost. Where additional investment results
in significant influence or joint control (but not control) over
the investee, the cost of long-term equity investment is the
sum of the fair value of the original equity investment plus
the additional investment cost determined in accordance with
the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 —

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments.

Recognition method for subsequent measurement

and profit or loss

(a) Long-term equity investment calculated by cost
method
The Company’s financial statements adopt the cost
method to calculate long-term equity investment in
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries refer to investees which can

be controlled by the Group.

The long-term equity investment calculated by cost
method is measured at the initial investment cost.
Adding or recovering investment adjusts the cost of
long-term equity investment. The current investment
income is recognised according to the cash dividend or

profit declared to be distributed by the investee.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
(3) Recognition method for subsequent measurement

and profit or loss (Continued)

(b)

Long-term equity investment calculated by equity
method

The Group’s investment in associates and joint
ventures is calculated by equity method. Associates
refer to invested entities to which the Group can exert
a significant influence, and joint ventures are joint
arrangements in which the Group has only the right to

the net assets of the arrangements.

When equity method is adopted, if the initial
investment cost of long-term equity investment is
greater than the fair value share of identifiable net
assets of the invested entity, the initial investment cost
of long-term equity investment shall not be adjusted;
If the initial investment cost is less than the fair value
share of the identifiable net assets of the invested
entity, the difference shall be recorded into the current
profits and losses, and the long-term equity investment

cost shall be adjusted at the same time.
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100 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)

3)

Recognition method for subsequent measurement

and profit or loss (Continued)

(b)

Long-term equity investment calculated by equity
method (Continued)

When equity method is adopted, the investment
income and other comprehensive income shall be
recognised respectively according to the share of
net profit and loss and other comprehensive income
realised by the invested entity, and the carrying amount
of long-term equity investment shall be adjusted at
the same time; the carrying amount of long-term
equity investment shall be reduced accordingly by
calculating the portion to be enjoyed according to the
profit or cash dividend declared by the invested entity;
the carrying amount of long-term equity investment
shall be adjusted and included in the capital reserve
for other changes in the owner’s rights and interests
of the invested entity except net profit or loss, other
comprehensive income and profit distribution. When
recognising the share of the net profit or loss of the
invested entity, the net profit of the invested entity
shall be adjusted and recognised on the basis of the
fair value of the identifiable assets of the invested
entity at the acquisition date. If the accounting
policies and periods adopted by the invested entity are
inconsistent with those of the Company, the financial
statements of the invested entity shall be adjusted in
accordance with the accounting policies and period
of the Company. The investment income and other
comprehensive income shall be recognised accordingly.
For transactions between the Group and associates
or joint ventures, the assets invested or sold do not
constitute business, and the gains and losses of internal
transactions are offset by the shareholding attributable
to the Group. On this basis, the investment gains
and losses are recognised. However, the unrealised
internal transaction losses between the Group and the
invested entity shall not be offset if they belong to the
impairment losses of the transferred assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
(3) Recognition method for subsequent measurement
and profit or loss (Continued)
(b) Long-term equity investment calculated by equity
method (Continued)
The Group discontinues recognising its share of net
losses of the investee after the carrying amount of
the long-term equity investment together with any
long-term interests that in substance form part of its
net investment in the invested entity is reduced to
zero. If the Group has incurred obligations to assume
additional losses of the investee, estimated liability is
recognised according to the expected obligation, and
recorded as investment loss for the period. Where net
profits are subsequently made by the invested entity,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits exceeds the

share of losses previously not recognised.

(4) Disposal of long-term equity investment
At the time of the disposal of long-term equity investment,
the difference between its carrying amount and the actual
consideration obtained shall be taken to profit or loss for the
current period. For long-term equity investment calculated by
equity method, the same basis as that adopted in the direct
disposal of assets or liabilities by the invested entity shall be
adopted and the part that would otherwise be taken to other

comprehensive income is accounted for proportionally.
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102 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
14. Investment property

15.

Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Investment property includes a land use right

that is leased out and a building that is leased out.

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. If the
economic benefits relating to an investment property will probably
flow in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent costs
incurred for the property is included in the cost of the investment
property. Subsequent costs other than that are recognised in profit

or loss for the period in which they are incurred.

The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement of its
investment property. Depreciation or amortisation is calculated on

the straight-line basis over its useful life, as follows:

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)
202341 10265304 15
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14.
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AEERARARAEIREEFE
ETRESE  EHERSHAERA
BAROERTIRITE S - PR ¢

Estimated Estimated net Annual
useful lives residual depreciation
(years) value rate (%) rate (%)
TEFHE A TERFE
Item A 56(F) BE%)  FREE(%)
Land use rights + b A A 48.5-50.0 - 2.00-2.06
Houses and buildings FEEREY 14.5-40.0 0-5 2.38-6.90
Fixed assets 15. BEEE

Fixed assets represent the tangible assets held for production or
supply of goods or services, rental or for administrative purposes
with useful lives over one accounting year. A fixed asset is
recognised only when the economic benefits associated with the
asset will probably flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can

be measured reliably. Fixed assets are initially measured at cost.

If the economic benefits relating to a fixed asset will probably flow
in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent expenditure
incurred for a fixed asset shall be included in the cost of the fixed
asset, and the carrying amount of the component of the fixed asset
that is replaced shall be derecognised. Subsequent expenditure
other than that shall be recognised in profit or loss for the period in

which they are incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 A1HZ6A30H 1F A

III. Significant Accounting Policies and = & % & 51 B R & & 51 4 5t

Accounting Estimates (Continued) (7

15. Fixed assets (Continued) 15. EEEE(HE)

Other than fixed assets arising from the use and appropriation of
safety funds, special reserve offset against the cost of fixed assets,
and equivalent amounts of accumulated depreciation recognised,;
the straight line method or double-declining balance method is

adopted for the depreciation of fixed assets of the Group.

The expected useful lives, net residual value rates and annual

depreciation rates of fixed assets are presented as follows:

)

BERRRNZ2EEBKHEE
BE  RRIVKETEEENBA R
BIEMHE - WHERER S BN R
B2 ARBERBETEEENTERA
BRZREEHRBREBEIE -

SEEEEENBH AT PR
EEREFERIFAT -

Estimated Estimated net Annual
useful lives residual depreciation
(years) value rate (%) rate (%)
EEHEA TEEHEE

fter A B5(F) BR%)  FRER%)

Land ownership + H A R Indefinite
fmHARR - -
Houses and buildings EEEEY 10-50 0-5 1.90-10.00
Machinery and equipment WS R 3-15 0-5 6.33-33.33
Electronic equipment BFH 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00
Vehicles BRI 4-10 0-5 9.50-25.00
Forklift trucks and equipment FAHBXEREE Amortised Amortised
leased out (long-term) (Note) (R#)GE) based on the based on the
straight-line straight-line
method over method over
the lease term the lease term

AENAER ERNHEH
RE R - REEREH
Forklift trucks and equipment HEHNEREE

leased out (short-term) (Note) (52 H) (3) 5-8 - 12.50-20.00
Others HAh 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00

Note: For self-owned fixed assets leased out by the Group as lessor under
operating lease, those leased for a period of not more than 12 months are
presented under forklift trucks and equipment leased out (short-term) and
those leased for a period of more than 1 year are presented under forklift
trucks and equipment leased out (long-term).

The Group reviews the useful life and estimated net residual value
of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied at least at

each year-end, and makes adjustments if necessary.

i AEEERHEALEEHNAFE
EEE  HERRTEB12EA803!
BEBHHRERRE(ER) AT
HEHRARIFOFFHAEMR LM X
ERHEEHE(RPET -

AEEEIREBFFERT - HEE
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104 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

16.

17.

Construction in progress

The cost of construction in progress is determined according to
the actual expenditure incurred for the construction, including all
necessary construction expenditure incurred during the construction
period, borrowing costs that shall be capitalised before the
construction gets ready for its intended use and other relevant
expenses. No provision is made for construction in progress. A
construction in progress is transferred to fixed asset when the asset is

ready for its intended use.

Contract asset and liability

Contracts with customers will be presented in the Group’s balance
sheet as a contract liability or a contract asset, depending on the
relationship between the Group’s performance and the customer’s

payment.

(1) Contract asset
Contract assets refer to the Group’s right to receive
consideration for the transfer of goods to its customers,
which depends on factors other than the passage of time.
The Group’s unconditional (i.e., depending only on the
passage of time) right to collect consideration from customers

is shown separately as receivables.

The Group’s method for determining and accounting for
expected credit losses which are related to contract assets are
detailed in Note I11.9.

(2) Contract liability
A contract liability is presented in the balance sheet where an
amount of consideration has been received or is receivable by
the Group prior to the Group performing by transferring the

related good or service to the customer.

The Group offsets the contract assets and contract liabilities
under the same contract and presents them on the balance

sheet as a net amount.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
18. Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by the Group
in connection with the borrowing of the funds. Borrowing costs
include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums related
to borrowings, ancillary costs incurred in connection with the
arrangement of borrowings, and exchange differences arising from

foreign currency borrowings.

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised. The
amounts of other borrowing costs incurred are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred. Qualifying assets
are assets (fixed assets, investment property and inventories, etc.)
that necessarily take a substantial period of time for acquisition,
construction or production to get ready for their intended use or

sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences only when all of

the following conditions are satisfied:
(1) expenditures for the asset are being incurred;
(2)  borrowing costs are being incurred;

(3) activities relating to the acquisition, construction or
production of the asset that are necessary to prepare the asset

for its intended use or sale have commenced.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when the qualifying asset
being acquired, constructed or produced becomes ready for its
intended use or sale. Any borrowing costs subsequently incurred are

recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
18. Borrowing costs (Continued)

During the capitalisation period, the amount of interest to be

capitalised for each accounting period shall be determined as

follows:

)

where funds are borrowed for a specific purpose, the amount
of interest to be capitalised is the actual interest expense
incurred on that borrowing for the period less any bank
interest earned form depositing the borrowed funds or any
investment income on the temporary investment of those

funds.

where funds are borrowed for a general purpose, the amount
of interest to be capitalised on such borrowings is determined
by applying a weighted average interest rate to the weighted
average of the excess amounts of accumulated expenditure
on the asset over and above the amounts of specific-purpose

borrowings.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during periods in

which the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying

asset is interrupted by activities other than those necessary to

prepare the asset for its intended use or sale, when the interruption

is for a continuous period of more than 3 months. Borrowing costs

incurred during these periods are recognised as an expense for the

current period until the acquisition, construction or production is

resumed.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
19. Intangible assets
(1) Valuation method, useful life, impairment test for
intangible assets
An intangible asset shall be recognised only when it is
probable that the economic benefit associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can
be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially
at cost. However, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with a fair value that can be measured reliably
are recognised separately as intangible assets and initially

measured at the fair value.

The useful life of an intangible asset is determined according
to the period over which it is expected to generate economic
benefits for the Group. An intangible asset is regarded as
having an indefinite useful life when there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to

generate economic benefits for the Group.

The expected useful lives of the intangible assets are as
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follows: (N
[tem 5 8 Expected useful lives (years)
T RASE®(F)
Patents E-¥=Esa ) 3-20
Trademark rights IR E R 10,/ Indefinite TNHEE
License TR 3-15
Land use rights T AR 30-50
Orders on hand EFETE 1-25
Customer relationship EEBE 2-17
Software LIg e 2-10
Others Hi 3-10
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108 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
19. Intangible assets (Continued)

(1)

Valuation method, useful life, impairment test for
intangible assets (Continued)

Land use rights that are acquired by the Group are generally
accounted for as intangible assets. Buildings, such as plants
that are developed and constructed by the Group, and
relevant land use rights and buildings, are accounted for as
intangible assets and fixed assets, respectively. Payments
for the land and buildings acquired are allocated between
the land use rights and the buildings; if they cannot be
reasonably allocated, all of the land use rights and buildings

are accounted for as fixed assets.

An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortised using
the straight-line method over its useful life. For an intangible
asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful
life and amortisation method at least at each year-end and

makes adjustment if necessary.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for
impairment at least once every year, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that the asset may be impaired. This
category of intangible assets will not be amortised and will be
reviewed every accounting period based on its useful life. If
evidence indicates that its useful life is limited, the asset will
be accounted for in accordance to the policy for intangible

asset with definite useful life stated above.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
19. Intangible assets (Continued)

)

Expenditure on an internal research and development

Expenditure on the research phase is recognised in profit or

loss for the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure in the development phase is recognised as

intangible asset when the following criteria are met.

Expenditure on the development phase which cannot met all

of the following conditions are recognised in current profit or

loss:

(a)

(b)

(e)

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible

asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and use

orsell it;

how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits. Among other things, the Group can
demonstrate the existence of a market for the output
of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself
or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the

intangible asset;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and the

ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

its ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its

development.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
19. Intangible assets (Continued)
(2) Expenditure on an internal research and development
(Continued)
If the expenditures cannot be distinguished between research
phase and development phase, the Company recognises
all expenditures into current profit or loss. The cost of the
internally developed intangible assets only include the total
expenditures incurred from the point of time at which the
conditions for capitalisation are met until the intangible assets
are ready for intended use. No adjustment is made to the
costs already expensed in the profit or loss incurred by the
identical intangible asset before it satisfies the conditions for

capitalisation in the development phase.

20. Impairment of assets
The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the
impairment of inventories, deferred income taxes, financial assets,
contract assets, assets classified as held-for-sale, other current assets

and lease receivables using the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists
that an asset may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the asset and performs test for impairment. Goodwill
arising from a business combination and an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least at each year-
end, irrespective of whether there is any indication that the asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets that have not been ready for

intended use are tested for impairment each year.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flow expected
to be derived from the asset. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount on an individual basis. If it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines
the recoverable amount of the asset group to which the asset
belongs. Identification of an asset group is based on whether major
cash inflows generated by the asset group are largely independent

of the cash inflows from other assets or asset groups.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
20. Impairment of assets (Continued)
When the recoverable amount of an asset or asset group is less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the
recoverable amount. The reduction in carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss for the current period. A provision for impairment of

the asset is recognised accordingly.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from the
acquisition date on a reasonable basis, to each of the related asset
groups; if it is impossible to allocate to the related asset groups,
it is allocated to each of the related sets of asset groups. Each of
the related asset groups or sets of asset groups is an asset group
or set of asset group that is able to benefit from the synergies of
the business combination and shall not be larger than a reportable

segment determined by the Group.

In testing an asset group or a set of asset groups to which goodwill
has been allocated for impairment, if there is any indication of
impairment, the Group firstly tests the asset group or set of asset
groups excluding the amount of goodwill allocated for impairment,
determines the recoverable amount and recognises any impairment
loss. After that, the Group tests the asset group or set of asset
groups including goodwill for impairment, whereby the carrying
amount of the related asset group or set of asset groups is
compared to its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of the
asset group or set of asset groups is higher than its recoverable
amount, the amount of the impairment loss firstly reduces the
carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the asset group or
set of asset groups, and then reduce the carrying amount of other
assets (other than the goodwill) within the asset group or set of asset

groups, pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

Once the above impairment loss of assets is recognised, it cannot

be reversed in subsequent accounting periods.

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

I 5 2% BT (48

(B#FIF8H5) - 2BEBARET)

2023F 1 91HZ6H30H 1 EE

ENRY: S g i
(748)

20.

BERME(E)
YAEREEEANTRE S HER
HAREEER - ARESAREEE
MEE MBS - RS A
% ER - AR SHEERN A AR E
i -

SAENREAAMS - HREEE
AEHERNEENREERE  aBE
HEZRAENTADEBERBNE
EM G U BEEENEEMAN
RESBERENEEMRBAS - 1
WEEMARESEALAMAS  BaEHL
CEAHNHRBETZENEEMR
FEEEMAES B TRRAEEME

ERIERE AP ©

HeEeHmENHREERNEEEM
MAETRENAR - mEmEEHE
MEEMELEEEAAS FEMED
R ARETEEAHENEEHRS
EEEMAAAETRERNR - FER
WEleHE - BAEEARERSK - A
BRUBEHENEEHENEEEMAM
AETRERNR  HRHERmEEESR
AU E SR - MR E RN RE
EBEN  BRERXEBEELERD#
EEEANEEEEEATHENR
HEE BREEEMAXEELEHRMA
AFBRBEEZIINEMEREENK
EEEME L E - R OB HE %
HEEMNKRAEER -

P EERERR —K®R - EAR
GitHETBER -

111



112 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #ScE) HRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B#FIFEHS) - 2 BEBARET)

1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 A1HZ6A30H 1F A

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting = -~ % & 5} B 5K & & 51 1 5t
Estimates (Continued) ( % )
21. Long-term prepaid expenses . RESHEA

Long-term prepaid expenses are expenses which have incurred but

shall be amortised over the current period and subsequent periods

of more than one year. Long-term prepaid expenses are amortised

using straight-line method with amortisation period as follows:

FHRGHERARCEREERALH
MAREHRAEN D BHRE—FIA

EMEEER  REGHERRAE
BRI - MBI

Amortisation period

(years)
ltem A BESHER(F)
Industrial mould fee THEEAS 1-5
Industrial equipment fee THhEFEE 5
Expenditure on improvement of fixed assets HMABREEERR T The shorter of useful life and lease term

leased in FREWHEASHAE
22. Payroll 22. BT HE

(M

Accounting treatment for short-term remuneration

Short-term remuneration actually incurred during the
accounting period in which the staff members provide
services are recognised as liability and taken to the profit and
loss for the current period or the costs of the relevant asset.
The Group recognises the amount of employee benefits that
actually occurred and charged to profit or loss for the current
period or cost of relevant assets. Employee benefits are non-

monetary benefits measured at fair value.

During the accounting period in which employees render

(1) EBFEMo SRR
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service, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, g ITERBE £ BFRRE
maternity insurance and other social security contributions FreRi Lg”lﬂl FEAES
and housing provident fund paid by the Group, as well as URAREEZRBAERNOTE

labour union funds and employees’ education expenses
extracted by requirement are taken into account in
determining the amount of staff remuneration based on
the required accrual basis and proportions and in turn the
corresponding liabilities, which are charged to profit or loss

for the current period or cost of relevant assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Eshnuﬁes(Conhnued?
22. Payroll (Continued)

(2) Accounting treatment for post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are classified into defined
contribution plans and defined benefit plans.

(@)

(®)

Defined contribution plan

In the accounting period in which employees render
services, the amount payable under the defined
contribution plan is recognised as liability and charged
to profit or loss for the current period or cost of
relevant assets.

The employees of the Group participate in pension
insurance and unemployment insurance administered
by local governments, as well as annuity plan. The
relevant expenditure is recognised, when incurred, in
the costs of relevant assets or the profit or loss for the
current period.

Defined benefit plan

The benefit obligation under defined benefit plan
based on the formula determined by projected unit
credit method would be vested to the service period of
the staff and charged to current profit or loss or cost
of relevant assets. Some overseas subsidiaries of the
Group operate defined benefit pension plans, under
which contributions shall be made to a separately-
administered fund.

The service costs and the net interest on the net
liabilities or net assets under the defined benefit plan
would be taken to the current profit or loss or cost of
relevant assets. The changes generated from the re-
measurement of the net liabilities or net assets under
the defined benefit plan (including actuarial gains or
losses, return on assets under the plan, less the amount
included in the net interest on net liabilities or net assets
under defined benefit plan, changes under the effect
of maximum assets, less the amount included in the
net interest on net liabilities or net assets under defined
benefit plans) would be taken to other comprehensive
income.
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114 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting

Estimates (Continued)
22. Payroll (Continued)
22.2 Accounting treatment for post-employment benefits

(Continued)

(b)  Defined benefit plan (Continued)
Net interest is calculated by multiplying the net liabilities
or net assets under the defined benefit plan with the
discount rate. Changes in the net obligations under the
defined benefit plan are recognised under cost of sales,
selling expenses, general and administrative expenses,
research & development expenses and finance expenses
in the income statement. Costs of services include costs
of services for the current period, costs of services for
previous periods, and gains or losses on settlement.
Net interest includes interest income accrued upon
assets under the plan, interest expenses incurred due
to obligations under the plan, and interest under the
effect of maximum assets.

Accounting treatment for severance benefits

Where the Group provides severance benefits to its
employees, payroll payable arising from such severance
benefits are recognised on the earlier of the following dates
and included in profit or loss for the current period: when
the Group is unable to unilaterally withdraw the severance
benefits provided under its plan to terminate working
relationship with employees or redundancy plan; or when the
Group recognises costs or expenses relating to reorganisation
involving the payment of severance benefits.

Other long-term staff benefits

For other long-term staff benefits, the items conforming
to the conditions of defined contribution plan are treated
according to the requirements in the defined contribution
plans, whereas the rest are recognised and measured as net
liabilities or net assets under other long-term staff benefits
according to the defined benefit plan. At the end of reporting
period, staff costs under other long-term staff benefits are
recognised as three components, namely service cost, net
interest on net liabilities or net assets under other long-term
staff benefits and changes upon re-measurement of net
liabilities or assets under other long-term staff benefits. The
total net amount of these items is included in profit or loss
for the current period or the cost of relevant assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
23. Accruals and provisions
Except for contingent consideration transferred and contingent
liability assumed in business combinations involving entities not
under common control, the Group recognises an obligation related
to a contingency as a provision when all of the following conditions

are satisfied:

(1)  the obligation is a present obligation of the Group;

(2) it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits from the

Group will be required to settle the obligation;
(3)  the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

A provision is initially measured at the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the related present obligation,
with comprehensive consideration of factors such as the risks,
uncertainty and time value of money relating to a contingency. The
carrying amount of a provision is reviewed at the balance sheet
date. If there is clear evidence that the carrying amount does not
reflect the current best estimate, the carrying amount is adjusted to

the best estimate.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination from
the acquiree is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised for
provisions above; and the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with

the principle of revenue recognition.

24. Share-based payments
Share-based payments can be distinguished into equity-settled
share-based payments and cash-settled share-based payments.
Equity-settled share-based payments are transactions of the Group
settled through the payment of shares or other equity instruments

in consideration for receiving services.
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116 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

24,

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments made in exchange for
services rendered by employees are measured at the fair value
of equity instruments granted to employees. Instruments which
are vested immediately upon the grant are charged to relevant
costs or expenses at the fair value on the date of grant and the
capital reserve is credited accordingly. Instruments of which
vesting is conditional upon completion of services or fulfillment
of performance conditions are measured by recognising services
rendered during the period in relevant costs or expenses and
crediting the capital reserve accordingly at the fair value on the date
of grant according to the best estimates conducted by the Group
at each balance sheet date during the pending period based on
subsequent information such as latest updates on the change in the
number of entitled employees and whether performance conditions

have been fulfilled, and etc.

No cost or expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,

provided that all non-market conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled share-based payment are
modified, as a minimum, services obtained are recognised as if the
terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification which increases the total fair value of the

instrument granted, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. Where
employees or other parties are permitted to choose to fulfill non-
vesting conditions but have not fulfilled during the pending period,
equity-settled share-based payments are deemed cancelled.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the

original award.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
24. Share-based payments (Continued)

25.

A cash-settled share-based payment shall be measured in
accordance with the fair value of liability calculated and confirmed
based on the shares or other equity instruments undertaken by the
Group. If the right may be exercised immediately after the grant,
the fair value of the liability undertaken by the enterprise shall, on
the date of the grant, be included in the relevant costs or expenses,
and the liabilities shall be increased accordingly. If the right may
not be exercised until services are completed or until the specified
performance conditions are met during the vesting period, the
services obtained in the current period shall, based on the best
estimate of the information about the exercisable right, be included
in the relevant costs or expenses at the fair value of the liability
undertaken by the enterprise, and the liabilities shall be increased
accordingly. On each balance sheet date prior to settlement of
the relevant liabilities and on the settlement date, the fair value of
the liability is re-measured and any change of fair value is taken to
profit or loss for the current period.

Revenue

The Group recognises revenue based on the transaction price
allocated to such performance obligation when a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer. A performance obligation represents the commitment
that a good or service that is distinct shall be transferred by the
Group to the customer. Transaction price refers to the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange of transferring goods or services to a customer, excluding
the amount received on behalf of third parties and the amount that
the Group expects to return to a customer.

It is a performance obligation satisfied during a period of time if
one of the following conditions is met: (1) the customer obtains and
consumes economic benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs; (2) the customer is able to control goods
in progress during the Group's performance; (3) goods generated
during the Group’s performance have no alternative use, and
the Group is entitled to payments for performance completed to
date. Otherwise, the Group will recognise revenue at the point in
time when the customer obtains control of the relevant goods or
services.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
25. Revenue (Continued)
The Group adopts the input method to determine performance
schedules, namely according to the Group’s input into the
performance of contractual obligations. When the performance
progress cannot be determined, the Group is expected to be
reimbursed for the costs already incurred and recognise the revenue
based on the costs already incurred until the performance progress
can be reasonably determined.

If there are two or more of performance obligations included in
the contract, at the contract inception, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each single performance obligation based on
the relative proportion of stand-alone selling prices of goods or
services promised in single performance obligation. However, if
there is conclusive evidence indicating that the contract discount
or variable consideration is only relative with one or more (not the
whole) performance obligations in the contract, the Group will
allocate the contract discount or variable consideration to relative
one or more performance obligations. Stand-alone selling price is
a price at which the Group would sell goods or services separately
to a customer. The stand-alone selling price cannot be observed
directly, the Group estimates the stand-alone selling price through
comprehensive consideration of all reasonably acquired relative
information and maximum use of observable inputs.

Variable consideration

Where variable consideration exists in the Group’s contracts, the
best estimate of variable consideration is arrived at using either
an expected value or most likely outcome method. Transaction
price comprising the variable consideration does not exceed the
amount that it is highly probable that there will not be a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised when
the uncertainty is resolved. On each balance sheet date, the Group
re-estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be
included in the transaction price.

Consideration payable to customers

Where consideration payable to customers exists in a contract, it is
set off against transaction price and is applied against revenue for
the current period at the later of the point at which the relevant
revenue is recognised and the point of payment of (or commitment
to pay) consideration to customers, unless the consideration payable
is for obtaining other distinct goods or services from the customers.
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Estimates (Continued) (748)
25. Revenue (Continued) 25. WA (&)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

Sales with quality assurance terms attached

For sales with quality assurance terms, if the quality assurance
provides a separate service to the customer other than ensuring
that the goods or services sold meet the pre-determined standards,
the quality assurance constitutes a single performance obligation.
Otherwise, the Group will account for the quality assurance
obligation in accordance with the Accounting Standards for

Business Enterprises No. 13 — Contingencies.

A principal/an agent

The Group determines whether it is a principal or an agent at
the time of the transaction based on whether it owns the control
of the goods or services before the transfer of such goods or
services to the customer. Where the Group is in control of that
good or service prior to transferring the same to a customer, the
Group is a principal, and revenue shall be recognised based on the
total consideration received or receivable. Otherwise, the Group
is an agent, and revenue shall be recognised at the amount of
commissions or service charges expected to be entitled to collect,
and such amount shall be determined based on net amount of total
consideration received or receivable less amounts payable to other
related parties, or based on the pre-determined commissions or

proportions.

Except for the income arising from contracts with customers,
income of the Group includes interest income and lease income
from daily operating activities. For details of relevant accounting

policies, please refer to Note Ill. 28.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

26.

Government grants

Government grant is recognised when the Group can comply with
the conditions attached to it and it can be received. Government
grant is classified as asset-related government grant and income-
related government grant. Government grant for purchasing,
building or otherwise forming long-term assets is recognised as
one related to assets. Otherwise it is recognised as one related to

income.

If a government grant is in the form of a transfer of monetary asset,
it is measured at the amount received or receivable. If a government
grant is in the form of a transfer of non-monetary asset, it is
measured at fair value; if fair value is not reliably determinable, it is

measured at a nominal amount.

An asset-related government grant is recognised as deferred
income and recognised in profit or loss by stages over the useful life
of the related assets in a reasonable and systematic way. However,
a government grant measured at a nominal amount is recognised
directly in profit or loss for the current period. A government grant
related to income is accounted for as follows: if the grant is a
compensation for related costs expenses or losses to be incurred
in subsequent periods, the grant is recognised as deferred income,
and recognised in profit or loss over the periods in which the related
costs are recognised; if the grant is a compensation for related costs
expenses or losses already incurred, it is recognised immediately in

profit or loss for the current period.

Government grant related to daily operations is recognised in
other income. Government grant not related to daily operations is

recognised in non-operating income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)

27.

Income tax
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that they relate to business combinations or items recognised

directly in equity (including other comprehensive income).

Current tax is the expected income tax payable calculated at the
applicable tax rate on taxable income for the period, plus any

adjustment to income tax payable in respect of previous years.

At the balance sheet date, current tax assets and liabilities are offset
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set them off and also
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and

settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases,
which include the deductible tax losses and tax credits carried
forward to subsequent years. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be

utilised.
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122 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. 48 H IR HER A T

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
27. Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax is not recognised for the temporary differences arising
from a single transaction that is not a business combination and that
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (or deductible
loss), and where the assets and liabilities initially recognised did not
result in an equivalent amount of taxable temporary differences and
deductible temporary differences. Deferred tax is not recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of

goodwill.

As at the balance sheet date, the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured based on the expected manner of recovery
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities
using tax rates that are expected to be applied in the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled in accordance with tax

laws.

As at the balance sheet date, the carrying amount of a deferred
tax asset is reviewed. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset
is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the benefit of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
27. Income tax (Continued)
As at the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and liabilities are

offset if all the following conditions are met:

- The taxable entity has a legally enforceable right to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

- They relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle the current tax liabilities and
current tax assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or

deferred tax assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

28. Leases
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease at inception/modification date. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.
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124 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(1) The Group as lessee

(@

Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets, the Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date on
which the leased asset is made available by the lessor
for the Group’s use. The right-of-use asset is initially

measured at cost. This cost includes:

° the initial measurement amount of the lease
liabilities;
o any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less the relevant amount
of any lease incentives received (where lease

incentives are available);

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the

lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(1) The Group as lessee (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group made provisions for depreciation of right-
of-use assets in accordance with the depreciation
requirements under the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 4 — Fixed Assets. Right-of-
use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets
at the end of the lease term is depreciated over the
remaining useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the shorter of its remaining useful life

and the lease term.

The Group determines whether impairment has
occurred in the right-of-use asset and accounts for the
recognised impairment losses according to Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 8 — Assets

Impairment.

Lease liabilities

Except for share-term leases and leases of low value
assets, at the commencement date of a lease, the
Group initially measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the interest rate implicit in the lease as
discount rate. If the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable, the incremental borrowing

rate will be adopted as discount rate.
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126 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #L4¢8) hIRHER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(1) The Group as lessee (Continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued)
Lease payment refers to the amount paid by the Group
to the lessor relating to the right to use an underlying

asset during the lease term, including:

o fixed payments and in-substance fixed payments
less the relevant amount of any lease incentives

(where lease incentives are available);

o variable lease payments that depend on an index

or a rate,;

o the exercise price of a purchase option

reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group;

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the

option to terminate;

o amounts expected to be paid by the Group

under residual value guarantees.

Variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a ratio, are initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date of a lease. Variable lease
payments that are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability are recognised in profit or loss or

related asset costs when incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(1) The Group as lessee (Continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued)
Upon commencement of the lease term, the Group
calculates the interest expense of the lease liabilities for
each period of the lease term based on a fixed periodic
interest rate, and recognised in profit or loss for the

current period or the costs of the relevant asset.

After the commencement date of the lease, the
Group re-measures the lease liabilities and adjusts
the corresponding right-of-use asset in the following

circumstances:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the Group re-measures
the lease liabilities by discounting the present
value of revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate;

o the expected lease payments under a guaranteed
residual value or the index or rate determining
the lease payments change, in which cases
the Group re-measures the lease liabilities by
discounting the present value of revised lease

payments using the original discount rate.
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128 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)

(1)
©

()

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group elects not to recognise the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases and
low-value asset leases of vehicles, machinery and
equipment and office buildings. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. A lease of low value asset refers to a single
lease asset which, when new, is of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised in profit or loss or the cost of
underlying assets on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.

Lease modifications
If the lease changes and meets the following
conditions, the Group will account for the lease

modification as a separate lease:

o the lease modification increases the scope of
the lease by adding the right to use one or more

leased assets;

o the consideration increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of

the particular contract.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(1) The Group as lessee (Continued)

(@

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group re-allocates the consideration
in the revised contract, re-determines the lease term
and re-measures the lease liability by discounting the
present value of the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the lease

modification.

If the lease change results in a reduction in the scope
of lease or the term of lease, the Group reduces
the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets and
recognises the related gains or losses on the partly
or fully terminated lease in the current profit or loss.
If other lease changes result in the re-measurement
of the lease liability, the Group adjusts the carrying

amount of the right-of-use assets accordingly.

(2) The Group as lessor

(@)

Separating components of a lease

For a contract that contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group shall allocate the consideration
of the contract by applying Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No.14 — Revenue in respect of
allocation of transaction price, on the basis of their

respective stand-alone selling prices.
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130 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #L¢8) hIRHPER AT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(2) The Group as lessor (Continued)
(b)  Classification of leases
Leases that substantially transfer all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases; otherwise, it is an

operating lease.

(i) The Group records operating leasing business as
a lessor
The Group recognises lease payments from
operating leases as lease income on a straight-
line basis in different periods over the lease term.
The Group capitalises initial direct costs incurred
in relation to an operating lease and apportions
such amount over the lease term on the same
basis as that used for lease income. Such amount
will be taken to profit or loss for the current

period by stages.

The Group recognises any variable lease
payments relating to operating lease not included
in the lease payments as income, in profit or loss

for the current period as incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(2) The Group as lessor (Continued)

(b)  Classification of leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group records finance leasing business as a
lessor

On the commencement date of the lease, the
Group adopts the net lease investment as the
recorded value of the financial lease receivables
and derecognises the finance lease assets.
The net lease investment is the sum of the
unguaranteed residual value and the present
value of outstanding lease payments at the
commencement date of the lease which are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the

lease.

Lease payments refer to the amount that the
Group should collect from the lessee for the
purpose of transferring the leased assets during

the lease term, including:

° fixed payments and in-substance fixed
payments required to be paid by lessee,
less any lease incentives (where lease

incentives are available);

° variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate;
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132 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(2) The Group as lessor (Continued)

(®)

Classification of leases (Continued)
The Group records finance leasing business as a

lessor (Continued)

the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the

lessee;

payments for exercising the option to
terminate the lease, if the lease term
reflects that the lessee will exercise an

option to terminate the lease;

any residual value guarantees provided to
the Group by the lessee, a party related to
the lessee and an independent third party
that is financially capable of discharging

the obligations under the guarantee.

Variable lease payments that are not included
in the measurement of net lease investments
are recognised in profit or loss for the current
period as incurred. Interest income in each
period during the lease term are calculated and
recognised by the Group using the fixed periodic

rate of interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(2) The Group as lessor (Continued)
(i) Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the

lease payments for the new lease.

If the finance lease changes and meets the following
conditions, the Group accounts for a lease modification

as a separate lease:

o the modification expands the scope of the lease
by increasing the right to use one or more leased

assets;

o the consideration increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of

the particular contract.
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134 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(2) The Group as lessor (Continued)

(iir)

Lease modifications (Continued)
If the modification of the finance lease is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group will account for the

lease modification in the following cases:

o If the lease is classified as an operating lease
when the modification becomes effective at
the commencement date, the Group begins
accounting for the lease modification as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification
and uses the net lease investment before the
effective date of the lease modification as the

carrying value of the leased asset;

o If the modification is effective at the
commencement date and the lease is classified
as a finance lease, the Group accounts for such
modification in accordance with the Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 —
Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Instruments in respect of the modification or re-

negotiation of contracts.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
28. Leases (Continued)
(2) The Group as lessor (Continued)

(iv)

Sale and leaseback transaction

The Group as a seller and lessee

The Group determines whether the asset transfer in
the sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale
in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No.14 — Revenue. If the transfer of assets
is not a sale, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred assets and recognises a financial liability in
equal amount to the transfer income, and accounts for
the financial liabilities in accordance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 22 — Recognition
and Measurement of Financial Instruments. Where the
transfer of assets is a sale, the Group measures the
right-of-use assets formed by the sale and leaseback
based on the portion of the original asset’s book value
that is related to the use rights obtained from the
leaseback, and only recognises the relevant gains or

loss that relates to the rights transferred to the lessor.
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting

Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting

(1) Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment

To manage the risk exposure caused by specific risks such
as foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk, the Group
has designated certain financial instruments as hedging
instruments for hedging. The Group applies hedging
accounting for a hedge that satisfies the prescribed
conditions. Hedging activities of the Group include fair value
hedges and cash flow hedges. For the hedges for foreign

exchange risk with firm commitment, the Group treated them

as cash flow hedges.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued)

(M

Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment
(Continued)
For the purpose of hedge accounting, the Group’s hedging is

classified as follows:

(@)  Fair value hedges refer to the hedging against the risk
of fair value change in respect of definite commitments
which are not yet recognised (other than exchange rate

risks) of assets and liabilities already recognised.

(b)  Cash flow hedges refer to the hedging against the
exposure to variability in cash flows that is either
attributable to a particular risk associated with a
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an

unrecognised firm commitment.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting

are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges
The Group’s fair value hedge is a hedge against interest
rate risk (risk of fair value change) of the fixed rate debt

instruments.

Gains or losses arising from a hedging instrument are
recognised in profit or loss for the current period. Gains or
losses in respect of the hedged item attributable to hedged
risk are recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount
of the hedged item that is not measured at fair value is
adjusted.
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138 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued)

(M

Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment
(Continued)

Fair value hedges (Continued)

For fair value hedge relating to debt instruments carried at
amortised cost, the carrying amount of the hedged items is
adjusted and amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
term of the hedge using the effective interest rate method.
Amortisation begins on the date of adjustment but no later
than the point when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted

for hedging gains and losses.

Where the hedged items are firm commitments not yet
recognised, upon designation of the hedging relationship, the
accumulated change in fair value arising from the hedging
risk of the firm commitments are recognised as an asset or
a liability, and related gains and losses are taken to profit or
loss for the current period. When the Group obtains assets
or undertakes liabilities by performing firm commitments,
the initial recognised amount of the assets or liabilities is
adjusted to include the accumulated change in fair value of

the recognised hedged items.

Cash flow hedges

The Group's cash flow hedge include hedges of the expected
sales/procurements, foreign currency financial instruments,
foreign exchange risk on firm commitments and interest rate
risk of variable rate debt instruments (exposure to variability

in cash flows).

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income,
while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss for

the current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued)

(M

Basis of hedge accounting and accounting treatment
(Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

If the expected transaction being hedged is subsequently
recognised as non-financial assets or non-financial liabilities,
or when the expected transaction of non-financial assets or
non-financial liabilities becomes the firm commitment under
applicable fair value hedges, the amount of cashflow hedging
reserve originally recognised in other comprehensive income
is transferred out and taken to the initial recognised amount
of that asset or liability item. For other cashflow hedges,
during the same period in which the expected cashflow being
hedged affects profit or loss, for example when the expected
sale occurs, the cashflow hedging reserve recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred out and taken to profit

or loss for the current period.

When the Group no longer applies hedging accounting
to cashflow hedges, if the future cashflow being hedged
is still expected to occur, the amount previously taken to
other comprehensive income is not transferred out until the
expected transaction actually occurs or the firm commitment
is performed; if the future cashflow being hedged is no
longer expected to occur, the accumulated amount of
cashflow hedging reserve shall be transferred out from other
comprehensive income and taken to profit or loss for the

current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued)

(2)

Effective evaluation of hedging

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group
formally designates and documents the hedge relationship
to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting,
the risk management objective and the risk management
strategy. The documentation includes identification of
the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of
the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure
to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows
attributable to the hedged risk. Besides, the Group assesses
on an ongoing basis whether such hedging relationships
are complying with the hedge effectiveness requirements
as at the commencement date and in subsequent periods.
The Group recognises that the hedging relationships meet
hedge effectiveness requirements when they meet all of the

following requirements:

° There is an economic relationship between the hedged

item and the hedging instrument.

. The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value

changes that result from that economic relationship.

° The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same
as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to

hedge that quantity of hedged item.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting
Estimates (Continued)
29. Hedge accounting (Continued)

(2) Effective evaluation of hedging (Continued)
If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated hedging
relationship remains the same, the Group rebalances the
hedging relationship and adjusts the quantity of the hedged
items or hedging instruments having existed in the hedging
relationship to make the hedge ratio conform to the hedge

effectiveness requirement again.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised (with the exception of rollover of the hedging
strategic component or unfulfilled replacement), if its
objective of risk management changes, so that the
hedge relationship no longer satisfies the objective of risk
management, or if the hedge no longer fulfills the other
conditions under the accounting requirement of a hedge, the

Group will cease the adoption of such hedge accounting.

30. Profit appropriation

31.

Interim and final cash dividends of the Company are recognised as

liabilities upon approval by shareholders in general meeting.

Safety funds

Safety funds provided for as required were included in cost of
product or the current profit and loss, and credited in special
reserve. And the funds are treated separately depending on
whether fixed assets are resulted when being used: funds related
to expenditure is offset against special reserve directly while those
forming fixed assets will consolidate expenditure incurred and
recognised as fixed assets when such assets are ready for their
intended use, at the same time offsetting equivalent amounts in the
special reserve and recognising equivalent amounts of accumulated

depreciation.
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142 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

32.

33.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal
organisation structure, managerial requirements and internal
reporting system, identifies reportable segments based on operating

segments and discloses segment information by operating segment.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that meets all

the following conditions:

(1) it engages in business activities from which it may earn

revenues and incur expenses;

(2) its operating results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s
management to make decisions about resources to be

allocated to the segment and assess its performance;

(3)  the Group is able to obtain relevant accounting information
such as its financial position, operating results and cash flows

of such segment.

If two or more segments have similar economic characteristics and
meet certain conditions, then they can be aggregated into a single

operating segment.

Significant accounting judgments and
estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that will affect the
reported amounts and disclosure of revenue, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the balance
sheet date. However, uncertainty about these estimates and
assumptions could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.

S5 i R WA R (A

(BFH BB -

EREENBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

= 2 A BOR K| atk Al wt
(,%E)

33.

DT, E

REBANAPABAERE - EREEKR
AR & B E RIKIBREE L E D -

A& B R EREE RS D AL

BoRMER -

rEDRBERAEENRRRHE T

1'%1*&‘\]@552%5’7} :

(1) ZAXEDERNEREES T
EEBA  BEER

(2) ARREBREBRATHTIEZ
HBCER D H R ERR - LURTE
RMELEER  FEEEE

(3) AEERMEGZAKIT TN
MIEAR - BERRMR TR
EEAMERER -

P fE 35 % (48 & 0 BF AL B AR LR AR O
B WHRE —ERER - RIAA
HFR—EREDH -

BEAREEHE MG

REMBEREEREEE D A -
HEr AR - S B - Bl
eRERA - BR  BEENEENY
HeBERERER  UREEEGBERA
S EEENRE - ELBRBNEF A
THEEM TSR M AR BEERE R
REFENEAERABNEDSEE
TERHE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)
(1) Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments which have
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

Confirmation of functional currency

Since the Company owns a number of overseas subsidiaries,
associates and branch organisations, when recognising
its functional currency, multiple factors are taken into
consideration to recognise the major economic environment
of their operating locations. Under circumstances with
multiple factors and no obvious functional currency, the
Group uses judgment to confirm its functional currency. Such
judgment is the best to reflect economic influence of the
underlying transactions, events and environment.

Sale and leaseback sub-leases

Leasing of forklift trucks is the principal business of KION
GROUP AG (“KION"), which includes 3 categories: direct
leasing, sale and leaseback sub-leases and indirect leasing.
To fund leases, industrial forklift trucks are generally sold
by KION and its subsidiaries (“KION Group”) to finance
partners. The industrial forklift trucks are then leased back
to companies under KION Group (head leases), which sub-
lease them to external end customers (described below as
"sale and leaseback sub-leases”). These head leases generally
have a term of four to five years. Taking into account the
fact that the finance partners can only lease the industrial
forklift trucks to KION Group, at rental rate determined based
on transfer income plus an agreed rate of return, and the
leased assets are to be owned by KION Group upon expiry
of the term of the head leases, the management of the
Group considers that under the sale and leaseback sub-leases
arrangements, the control over the respective leased assets
incidental to the head leases are retained by KION Group, the
asset transfer is not considered as a sale. As such, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred assets and at the same
time recognises a financial liability that corresponds to the
amount of the transfer income.
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144 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)

(M

Judgments (Continued)

Indirect leasing arrangement

KION Group sells industrial forklift trucks to finance partners,
who then lease them to external end customers (abbreviated
below as “indirect leasing”). Taking into account the contract
terms and historical commercial practice, KION Group
repurchases from finance partners the transferred industrial
forklift trucks at agreed prices or market prices when the term
of indirect leasing expires, the management of the Group
considers that KION Group still maintain control over the
corresponding leased-out assets, and asset transfer under the
indirect leasing arrangement is not considered a sale. As such,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred assets, and
the present value of the Group’s obligations to repurchase is
recognised as a liability. The difference between the transfer
income and such liability is accounted for in accordance
with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 21 —
Leases.

Method of ascertaining of performance progress for contracts
(only applicable to situations where control is transferred
within a period of time)

The input method is adopted by the Group to ascertain
the progress of performance of contracts. In ascertaining
performance progress, products for which control is not
yet transferred to customers are deducted. Specifically, the
performance costs actually incurred on a cumulative basis
as a percentage of estimated total costs is used to ascertain
progress of performance. Performance costs actually
incurred on a cumulative basis include direct and indirect
costs incurred by the Group in the course of fulfilling its
performance obligations, but does not include costs that are
not proportional to the performance progress of the Group,
such as costs of products or materials not yet installed, used
or consumed. The Group considers that contract prices
are ascertained on the basis of performance costs, and the
adjusted costs actually incurred as a percentage of expected
total costs can essentially reflect truly the performance
progress of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)
(1) Judgments (Continued)
Indirect leasing arrangement (Continued)
Method of ascertaining of performance progress for contracts
(only applicable to situations where control is transferred
within a period of time) (Continued)
As the period of validity of such contracts is relatively long
and may span over a number of accounting periods, the
Group shall review and revise budget as the duration of the
contracts continues, and adjust the amount of recognised

revenue accordingly.

Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the business model of the Group’s management
of financial assets. In judging the business model, the Group
considers corporate appraisal, methods of reporting the
results of financial assets to key management members, risks
affecting the results of financial assets and its management,
as well as the methods of remunerating relevant business
managers and so forth. In assessing whether the objective is
to collect contractual cash flows, the Group needs to analyze
and judge the reasons for disposing of the financial assets
before maturity, time, frequency and value of the financial

assets and so forth.

Contractual cash flow characteristics

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. When it is necessary to judge whether the
contractual cash flow is only the payment of the principal and
the interest based on the outstanding principal, including the
assessment of the correction of the time value of money, it
is necessary to judge whether there is a significant difference
compared with the benchmark cash flow. For financial
assets with early repayment features, it is necessary to judge
whether the fair value of the early repayment features is

minimal.
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146 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)

)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

future accounting periods, are discussed below.

Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets

The Group uses the expected credit loss model to assess
the impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets.
The application of the expected credit loss model requires
significant judgments and estimations, and all reasonable
and evidenced information, including forward-looking
information, should be considered. In making such judgments
and estimations, the Group infers the expected changes in
the debtor’s credit risk based on the historical repayment
data in combination with economic policies, macroeconomic

indicators, and industry risks.

Provision for losses in respect of accounts receivable and
contract assets is measured at the amount of the lifetime
expected credit losses. Regarding the accounts receivable and
contract assets for which impairment matrix is applied (on a
group basis) to determine credit losses, the Group relies on
common risk profiles to classify them into different groups.
Such common risk profiles include ages, overdue ages, credit
risk rating and so forth. Regarding receivables and contract
assets which are individually significant or are individually
insignificant but have special credit risks, impairment testing is

conducted individually.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)
(2) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of accounts receivable and contract assets
(Continued)
Where the result of re-estimation is different from the
existing estimation, the difference will affect the profit of the
period of changes in estimates and the carrying amount of

the accounts receivable and contract assets.

Impairment of non-current assets other than financial
assets (other than goodwill and trademark rights with
indefinite useful life)

At the balance sheet date, the Company makes its judgment
as to whether there is any evidence indicating potential
impairment of non-current assets other than financial assets.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful life shall be tested
for impairment when there is any indication of impairment
in addition to the annual impairment testing. Other non-
current assets other than financial assets shall be tested
for impairment if there is any evidence indicating that their
carrying amount cannot be recovered. When the carrying
amount of an asset or asset groups is higher than the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of the net amount
of its fair value less costs of disposal and the present value of
the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset,
it indicates impairment. The net amount of the fair value less
costs of disposal is determined by making reference to the
price in a sale agreement in an arm’s length transaction or
the observable market price less the incremental costs directly
attributable to such assets disposal. In projecting the present
value of future cashflow, the management is required to
estimate the projected future cashflow of the asset or asset
group and select an appropriate discount rate for determining

the present value of future cashflow.
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148 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)

()

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill and trademark rights with
indefinite useful life

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademark
rights with indefinite useful life are impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the asset group or group of asset groups including
the goodwill and trademark rights. Estimating the recoverable
amount requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the asset group or group of
asset groups and also to choose a suitable discount rate in

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Defined benefit plans

The management of the Group recognises net liabilities
under defined benefit plans based on calculating model
of the present value of the defined benefit obligations less
fair value of the assets under the plan. The present value of
defined benefit obligations comprises of various assumptions,
including term of benefits and discount rate. Inconsistency
between the future events and such assumptions may subject
the net liabilities under defined benefit plans on the balance

sheet date to material adjustment.

Fair value

Certain assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair
value on the financial statements. The aforesaid measurement
is on the basis of some assumptions. Fair value may differ

significantly if future events deviate from such assumptions.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)
(2) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused deductible
temporary differences and deductible losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and deductible
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profit together with future tax planning

strategies.

Provision for decline in value of inventories

Provision for decline in value of inventories is recognised
on the basis of the net realisable value of inventories. The
management’s judgments and estimates are required for
determining the net realisable value of inventories on the
basis of clear evidence, taking into consideration of purpose
of holding the inventories, effect of subsequent events and
other factors. The difference between the actual outcome
and original estimate will affect the carrying amount of
inventories and provision or reversal of decline in value of

inventories during the estimated revision period.

Recognition of accruals and provisions related to quality
warranty of products

The Group estimates the obligation related to quality
warranty of guaranteed products based on contractual
terms, current knowledge and historical experience. The
Group reasonably estimates maintenance fee charge and
makes relevant provision based on all relevant data including
historical data on and current situation of maintenance,

product upgrade and market changes.
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150 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
33. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (Continued)

()

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated useful lives of fixed assets and intangible assets

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of fixed assets
and intangible assets at least once at the end of the year.
Estimated useful lives are determined by the management
based on historical experience of similar assets and expected
technological advancement. Corresponding adjustment to
depreciation and amortisation expenses for future periods will

be made in case of substantial changes in previous estimates.

Limitations on the estimation of variable consideration

In estimating variable consideration, the Group considers all
such information as shall be reasonably obtained, including
historical data, current data and projected data, thereby
estimating the amount of possible consideration and the
probability to the extent of such quantities as shall be
reasonable. If it is estimated that multiple outcomes are
possible for the contracts, the Group estimates the amount of
variable consideration based on the expected value approach.
If it is estimated that only two outcomes are possible, the
variable consideration is arrived at using the most likely
outcome method. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price to the extent it is highly probable that there
will not be a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised when the uncertainty is resolved. In
assessing whether it is highly probable that there will not be
a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised when the uncertainty relevant to the variable
consideration is resolved, the Group also considers the
possibility of reversal of income and the ratio of reversed
amount. On each balance sheet date, the Group re-assesses
the amount of variable consideration, including re-assessing
whether the estimation of variable consideration is limited, to
reflect the circumstance as at the end of the reporting period

as well as changes during the reporting period.

S5 i R WA R (A

(BFH BB -

EREENBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

= 2 A BOR K| atk Al wt

(%)

33. ERERHEMMGE (&)

(2)

st A HEE 1 ()

Bl E & E R TY & E /R &
7] (8 /5 F IR
AEBEIREFFERT
HEETEEREREEMNE
ERERETER - HiHER
ErhREREEARYREAEE
JEE St #% Bp b A% A T8 R 41 5T
MEEEN - UG EE
BEREE - AIEEHERRK
R ERBIEER -

AT AT 2 2B 6 R 1

$E@£T“ﬂﬁ GREE

C EERBHLEESHNAE
15/_~\ CBEEREES - BAE
BURTERES  EAEMNH

SHENGTSEITREEED
HESHBUREE - 4R
AREEZELRN  A%E
RBHREEEGIEHES
B OEAREAMETREER
B AEERBRAUEEES
BAIEHESTE B
BHEMNZZEETHBBER
BT HEE MR R 2T B R
W AR ] BE N & 8 A B A E
M$ﬁ°ﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ7“
BB R & T T M H BR
2 EBRHABASERS W
ARETERLEEAEOR - [{
B 2 B A 82 [0 /) A B 1 K
EBleRNLLE KNEBET—
BEBEBXRA  BEFIHAUE
HESRE  SEEHIEHA
BHEMNGBIREZERS
LA I B 3R 5 B SR 77 12 /9 1505 BA
RIREHANEENBREL -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)
34. Changes in significant accounting policies and
accounting estimates
In 2023, the Group implemented the relevant regulations and
guidelines on accounting standards for enterprises promulgated by

the Ministry of Finance in recent years:

(@) "Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
No. 25 — Insurance Contracts” (Cai Kuai [2020] No.
20) (“New Insurance Standards”) and the related
implementation Q&A
The New Insurance Standards replaced the “Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 25 — Original Insurance
Contracts” and the “Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No. 26 — Reinsurance Contracts” issued in 2006, as
well as the “Provisions on Accounting Treatment Related to
Insurance Contracts” (Cai Kuai [2009] No. 15) issued in 2009.

The adoption of the above regulations has not had a
significant impact on the Group’s financial position and

operating results.

(b) Requirements under the “Regulation on the
Accounting Treatment of the Deferred Income
Tax on Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction Not Applicable to the Initial Recognition
Exemption” of the “Interpretation No. 16 of
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises” (Cai
Kuai [2022] No. 31) (the “Interpretation No. 16")
Pursuant to this regulation, the exemption from initial
recognition of deferred income tax liabilities and deferred
income tax assets under the “Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 18 — Income Tax” is not applicable
to a single transaction that is not a business combination and
that affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (or
deductible loss), and where the assets and liabilities initially
recognised did not result in an equivalent taxable temporary

differences and deductible temporary differences,
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

III. Significant Accounting Policies and
Accounting Estimates (Continued)

34. Changes in significant accounting policies and
accounting estimates (Continued)

(b)

Requirements under the “Regulation on the
Accounting Treatment of the Deferred Income
Tax on Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction Not Applicable to the Initial Recognition
Exemption” of the “Interpretation No. 16 of
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises” (Cai
Kuai [2022] No. 31) (the “Interpretation No. 16")
(Continued)

Pursuant to this regulation, an individual transaction to which
this regulation applies that occurred between 1 January 2022
and the date of first implementation should be retrospectively
adjusted in accordance with this regulation. The Group is of
the view that the adoption of this regulation will have no

significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

IV. Taxation

1.
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Major categories of taxes and respective tax 1. TEBERBR
rates
Value-added tax (VAT) 1+ For the Group's PRC subsidiaries, output VAT is calculated by applying

AR

City maintenance and construction tax
TR R R RR A

Education surcharge

BB B

Local education surcharge
Hh 75 2 A BTN

Consumption tax
HED

13%, 9%, 6% to the taxable income for normal taxpayers, but the Group
may pay it after deducting deductible input VAT for the current period.
AEBBRAFRR —RATALERBWANI3% - 9% - 6% K HL X
STHEIED > WENEZEHAAFENNERNERNZRTBEE
B o

The basis of computation and applicable rate of VAT primarily applicable to
major overseas subsidiaries of the Group are set out below:
REBBRIINFRBEZERBOIBEN A TR ERT RS RAT

Basis of computation Applicable country Tax rate
R E BABEXR HE
Amount of taxable added-value Germany 19%
JEATIIGERE 2

Value-added tax rates applicable in other countries follow the tax

laws and regulations in force in the respective countries.
HtBARIGERT X ERBE MBI ERERET -

It is levied at 7% or 5% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

RERBMERERT7 % H5%H8 -

It is levied at 3% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

HERBMRRER 3% -

It is levied at 2% on the actual turnover taxes paid.

RERBMRRERN2 %8 -

Motorcycles with a cylinder capacity of 250cc and above 250cc (not
included) are subject to consumption tax at the rate of 3% and 10%
respectively

R RE2502 T M250F T (T2 ) A EWERED RIKR3% M10%
W EHBOE B -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

IV. Taxation (Continued)
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1. Major categories of taxes and respective tax 1. FEBERBE(E)

rates (Continued)
Corporate income tax

EEMEH

It is levied at 15% or 25% on the taxable profit, except that for overseas
subsidiaries, it is levied at the statutory tax rate of the countries or regions
in which the subsidiaries operate.

RBINFRABHREERR - MEREEER RN - CEMEHIR
FEMBIFTIS R 15% 525 % T AT

The basis of computation and applicable rate of corporate income tax
primarily applicable to major overseas subsidiaries of the Group are set out
below:
REBRIINTEFRAEZHEANCEMMEGHATKE L ERH XS
AT ¢

Basis of computation Applicable Tax rate

kS country Bi R
BABEX

Amount of taxable income Germany 30.70%
JEMTLPTIS RE =E

Amount of taxable income United States Federal tax

FEMTL P15 58 of America at 21.00% and

E & state tax

B B H521.00%

R FR

Income tax rates applicable in other countries follow the tax laws and
regulations in force in the respective countries.
HBARMIGHHEERBE MBI ERERET -

Certain oversea subsidiaries enjoy tax benefits pursuant to the local tax
policies.
RUEFBINFARIRBEMBBEEZIHWRESE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

IV. Taxation (Continued)

2.

Tax benefits

Preferential corporate income tax for the Company

The Company was recognised as a high-tech enterprise on 27
November 2008. The Company continued to be recognised as
a high-tech enterprise in 2020 and is therefore entitled to enjoy
a preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2020 to 2022. The
Company expected to still be subject to a corporate income tax at a

preferential tax rate of 15% in 2023.

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company

Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd., Hande Axle (Zhuzhou) Gear Co., Ltd.,
Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd., Weichai Lovol Intelligent Agricultural
Technology Co., (“Weichai Lovol”), Weichai Torch Technology
Co., Ltd., and Tsintel Automotive Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
were recognised as high-tech enterprises in 2021 and are therefore
entitled to enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2021
to 2023.

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Huainan Special
Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd., Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Fast
Gear Co., Ltd., Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Zhuzhou Torch Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd., Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel Engine
Co., Ltd., Weichai Power Freshen Air Technology Co., Ltd., Baudouin
(Weifang) Power Co., Ltd., Shandong Weichai Lovol Transmission Co.,
Ltd., Chongyou Hi-tech Electronic System (Chongging) Co., Ltd. and
Weichai Hydraulic Powertrain Co., Ltd. were recognised as hightech
enterprises in 2020 and are therefore entitled to enjoy a preferential
income tax rate of 15% from 2020 to 2022. The Group expected
that the abovementioned companies still be subject to a corporate

income tax at a preferential tax rate of 15% in 2023.
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156 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

IV. Taxation (Continued)

2.

Tax benefits (Continued)

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the requirement of the Notice on Implementing the
Inclusive Tax Deduction and Exemption Policies for Micro and Small
Enterprises (Cai Shui [2019] No. 13) promulgated by the MOF and
SAT on 17 January 2019, Shaanxi Fast Automotive Components
Import and Export Company Limited, Weichai Digital Technology
Co., Ltd. and Weichai (Weifang) Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (445 (4
57) IR E B R AR, may apply the inclusive tax deduction and
exemption policies for small enterprises and is subject to corporate
income tax at the reduced rate of 20% based on its taxable income

which is taken as 25% of its income.

Pursuant to the requirement of the Announcement No. 23 of 2020
of the MOF, SAT and NDRC on Continuing the Income Tax Policy
for Western Development dated 23 April 2020, the following
companies have implemented preferential tax policy of 15% for the

Western Development:

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Hande Axle Co.,
Ltd., Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Automobile
Xinjiang Motor Co., Ltd, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Xi'an Fast
Auto Drive Co., Ltd., Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd., Fast Eaton (Xi'an)
Power Transmission System Co., Ltd. and Fast Eaton (Baoji) Light

Transmission Co., Ltd.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

IV. Taxation (Continued)

2.

Tax benefits (Continued)

Preferential corporate income tax for the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the requirement of the Announcement concerning the
Cancellation of 22 Matters of Approvals About Non-administrative
Permissions to be Sought for Taxation Issues numbered 58 of 2015
issued by the State Administration of Taxation on 18 August 2015,
for those companies entitled to the preferential tax treatment at
15% under the western development strategy of China, only filing
is required instead of approval. All the aforesaid subsidiaries have
satisfied the requirement under Cai Shui Fa [2020] No. 23 in 2023
and continued to be eligible for a preferential tax rate at 15% in
2023.

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements

1.

Cash and cash equivalents
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W5 R B 5 ()
(BRERIFERSN - £BEE M BARKET)
2023F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1A
g ~BEE (4)
2. BIWEE(E)
RRARBRAFRAIBEMSEH
BE(E)
BIE2015F8 A ISHERMEARA
52015F HE585 KBR A EBUH
B22 BB 55 IETT IR AR Al | i S IH
NEINHRTE  EXAEPARMAE15%
WBRBRERBRNRATHEEEH]R
EHE - Fat T AR2023F m e
F85[2020] 235K XM TE + 20234
BENITISHIERRE -

T ~EOF B B 3R B IH H sE R
1. EES

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

1,896,076.84
67,157,728,155.49
9,587,686,786.92

4,727,914.64
62,903,049,773.98
7,933,912,926.72

ltem HE

Cash at bank EFEE
Bank deposits HRITIFER
Other cash and cash equivalents EEkEs
Total A&t

76,747,311,019.25 70,841,690,615.34

Incl: Total amount deposited overseas
Total deposits with finance

companies R

Total amount restricted for use due

to security or pledge

Hep : RN FIRMEEE
T IR 7 7 B #) 508

REH - EREHER
BRI IR R

2,889,150,841.02 2,525,458,448.39

26,715,021,213.59 23,558,435,638.00

9,770,388,535.55 8,080,612,841.36

Interest income earned on bank current deposits is calculated
by using current deposit interest rate of the bank. The deposit
periods for fixed deposits vary from 7 days to 5 years and may be
withdrawn in advance depending on the cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest income at respective current deposit

interest rates of the bank.

RITIA BT SRR IR 178 B33 5K0F =&
MEHNBWA - EREFROFRBAE
TRESHEAEF  AIKAKENRE
FRMERAT S ER - WIRIRAE A IRTT
A HTE SR KBS A B A e



158 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

& E

XSRERESHRBERARRE
9,770,388,535.55 7T (20224 12 A

AN R % 8,080,612,841.36

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

132,424,536.00
144,301,176.00
10,099,374.60

8,209,727.40
11,568,985,753.44

11,864,020,567.44

M2023F6H30H  REBEMAE
SRR EBMEER(2022F12 A

Statements (Continued) (%)

1. Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 1. E¥ES(E)
As at 30 June 2023, restricted cash and cash equivalents of the "W 2023 F6 A 30 H
Group amounted to RMB9,770,388,535.55 (31 December 2022:

RMB8,080,612,841.36), please refer to Note V.68.
31 H
To) C HRMTEER 68
2. Financial assets held for trading 2. REMeMEE
30 June 2023
ltem EH 2023F6H30H
Classified as financial assets at fair value DEAUAABEFEAHE
through profit or loss FFAEHIERENERMERE
Incl.: Other debt instrument Heh HMEBRIT A 176,848,772.10
Forward foreign exchange contracts RHIMER L 135,620,030.70
Investment in equity instruments EmTHRIEE 3,707,443.30
Cross currency swap and interest RN &G i K F R E iR
rate swap instruments TA 2,158,325.40
Structured deposits EREMETR 13,142,090,870.99
Total =t 13,460,425,442.49
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no structured deposits with
title restrictions (31 December 2022: Nil).
31H &) -
3. Notes receivable 3. BWRE

(1) Classification of notes receivable

[tem JERE!
Bank acceptance bills RITEAIEE
Commercial acceptance bills HE SIS
Total axt

All of the above notes receivable are due within one year.

(1) BREEDRE

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

12,045,203,693.26
61,675,055.14

12,106,878,748.40

31 December 2022
20229 12A31H

9,491,886,182.48
110,700,160.99

9,602,586,343.47

R RES A —FAZIE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
3. Notes receivable (Continued)

()

Notes receivable pledged by the Group as at the end
of period/year:

[tem HH

Interim Report 2023 AR HAZRE

S5 e R WA (A

(B 15 5 aE 8551

F ERRENBARETT)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k

G OF B AR 1 IEH H RE R

(%)

3. BREEE)

(2)

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

Bank acceptance bills RITHEG EE

6,967,066,764.07

Notes receivable endorsed or discounted as at
period/year end and not yet expired as at the
balance sheet date:

(3)

30 June 2023
2023%6A30H

Derecognised

RIERER

Bank acceptance bills  #R1TA G IEZ AN

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had not transferred any notes
into accounts receivable due to issuers’ failure in performance
(31 December 2022: Nil).

As the Group considered that the credit rating of the bank
acceptance bills was relatively high and the credit quality of
acceptors of all commercial acceptance bills held by it was
good, there was no significant credit risk or material losses
due to a default by the bank.

Not

derecognised

R IR

B/ FRAEBEDERD
EWRIE

31 December 2022
2022%12A831H

6,324,081,527.25

B/ FREAEEEEER
RRRAEEERBXRAM
REHE R R

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H
Not
Derecognised
#ILHER

derecognised

R LR

10,170,000.00 -

7202346 A30H  NEEE
HAHEAZEDBLOT K EEE
REWARRE IR (2022412
F318 : &) o

AEBRBABBRRITEAL
ERMALRITERFAR
= IRANEERLERS
AN ERIRRRE - TFHE
EANERER - ~ERRT
EBHMELEREX -
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160 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #EScE HIRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

4,

Accounts receivable

The Group trades with its customers primarily on credit terms,
and generally requires prepayments or cash on delivery for new
customers. Credit period for credit customers is generally one to

twelve months. Accounts receivable is non-interest bearing.

(1) An aging analysis of accounts receivable based on
invoice dates is presented as follows:

WS B R I ()
(BHSIEY - 2B BARKET)
2023F 1 H1HZ26H30H1FHRE

T SO B R R IE H s R

(74)

4. FEWBRFX
FEBRESHNE S ERAEER
5AHE  A—REXFELENZR
RN R REST  BHEESH
EEEEEAIE2EA - ERER
WEE -

(1) FEWEFIEHAEBSHME
BROMTAT ¢

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
202346 H30H 2022%12831H

26,471,159,901.74 20,528,709,966.91
1,044,507,431.14 1,421,597,883.19
754,799,673.37 262,341,986.76
2,610,618,124.40 2,403,481,239.17

30,881,085,130.65 24,616,131,076.03

Age BREL

Within 1 year 1FE AR

1 to 2 years 1224

2 to 3 years 2E3F

Over 3 years 3F AL
Sub-total INE

Less: Provision for bad debts W AR

3,487,414,549.99 3,197,607,459.44

Total &5t

27,393,670,580.66 21,418,523,616.59




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued)

()

Disclosure of accounts receivable by category of

provision for bad debts

Gross carrying amount

Amount

Interim Report 2023 AR HAZRE

S5 e R WA (A

(BHFIZHI)  £BEELBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k

B DR B AR T IEH H AR R

(%)

4. BWRRF(E)

(2)

30 June 2023
2023F6A30A

Provision for bad debts

Percentage of

Proportion

(%) Amount

provision
(%)
e

FE W AR IR IR E BT 1R
TEDERE

Carrying
amount

Item e 8 EA(%) 8 L f5l(%) REEE
Provision for bad debts on REEARERER
an individual basis 5,210,761,656.95 2,597,879,359.09 2,612,882,297.86
Provision for bad debts on RERHRERER
a collective basis 25,670,323,473.70 889,535,190.90 24,780,788,282.80
— credit losses are provided for -ERERFRAELR
using impairment matrix based SHERRBRER
on aging analysis 10,511,463,024.59 770,927,078.82 9,740,535,945.77
— credit losses are provided for -ERBBERERER
using overdue ages as credit risk RREEGRERER
characteristics ElE 13,973,342,742.01 108,999,597.97 13,864,343,144.04
- accounts receivable portfolio with -ERZHEENEE
good credit history S 1,185,517,707.10 9,608,514.11 1,175,909,192.99
Total ait 30,881,085,130.65 3,487,414,549.99 27,393,670,580.66
31 December 2022
2022%128318
Gross carrying amount Provision for bad debts
Proportion Percentage of Carrying
Amount (%) Amount  provision (%) amount
iR
Item Lyl &8 H5I(%) £ | $AI(%) FEEE
Provision for bad debts on an individual basis % EEHESHER 5,264,751,188.55 21.39 2,485,020,803.34 47.20 2,779,730,385.21
Provision for bad debts on a collective basis  RBAHREFERE 19,351,379,887.48 78.61 712,586,656.10 3.68  18,638,793,231.38
- credit losses are provided for -ERERRRRAERETR
using impairment matrix based on EREKER
aging analysis 6,610,417,935.90 26.85 605,005,709.05 9.15 6,005,412,226.85
— credit losses are provided for using overdue —ERBHEREAEERR
ages as credit risk characteristics BHAREREREE 11,822,205,856.59 48.03 93,400,273.87 0.79 11,728,805,582.72
- accounts receivable portfolio with ~-ERERELRERIE
good credit history @4 918,756,094.99 373 14,180,673.18 1.54 904,575,421.81
Total At 24,616,131,076.03 100.00 3,197,607,459.44 12.99 21,418,523,616.59
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162 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #ScE) HIRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BRHEFIFES) » BB AARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F b % it 3% £ B IH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (78)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4, EWERMR(E)
(2) Disclosure of accounts receivable by category of (2) EYWERRIRZERERTIR
provision for bad debts (Continued) FENBEEE(E)

(a)  As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s accounts receivable (a) H2023F6A30H  £&
assessed for expected credit losses individually are E BB EEBEABX
presented as follows: B FEU BR SRIF R AT -

Gross carrying Provision for  Percentage of
Customers amount bad debts  provision (%) Reasons
st Ll

'R AR EERER BIRE (%) FHREH
Customer 1 892,409,920.78 558,654,155.10 62.60 Bad repayment ability
P EEENZE
Customer 2 449,860,507.00 48,000,000.00 10.67 Significant decrease
P2 in recovery rate

B 5 RE # & T2
Customer 3 268,720,531.17 131,438,112.00 48.91 Bad repayment ability
®P3 BRENE
Customer 4 214,223,741.41 183,408,527.53 85.62 Bad repayment ability
BF4 a2
Customer 5 146,827,821.71 31,080,000.00 ARV, Bad repayment ability
EP5 ERENE
Customer 6 111,878,808.83 111,878,808.83 100.00 Bad repayment ability
EP6 BRENE
Customer 7 83,967,083.03 12,595,062.45 15.00 Increase in recovery risks
BF7 (o] 54 2 Bz 38
Customer 8 75,871,191.17 75,871,191.17 100.00 Bad repayment ability
=P8 EREENE
Customer 9 56,927,140.00 56,927,140.00 100.00 Long credit age
EF9 RARER
Customer 10 49,159,575.31 49,159,575.31 100.00 Long credit age
P10 RARER

Others 2,860,915,336.54 1,338,866,786.70 46.80 Long credit age, etc.
At EE#RE

Total 5,210,761,656.95  2,597,879,359.09
&t
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A5 ) 3R B ()
(BRERIFERS - £B8E L BARKET)
2023F 1 A1 HZ6H30H 1 FfE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial # ~&OF & &K FEIHH B
Statements (Continued) (78)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4. BRI (E)
(2) Disclosure of accounts receivable by category of (2) FEWBR IR ZEREFFT IR
provision for bad debts (Continued) FEDBEEEE)
()  As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s accounts receivable (b) H202346H30H K&
[ B AR 0 £R AR (B 4P feE
FHREREBREHENER

==

presented as follows: BRRERAT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

for which credit losses are provided for using

impairment matrix based on aging analysis are

30 June 2023

2023 6H30H
Lifetime Expected
Gross expected credit
carrying amount credit loss loss rate (%)
BEEFES FHEREXAXR
Age IR#Ee FREAEE RBERRX (%)
Within 1 year 1F AR 9,603,282,504.88 289,986,207.51 3.02
1 to 2 years 1824 289,294,854.35 41,385,215.81 14.31
2 to 3 years 2E3F 240,989,071.67 82,691,644.51 34.31
3 to 4 years 3E4F 58,851,041.45 39,586,133.47 67.26
4 to 5 years 454 28,758,037.29 26,990,362.57 93.85
Over 5 years S 290,287,514.95 290,287,514.95 100.00

Total A5t

10,511,463,024.59 770,927,078.82 7.33




164 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #ScE) HRHERA A

W R M 5 ()
(BRERIFBRS - £B8E (7 BARKET)
2023F 1 A1HZE6H30H 1A
a0 BEHREEEEHA R
(%)
4. BERIRM (&)
JE W AR RUIR S AR R B AR
FEDEBE(E)
M202396H308 A&
EiR A HRRIEAER
R GRS RIBA%E
BEHOREBERERET

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued)
(2) Disclosure of accounts receivable by category of (2)
provision for bad debts (Continued)
(©) As at 30 June 2023, the Group's accounts receivable (c)
for which credit losses are provided for using overdue
ages as credit risk characteristics are presented as

follows:

30 June 2023

@

2023F6H30H
Lifetime Expected
Gross expected credit
carrying amount credit loss loss rate (%)
EEFEB EHREA
Overdue ages A AR R BRE AR EHEREX BERE(%)
Not yet overdue or 7K 180 HA ok 18 AP
overdue for less ANSEIFN
than 90 days 13,157,462,998.18 72,275,503.27
Overdue for more than  # Hi AR 90K
90 days but less than B/ 180K
180 days 530,187,495.44 11,975,248.27
Overdue for more than  #1 HA K 180K
180 days 285,692,248.39 24,748,846.43
Total ki 13,973,342,742.01 108,999,597.97

As at 30 June 2023, provisions for credit losses for the

Group's accounts receivable with good credit history

are presented as follows:

Item

HH

Accounts receivable with {5 LB E

good credit history

HEUGIRAR A

Gross
carrying amount

B T BR HR

1,185,517,707.10

(d) 72023F6H30H « &5
1= A et 818 E 0 R UK
BHEATHRIEABRES
BERT

30 June 2023
2023%6H30A
Lifetime
expected
credit loss
EEFES
BAHEEREX

9,608,514.11

Expected
credit

loss rate (%)
EHREHA
BARE(%)




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

4. Accounts receivable (Continued)
(3) Movements in provision for bad debts:

Provision for credit losses

RERER

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIFEERS) » 2 BB BARET)
2023414 1HZ6A30H 1 BT

(%)

4. AR (E)

Lifetime
expected
credit loss
(without
impairment

of credit)

B8 1748 5
TREREAEL
(REE4E

& ARE)

B DR B AR T IEH H AR R

(3) BEEEHEBER

Lifetime
expected
credit loss
(with
impairment

of credit)
EA{E1FE SR
TRERE B X
(BE4E
BERRE)

Total

At

Balance as at 31 December 2022
Provision for the period
Reversal during the period
Written-off during the period
Other increases during

the period
Adjustment for exchange

differences

20224F12 A31 B#4%E
ANERETIR

AN EfEE

AN ERAZ EH

AN ERE th 35 00

PE N ERR I E

765,435,159.92

180,465,482.03

(39,693,118.74)
(3,586,919.19)

17,957,567.36

2,432,172,299.52
182,283,999.42
(29,265,744.87)
(35,130,334.29)

1,853,921.94

14,922,236.89

3,197,607,459.44
362,749,481.45
(68,958,863.61)
(38,717,253.48)

1,853,921.94

32,879,804.25

Balance as at 30 June 2023

202356 H30H 845

920,578,171.38

2,566,836,378.61

3,487,414,549.99
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166 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #ScE) HIRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 FBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F b % it 3% £ B IH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (78)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4. FEWBRFX(#E)
(4) As at 30 June 2023, the top five balances in respect (4) 7M2023F6H30H ' &R
of accounts receivable by closing balance are K BEER B RERTEAN T
presented as follows: AREWEERBE AT ¢
Gross Provision
carrying amount Proportion (%) for bad debts
Name of entity B EE BRIEBA R L B1(%) RERER
First place -2 1,085,873,989.20 3.52 -
Second place F-% 892,409,920.78 2.89 558,654,155.10
Third place F£=2 550,541,553.02 1.78 10,965,560.38
Fourth place FEIH 449,860,507.00 1.46 48,000,000.00
Fifth place ERHA 400,748,555.74 1.30 2,015,964.59
Total A5t 3,379,434,525.74 10.95 619,635,680.07
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had restricted accounts MR2023F 68300 © A&
receivable amounting to RMB63,589,641.23 (31 December FiT & # X 3 PR H & J& U AR 3R
2022: RMB63,589,641.23). A AN R ¥ 63,589,641.23 7T

(2022512 A318 : AR
63,589,641.237T) °



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
5. Receivable financing
Classification of receivable financing

Item 5 H

Interim Report 2023 AR HAZRE

B 2 B 3 ()
(BIESIZS) 2B BARKT)
2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1F A
ﬂv@ﬁ%%ﬁ%igﬁﬁﬁ%
(%)
5. EWERERE

FEM IR B E D 18

30 June 2023
2023%6A30H

31 December 2022
2022912 A831H

Bank acceptance bills at fair value

BAR f (BEE B RITHG ER

8,212,214,639.91 6,972,217,007.03

(1) Receivable financing pledged by the Group as at period

end

[tem HH

(1) HiKA S [EE E A L

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

31 December 2022
2022912 A831H

Bank acceptance bills at fair value ARG BEFTEARITALIES

431,145,252 .45 1,815,604,509.18

(2)  Receivable financing endorsed or discounted as at period

end and not yet expired as at the balance sheet date

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

Derecognised

RILER

ARAR BEFENRIT
L IES

Bank acceptance bills at

fair value

6,603,319,964.23

(2) HAAEEEEZHHEA
HEEE R EFH KD E

JEW IR G E
31 December 2022
2022F12A31H
Not derecognised Derecognised  Not derecognised
RERLTER #IrRER AR
2,895,557,836.20 -
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168 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #ScE) HRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 FBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f I % it & £ IH H 51 #

Statements (Continued)
6. Prepayments
(1) An aging analysis of prepayments is presented as

(%)

6. FAMNFIEA

(1)

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

Amount Proportion (%)
EeB1(%)

follows:

Age R £
Within 1 year 1TF AR 1,560,788,066.33
110 2 years 1226 89,371,415.52
2 to 3 years 2E3F 19,698,970.87
Over 3 years 3FLE 63,698,100.10
Total A&t 1,733,556,552.82

The aging of prepayments is counted starting from the date
of recognition. Prepayments with ages over 1 year represent
primarily those outstanding amounts prepaid to suppliers for
raw materials. As at 30 June 2023, there was no significant
prepayments with an age of more than one year (31
December 2022: Nil).

As at 30 June 2023, the closing balances of the top 5
prepayments amounted in aggregate to RMB294,103,475.31
(31 December 2022: RMB236,989,778.75), representing
16.97% (31 December 2022: 16.09%) of the total closing

balances of all prepayments at period end.

90.03
5.16
1.14
3.67

100.00

BN FIRRRERTIRAT

31 December 2022
2022F12A31H

Amount  Proportion (%)

*H e B1(%)
1,306,941,440.41 88.76
97,775,609.11 6.64
31,713,583.88 2.15
36,097,360.42 2.45
1,472,527,993.82 100.00

R BN RIEERABRALR
ETE o BARIARKRBRIFH
BRNRBEBXZEBEMNEERE
HEBMER - 12023%6 A
30 - BRI —FUEHNEE
A I (20229128318 -
') -

M2023F6 A308 © %HEBEATR
FHTENRIEN B RS
A AN R ¥ 294,103,475.31 ¢
(2022%F 128318 : AR
236,989,778.75 L) * {hFE T
FIEBRARES T HAOLOA
16.97% (2022912 A318 :
16.09%) °
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f B % it & £ IH H 51 #

Statements (Continued) (78)
7. Other receivables 7. HiEWRK

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

30 June 2023

31 December 2022

ltem HH 2023%F6H30H 2022912 A31H
Interest receivable FEUWR B 271,772,333.32 21,372,121.92
Dividend receivable FE WIS A 1,024,023.00 964,977.00
Other receivables H b e UK 1,369,830,361.04 1,238,490,119.13
Total a5t 1,642,626,717.36 1,260,827,218.05
(1) Interest receivable (1) FEUFE
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
Iltem A H 20236 HA30H 20224 12H31H
Fixed deposit EHFR 271,772,333.32 21,372,121.92
(2) Dividend receivable (2) WA F
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
Item HH 20236 H30H 20224 12A31H
Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd PREGENET R A B RIDBIR AT 3,040,000.00 3,040,000.00
Others EHih 1,024,023.00 964,977.00
Sub-total et 4,064,023.00 4,004,977.00
Less: Provision for bad debts VB IEERYEE 3,040,000.00 3,040,000.00
Total A&t 1,024,023.00 964,977.00
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

7.

Other receivables (Continued)

(3) Other receivables

(@

(®)

©

Analysis by nature:

Nature

"E

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

1o~ O BT R
b=
H At PR WK (4]
(3) Hib UK
(a) HUEEDWHLT -

7.

Corporate lending and

payment on behalf

EEEERRAAR

Deposit e
Reserve fund HR®
Others EHA
Sub-total NEE
Less: Provision for bad debts A AR
Total &&F
Analysis by aging:

Age IR
Within 1 year 1R
110 2 years 18224
2 to 3 years 2E3F
Over 3 years 3FME
Sub-total NET

Less: Provision for bad debts

Total

The aging of other receivables is counted starting from

the date of recognition.

Credit losses in respect of other receivables are
provided for based on 12-month expected credit losses

and lifetime expected credit losses.

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

1,464,143,605.54
70,489,426.28
51,393,077.54
929,493,798.26
2,515,519,907.62
1,145,689,546.58

1,369,830,361.04

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

1,829,649,861.97
30,412,527.67
38,724,214.65
484,474,138.84
2,383,260,743.13
1,144,770,624.00

1,238,490,119.13

(b) EEDLT -

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

1,187,114,561.52
162,058,514.28
160,753,196.36

1,005,593,635.46
2,515,519,907.62

1,145,689,546.58

1,369,830,361.04

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

713,884,962.66
579,079,198.79
159,553,095.20
930,743,486.48
2,383,260,743.13

1,144,770,624.00

1,238,490,119.13

(c)

AR B H B UGREER A
HERBE -

H BRI IR 1218 A
BHREREAREETSE
WEMERBRENGE
FIRRER -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

7. Other receivables (Continued)

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

S5 e R WA (A
(BB - & FENLBARKT)
2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k
* Jﬁ?}‘?ﬁ!ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%igiﬁ H iR

(%)

7. HitEWRE(E)
(3) Other receivables (Continued) (3) HibEU (&)
(d)  Movements in provision for bad debts (d) ZEREHMZ BN

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 2 Stage 3

Expected Lifetime Lifetime Financial assets

credit loss expected expected with incurred

for the next credit loss credit loss credit loss
12 months (indvidually) (by group) (fetime) Total

F_RE F-BE F=RA

F-ER ERREHEE EEREHEH BEEER

AK12MER ERE% EREX  AESREE
ftem B EHERER (EEFE) (BadE) (EEREH) ait
Balance as at 31 December 2022 022512831088 32,462,953.17 - - 1,112,307,67083  1,144,770,624.00
Provided for the period REHR 3,028,346.51 - - 636,350.77 3,664,697.28
Reversed during the period THER (2,631,946.34) - - (796,060.53) (3,428,006.87)
Written-off during the period REFH - - - - -
Adjustment for exchange differences  [ER ZHHE 682,232.17 - - - 682,232.17
Balance as at 30 June 2023 202356A30R%% 33,541,585.51 - - 1,112,147.961.07  1,145,689,546.58
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B HERE8Es) 2 BEABARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& 0f B % #i 38 3 % IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (78)
7. Other receivables (Continued) 7. HttEEWK(E)
(3) Other receivables (Continued) (3) HAbpEYR(E)
(e)  Asat 30 June 2023, the top five balances in respect (e) R2023F6H30H ' #&
of other receivables by closing balance are presented R KT 7 5 B B K 64 BE
as follows: Bl 1 5 B9 B JE WK IE

AT

Percentage of

total closing
balance of other Closing balance
Nature of Closing receivables of provision
receivable balance (%) for credit losses
fE E At FE W R
HABESHH ERBRER
Name of entity B & MENEE HRERE i 9 KL Bl (%) HRGBE
First place F—4 Lending 601,271,903.27 1-over 5 years 23.90 601,271,903.27
gET 1EE58 0k
Second place F-4 Lending 366,123,602.96 1-5 years 14.55 328,827,679.03
gET 1854
Third place £=4 Tax refund 111,418,196.62  Within one year 4.44
RBLHK TEUR
Fourth place g Lending 104,500,000.00 4-5 years 4.15 104,500,000.00
gET 4B5F
Fifth place FR% Lending 72,863,175.00  Within one year 2.90

R (k8

Total A 1,256,176,877.85 1,034,599,582.30
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BRHEFIFES) » B8 AARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #i 38 3= B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (78)
8. Inventories 8. ®E
(1) Classification of inventories (1) FEHE
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023564308 20226128318
Gross (ross
carrying Provision for Carrying qrying Provision for Carrying
amount decline in value amount amount decline in value amount
Item H BRHEHE HEER KEEE BHA%E FREE BERE
Raw materials F# 11,633,171,677.91 851,854,012.60 10,781,317,665.31 11,514,074,61732 72243720816 10,791,637,409.16
Finished goods ERR 21,716,902,059.90 962,906,366.26  20,753995,693.64  [RERINEIINESRL} 889,522,751.42  18211,797,434.52
OEM materias Zith
Titsl 647,841,486.32 12,271,903.77 635,569,582.55 180,438,014.75 8,715,748.33 171,722,266.42

Self made semi-finished B &5 &
goods and work in REER

progress 3,809,984,251.29 77,691,127.46 3,732,293123.83 3,587,093,165.53 77,535,529.53 3,509,557,636.00
Second-hand vehiles ~ —F & 1,011,325,114.80 213,886,896.30 797,438,218.50 878,366,602.80 215,412,557.02 662,954,045.78
Costofperforming ~—~~ AFE

contract ol 26,465,065.23 26,465,065.23 26,292,970.67 - 26,292,970.67

Total At 38,845,689,655.45 2,118,610,30639  36,727,079,349.06  [ERPEIRLERRIAU 191362379446 33373,961,762.55
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial # ~& ff B % it 3 = 26 H 5
Statements (Continued) (%)
8. Inventories (Continued) 8. ®E(#E)
(2)  Provision for decline in value of inventories (2) FEBRBEME
Increase during Decrease
the period during the perio Others
AHEN s Hfh
Adjustment of
Reversal or exchange
31 December 2022 Charge transferred out differences 30June 203
fiem %R 20025128318 it HEsEs EAZEEE  2023%6A30R
Raw materials RiTH 722,437,208.16 152,381,758.17 57,865,958.72 34,901,004.99 851,854,012.60
Finished goods Efm 889,522,751.42 321,994,364.61 262,075,324.45 13,464,574.68 962,906,366.26
OEM materials ZENIHH 871574833 1,762,109.44 - 1,794,046.00 12.271,903.77
Self made semifinished goods ~~ EEEKAREER
and work in progress 77,535,529.53 14,622,182.75 18,485,043.54 4,018,458.72 77,691,127.46
Second-hand vehicles _FE 215,412,557.02 2,747,448.38 16,615,709.48 12,342,600.38 213,886,896.30
Total a3t 1.913,623,794.46 493,507,863.35 355,042,036.19 66,520,684.77 2,118,610,306.39
9. Contract assets 9. EREE
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023%6A30H 2022512/318
Gross carrying Provision for (ross carrying Provision for
amount impairment  Carrying amount amount imparment  Carrying amount
ltem AR REBE BEER KEEE FARE HEEH FHER
Supply chain solution services {4 FESERE R 7 £
(Note) RIS () 3,638,881,484.70 3,638,881,484.70  EERNIRICRINRI] - 3,770,885,160.30
Others £ 338,415,754.34 338,415,754.34 271,300,926.46 - 271,300,926 46
Total At 3,977,297,239.04 SRR 4,042,186,086.76 - 4,042,186,086.76
Note: The amount in respect of supply chain solution services was the net o HEHREEBRATRRBEENESER
amount of receivable from customers after offsetting contract assets and NEBMHEEBRAEZREER —F
contract liabilities under the same contract under the supply chain solution RATAREERARAEEREENRE
services of the Group. The Group recognised the work performed as a WEEHFEE AEBALKEHTH
contract asset, and reclassified the contract asset recognised at the point TERRAE—HEHARBE  HEAE
of time when it settled the amount with the customer into receivables. FRmaEEmEERANA B EE

ENFRERPFRAR -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial # £ ff B % it 38 3 206 H 55 &
Statements (Continued) (%)
10. Non-current assets due within one year 10. " FREEHNHERBEE
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023%6A30H 2022%128318
Gross carrying Provision for Carrying Gross carrying Provision for Carying
amount impairment amount amount impairment amount
ltem Ef RESE HEER FEEE BHSE WEEE BEEE
Finance lease receivables HERERUH
(Note V.12) (KR 12) 4,435,791,937.50 (20,157,498.90)  4,415,634,438.60  ERFARIERLINL] (13,197916.20)  3,858,312,076.50
11. Other current assets 1. Htt e &=
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
[tem BHH 2023%6H30H 2022912 A31H
Input tax credit to be deducted BT 1,760,931,638.95 1,825,784,910.51
Prepaid expenses FEEA 805,202,099.91 381,244,249.78
Prepaid corporate income tax A FERIEH 904,942,495.22 1,012,046,966.00
Others Hih 206,547,835.33 354,740,188.61

Total AFr 3,677,624,069.41 3,573,816,314.90




176 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #4cE) hRHERA A

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

i ‘(ﬁ;igﬁjﬁﬁ%iglﬁ SR
12. 55 K

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
12. Long-term receivables

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023568308 20228124318
@ross carrying Provision for Carrying Gross carrying Provision for Carrying
amount impairment N amount impairment amount
tiem k! REGHE REER REREE Fa%E HEER BEEE
Finance lease receivables AT EEUH 16,195,223,074.80 (79,960,442.10)  16,115,262,632.70  REXGSRTER WA (61,305,731.10)  14,031,277,760.10
Indl: Finance income not £ : RERE
yet realised Elfm 1,696,680,077.40 1,696,680,077.40 1,297,678,800.90 - 1,297,678,800.90
Less: Finance lease A pBA-F
receivables classified mEIE
as due within BERE
one year (Note V.10) iz
(Wa
10) 4,435,791,937.50 (20,157,498.90) 4,415,634,438.60 3871,509,992.70 (13,197,916.20) 3,858,312,076.50
Total Bif 11,759,431,137.30 (59,802,943.20)  11,699,628,194.10  ERICWARNIER:- 8] (48,107,814.90)  10,172,965,683.60

(1) REBEERKKX(E—FAI
H)ZARERNEEBENR

(1) Movement in provisions made for bad debts of long-
term receivables (inclusive of the portion due within
one year)
Lifetime expected Lifetime expected
credit loss credit loss

(without impairment (with impairment

of credit) of credit) Total
{77 E BEEFES
EHEREX EHEREX
Provision for bad debts ERERE (REEGRAE) (BEELEARE) At
Balance as at 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H %% 61,305,731.10 - 61,305,731.10
Provision for the period AEBEHR 11,120,567.64 - 11,120,567.64
Adjustment for bE 5 Z R

exchange differences

Balance as at 30 June 2023

7,534,143.36
79,960,442.10

202356 A30H 4%

7,534,143.36
79,960,442.10




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments

Interim Report 2023 FHidRE 177

S5 e R WA (A

(B 15 5 aE 8551

F ERRENBARETT)

2023F 1 H1HZ26H30H 15

fAF R R T EIHE R
(%)
13. REIRERE

(1) Long-term equity investments are classified as (1) RERERESBWOT :
follows:
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
ltem IEE 20236 H30H 20224128318
Investments in joint ventures HAEZEDPENKRE 367,158,927.31 303,802,072.84
Investments in associates HEEDENIRE 5,294,793,491.58 5,254,393,618.02
Sub-total /INEt 5,661,952,418.89 5,558,195,690.86
Less: Provision for impairment B R EERE
—joint ventures —ERhE = -
— associates — B 217,642,083.24 217,642,083.24
Total A&t 5,444,310,335.65 5,340,553,607.62
Change during the period
5529
(Gains and losses
oninvestment Other Among which,
Increase Decrease under equity comprehensive Other Dedlaration of Eichange closing provision
31 December 2022 ininvestment ninvestment method income equity changes cash dividend differences 30June 203 for impairment
Eh:
Investee entity RREEN W0ENANA BnRE AORE  BRETRAER Efpiraka EfbEn%s EERSRA iR 202367308 BRAEER
| Joint ventures - RELE
Xian FC Inellgence EREHELEY
Transmission Co, Lid. BRA 238,972,408.06 - - 64,953,468.31 - - - - 303,925,876.37 -
Fischer Weichai (Weifang) sy 238 30}
Fuel Cell Compressor REEREER
Company Limited ERAA 64,829,664.78 - - (1,59,61384) - - - - 63,233,050.94 -
Sub-total It 303,802,072.84 - - 63,356,854.47 - - - - 367,158,927.31 -
1. Associates ZoRERE
Shandong Heavy Industy LFETEENE
Group Finance Co, Ltd. BRAH 1,314,712,496.20 - - 43,705,188.47 - - - B 1,358,417,684.67 -
Deewin Tianyia Co,, Ltd. ERATROBRAT 32561816437 - - (3,747,185.79) - - - - 321,870,978.58 -
Shengrui Transmission ARG
CoorationLimited (Note 1)~ ARAF(E1) 333,445,539.16 - - 44,277,856.26) - - - - 289,167,682.90 21057469791
Other associates bt} 1 3,062,975,335.05 61,683,437.09 (2932202.21) (79,420,007.68) 7,653.456.02 (31,71731) (5743927529 115,206,076.52  WERDIAZAYYAL] 7,067,385.33
Sub-total It 5,036,751,534.78 61,683437.09 (2932.24221) (83,739,861.26) 7,653456.02 (31,71731) (5743927529 115,206,076.52  WENAARIRIED) 217,642,083.24
Total aif 5,340,553,607.62 61,683437.09 (293220021) (20,383,006.79) 7,653456.02 (31,71731) (5743927529 115,206,076.52  BEEEERORERNHS 217,642,083.24
Note 1: The Company signed an equity transfer agreement with China National 1 RNARR2023F6 ASHEPRHER R

Heavy Duty Truck Group Co., Ltd. (“CNHTC") and Shengrui Transmission
Co., Ltd. (“Shengrui Transmission”) on 5 June 2023, pursuant to which
it will transfer the 38% equity of Shengrui Transmission held by it to
CNHTC for a transfer price of RMB760.0914 million. The transfer has
completed after the reporting period.

EEEARAR(TEASE]) k&R
EEHROBRAR([BIHES])FET
BEEEHEE  WEHARAEE
K IR E 38 % MREEREETE
E - #RERABARKT6,009.148
TT ° REEE R E B ERRE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
14. Investment in other equity instruments

S5 i R WA R (A

(BFHFES) » 2B BARET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k #fEH

G OF B AR 1 IEH H RE R

(%)

14 EthERTEARE

30 June 2023
202346 H30H

2,491,069,831.03

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

1,160,884,868.22
272,000,000.00
487,011,823.04

Investee entity WiRE B

XCMG Construction Machinery BIEE TRREWRG
Co., Ltd. ERAA

Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd. L # T 12 ##% B% 15 & R 2 7

Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. RERAERGER AR

Others Eth

Total a&t

4,410,966,522.29

Investment in other equity instruments

Dividend income
recognised
during the period

BB
Investee entity HREEN A

Accumulated
gain

begll

1,

865,542,694.73
815,509,293.28
224,800,000.00
490,095,035.26

3,395,947,023.27

Amounts
transferred
from other

comprehensive
income to
retained eamings

Ehrals
ENERAE
HEH

Reason for
designation

at FvToc!

REA

WAL EEHE
BEE®H ALY
FERENRR

XCMG Construction Machinery BISETIREHRNERRA 55,195,217.89

Co., Ltd.

Shantui Construction Machinery Co,, Ltd. WETRERRAERAA 17,.989,625.67

Beigi Foton Motor Co, L. FARRAERNERAR -

Others Ef 406,811.59

1,291,529,557.89

419,172,731.34

78,000,000.00

88,449,535.09

Investment in equity
investments

3 strategic
investment
ERIERER
HERE
Investment in equity
investments

3 strategic
investment
BRIERER
HERE
Investment in equity
investments

3 strategic
investment
ERIERER
HERE
Investment in equity
investments

3 strategic
investment
BRIERER
HERE

Total At 73591,655.15

1937,151,830.32
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHFRIEES) 2 EEEBARET)

1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ26H30H 1B

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #t 38 32 B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
15. Other non-current financial assets 15. HittERBERMEE

30 June 2023 31 December 2022

ltem EH 202346 H30H 2022%12A831H
Financial assets at FVTPL for the NARBESZEEEZEHA
current period EHEENeREE
— Investments related to the pension — BT RAIRK S E
plan of subsidiaries HER R E 204,686,443.50 204,222,536.25
— Cross currency swap and interest rate  — 32 X &5 5 5 # |5 I &
swap instruments O#%mTA 748,335,657.65 698,070,313.85
— Others —H b 78,467,731.65 -

Total At 1,031,489,832.80 902,292,850.10
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16. REMFEHE
(1) RARFERETRET

=

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
16. Investment property
(1)  Subsequent measurement under the cost model:

= .

Houses and
buildings Land use rights Total
ltem HH EEEEY T &t
. Gross carrying amount — RERE
1. 31 December 2022 1.2022%12 /318 923,194,725.95  124,325,763.09  1,047,520,489.04
2. Increase during the period 2 REE SR 81,599,749.54 9,957,462.38 91,557,211.92
(1) Acquisition O 77,511.00 - 77,511.00
(2) Transferred from fixed QRETEE
assets/intangible assets @A
BREE#EA 81,522,238.54 9,957,462.38 91,479,700.92
3. Decrease during the period 3AHRA S5 33,575,525.29 22,471,187.53 56,046,712.82
(1) Transferred to fixed MELZETE
assets/intangible assets =/ B EE 33,575,525.29 22,471,187.53 56,046,712.82
4. 30 June 2023 420236 A30H 971,218,950.20  111,812,037.94  1,083,030,988.14
Il. Accumulated depreciation and = - REfHrEMBHER
amortisation
1. 31 December 2022 1.2022%12A318H 368,544,376.98 27,697,860.44  396,242,237.42
2. Increase during the period 2 REE SR 54,553,837.60 10,291,787.29 64,845,624.89
(1) Provision (1) 5+ 21,134,239.92 1,667,632.23 22,801,872.15
(2) Transferred from fixed QRETEE/
assets/intangible assets BRAEEA 33,419,597.68 8,624,155.06 42,043,752.74
3. Decrease during the period 3AHRA S8 19,338,307.90 12,491,959.00 31,830,266.90
(1) Transferred to fixed (NELZETE
assets/intangible assets B/ BAE 19,338,307.90 12,491,959.00 31,830,266.90
4. 30 June 2023 4.2023F6A308 403,759,906.68 25,497,688.73  429,257,595.41
IIl. Impairment provision = REERS

1. 31 December 2022 and
30 June 2023

IV. Carrying amount

1. 30 June 2023
2. 31 December 2022

1.2022F12A318 K&

202346 H30H

- FREEE

1.202346 H30H
2.2022%12 4318

29,347,858.20

538,111,185.32
525,302,490.77

86,314,349.21
96,627,902.65

29,347,858.20

624,425,534.53
621,930,393.42
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial i ~& f B % #t 38 3 B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
16. Investment property (Continued) 16. REMEME (&)
(2) Investment properties not obtained title certificates: (2) AMEZERFENKREN
BEHEEN :
As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no investment properties MR2023F6 8300 AEHE
for which the title certificate has not been obtained. AESEHEFNREEEH
= o
17. Fixed Assets 17. BEEE

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
ltem THE 2023%6H30H 2022912 831H

Fixed Assets EFEEE 41,402,344,577.32 37,892,012,101.21
Disposal of fixed assets EFEESE 3,233,897.83 2,411,183.80

Total &t 41,405,578,475.15 37,894,423,285.01
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B HERE8Es) 2 BEABARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial 7. ~& 0F % 3% £ HIH H 5 B
Statements (Continued) (%)
17. Fixed Assets (Continued) 17. BEEEE(E)
(1) Fixed assets (1) BETEERBNR
Forklift trucks Forklift trucks
Houses, and equipment and equipment
buildings and Machinery and Electronic leased out leased out
[and use rights equipment equipment Vehicles (long-term) (short-term) Others
EEREY ARHXER R
ftem L] RiiEE BERE E7R%E Bl (RS RifE(ES) 0]
| Gross carrying amount - REEE
1. 31 December 2022 1. 2025128318 1867801552303 258155374764 3,346,183,677.89 52681822738 1261938436322  7,08564932264 411258245139  72,184,170813.19
2. Increase during the period 2 TEENEE 99823731994 1491,213571.82 287,107,91240 4695578550 2,351,180,77487  1,549,526,852.73 279,788,839.62  7,004,011,056.88
(1) Addition (1) B8 56,493,371.87 164,047,696.16 2,882,377.89 269102081 2351,180,77487  1,549,526,852.73 B2,662,08040  4,359,484,183.73
(2) Transfer from construction-~~ (2) ERIREA
in-progress 908,168,42278  1,322,110,626.58 284,225,534.51 44,264,764.69 - - 4712675022 2,605,896,098.78
(3) Other transfer in (3) ZHEA 33,575,525.29 5,055,249,08 - - - - - 38630,77437
3. Decrease during the period U 104,009,930.54 152910960.37 65,278,154.77 12376350 1,707,489271.07 880,153,178.24 37,14820049  2,959,227,32898
(1) Disposals or retirements (1) RESHE 20,487,692.00 152,910,960.37 65,278,154.77 12,237,63350  1,707,489,271.07 880,153,178.24 30,092,95141  2,872,649,84136
(2) Other transfer out ) EpER 81,522,23854 - = - - - 5,055,249.08 86,577,487.62
4. Adjustment for exchange 4 ERERRE
differences 318,424,998.66 250,942,004,95 2,031,162.84 (212357333 856,693,168.05 429,214,255,38 196,390417.14  2,051,572,433.69
5. 30une 2023 5. 202356308 19.890,667,911.09  27,404,781,86404  3,570,044,598.36 55941280605 1411976903507 818423125051  4551,613507.66  78,280,526974.78
Il Accumulated depreciation - ZihE
1. 31 December 2022 1. 2025128318 6,584,603477.13 1632044979961 2,461,119,949.34 MTE402637 321066535652 274042859625  2,265,996,331.21  34,000,887,536.43
2. Increase during the period 2 KEENEE 474,640,11384 925,003,248.35 231,701,732.14 2976782187 1,143,121,98035 627,565,001.73 308,645,232.57  3,740,445,136.85
(1) Provision (1) 3 455,301,805.94 925,003,248.35 231,701,732.14 2976782187 1,143,121,98035 627,565,001.73 30864523257 3,721,106,828.95
(2) Other transfer in (2) EpEA 19,338,307.90 - = - - - - 19,338,307.90
3. Decrease during the period 3 AEEIEE 36,471,484.16 128,043,770.55 41,861453.2 1401515242 1,027,981,370.07 511,025,589.64 2995262092 1,789,351,440.98
(1) Disposals or refirements (1) RESBE 3,051,886.48 128,038,286.65 41,861,453.22 1401515242 1,027,981,370.07 511,025,589.64 2716521272 1,753,138951.20
(2) Other transfer out (2) EpEt 33,419,597.68 5,483.90 = - - - 2,787,408.20 36,212,489.78
4. Adjustment for exchange 4 ERERRE
differences 95,642,202.60 103,324,239.01 1,246,895.21 280,966.02 225,196,059.59 147,483,503.36 103,873,603.92 677,047,469.1
5. 30June 2023 5. 200364308 711841430041 1722073351642 2,652,207,12347 43365766784 355100202639 300445151170 2,648,56254678  36,629,028,702.01
I Provision for impairment = REERE
1. 31 December 2022 1. 2025128318 94,889,20046 113,290,392.78 6,951,137.75 690,499.57 36,349,941.30 25,289,82030 13,810,183.39 291,271,175.55
2. Provision for the period 2 KEiReE - 387,716.84 = 940435 420,850.00 - 101,582.49 919,553.68
3. Decrease during the period 3 AEEIEE 1,483,179.50 2,490,055.38 20.00 - 24,088,116.20 3,556,331.20 - 31,617,702.28
(1) Disposals or retrements (1) RESHE 1,483,179.50 2,490,055.38 2000 - 24,088,116.20 3,556,331.20 - 31,617,702.28
4. Adjustment for exchange 4 EXERAR
differences 166,198.50 775,580.10 = - (5,230,938.50) (7,105,714.40) (24,457.20) (11,419,331,50)
5. 30June 2023 5. 202386308 93,572,219.46 111,963,634.34 6,951,117.75 699,903.92 7,451,736.60 14,621,774.70 13,887,308.68 249,153,695.45
V. Carrying amount m - SHEE
1. 30 June 2023 1. 2023%6430R 12,678,681,382.22  10,072,084,713.28 910,886,357.14 12509523429 1056131527208 5,165,157,966.11  1,889,163652.20  41,402,344,577.32

2. 31 December 2022 2. 0025127318 11,998,522,845.44  9,381,797,055.25 878,112,590.80 10850370144 9,372,369,06540 431993090609  1,832775936.79  37,892,012,101.21




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
17. Fixed Assets (Continued)

()

Fixed assets which are temporarily idle

Gross

carrying amount

Item EH R{E
Houses and buildingsand ~ EEREW R+t

land use rights P 1 81,486,734.13
Machinery and equipment #2235 & 186,105,552.77
Electronic equipment BFHRE 37,496,103.94
Vehicles B 590,813.44
Others HiR & 53,008.45
Total A% 305,732,212.73

Fixed assets leased out under operating lease

ltem

EH
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RS i 25 BT 5 (48
(BIESIZBS) - BB BARKT)
2023F 1 H1HZ26H30H 15
I A0 B R R EIE H R
(748)
17. B EEE (&)
(2) ERHEEMNRBTEERBR

Accumulated Provision for Carrying

amount

REEE

depreciation

Rt E

impairment

HEERE

38,765,604.62
125,377,809.18 53,669,128.13
29,637,049.13 6,598,655.90
573,089.04 -
46,026.50 =

35,447,740.85 7,273,388.66
7,058,615.46
1,260,398.91

17,724.40

6,981.95

194,399,578.47 95,715,524.88 15,617,109.38

3) ABKEHERHWERE
=)

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

31 December 2022
2022 12A31H

Houses and buildings

Electronic equipment

Machinery and equipment

Vehicles

Forklift trucks and equipment
leased out (long-term)
Forklift trucks and equipment

leased out (short-term)

FEREY

BFRE

ISR

BRRE

HHAXBRRE
(RH)

MHAXBRRE
(%28

4,807,775.36 -
2,616,139.50 29,323,622.15
507,452,043.47 539,218,991.90
9,679,230.47 2,189,252.77

10,561,315,272.07 9,372,369,065.40

5,165,157,966.10 4,319,930,906.09

Total

att

16,251,028,426.97

14,263,031,838.31
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

HRBORHERDE
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
17. Fixed Assets (Continued)
(4) Fixed assets for which the title certificate has not
been obtained

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

(%)
17. BEEE (&)
(4) AMZEEFENETA
EER

Reasons for the absence

Carrying amount of the title certificate

Item HA IREEE AHRIXEEIENRRA
Buildings EEZEEY 1,459,972,056.38 In progress of applying
for the real property
ownership certificate
EERIBE B EREF
Total &5t 1,459,972,056.38
(5) Disposal of fixed assets (5) BEEEEZFRE

31 December 2022

30 June 2023

ltem 1EH 20236 H30H 2022%12A31H
Disposal of fixed assets TEERE 3,233,897.83 2,411,183.80
Total A3t 3,233,897.83 2,411,183.80

As at 30 June 2023, fixed assets of the Group with title
restrictions amounted to RMB189,017,710.58 (31 December
2022: RMB188,108,040.67), please refer to Note V.68.

$2023F6 8308 - AEEFT
FRZIRANEETEER®T
EEAARK189,017,710.58
JL(2022F12A31H : AR¥
188,108,040.67 70 ) * # R Kt
A -68°



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
18. Construction in progress
Status of construction in progress

Item H

Factory area construction projectE -~ FEZRERE

Transmission project et

Factory area construction project D~ BB EHERD

Factory area construction project F -~ i REHTEEF

Production line consruction and EEERRMEEESD
renovation project B

Factory area construction project A~ FIEZRER A
- R&D building BEVN:

Production line construction and FEEBTABEEA
renovation project A

Trial room construction project C FRERZEAC

Factory area construction project B~ B2 %7 E8

Trial room construction project B EE L

Factory area construction project ¢~ BB Z3REE C

Lovol high-horsepower new factory ~ EXAE ¥ FIER
project

Others Efh

Total At

(Gross carrying
amount

)5

895,314,936.00
808,643,762.57
338,899,658.08
245,690,737.15

228,182,568.92
150,623,674.81
445,875,061.44
77,489,191.54
87,135,443.75
62,362,989.54
59,805,769.88

52,238,742.12

4,095,939,851.20

7,548,202,387.00

30 June 203
2023F6A308
Provision for
impairment

RERH

570,845.44

570,845.44
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G OF B R R IH H AR R
(%)

18. ZEIRE
ERIREER
31 December 2022
20225124318
Carrying Gross carrying Provision for Carrying
amount amount impairment amount
HEEE FERE HEER FHERE
CERRREEIS  490,841,972.86 - 49084197286
CEHTRRYRTAN 1,003,228,559.22 - 1,003,22855.22
338,899,658.08 LRI WIEN - 18546920320
PLINETAERS  171,485,211.46 - INA8521146
PPENEPRERVAS  596,425,684.58 - 596,425,684.58
(FINPETERRS  458,170,735.25 - 458,170,735.25
445,875,061.44  EEIARYEYVARE - 46157862114
77,489,191.54 73,673207.32 - 7367320732
JHERIERESS  167,168,688.86 - 167,168,683.86
62,362,989.54 66,874,226.21 - 66,874,226.21
59,805,769.88 54,778,190.81 - 54,778,190.81
52,238,742.12 52,238,742.12 - 52,238,742.12
ONERRIERIEIS 4,199,047,808.77 57084544 4,198,476,963.33
Ly RIS 7,980,980,851.80 57084544 7,980,410,006.36
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
. . . aY
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F b % it 3% £ B IH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (%)
18. Construction in progress (Continued) 18. EEIRE(HE)
Movement in key construction in progress is presented as follows: EEERTIREEHMT
Of which:
capitalised ~ Capitalisation
Adual  Accumulated amount of rate of
Fixed asset costsasa amount of [IEE interest
Increase transferred in Other percentage capitalised during the during the
31 December 2022 during the period  during the period decreases 30June 2023 of budget (%) interest period period (%)  Source of funding
IBRAE  RBEAL H4:AHRE b3 1Y
Item 2B RE  0nF12831A KBEN AREAEREE AfES  2023%6A308 RELA(%) RiteE  EALEE  ABME(%) EERR
Production fne construction and TEegRuE 2,935,120,000.00  596,425,684.58  169,150368.54  537,393,484.20 228,182,568.92 53.00% Self-raised
renovation project B HEB -
Factory area construction project E HERRARE 1,993,284,700.00  490,841,972.86  404,472,963.14 895,314,936.00 46.17% Self-raised
L
Factory area construction project  BEEREEA 997,687,800.00  458,170,735.25  78,648,623.01  386,195,683.45 150,623,674.81 56.32% Self-raised
A - R&D building -HERE EH
Factory area construction project D~ EREED 1,097,240,000.00  185,469,203.20  153,918,597.19 488,142.31 338,899,658.08 3236% Self-raised
L |
Factory area construction project F BEERBRF 534,737,100.00  171,485,211.46 86,627,588.01 12,422,062.32 245,690,737.15 43.712% Self-raised
L
Production line construction (33301 1,100,000000.00  164,865,399.70  48,116,383.37 4,680,672.11 208,301,110.96 40.33% Self-raised
and renovation project A - A-HEHEEE ]
Production renovation project
Production line constructionand 4 EZRZHEER 573,430,000.00  162,304,465.16 5,502,121.08  38,598,999.59 129,207,586.65 56.49% Self-raised
renovation project A A-HE5ERE ]
- Mass production project
O ECICRTN e LRl 723876,40000  95,128,593.28 119,469.03  81,473,020.19 13,775,042.12 99.36% Loans from
~Phasell financial
institution/
self-raised
1 ]
Transmission project - nfrastructure ~ EEER -ER 507,440,000.00  85,329,386.25 125325.91  15,468,184.93 69,986,527.23 16.82% Self-raised
L |
Trial room construction project ¢~ HEERFAEAC 439,253,800.00 13,673,207.32 4,387,623.53 571,639.31 77,489,191.54 68.94% Self-raised
L
Trial room construction project B A& ZRFERD A,141,800.00 6687420621  11,524,467.69  16,035,704.36 62,362,989.54 897% Self-raised
gE
Lovol high-horsepower newfactory —— ERABNFEER  ILERIRIININSSEYEL /VAP) 52,238,742.12 3.25% Self-raised
project -
Transmission project - Light- BYEE-9E5 210,000,000.00 36,968,332.73 3,769,934.46 14,898,355.03  12,696,331.65 13,143,580.51 13.75% Self-raised
and medium-duty trucks EF

Total A% 13,199,671,600.00 2,639,775,160.12  966,363,464.96 1,108,225,947.80 12,696,331.65  2,485,216,345.63




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
19. Right-of-use assets

Houses and
buildings

fem 8 EEREEN
I Gross carmying amount - BERE
1.31 Decernber 2022 (WIPEVEETIEN 6,680,629,466.15
2.Increase during the period LEEENLE 689,329,758.55
3.Decrease during the period IAERLEE 364,863,065.08
4 Adjustment for exchange LEHEERE
differences 398,673,302.38
5.30 June 2023 5.20356A308  WANERERIIA)
I Accumulated depreciaion =~ E:fIfE
1.31 Decernber 2022 [WIPEVERTIE 3,306,424,087.13
2.Increase during the period LEEENLE 343,817,671.78
3.Decrease during the period IAEREE 183,805,332.08
4 Adjustment for exchange LEHEERE
differences 199,458,034.44
5.30 June 2023 ERIREASEN]=I 3,665,894,461.27
Il Provision for impairment Z REEE
1.31 Decernber 2022 120205124318 9,627,501.30
2 Increase during the period LEEENLE 253,960.24
3. Adjustment for exchange JERERSE
differences (358,047.64)
4,30 June 2023 42023567308 9,523413.90
V. Caying amount m EEEE
1.30 June 2023 1203567308 [RRLRERLRE
2.31 December 2022 PRIOYEAVERIIE 3364,577,871.72

Machinery and
equipment

BRRE

8,707,004.95
1,073,078.88

481,363.57
10,261,537.40

6,232,718.20
454,709.44

19145382
6,878,881.46

3,382,655.94
2474376.75
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(%)

19. FERREEE

G OF B AR 1 IEH H RE R

Vehicles

LR

17,087, 442.91

4,432,976.07
21,520418.98

12,980,585.41
1,251,795.95

174,131.62
15,006,478.98

6,513,940.00
4,106,857.50

During the period, short-term leasing fees and low value asset

leasing fee through profit or loss under the simplified approach
amounted to RMB436,969,853.92.

Forklift trucks
and equipment
after sale and
leaseback
sub-leases
(long-term)
E%HED
EEHNNE
ET]

(R4

398,088,949.10

127,285,260.31

19,128,095.56
289,931,784.35

70,660,404.54
208,662,059.55
125,693,840.03

9,951,215.02
163,579,839.08

126,351,945.27
327,428 54456

Forklift trucks
and equipment
after sale and
leaseback
sub-leases
(short-term)
il
BEANEL
WXERH %
(£4)

1,084,154,393.28

309,912,647.26

58,837,875.16
833,079,621.18

472,885,305.95
164,163,730.22
277,564,665.54

31,192,921.27
390,677,297.90

442,402,323.28
611,269,087.33

Others

L

1,836,507,035.74
231,401,611.53
304,584,764.14

105,185,034.80
1,808,508,917.93

1,103,603,314.97
202,510,049.35
351,712,488.20

59,104,316.89
1,013,505,193.01

8,662,524.30
6,378,029.98

(1,617,975.58)
13422,578.10

781,581,146.22
124,041,19.47

10,025,174,382.13
921,804,448.9
1,166,645,736.79

586,738,647.54
10,367,071,741.84

4,972,786,416.20
920,859,976.29
938,776,325.85

300,672,085.06
5,255,542,151.70

18,290,025.60
6,631,990.22

(1,976,023.22)
22,945,992.60

5,088,583,597.54
5,034,097,940.33

AEFAEHEENBCERNRES
MEENKEEEEHREERAA
AR ¥436,969,853.927T °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
20. Intangible assets

(%)
BIFEE

20.

Land use Trademark Orders on Customer
rights Patents Tights License Software hand Relationship Others
Item EB 14hERE L4 BERRE KitE gk =S EFBR At
| Gosamngamout  — EERE
1.31 December 2022 EWIVYEAVEETISIN 336205533283 247748757973 788221688569  1,888,104906.23 81308002392  312,828,00053 10,770,831,797.56  8,739,590,182.9  36,246,194,709.45
2Increase during the period 2 ZEEMEE 14547184287 136,773, 346,81 - 94,953,557.06 80,455,868.39 - - 39415752080  851:812,144.93
(1) Addition (1 EE 123,000,655.34 - - 2622794260  146,210,322.59 - - 39699807400  692,436,994.53
(2) Transfer from internal (2) REFEEA
R&D 136,773,346.81 130,616.06 136,903,962.87
(3)Trangfer from (3) ERERENE
nvestment properties EIN 0418153 - - YRt
(4) Redlassification ) EPE = 68,594,998.40 (65,754,454.20) (2,840,544.20) -
3 Decrease during the period 3 A V4 E 72,622,033.58 1,341,158.80 - 66,349,687.60  140,312,879.98
(1) Disposals or retirements (1) REFHE 62,664,571.20 1,341,158.80 - 66,349,687.60  130,355,417.60
() Transler toinvestment~~ (2) BH EREER
properties HE 9,957,462.38 9,957,462.38
4 Adustment forexchange 4. EF 28 EE
(ifferences - 4210794818 428389,183.31 134,183.213.75 16,259,012.61 1914163976 564780,621.72 43838046480  1,643.242,144.13
5.30 June 2023 5203564308 3434,905,142.12 2,656,368, 87472 831060606900 211590057824 90979490492 33196964029 11,335,612,419.28  9,505,778,489.96 38,600,936,118.53
I Accumulated amortisation =~ E3t &4
1,31 Decerber 2022 12006128318 579,956,900.13  1,185,653,763.53 3670202311 125455651436 38228383168 21317556803  5,675803,765.17  3,419,674,699.25 12,747,807,065.26
Increase during the period 2 RIS E 5449536453 116,250,322.36 581,239.93  108,905,108.41 34,582,760.36 2,750,129.00  387,08330029  457,937,91887  1,162,586,143.75
(1) Provision (1)t 420034055 11625032236 581,239.93  108,905,108.41 34,582,760.36 2,750,129.00  387,08330029  457,937,91887  1,150,094,184.75
(2)Transfer from (2) ERERENE
investment properties B\ 12,491,959.00 B - 12,491,959.00
3 Decrease during the period 3 KEEHEE 11,757,383.60 1,115,120.80 56,991,714.40 69,864,218.80
(1) Disposals or retirements (1) RE G HE 3,133,22854 1,115,12080 56,991,714.40 61,240,063.74
() Tandlertoinvestment~~ (2) BHERELE
properties -3 8,624,155.06 8,624,155.06
4 Adustmentforexchange 4. E 3 250
differences - 29,763,199.77 65517882 134,618,628.85 853,758.01 13169017.26 32532390477 11445928058  618,842,968.06
5.30 June 2023 5.2023E68308 622,694,881.06  1,331,667,285.66 3793844186 149696513082  417,720350.05 22909471429 638821097023  3935,080,184.30 14,459,371,958.27
Il Provison for impaiment =+ E%(
1.31 December 2022 120025128318 16,069,639.97 31,176,180.00 6,888,451.20 23,300,483.10 1846817520 519,701,020.76  123316,637.70 73892059393
2 Increase during the period 2. A4 E - - 7,56.02 - - 52243249 8300871.77 8830,560.28
(1) Provision (132 - - 7,56.02 - - 52,432.49 8,300,871.77 8,830,560.28
3 Adustment for exchange 3. B} EEHE
differences - 1,907,640.00 42211869 142573380 1,130,049.60 31,821,085.57 6,499,561.93 43,206,189.59
4,30 June 2023 4203864308 16,069,639.97 33,083,820.00 131782591 24,726,216.90 1959822480  552,04454482  138117,07140  790,957,343.80
N Netcaryingamount 10 BEE(E

1.30June 2023
2.31 Decernber 2022

1202356308
22005128318

2,79,140,621.09
2,766,028,792.73

1,324,701,589.06
1,291,833,816.20

8,239,583,807.14
181433868258

611,617,621.51
626,659,940.67

467,348,337.97
407,495,709.14

83,276,701.20
81,184.257.30

4,395,356,904.23
4,575,327,005.63

5,432,581,234.26
5,196,598,846.01

23,350,606,816.46
22,759,467,050.26
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~# 0f B % #i 38 3 2 IH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (%ﬁ )

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

20.

Intangible assets (Continued)

During the end of the period, the proportion of intangible assets
from internal R&D to the remaining amount of intangible assets
was 25.22%.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no intangible assets with title
restrictions (31 December 2022: Nil).

As at 30 June 2023, land use rights of the Group for which title

certificate has not been obtained are as follows:

Item HE

Carrying amount

REEE ARIEEBENRE

0. BILEE (&)

7R 5 B R B B 7 B BB AR 4
RAELBRMEEABN LI A
25.22% -

202366 A30R © NEBEFRAKRE
SZREIAEREE (2022912 A 31
A:4&)o

R2023F 68300 * AEBANEZE
BEEENLIHERAEBRIOT

Reasons for the absence

of title certificate

Land use rights T b R

27,479,018.59

In progress of applying
for the title certificate

T FE M AEPHIE

Other than the finite useful life of some of the trademarks held
by the subsidiaries of the Company, trademarks of the Group
are renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The management
of the Group are of the opinion that the Group has both the
intention and ability to renew the trademarks continuously. As
a result, the useful life of the trademarks is considered by the
management of the Group as indefinite because the trademarks are
expected to contribute to the Group’s net cash inflows indefinitely.
The trademarks will not be amortised unless their useful life is
determined to be finite. Instead the trademarks will be tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that they

may be impaired.

BRARBZ FRABENL S EERE
AEwERIN  KEBAMETEE T
FRESZERAEE R - KEEE
BERR AEEEEERENTEH
BEZERNE - BEHZEFEHAIK
R%$¢l?¢ﬁim FE R
CAEEERERRZEREREMA
é%uuﬂ<ﬁ§15 o BRIEZEWIRH A E A
FRERTRER - BRITSHEITH
Ho MR AESEEEREEEN
SBTRGEERERETRENR -

\
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
21. Expenditure on development

31 December

2022

20224

Item EH 12A318

Diesel engine efficiency ~ S&higaiae &

optimisation project 1vIEE 316,545,472.05

Hydraulics project REIER 15,254,059.50

QOthers Hip 7,309,180.80

Total At 339,108,712.35

22. Goodwill

(1)  Gross carrying amount of goodwvill

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

(%)
21. F

Increase

during the period
M

Expenditure

on internal

R&D
A
FRXH

933,381.00

933,381.00

22. &

(1)

31 December 2022

[tem HH 2022%12A31H
Merger with TAGC AFEIE 531,226,252.68
Merger with Linde Hydraulics AMBRBABLE

GmbH & Co. KG 787,301,689.61
Merger with KION ABEKION 6,303,091,057.17
Merger with Dematic Group A BtDematic Group 15,634,223,323.50
Merger with Tsintel Technology AMBEERE 303,417,137.96
Others Hit 790,014,357.93
Total 5 24,349,273,818.85

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

Decrease
during
the period
N-t)
Recognition
as intangible 30 June
assets 2023
BRA 2023F
EREE 6A30H
136,773,346.81 179,772,125.24
- 16,187,440.50
- 7,309,180.80
136,773,346.81  203,268,746.54
=
HERERE

Adjustment
for exchange
differences

EXEZEAR

48,174,221.32
385,679,984.66
676,273,232.70

30,671,825.63

1,140,799,264.31

30 June 2023
2023F6A30H

531,226,252.68

835,475,910.93
6,688,771,041.83
16,310,496,556.20
303,417,137.96
820,686,183.56

25,490,073,083.16




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
22. Goodwill (Continued)

()

Provision for impairment of goodwill

31 December 2022

[tem EH 2022%12A318
Merger with TAGC AfbRE 238,071,400.00
Merger with Tsintel Technology A BB RH 92,052,911.12
Others Efh -
Total At 330,124,311.12

Balance as at 30 June 2023 mainly represented goodwill
arising from merger with TAGC, Linde Hydraulics GmbH
& Co. KG, KION, Dematic Group and Tsintel Technology.
Goodwill arising from merger would be allocated to asset

group units to test for impairment on an annual basis.

Carrying amount of material goodwill and trademarks is

allocated to the following asset group units as follows:

o asset group unit A: automotive and major automobile

components other than engines

° asset group unit B: manufacture of hydraulic pumps,
hydraulic motors, hydraulic valves, gears and other

components

o asset group unit C: forklift trucks production,
warehousing technology, intelligent supply chains and

automation solutions

° asset group unit D: intelligent supply chains and

automation solutions

o asset group unit E: driving assistance system and

automatic driving solutions
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(%)

22. HE(E)

(2)

Increase during

the period

REEmM

18,335,929.18

18,335,929.18

B R E 2

Decrease during
the period 30 June 2023
N ) 2023%6A30H

238,071,400.00
92,052,911.12
18,335,929.18

348,460,240.30

2023F6 A0 EEHRBEE
REFMNIE MEREESE
2% - KION  Dematic Group
MEEREMEENEE - K
SEEFEHEZECESH
HEANEEAHESHETEER
BRI -

EZRENEASEIEEE
ERASHNERIT ¢

o EEMMAAA: RERE
PRI TR TBT M

e EEMMEEB: EERE
RBREFE  BREH
F - Em@Wm R ET TR

e EEMHMAAC: XHEHE
E - RERMKERHE
BB BCARTT R

e EEMEMAD: BreME
AN B BRI R

=

o ZEEMMALE: BREE
Ak EBREBRRT R
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
22. Goodwill (Continued)
The carrying amount of material goodwill is allocated to the asset

group units as follows:

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

o OF I R I H R

(78)

22. EHE(E)
EFEEWmENERES
LEHERMT :

mokEEEHEE

Carrying amount of goodwiill
BAENRESE

30 June 2023

2023%¥6A30H

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

293,154,852.68
835,475,910.93
6,688,771,041.83
16,310,496,556.20
211,364,226.84

Asset group units BEMES
Asset group unit A BEMBAEA
Asset group unit B BEHMBEB
Asset group unit C BEMEEC
Asset group unit D BAEMAMBAED
Asset group unit E BEMEEE
Total a5t

293,154,852.68
787,301,689.61
6,303,091,057.17
15,634,223,323.50
211,364,226.84

24,339,262,588.48

23. Long-term prepaid expenses

31 December

23,229,135,149.80

23. REIGHER

Increase Amortisation
during the during the

period period

BN BN f

2022

20225

Item R 12A31H

Industrial mould fee TIREAE 167,858,324.71

Industrial equipment fee THBREE 47,200,904.88
Expenditure on improvement of MABEEEERRZH

fixed assets leased in 97,071,010.76

9,574,425.41 11,708,373.97
6,304,525.69 10,788,626.72

5257,214.16 9,207,150.88

Total =X 312,130,240.35

21,136,165.26 31,704,151.57

30 June

2023
2023%
6A30H

165,724,376.15
42,716,803.85
93,121,074.04

301,562,254.04
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F % it 3% £ EIH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (%)
24. Other non-current assets 24. HiWERBEE
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023564308 2025128318
Gross carrying Provision for Carrying Gross carrying Provision for Carying
amount impairment N amount impairment amount
ltem ER REKE HEEfR FEEE SHHE HEERE HHEME
Scheme assets under defined FERHHE
benefit plan HEEE 748,505,673.30 EIENTERIRS  697,693,216.80 - 69769321680
Prepayment for construction BRIRZER
equipment 21,631,611.50 21,631,611.50 65,648,666.13 - 65,648 666.13
Input tax credit to be deducted GHEIEERS 44,237,7193.60 44,237,7193.60 98,902,719.60 - 98,902,719.60
Pledged certificate of deposit ERAEEE - = 540,000,000.00 - 540,000,000.00
Others Hi YALIRTARY) YALIRTARY) 101,856,377.55 - 101,856,377.55
Total At 981,967,049.57 CEARTYAERTAS 1,504,100,980.08 - 1,504,100,980.08
25. Short-term loans 25. FHIfERK
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
Item = 20236 A30H 2022412 A31H
Pledged borrowings (Note) BHREZGEH 50,000,000.00 50,000,000.00
Credit loans ERER 3,376,254,957.08 4,559,106,808.74
Total &5t 3,426,254,957.08 4,609,106,808.74
As at 30 June 2023, the above borrowings and loans carried 72023967308 + Ll fEHEFF
interest at rates ranging 1.20%~13.78% (31 December 2022: & 51.20%~13.78% (2022F 12 A
1.50%~13.78%) per annum. 31H : 1.50%~13.78%) °
Note: As at 30 June 2023, among the short-term loans, RMB50,000,000.00 5 R2023F6A30H  RHIERFTAR
(31 December 2022: RMB50,000,000.00) represented the borrowings #£50,000,000.007T (2022512 A 31
obtained by Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Jinding”, a sub- H: AR®50,000,000.007T) BB E
subsidiary of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd.) from China Merchants RITRHDBRABARZHITRAMKEE
Bank Co., Ltd. Xi‘an Branch, secured by the accounts receivable of Shaanxi RREARARZEARIRA S SE
Jinding, pursuant to the borrowing agreement. EHRAR(ATHBEIRASS )R

HOMER - ERBENTEARTE S
YU IR SRAE R AT -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
26. Financial liabilities held for trading

[tem EH

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

o OF I R I H R

(%)

26 XRZMEmBE

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

Forward foreign exchange contracts REMNES K

159,447,426.88

27. Notes payable

27. BEHEE

30 June 2023
20236 H30H

18,173,561.14
24,390,056,910.69

ltem HH
Commercial acceptance bills HEAHIES
Bank acceptance bills RITAM [EE
Total At

24,408,230,471.83

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had no outstanding notes payable
which were due (31 December 2022: Nil).

28. Accounts payable
An aging analysis of accounts payable based on billing dates is

presented as follows:

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

85,556,345.40

31 December 2022
2022%12A831H

26,487,386.88
21,998,263,547.45

22,024,750,934.33

M2023%6A30H @ AEEMEER|EIER
EENMZE (20226128318

&) -

28. ENERR

FERBRFURIE IR B A M0 BR e o AT a0

T~

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

50,708,661,800.65
5,559,750,408.58
1,108,037,544.45
1,186,938,878.91

Item EH

Within 3 months 3@ A AR

3 to 6 months 3fB A E6MEA
6 to 12 months 618 A= 1218 A
Over 12 months 1218 A LA E
Total A

58,563,388,632.59

Accounts payable are non-interest bearing, and are generally settled

within three to six months.

As at 30 June 2023, there was no payable which was material and

aged over one year (31 December 2022: Nil).

FE 1 BRSRAEH B

HREE -

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

35,141,572,697.24
6,533,752,194.31
2,117,650,225.70
1,767,102,062.51

45,560,077,179.76

IR EEIEGE

MN202346 8300 & ERE—FIU L
MEEZE/ENRIE(2022F12 A31

A&



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

29.

30.

Contract liabilities

ltem

B H
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(%)

29. EEEAE

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

Supply chain solutions services (Note)

ISR R Ty RS (R)

31 December 2022
2022%12A831H

5,042,557,073.40
9,556,996,046.57

4,753,098,134.10
8,333,688,716.53

14,599,553,119.97

Sales and other services $HE K H At AR 7%
Total &t
Note: The contract liabilities associated with the supply chain solutions services

are the balances received from the customer in advance under the
performing contract. The balance is generated when a specific milestone
receipt exceeds the revenue recognised as a result of the input method.

Payroll payable
(1)

Payroll payable is presented as:

30.
(1)

Increase during
the period
REEm

14,094,853,996.12

1,947,483,111.64

94,267,303.04

284,375,226.63

69,303,212.48

Note 31 December 2022

Item ER ME  2022%12A31R
Short-term remuneration RS 2 5,267,933,621.31
Post-employment benefits —  BERR A 1R F| -2

defined contribution plan RE:E 3) 535,209,482.27
Severance benefits due within -~ — & R Z|Ei£) V.39

one year BERR 739 23397377846
Cash-settled share-based —FREIHD

payment due within RS EER V.39

one year Ry % 739 8,845,396.94
Other long-term payroll due ~ —ERHHE Aty V.39

within one year RABRTIHH 739 87,788,254.69
Total At 6,133,750,533.67

16,490,282,849.91

13,086,786,850.63

HEEERRTRRGEENERAA
BERETHFARTRREPMEE -
ERENERBUBBRENER

TR AU AR

FE 1 B T %57 A

AR X BREE ©

FEM B TH MR -

Decrease during
the period
REHD

13,675,971,102.17

1,994,288,909.33

160,546,251.80

287,039,965.13

2,232,053.42

16,120,078,281.85

30 June 2023
2023%F6A30A

5,686,816,515.26

488,403,684.58

167,694,829.70

6,180,658.44

154,859,413.75

6,503,955,101.73
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued) (%)
30. Payroll payable (Continued) 30. BB THEN (48)
(2) Short-term remuneration (2) %2 HA%T
Increase during ~ Decrease during
31 December 2022 the period the period 30 June 2023
Item BEH 2022%12A318 AEEm KBRS 2023F6H30H
Salaries, bonuses, allowancesand T4 - #4 « 28 #
subsidies B ERCERYIRPIN S 12,416,369,600.09  12,068,935,868.13  4,110,959,861.01
Staff welfare BIENE (CERVARRIR:IM 19535840644  162,803,863.85  201,675,659.57
Social security reRkE CINLYRVVIENE 85157243224  837,950,728.84  108,618,850.43
Incl: Medical insurance A BERRE SROLRLVECIN  782,936,908.81  771,253,465.19 77,188,894.01
Work injury insurance THRRE 22,348,883.94 63,310,933.55 58,012,196.30 27,647,621.19
Supplementary medical BREERR
insurance 7,142,812.70 5,324,589.88 8,685,067.35 3,782,335.23
Housing funds TEAES VUYLV  247,912,658.07  241,573,480.20 26,810,478.39
Labor union operating fundsand ~ T&& &M
employee education costs BIZERE 941,556,339.93 98,374,100.40  135,157,800.40  904,772,639.93
Other short-term remuneration £ fh 55 HA 7 B LRI  285,266,798.88  229,549,360.75  333,979,025.93
Total it LWLYREEN:YAIER I 14,094,853,996.12  13,675,971,102.17  5,686,816,515.26
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued) (%)
30. Payroll payable (Continued) 30. EAEE THEN (&)
(3) Post-employment benefits — defined contribution (3) BEBBEAN —RTIEEFET
plan £l

Increase during  Decrease during

31 December 2022 the period the period 30 June 2023

ltem HE 2022%12A31H KHEEM AEHD  2023F6A308

Basic pension insurance EAREZRR VCIRRY NI 1,405,884,350.41  1,426,548,089.75 416,294,052.22

Unemployment insurance KRERBRE APV  212,477,170.64  215,737,280.93 17,945,504.61

Contribution to pension fund PEFLEB 77,046,075.81 329,121,590.59 352,003,538.65 54,164,127.75

Total At SRRy 1,947,483,111.64  1,994,288,909.33 488,403,684.58

31. Taxes payable 31. BXHHE

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
[tem 1HE 20234 6H30H 202212 A31H
Value-added tax 12 (E 900,425,412.27 722,786,190.45
Corporate income tax RSN 493,315,544.03 405,113,300.68
Individual income tax (EPNGEEE) 246,357,000.11 258,419,164.43
Property tax BEM 33,572,667.69 21,679,233.50
Stamp duty ENZERA 26,719,776.09 18,350,675.81
Land use tax Tl B 18,954,324.01 16,163,775.98
City maintenance and construction tax 3 T 4 2 2% 71 5,939,600.38 9,219,478.78
Educational surtax HEEM M 4,429,597.96 4,178,429.91
Other taxes Hib 1A 229,406,180.54 209,467,498.92
Total &t 1,959,120,103.08 1,665,377,748.46
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
32. Other payables

Note

7
Interest payable JFETF B M
Dividend payable JE A~ B A )
Other payables HAb 3)
Total &a&t
(1) Interest payable

[tem BIsgE|

Interest on medium term notes

Interest on borrowings

FHREFE

&R B

Total &5

(2) Dividend payable
[tem BH
Dividend payable JE AT IR A

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

Bin JaZﬁ?Eﬁ%%lﬁ%iEIE ElER
(%)
32. HMEMNSR

30 June 2023
2023%¥6H30H

169,126,616.98
1,368,704,444.17
6,774,628,922.07

8,312,459,983.22

(1) ERFE

30 June 2023
20236 H30H

55,927,410.00
113,199,206.98

169,126,616.98

(2) P& BRA

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

1,368,704,444.17

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

88,242,029.60
303,243,788.97
7,799,372,482.84

8,190,858,301.41

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

50,178,804.00
38,063,225.60

88,242,029.60

31 December 2022
2022%12831H

303,243,788.97
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& 0F b % it 3% £ EIH H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (%)
32. Other payables (Continued) 32. HttEES (&)
(3) Others (3) HAb

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

Nature =]

Guarantees and deposits

Payables for purchase of construction

RES RS

N TiERREEEE

1,790,507,937.74

1,561,239,257.52

and fixed assets BB 989,724,085.83 843,085,185.22
After-sale expenses and repair and —BEREEGEES

maintenance expenses 489,311,986.14 209,986,931.48
Sales discount HEYTE 767,469,903.51 752,773,775.05
Transportation expenses BE 72,175,664.00 110,202,171.10
Technology development expenses REirmeEs 302,833,494.97 269,990,532.01
Acquisition consideration payable FE 1~ U BE T - 1,147,103,860.05
Others Hib 2,362,605,849.88 2,904,990,770.41
Total &5t 6,774,628,922.07 7,799,372,482.84

As at 30 June 2023, there were no other payables in

significant amount aging over one year (31 December 2022:

Nil).

MN2023F6 8300 @ EKRE
—FULEOEENHEMENK
(20224128318 : &) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

S5 i R WA R (A

(Br#F Rl B5) -
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

ME)

hof BF B R R IH H

EREENBARET)

33. Non-current liabilities due within one year

[tem

BEH

Long-term payables due

within one year
Long-term borrowings due

within one year
Lease liabilities due within one year
Bonds payable due within one year
Other non-current liabilities due

within one year

—F R R R

—FRIHNRHER

—FRIHNEERE

—FRBHEMES
—FRREMNEMIEREBAE

Total

Incl: Long-term borrowings due
within one year include:

Pledged loans

(Note V.35: Note 9)
Guaranteed loans

(Note V.35: Notes 2, 3 and 5)
Credit loans
Other loans (Note V.35: Note 8)

Hrh o — QB A RS -

ERER(MER
35 #£9)
REBEEH (TR -
35:32+-3+5)

ERER

HEmER(MaEn
35 : 38)

—FRIHNERBEE

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

4,300,447,125.18
3,429,222,346.02
1,126,030,252.46

547,293,030.90

3,116,799,369.82

12,519,792,124.38

510,000,000.00

1,268,621,336.22
1,646,601,009.80

4,000,000.00

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

3,963,710,275.76

3,347,103,653.23
1,172,765,909.32

2,731,582,662.60

11,215,162,500.91

1,248,197,116.33
2,094,906,536.90

4,000,000.00
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V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~# 0f i % 3% £ 200 H 5E B

Statements (Continued) (%)
34. Other current liabilities 34, Htt B AR

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

30 June 2023

31 December 2022

2023%6830H 2022412 H318

Product quality assurance deposit EmEEREFD 2,523,256,040.43 2,384,649,833.59
Loans from leasing institutions THEMEER 1,525,963,627.65 1,161,186,515.70
Short-term commercial paper HHIRE S 3,507,585,981.90 2,263,984,500.00
Others Hi 1,138,833,989.37 1,159,752,331.47
Total &5t 8,695,639,639.35 6,969,573,180.76

35. Long-term borrowings 35. REAERK

30 June 2023 31 December 2022

ltem BB 2023%6H30H 20224612 H318
Guaranteed loans (Notes 1~6) REBEER(GE1~6) RISl 13,481,071,467.01
Credit loans EARER 8,335,828,157.83 8,618,232,033.81
Pledged loans HIRE R - 510,000,000.00
Mortgage loans (Note 7) EIRER(FET) 38,000,000.00 38,000,000.00
Other loans (Note 8) HAth &5 (5E8) 135,000,000.00 135,000,000.00
Total &% b ) epicpi | 22,782,303,500.82
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

Long-term borrowings are classified according to maturity dates as

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

(%)
35. REER(R)

RHERRIBBREADMT :

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

follows:

Maturity FIH A

Due within 1 year 145 9 51 B
Due within 1 to 2 years 15124 ) 21 8
Due within 2 to 5 years 2555 A EIH
Due over 5 years S5 E
Sub-total NET

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

3,429,222,346.02
6,394,996,937.72
16,345,426,139.95
76,037,845.25
26,245,683,268.94

Less: Long-term borrowings classified & : D185 — E R HIK

as due within one year RAMER

3,347,103,653.23
6,468,777,736.90
16,017,897,415.88
295,628,348.04
26,129,407,154.05

3,429,222,346.02

Total &5t

3,347,103,653.23

22,816,460,922.92

As at 30 June 2023, the above loans carried interest at rates ranging
0.75%~9.27% (31 December 2022: 0.75%~12.50%) per annum.

22,782,303,500.82

7R2023F6H30H

+ b 5 R R

R 50.75%~9.27% (2022412 A 31
H :0.75%~12.50%) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

* ‘/a;ﬁ)ﬁ!ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%iglﬁ H iR
(“E

35. B8

& ()

Note 1:  As at 30 June 2023, an amount of EUR353,000,000.00 equivalent to 1 M2023F46A308 r EHMERPK
RMB2,780,616,300.00 under long term borrowings (31 December JT 353,000,000.00 @ T & A B ¥
2022: RMB2,620,283,700.00) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power 2,780,616,300.0070 (2022412 A 31
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the A: AR#%2,620,283,700.007T) &
Company, from China Development Bank, for which the Company BRI RITEADE Z TR Al HLE
provided guarantee for joint liabilities. This long-term borrowings will BH(EB)ERERERARRMERN
mature on 15 October 2024. B HEAAARHETEERIE
R ZERMERKN2024F 108
15HEIH -
Note 2:  As at 30 June 2023, an amount of EUR129,000,000.00, equivalent F2: 202346 A30H @ REERP™
to RMB1,016,145,900.00 under long term borrowings (31 December JC 129,000,000.00 © #T & A R #
2022: RMB957,554,100.00) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power 1,016,145,900.00 7t (2022 % 12 A
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of 31H : AR#957,554,100.007C) &
the Company, from Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, for which FERIT(EE)BERARMRARAG
the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. This long-term ZFRBMEN(EB)BERER
borrowings will mature in stages by 28 October 2024. Among others, BRABREMNER > AAQREMH
an amount of EUR38,700,000.00 equivalent to RMB304,843,770.00 (31 EEEARFRR ZERBERSE
December 2022: RMB287,266,230.00) will mature within one year. R2024F10 A28 A AT BRI H - &
* B{JC38,700,000.00 * T & AR
304,843,770.00 7T (2022 % 12 A 31
A : AR%287,266,230.007T) 1
—FREH -
Note 3:  As at 30 June 2023, an amount of USD34,363,000.00 equivalent 23 R202346HA30H - REERF
to RMB248,295,486.19 under long term borrowings (31 December 2 JT 34,363,000.00 © T & AR ¥
2022: RMB239,335,102.34) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power 248,295,486.19 70 (2022 12 A 31
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the A : AR%239,335,102.347T) A+
Company, from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited, IERAT(EMN)ARRABRAR
for which the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The long- RIZFRBIHLESH N (EE)HERE
term loan will mature in stages by 7 November 2024. Among others, BRERAARHOER - BEAR AR
an amount of USD4,909,000.00 equivalent to RMB35,470,783.74 (31 HELEETRELER -ZERBER
December 2022: RMB34,190,728.81) will mature within one year. BN 2024FE 11 A7R BT D HAEEY -
H f 3£ 704,909,000.00 * A AR
#35,470,783.747T (2022512 A 31
A AK¥34,190,728.8170) iR —
FREH -
Note 4:  As at 30 June 2023, an amount of GBP27,767,540.78 equivalent 4 M2023F6H30H c REEHF

to RMB253,877,236.12 (31 December 2022: RMB233,075,609.00)
under long-term borrowings was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited,
Luxembourg Branch, for which the Company provided guarantee for
joint liabilities. This long-term borrowings will mature on 2 December
2024.

45 27,767,540.78 - A AR
253,877,236.12 70 (2022 12 A 31
A : AR#233,075,609.007T) &F
EImRITROERAAERENTT
RMARRZ FRAABELHH(EB)E
RERBBRARRENER AR
AIRMENETREER - ZERH
BERAER 2024512 A28 F 5 -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

As at 30 June 2023, an amount of EUR785,658,755.00 equivalent to
RMB6,188,712,579.01 under long-term borrowings (31 December
2022: RMB5,831,866,372.00) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, from Australia and New Zealand Banking, Hong Kong
Branch, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited,
Agricultural Bank of China Limited, Hong Kong Branch, DBS Hong Kong
Branch, and Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. Weifang Branch, for
which the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. This loan will
mature in stages by 21 September 2025. Among others, an amount of
EUR117,848,800.00 equivalent to RMB928,306,782.48 (31 December
2022: RMB874,779,857.52) will mature within one year.

As at 30 June 2023, an amount of EUR646,000,000.00 equivalent to
RMBS5,088,606,600.00 under long term borrowings (31 December
2022: RMB4,795,193,400.00) was loan(s) provided to Weichai Power
(Hong Kong) International Development Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, from Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, for which
the Company provided guarantee for joint liabilities. The long term
borrowings will mature in stages by 31 August 2027. Among which, no
amount will mature within one year.

As at 30 June 2023, an amount of RMB38,000,000.00 under long
term borrowings (31 December 2022: RMB38,000,000.00) was loan(s)
provided to Shaanxi Jinding, a sub-subsidiary of Shaanxi Heavyduty
Motor Co., Ltd., from Shaanxi Qishan Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd,
secured by the fixed assets of Shaanxi Jinding pursuant to the borrowing
agreement. This long-term borrowing will mature on 17 August 2024.

S5 i R WA R (A

(B # 5l At B 9

F ERRENBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

£ {0 010 B A B AR
i

35.

6 :

n

17

RBEBRK(E)

s

M202346HA308 - EHMERFK
JT 785,658,755.00 * T & A B #
6,188,712,579.01 7t (2022 F 12 A
31 B © AR ¥ 5,831,866,372.00
T RBRHBTEEST  PBEIE
BIT(EM) BERAR - FERER
TRHBERABEENT ERB
TEBEDT  TEBRHFEBRITR
NBERABHEST DT AARAZ
FREIBESD N (BB BRERE
BRABRENER AR AEM
EEETRFER REERBER
202549 R21HAT D AR HY - H A
Bl 7T 117,848,800.00 » T A& AR
928,306,782.48 7L (20224 12 A 31
B : AR#874,779,857.527T) # %
—FEREIH -

#2023 6A308 - EHMERFK
7L 646,000,000.00 » T &4 A R #&
5,088,606,600.00 7T ( 2022 4 12 A
31H : AK#4,795,193,400.007T)
BREET(EB)BRARMAAR
ZTRARIHES N (BB EREES
BRARREOER - AARARIRME
HEMRBER ZERBEBIER
20278 A3 VBRI EARIEY - Heh
—FRNEHEE -

M2023F6A308  REERPAR
#%38,000,000.007T (2022412 A 31
H : AR¥38,000,000.007T) A7
I L B P ERITRG AR AR MAPR
FBEAREFRARZEABIRAS
SIRERNER - ERIBEL T APRE
CHNETEERA c RERBER
157202448 817HE|H -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
35. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

Note 8:

Note 9:

As at 30 June 2023, an amount of RMB135,000,000.00 under long-
term borrowings (31 December 2022: RMB139,000,000.00) was loan(s)
provided to Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
from CDB Capital Co., Ltd., and the loan agreed in the loan agreement
were used in medium-duty and light-duty gear boxes and new energy
transmission system projects. This long-term borrowing will mature
in stages by 22 October 2030. Among others, RMB4,000,000.00 (31
December 2022: RMB4,000,000.00) will mature within one year.

As at 30 June 2023, an amount of RMB510,000,000.00 under long-
term borrowings (31 December 2022: RMB510,000,000.00) was loan(s)
provided to Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, from The Export-import Bank of China, Shaanxi Branch,
secured by the bank deposits of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd.,
pursuant to the borrowing agreement. This long-term borrowing
will mature on 20 March 2024 and will be reclassified to non-current
liabilities due within one year.

36. Bonds payable

ltem

B H
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G OF B AR 1 IEH H RE R

(%)

35. REER(R)

s

519

M202346A308 - EHMERF A
R # 135,000,000.00 7t (2022 ¥ 12
HA318 : AR#139,000,000.007T)
AEHBEESBERARALARRZ
FRAREETHERERETAA
RHUNER  BRBHENTZEER
ARPERSERERFNEREHD R
HIER - R ERBPERBN2030F
10R22BAIHHEIEH - HR AR
4,000,000.007t (20224128318 =
AR #4,000,000.007T) R —F R
ZIH o

M2023F6A30H ' REBERFAR
#510,000,000.00 7T (2022 12 A
31H : AR#510,000,000.007C) &
PE#H ORITRRAE DITRAR A
ZFRRIRBEER TEFRA RS
WEF  BRBELOEURBER S
BHERARKBITFEER - ZER
HAfE R & 2024F3 A20H B8 - &
PEE-FREBANIERDEE -

36. EfSES

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

Bonds payable

FEfHE S

5,886,871,914.00

31 December 2022
20229 12A31H

6,056,952,787.80
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(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
Bonds payable (Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, balance of bonds payable are listed as follows:

36.

ltem

B8

Medium-term (note 1)
PAREGH)
Medium-term (note 2
i )]
Medium-term (note 3)

PARE()

Corporate bonds (note 4)

bafR(E)

Total

El

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Issued during

Face value Issued amount 31 December 2022

Issuing date  Bond period

the period

[} BTAE  REER RfiE®  W0F0A3A ABRA

7,367,344,000.00 21 February 2017 Note 1
022117 k]

1 June 2018 7years
06-01-18 %

1 April 2019 Tyeas
04-01-19 %

17 September 2020 5 years
09-17-20 3

7,344,731,360.00  719,472,005.40

1,504,120,000.00 1,500,359,700.00  1,293,781,777.30

906,834,800.00 905,254,424.00  356,009,706.90

3,967,200,000.00 3,967,200,000.00  3,687,689,298.20

13,717,545,484.00  6,056,952,787.80

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes with
total par value of EUR1,010 million in February 2017, which matured or
will mature in May 2022, April 2024 and April 2027, at floating interest
rate based on EURIBOR (Euro Interbank Offered Rate). In April 2021,
KION made an early repayment of part of the bonds payable amounting
to EUR167 million equivalent to RMB1,305,572,600.00 which are due
in 2024.

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes with
total par value of EUR179 million in June 2018 with bond period of 7
years. Nominal amount of EUR100 million of such notes are at floating
interest rate based on EURIBOR while the other nominal amount of
EUR79 million are at fixed interest rate.

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued medium-term notes with
total par value of EUR120.5 million in April 2019 with bond period of 7
years, at floating interest rate based on EURIBOR.

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, issued corporate bonds of principal
amount of EUR500 million in September 2020, with a nominal interest
rate of 1.625%, and maturity of 5 years. The bonds will mature in
2025.

Accrued interest
during the period

AgitRAR

11,495,500.91

21,272,602.20

5,688,495.29

34,764,644.40

73,221,242.80

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

(%)

36. EfE®% (&)
MW2023FE6A308 @ ENES%EET
RO

Repaid during

Amortisation

bi-td

150,692.00

210,968.80

45,207.60

4,407,741.00

4,814,609.40

w2

the period

AR

3:

4:

Exchange

qain or loss/

Fair value Adjustment
hedging Less: due within
adjustments
AMAE

4]

for exchange
differences 30June 2023
34 53

EXZEaE

one year

Bi-EHE 013%6A3A

4403063920 547,293,030.90  216,360,305.70

(2387,413.30)  83,121,913.46 - 1,374727,206.20

21,785,941.20 - 377,840855.70

225,846,467.20 - 3,917,943,506.40

(2387,413.36)  374,784961.06  547,293,03090  5,886,871,914.00

KATZFABKION » R2017F2
BRTEERLBEAI0IBER TN
= - 5 BIR2022F5A8 - 2024
FARM2027FA4AE|H - FIE B
EURIBOR ( Bk 7T #R 77 Al 47 f8 1 & )
REENZEFE - R2021F4A8 -
KION 2 Al {8 48 &6 9 74 2024 F 2| # fE
&% - HESBA.67EBUT - 7
4 AR#1,305,572,600.007T °

AAE ZFAAKION » A2018%F6 A
BOEEAERIIIBB TP HE
B EHFERATE  ZZERIER
JUERE %R A& LAEURIBOR (BT ERTT R
EFREMNE) REENZHNE - 3
0.79BRTE R X R EE R X

RNATFZFAFKION  R201944
ABTEMAETE A1 2058 THH
HEE BEHBRATF  FIXRAIN
EURIBOR(BR TR /T R HF{EFIE) A
EERFENFEK o

RN A ZFRAKION » 720204F
IRBTERSEASERTHEE
B BHHRASTF  BEMXRA
1.625% * ZEEH 1H R 2025F 5|
gqo



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
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Statements (Continued)

Lease liabilities

[tem B H

Lease liabilities HEAE

Less: Lease liabilities taken to B RTA—F AR ER
non-current liabilities due FnNBEENHESR
within one year (Note V.33) (FfsEH ~ 33)

Total A

38.

As at 30 June 2023, the balance of unrecognised finance
costs in lease liabilities amounted to RMB454,869,668.43
(31 December 2022: RMB450,881,768.04).

Long-term payables

Note
Item HE &
Long-term payables R EAFE T 3R (M
Special payables HIEER )

Less: Long-term payables due

within one year

B —FRE R

ANEAN

Total

G OF B AR 1 IEH H RE R

(%)
37. HEEE

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

31 December 2022
2022%12A831H

5,535,917,341.09 5,597,092,040.56

1,126,030,252.46 1,172,765,909.32

4,409,887,088.63 4,424,326,131.24

R2023F6A30H - BEHE A G
BOAERREBERNBREARARE
454,869,668.43 7L (2022412 A 31
H : AR#450,881,768.047T) °

38. RHIEMAR

30 June 2023
20236 H30H

31 December 2022
2022912 A831H

13,838,561,987.55
23,000,000.00

11,955,919,470.49
23,000,000.00

4,300,447,125.18 3,963,710,275.76

9,561,114,862.37

8,015,209,194.73
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHFIF8ES) - £BERE N BARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #i 38 3= B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
38. Long-term payables (Continued) 38. REAEAR(E)
(1) Long-term payables by nature: (1) ZFBEUHEEINREHEMN

30 June 2023 31 December 2022

ltem EgE 20236 A30H 2022412 A31H
Government grants for national B (518 B BT

debt projects 5,500,000.00 5,500,000.00
Balance of indirect lease guarantee  RI#E7H E1ER A 774,208,650.60 823,949,322.90
Financial liabilities related to sale ERHAREEcRHEE

and leaseback 8,758,406,211.77 7,162,759,871.83
Total A&t 9,538,114,862.37 7,992,209,194.73

(2) Special payables (2) FHIHEEMK
Increase during  Decrease during
31 December 2022 the period the period 30 June 2023

Item JHE 2022%12R31H R H i AEES  2023F6A30R

Interest subsidy for liquid fund granted & B A (4 #1778
by provindial finance office EREREE 23,000,000.00 23,000,000.00

Total At 23,000,000.00 23,000,000.00
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHFRIEES) 2 EEEBARET)

1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ26H30H 1B

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #i 38 32 B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (748)

39. REAFE(TER T &r i
(1)

39. Long-term payroll payable

(1) Table of long-term payroll payable £ HA &~ B T % Bl 5=

Note 30 June 2023 31 December 2022

Item 1HE {hr=d 2023%6A30H 2022412 A31H

Defined benefit obligations LETHRER 6,566,746,167.78 5,980,444,871.00

Long-term severance benefits FR 1 T 671,902,258.42 683,288,805.38

Cash-settled share-based IR & £ E WMD) Xl

payments b +— 75,792,590.66 36,475,314.97

Other long-term payroll payable £ th & B 48 7] 630,924,406.89 494,209,395.84

Subtotal Net 7,945,365,423.75 7,194,418,387.19
Less: payable due within B —FAZE V.30

one year Ei¥a H 30 328,734,901.89 330,607,430.09

Total A&t 7,616,630,521.86 6,863,810,957.10

RETHES
AEBERDRINFRARAATE

Defined benefit obligations

The Group operates defined benefit schemes for its staff in

some overseas subsidiaries who meet conditions. The scheme
requires that contribution be made to an independently
administered fund. Under the scheme, staff are entitled to
enjoy retirement benefit provided for under defined benefit

of the plans.

The Group’s defined benefit scheme is one requiring
contribution after termination of service. The scheme requires
that contribution be made to an independently administered
fund. The scheme is administered by an independent trustee
in the legal form of a fund. The assets held under the fund
is held separately with assets of the Group. The trustee is

responsible for the investment strategies of the scheme.

BGHMBTEEETRERSE
&l ZETEIZRMBILE R
MESBHFER - £t 8
T BIAREFRREX#AEA

K ERIRIRARA
AEBMRER a8 2 RB
BREBARTFE - K ERA

BUEBNESHGETER - Z
TEINES REEZENX - A H
BUZFAETER HEBFA
WEAEHRASENEEEED
o REABBEBEZTED
WERE o
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(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
39. Long-term payroll payable (Continued)

(2)

Defined benefit obligations (Continued)

The trustee assesses the level of capital of the scheme. The
assessment includes asset-liabilities matching strategies
and investment risk management strategies. The trustee
determines the amount to be deployed based on the result of

its annual assessment.

The scheme is exposed to interest rate risk, risk of change of
anticipated age of beneficiaries of the pension, and risks of

the securities market.

The following table sets out the key actuarial assumptions

used as at the balance sheet date:

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRHEFRIZRS) - 2 BENBARKET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

(%)

39. RIIEMB T HM (&)

(2)

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

Key actuarial assumptions TERBERR

Discount rate (%) Prif & (%)

Expected rate of salary increment (%)  FE#3% & 1 K (%)

Expected growth rate of future TEHEIRKRRAREE R
pension expenses (%) ERE(%)

REXmER(B)
XEABZENESKFE -
ZEZEREE-BECER
MR ERREIRRE - X5
ARBFEEERNGERRER
BFE -

ZAtBXMEER  BRREF
g3 AR TR B ES A 2 B Al b AN E
FMSRARNTE -

TRREEABRBMERD

e =R

FERERRK

31 December 2022

2022912 A31H
3.50-5.73 3.65-5.04
0.05-3.15 0.71-4.25
0.65-3.69 0.06-3.15
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~# 0f i % 3% £ 200 H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)

39. Long-term payroll payable (Continued) 39. REAERBE T %M (&)
(2) Defined benefit obligations (Continued) (2) BREX:mEBL(E)
Scheme recognised in the income statement is set out below: EFERPERNE @S0
T~

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

From From

1 January 2023 1 January 2022

Item

Current period cost of service
Previous cost of service
Net interest
Net amount of the cost of
post-employment benefit
Taken to cost of sales
Taken to distribution and selling
expenses
Taken to general and administrative
expenses
Taken to research and development
expenses

Taken to finance expenses

2 HIRE A
BERBRAR

Bl 12 4R A B A F R

FEAEERAR
FRAHEER

STABEER

FERAMEER

FAMBER

Total

to 30 June 2023
2023F1H1B %
2023%6H30H
IEHAE

100,451,287.20

111,586,773.17

212,038,060.37
55,740,970.80

15,242,495.80

29,475,355.20

6,238,648.80
105,340,589.77

212,038,060.37

to 30 June 2022
2022F1A1HE
20226 A30H
1EEAfE

167,124,391.95

53,088,931.24

220,213,323.19
102,451,117.60

30,332,788.00

20,598,599.45

13,741,886.90
53,088,931.24

220,213,323.19
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
39. Long-term payroll payable (Continued)

(2)

S5 ik 2 B RE (A1)
(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)

2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

(%)

39. RIIEMB T HM (&)

Defined benefit obligations (Continued) (2) REXZHZK(E)
The change in defined benefit obligations and the change in BREXmEREHMTEEE
fair value of assets under the scheme are as follows: DNABEESHOT :
Present value of Net liabilities/
defined benefit Fair value (Net assets)
scheme of assets of defined
obligations  under the scheme benefit scheme
REZ T E FEEE REZ R E
Item HR BBRE AAREE FEE/(FEE)
Opening balance MR E 10,735,957,140.20 (5,452,780,041.28) 5,283,177,098.92
Taken to profit or loss in the current 5+ A & Hi18 2%
period 331,366,308.64 (119,328,248.27) 212,038,060.37
Cost of services PR A 100,451,287.20 - 100,451,287.20
Net interest S F5E 230,915,021.44 (119,328,248.27) 111,586,773.17

Taken to other comprehensive income

Actuarial gains or losses

Return

on assets under the scheme

(net of amount included in net

interest)

Movements arising from assets cap

(net of amount included in net interest)

ARG N
CERIEEREPS
ATEEEDR

(FEAFI B FEBHRIN)

BE LRy EHED
(5t AFLEFBIBR)

155,228,120.40
155,228,120.40

15,545,575.09

(2,665,553.11)

18,211,128.20

170,773,695.49
155,228,120.40

(2,665,553.11)

18,211,128.20

Other changes Hing 477,341,331.36 (325,089,691.66) 152,251,639.70
Benefits paid BEXNHEF (250,663,386.91) 137,913,318.40 (112,750,068.51)
Contribution from employers BXEF 233,572.60 (48,726,258.20) (48,492,685.60)
Adjustment for exchange differences [ i Z 5855 707,648,108.31 (394,578,864.22) 313,069,244.09
Others Hil 20,123,037.36 (19,697,887.64) 425,149.72
Closing balance HRBRE 11,699,892,900.60 (5,881,652,406.12) 5,818,240,494.48

Note:

As of 30 June 2023, the assets under the scheme amounting
in aggregate to RMB748,505,673.30 (31 December 2022:
RMB697,693,216.80) were accounted for under other non-current

assets.

£ HR2023F6A30BFEIEEF
B ARB748,505,673.30
JL(2022412A318 : AR¥
697,693,216.807T ) £ H fib 3F
RBEERIZE -
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(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f B % it & £ IH H 51 &
Statements (Continued) (%)

40. EFTEE

40. Accruals and provisions

30 June 2023 31 December 2022

ltem A H 20236 HA30H 2022%12A831H
Pending litigation RIREFFER 67,585,518.00 32,534,570.70
Product quality assurance deposit EmEERES 494,096,732.80 282,557,005.00
Onerous contract EEAE R 81,142,007.10 182,848,295.70
Others Hi 158,307,515.87 173,894,882.06
Total = 801,131,773.77 671,834,753.46
41. Deferred income 41. EE W
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
ltem B H 20236 H30H 20229 12A31H
Government grant XA # B 3,261,781,867.64 3,238,163,537.53
Deferred income of indirect leasing MEAEEK
business PEIE W ZS 1,313,183,463.93 1,320,318,645.90
Deferred income of sale and leaseback &G BEFA XK 2
sub-leases R IE W 2 63,502,029.36 92,334,937.68
Total &&F 4,638,467,360.93 4,650,817,121.11
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #i 38 3= % IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
41. Deferred income (Continued) 41. EEW = (48)
As at 30 June 2023, the items related to government grant are as 720236 HA30H - F RBUTHBIHY
follows: HEWT

Increase in Taken to other

grant during income during Other Related to

31 December 2022 the period the period changes 30June 2023 assetsfincome

AR AHA REERE/

ftem RE 20025127318 Lk Hfphzes 88 202356A308 HYERE
Land-related government grant &2 1} E ) Related to assets
e 1321,191,46.37 72,300,000.00 10,544,957.42 1,382,946,288.95 HEERE

Special funds for industry EXRENEY Related to
revitalisation and EfES assetsfincome
technological renovation 1,110,349,033.01 23,659,636.26 53,902,830.03 (62,664571.20)  1,017,44126804 HEE/WERE
Special assistance fund EEENES Related to

assetsfincome

548,105,279.54 56,994,372.00 8,191,692.68 59690795886  EREE /WM

Position-based allowances for ~ BE AX B Related to income
project teams MEEE 242,902,688 81 23,819,900.00 13,785,201.48 252,937,387.33 R RER
Others £t Related to
assetsfincome

15,615,289.80 4,066,325.34 1154896446 HE&E /KHHEH

Total At 3,238,163,537.53 176,773,908.26 90,491,006.95 (62,664,571.20)  3,261,781,867.64

42. Other non-current liabilities 42. HuERBHEE

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
[tem BHH 2023%6H30H 2022912 A31H

Asset securitisation financing BEFZLECRE 7,753,264,110.90 7,379,171,696.10
Loans from leasing institutions TSR 4,755,011,415.00 3,578,966,080.80
Long-term liabilities of indirect leasing business F#EH EX%#K 2 KRB & 440,054,191.50 430,817,693.10
Cross currency interest rate swap contracts & X E¥ E#MF R R4 4 37,565,889.90 40,031,699.70
Put options E Pk HAfE 38,495,387.70 36,275,712.30
Others Hith 359,024,732.78 432,405,119.48

Total =1 13,383,415,727.78 11,897,668,001.48
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B R8s, & ABARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial i ~& ff B % it 3 £ 2 EH H 5: &
Statements (Continued) (%)
43. Share capital 43. R
Changes during the period
AELHAE
New shares Capitalisation
31 December 2022 issued Bond issue of reserve Others Sub-total 30 June 2023
Item L 20225128318 R AR R DEEER B Mgt 2023%6A30R
I Restricted circulating shares - BREKHRA 1,735,186,683 (1,292,087)  (1,292,087)  1,733,894,596
1. State-owned legal person shares 1 BEEABR 1,642,531,008 - - 1,642,531,008
2. Shares held by other domestic entities 2+ AR 92,655,675 (1,292,087)  (1,292,087) 91,363,588
including; Shares held by domestic e BREARR
legal persons 92,655,675 (1,292,087) (1,292,087) 91,363,588
Il Non-restricted circulating shares . ERERKRR 6,991,370,138 1,292,087 1,292,087  6,992,662,225
RMB ordinary shares ARELER 5,048,330,138 1,292,087 1,292,087 5,049,622,225
Overseas listed foreign shares B ETRINER 1,943,040,000 - - 1,943,040,000
II. Total number of shares SN 8,726,556,821 - 8,726,556,821
44. Capital reserve 44. EXRNE
Increase during Decrease during
31 December 2022 the period the period 30 June 2023
Item EH 2022F12 4310 R H 5 i KEHS  2023F6A308
Share premium BRARE 10,901,696,964.66 10,901,696,964.66
Wholly state-owned capital reserve BBEZEANTE 77,000,000.00 77,000,000.00
Other capital reserve HtERAHE 371,502,621.42 371,502,621.42
Total At 11,350,199,586.08 11,350,199,586.08

45. Treasury shares

Increase during Decrease during
31 December 2022 the period the period 30 June 2023
Item HA 20226124318 AHIE xHES  2023%6A30R

Treasury shares BER 1,036,022,358.39 1,036,022,358.39




216 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. #4cE) HRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BRHEFFE) - 2 BEENBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #i 38 3= % IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
46. Other comprehensive income 46. HhR & W&
Other comprehensive income, on a cumulative basis, attributable to EHEEAGBRYIEBENSARIMNE
the parent as shown in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows: iR ez 2T -

Incurred during the period
ABRER

Less: Amount Less: Amount

recognised recognised

in other in other

comprehensive comprehensive

Incurred income in income in

before the previous period Attributable to previous period

income tax and recognised Less: Attributable to minority  and recognised in
31 December for the in profit or loss Income tax parent company interests  retained earnings 30 June
0 current period  in current period expenses after tax aftertax in current period 03

BASHA BAEHA
W0% LSl AftfakE B it | R4ER Aftfaks 03E

Item B8 128318 HAREE LELN 1 FERRR REAT ROBBR  BHEARRLE 6308

1. Those other comprehensive income not o be reclssfied into proftorloss.  —+ T ERERERNEMEARE  1444,770,266.79 848,513,093.48 (104,541,930.63)  794,839,81533  (50,868,652.48) - 2,239,610,082.12

A

Changes arising from re-measuring of defined benefit plan B ERRR A ERDR LEERILERIAN  (170,773,695.49) 4767284120 (65,072,94467)  (58,027,909.62) - 768,152,505.60
Other comprehensive income not to be recassfed nto proft orloss BRETREEREN
using the eqity method Ak (112,762,386.40) 4,265,958.00 - - (4,708,656.85) 8,974,614.85 - (1M7471,043.25)
Change in fai value of investment n other equity instruments 724,307,202.92 1,015,020,830.97 - (152214,771.83)  864,621,416.85 (1,815,357.71) - 1,588,928,619.77
1 Other comprehensiv income to be edsifed nto proft oross R 7)ot R LI 1397,253517.29  (21,928168.62)  (10466,621.32)  482353,300.66  882,505,426.69 - (2293135633
Other comprehensive income to be reclassfed into profit orloss BRATASERY
using the equity method HAkE (11,391,380.32) 4,034,951.90 - - 4,034,951.90 - - (7,356,428.42)
Cashflow hedging reserve ReREEHEE 127,955,731.90 43,980,049.84 (21,928,168.62) (10,466,621.32) (239,828.58) 11,825,088.48 - 127,715,903.32
Exchange differences on foreign currency transation NEERRRTEEE (821,849,008.57)  IRIEELERELRIERH - - 47855817734 §70,680,338.21 - (343,200,831.3)

Tatal of ofher comprehensie income At daast 739,485,609.80  AZERLIXLNDL (21,928,168.62)  (115,008,551.95)  1,277,193,115.99  831,636,774.21 - 2,016,678725.79

47. Special reserve 47. BIEFE

Increase during Decrease during

31 December 2022 the period the period 30 June 2023
Item EH 20224124318 AE XEHES  2023F6A30A
Safety funds TREEER 307,793,867.29 31,916,336.21 30,865,726.34 308,844,477.16
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)

1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi. ~& f B % # 3% 3= B H H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (%)
48. Surplus reserve 48. BERATE

Increase during Decrease during

31 December 2022 the period the period 30 June 2023
Item ER 2022124318 RH M RS 2023%6A30A

Statutory surplus reserve EEBBLE 2,765,811,169.85 2,765,811,169.85

49. Retained earnings 49. R BB

From From

1 January 2023 1 January 2022

to 30 June 2023 to 30 June 2022

2023F1R1HZE 2022F1RA1RE

202346 H30H 20226 A30H

ltem EH IFHA R LEEARE

Retained earnings at the end of the PR EFFRRD EEFHE
previous year before adjustment 50,330,429,225.83 48,430,401,577.17

Business combination under common B —dl N EAS G

control 38,928,205.28
Retained earnings at the beginning of &1 B4k 7 B 17
the period after adjustment 50,330,429,225.83 48,469,329,782.45
Add: Net profit attributable to o EEREAFREE
shareholders of the parent E ) E 3,899,023,175.98 2,391,013,134.13
Less: Dividend payable on ordinary o EA T RARIR S R F
shares in cash (Note 1) (5%1) 1,365,008,024.77 1,606,835,411.89
Transfer other comprehensive HEfird mEER T
income to retained earnings U == 911,280.85
Others Hi 122,526,000.00
Retained earnings at the end of HAR R 9 Bl A1
the period 49,130,070,223.84
Note 1: On 28 June 2023, the Company's 2022 profit distribution proposal was 1 R2023%F 6 A28H © ANAA2022
considered and approved at the Company’s 2022 annual general meeting FERRBAFASERBB 72022
to distribute to the shareholders of 8,639,291,296 shares eligible for FEMBEIEAR - AQELA2022
distribution as at 31 December 2022, based on the Company’s existing F12A31BZEMNBESEENRN
total share capital of 8,726,556,821 shares and deducting 87,265,525 42 %88,639,291,296 % (A & 48 f% A
shares held by the Company through the securities account designated 8,726,556,82 1R MR B E P F &)
for share repurchase a cash dividend of RMB1.58 (including tax) for % 13 8 = 87,265,525 i ) A HE B -
every 10 shares held, without any capitalisation of reserve. Cash dividend MEERREFI0ORKRBER LA
amounting to RMB1,365,008,024.77 was distributed. R¥158T(8H)  TEHRAESR

HREEA  RRERSBRMNARE
1,365,008,024.777C °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
50. Minority interests

[tem

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

Bin ~/a;ﬁff,ﬁa‘i%$lﬁ€igiﬁ ERER
(%)
50. PERRESR

30 June 2023
202396 H30H

31 December 2022

HE 202212 A31H

Minority interest attributable to

ordinary shareholders of subsidiaries

BENF LR EERDBIRR

EpprFas 32,552,332,552.68 30,926,398,238.95

51. Revenue and cost of sales

)

Revenue and cost of sales

51. EXRWARKAE
(1) ERWAMEXZRABR

1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022

2023%1R10Z 20218182
202356 A30A LA 2022466 A30H L H
Revenue Revenue Cost
Item EH WA RA& WA KA
Revenue from principal operations & %7 (R YR SRR EL VPR 85,530,668,101.79  70,469,603,042.02
Other revenue EQE 1,725,019,726.26 1,621,612,009.09 1,238,638,902.19 919,154,703.95

Total 4t

106,135,266,883.70

EIRIETRIRTRETAS  86,769,307,003.98  71,388,757,745.97
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BRHEFIFES) » B8 AARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #t 38 32 B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
51. Revenue and cost of sales (Continued) 51. BEWARBKA(E)
(2) Reporting segment (2) FHEDH
Automobiles
and automobile Intelligent Agricultural
Engines components logistics equipment
RER
Item Y £l REZHE j BELf
Classified by major regions X EREHELE
of operation
Including: Mainland China ~ Z# : ELKE 18,074,649,074.75 22,081,127,268.26 2,628,352,800.00 7,782,218171.21 50,566,347,314.22
Othercountriesand ~~~ EfEFAHE
regions 5,287,907,876.92 10,032,292,919.98 39,569,489,272.81 679,229,499.77 55,568,919,569.48
Total At 23,362,556,951.67 32,113,420,188.24 42,197,842,072.81 8,461,447,670.98  106,135,266,883.70

Classified by time for ERAERRRL B
recognition of revenue
Incuding: Transferredata £ : AE-EEE2
certain point
of time 23,232,544,354.58 32,047,360,877.98 21,671,565,912.81 8,447,676,415.59 85,399,147,560.96
Provided over a EE-REA
certain period s
of time 117,372,739.33 44,388,218.08 16,238,424,800.00 11,634,605.29 16,411,820,362.70
Sub-total of revenue arising  EEF 7 ENARES
from the contracts with ~ #94A/NG

customers 23,349,917,093.91 32,091,749,096.06 37,909,990,712.81 8,459,311,020.88 101,810,967,923.66
Revenue under the FERTHA
Standard on Lease 12,639,857.76 21,671,092.18 4,287,851,360.00 2,136,650.10 4,324,298,960.04

Total A3t 23,362,556,951.67 32,113,420,188.24 42,197,842,072.81 8,461,447,670.98  106,135,266,883.70
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
51. Revenue and cost of sales (Continued)

3)

Performance of obligations

The supply chain solution services provided by the Group
belong to the performance obligation satisfied over a certain
period of time. The performance costs actually incurred on
a cumulative basis as a percentage of estimated total costs
is used to ascertain progress of performance of supply chain
solution services contracts. As at 30 June 2023, some of the
Group's supply chain solution services contracts were still in
the process of performance, the transaction price allocated
to the outstanding (or partially unperformed) performance
obligations is related to the performance progress of each
supply chain solution services contract, and will be recognised
as revenue in the future performance period of each supply
chain solution services contracts based on the performance

progress.

52. Taxes and surcharges

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

(%)

51. ERWARKAE (&)

(3)

JB 495 5 1) 554 R
AEEREOHEEBERBRAIR
BREBREX —BERABITH
BAER  EHRIFEEREZEE
KB #I PR NG TB AT B AR M L
PIEEREEBRATRRES
R EHEE - L E£2023F6
R308 @ REBEH o HrEER
ARARBRBHERITRES -
DEERARBIT (MY RE
TIBRHBRBHR S EREIEE
HEEERRIR T RRTE N E A #
SRR - 0 5 A8 RE A R R
R TT R BR TS Y R PR B A B iR
EAVEE R AWA o

52. B & KM

ltem HH

City maintenance and construction tax 32
Educational surtax A BH N
Property tax BER
Stamp duty ENTERR
Others Eth

Total A&t

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1HZE
20236 H30H
- 5

42,799,408.07
32,137,754.74
131,753,726.16
59,241,362.54
66,675,694.37

332,607,945.88

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1RE
20226 H30H
1F HAfE

21,231,696.27
14,245,412.02
97,734,576.72
42,190,955.64
46,583,375.06

221,986,015.71
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial #. ~& f i % it & £ IH H 51 &
Statements (Continued) (%)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

53. Distribution and selling expenses

53. SHEEH

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1B1HZE

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1A1HE

202346 H30H 202296 A30H
ltem 1HE - 5 1EHARA
Staff costs 8 T A 2,895,862,996.31 2,625,528,852.66
Freight and packaging B kOEE 678,093,402.95 596,927,914.71
After-sales and repair fee —BRkEMREER 709,433,318.00 187,605,933.01
Marketing expenses mSFREER 374,303,409.18 211,455,323.17
Depreciation and amortisation rE L 348,136,193.44 346,833,897.94
Travel expenses EiRE 202,284,794.41 174,552,344.31
Lease expenses HEE 29,082,164.26 39,410,609.96
Office expenses WRER 66,782,102.07 51,056,280.12
Others EHh 901,032,536.60 779,202,562.04
Total A&t 6,205,010,917.22 5,012,573,717.92

54. General and administrative expenses 54, EBEH
1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
20231818 ZE 2022F1A1HZ
20236 H30H 202296 H30H
Item EHH LIEHARE 1EHAfE
Staff costs 8 T A 2,509,546,547.10 2,005,638,251.83
Depreciation and amortisation e RE# 480,394,429.80 495,374,613.27
External support fee GNER S B 363,201,391.86 310,499,016.68
Office expenses PN = 150,692,483.99 160,758,893.50
Travel expenses ERE 77,994,624.30 44,442,739.63
Repair expenses B2 B 61,195,207.49 46,622,101.86
Lease expenses HESE 38,707,470.91 42,284,016.54
Others Hi 942,506,344.93 773,489,510.72
Total a5t 4,624,238,500.38 3,879,109,144.03
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HRB D RHBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
55. Research & development expenses

56.

S5 i R WA R (A
(B 15 P 85 9]

R HEENBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k #fEH

G OF B AR T IEH H AR R

(%)
55. 8 A

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1HZE
2023%6H30H
IEHAE

2,038,646,011.81
425,642,912.69
318,271,501.00

158,418,194.48
344,998,140.97
94,887,475.78
46,963,425.19
293,223,548.19

3,721,051,210.11

ltem HE

Staff costs 8T

Technology development costs R E

Testing costs ERANE

External intellectual property and INER RN R EE T K
published documents licensing costs R SCRA (3 AR &

Depreciation and amortisation EREH

Fuel and utilities fee R B R B

Travel expenses EiRE

Others At

Total &&h

Finance expenses

Item HHE

56. I EH

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
20231 H1HZE
20236 H30H
IEHARE

Interest expenses (Note)

MBS (GE)

1,330,091,722.10
1,156,307,939.25
(199,584,605.56)
46,790,145.46

Less: interest income B FLE A
Exchange gains and losses M B
Handling fees and others FEERHEAM
Total &t

20,989,322.75

Note: Interest expenses relating to the lease business of the Group for the period
between 1 January 2023 and 30 June 2023 was RMB595,617,361.11
(for the period between 1 January 2022 and 30 June 2022:
RMB245,459,574.68), of which the interest expenses relating to lease
liabilities for the period was RMB77,692,278.32 (for the period between 1

January 2022 and 30 June 2022: RMB64,261,879.32).

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
20221 A1 &
202296 H30H
1 EAR

1,794,820,825.78
690,883,851.16
217,874,504.98

233,261,938.04
375,167,389.45
106,067,770.20

27,224,951.13
244,414,933.34

3,689,716,164.08

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1RE
202296 H30H
1EHARA

576,902,796.46
1,072,474,869.46
(48,288,921.59)
17,501,435.56

(526,359,559.03)

202341 81H%E202346A308 1+
HE ASEEBAEEBEBOT
EBHAAARKS95617,361.117T
(202241518 %2022%6 8308 1t
HARS : AR ¥245,459,574.687T) °
HemEEaEREENTIEERAA
R #77,692,278.3270 (20224 1 A1
HZE2022%6A30H LLHIR : AR
64,261,879.327C) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B R8s, & ABARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #i 38 32 B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
57. Other income 57. EukHF
Government grants charged to profit or loss for the current period SHAEHIERHBTEIMT

are presented as follows:

Extraordinary

profit and loss

CELVEPAZERGE Y 1 January 2022 to Related to  taken as incurred

30 June 2023 30 June 2022 assets/income  during the period

PPEESDRREES 2022461 A1 E STARH

PIPEEIVEDI=IN 202246 A30A HEE/ BEEN

ltem e il L HAR] W 23 A5 B FREMEESR

Income of financial subsidies e ETON 36,243,409.50 [(AREILREYRE R Related to income 36,243,409.50
eyl ]

Amortisation of deferred income i U 25 # 3 90,491,006.95 92,964,709.42 Related to 90,491,006.95
assets/income
HEE WA

Others i 1,724,729.73 PRIZYRA R Related to income 1,724,729.73
BRI

Total ) 128,459,146.18 196,312,983.23 128,459,146.18
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V.

Statements (Continued)
58. Investment income

[tem

Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

T ASHEER LR
58. &&=

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
20231 H1HZE

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1RE

Gain on long-term equity investments
under the equity method

Investment income arising from disposal
of financial assets held for trading

Investment income during the period in
which the investments in other equity
instruments were held

Investment income arising from disposal
of long-term equity investments

Gain on interest rate swap and
exchange gains and losses realised

in cross currency interest rate swap

BREXSMSREEDNFN

RERUIBERERGSH

2023%6HA30H 202296 A30H

5 H 1IEHA RS 1-HAfE
AR E N R AE

&K (20,383,006.79) 7,105,527.80

wE WS
HE TAREERHA
HIRRB MR E R

142,473,833.99 38,926,499.27

73,591,655.15 3,550,584.02
KA W

RXEBMEEHRTAF
EERNOM S Bk

(1,186,204.24) 22,115,470.81

instruments - 54,175,133.05
Others HAity (3,036,785.03) 54,832,534.09
Total At 191,459,493.08 180,705,749.04

59.

[tem

Profit on change of fair value

59. ARBEEZFHWE
1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1B%
20236 H30H
1k H#

1 January 2022 to

30 June 2022
20221 A1 E
20226 H30H

B H 1-ER R

Cross currency swap and interest rate
swap instruments at fair value through
profit or loss for the current period

Structured deposit

Investments in equity instruments
at fair value through profit or
loss for the current period

Forward foreign exchange contracts at
fair value through profit or loss for

the current period

NarBEAZEAEZEHA
EHEGENRINERERR
MEREMTH

BEBEES

UNARBEAEEEZESHTA
EHESEE TARE

13,434,193.17
54,906,624.41

(51,037,835.99)
64,615,926.36

(6,391,931.30) =

N

LA

|

VYU EET DED
BB RO ERINES

(29,588,363.39)

494,269,595.66

Total

32,360,522.89 507,847,686.03
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)

1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi. ~& f B % # 3% 3= B H H 51 B
Statements (Continued) (%)
60. Impairment loss of credit 60. EARERX

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to

30 June 2023 30 June 2022
20231818 & 2022F1R18Z&
2023%F6H30H 20226 A30H
ltem 1HE IFHARS LEHARA
Impairment loss of credit from JE W BR R A5 AR E 1R 25
accounts receivable (293,790,617.84) (318,314,224.96)
Impairment loss of credit from H h fE GRS VBB K
other receivables (236,690.41) (12,654,783.90)
Impairment loss of credit from RERKRERMEES
long-term receivables (11,120,567.64) (5,287,373.33)
Impairment gain of credit from JE W R 1E ARE RS
notes receivable 501,550.84 -
Total A&t (304,646,325.05) (336,256,382.19)
61. Impairment loss of assets 61. EERERX
1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
2023F1A1BZE 20221 A1 E
2023%F6H30H 202296 H30H
Item HH IEHA LEEAFE
Loss due to decline in value GFEKEEX
of inventories (215,094,714.51) (184,229,882.19)
Impairment loss of fixed assets TEEREEX (919,553.68) (78,787,942.02)
Impairment loss of intangible assets W EEFEER X (8,830,560.28) (665,570.31)
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets FREEEREBEIEX (6,631,990.22) (8,935,635.49)
Impairment loss of goodwill EESVEREREEN (18,335,929.18) (29,909,118.66)
Impairment loss of prepayments BN RIERER K - (1,478,025.89)

Total &5t (249,812,747.87) (304,006,174.56)
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HRB D RHBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
62. Non-operating income

Item EH
Reversal of provision for other liabilities b & E# &8 0]
Others Hity
Total Gl

63. Non-operating expenses
[tem 15H
Donation expenditure HIMEHE
Others Hih
Total At
64. Income tax expenses

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

(%)
62. EEIMKA

1 January 2023 to

1 January 2022 to

30 June 2023 30 June 2022
2023F181HZ 2022F1818%
2023F6H30H 2022F6A30H

LHE 1=l
33,981,655.50 22,025,185.34
180,797,010.75 90,663,071.04
214,778,666.25 112,688,256.38
63. BEIHILZH

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to

30 June 2023 30 June 2022
20231818 % 20221 A18%
2023F6H830H 2022F6A30H

LHE 1=l
50,000.00 87,461.69
57,047,620.98 59,415,599.40
57,097,620.98 59,503,061.09
64. FIBHEHR

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1B %
2023%6H30H
Lk H B

ltem 1HE
Current tax expenses EHFREHEA
Deferred tax expenses BEFBHER

1,065,297,232.38
(103,396,515.63)

Total

At

961,900,716.75

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

Extraordinary
profit and loss
taken as incurred
during this period

APARHIREEN
FREMES

33,981,655.50
180,797,010.75

214,778,666.25

Extraordinary

profit and loss

taken as incurred
during this period

APARHREEN
FREMES

50,000.00
57,047,620.98

57,097,620.98

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1A1HE
202296 A30H
1EHAR

630,704,425.38
(165,717,520.90)

464,986,904.48
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(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI}

EREENBARKET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k

64. Income tax expenses (Continued)

The relationship between income tax expenses and the total profit is

listed as follows:

(%)

64. FTBHEH(E)
FR1S T % A BRI E

™

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1HZE
2023%6H30AH
LEEE

[tem EH

Total profit FE e

Tax at statutory tax rate (Note 1) BAERERTENRB ()
Effect of different tax rates applicable to the AARRELTFNTER

Company and some subsidiaries (Note 2)
Adjustments to current tax of previous periods
Effect of profits and losses attributable to

associates and joint ventures

Effect of income not subject to tax

Effect of expenses not deductible for tax

Effect of tax incentives on eligible
expenditures

TRABR RN ZE(F2)
HARBREAREROAR
BERBENGZ2LRN

Barngg
BEMRHNBANT E
TABHNERNT E
BT A RN HmES

RheEng g

5,747,309,199.63
1,436,827,299.91

(424,528,357.72)
22,731,885.85

18,731,823.54
(25,783,842.15)
121,132,568.97

(376,854,595.37)

G OF B AR 1 IEH H RE R

HENERTIRM

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
20221 R1BE
202266 H30H
L HAf

3,423,980,063.05
855,995,015.76

(258,865,875.68)
(58,212,048.95)

(10,749,076.35)
(95,259,248.82)

74,628,963.04

(361,227,045.28)

Effect of utilisation of deductible losses and
deductible temporary difference of unrecognised
deferred tax assets from prior years

Effect of unrecognised deductible losses and

MBI EEREDEL
EREENTENEER
AEAEREERNFE

RERMATEIEER

deductible temporary difference

AENEREEENTE

Tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate

BAREERBEAEN
FEHER

(46,817,023.12) (70,954,037.25)
236,460,956.84 389,630,258.01
961,900,716.75 464,986,904.48

Note 1:  The Company is subject to a statutory tax rate of 25%. E

Note 2:  The PRC income tax of the Group is calculated based on the estimated BV

taxable income gained in the PRC and applicable tax rate. Tax arising
from the taxable income in other regions is calculated at applicable
tax rate according to existing laws, interpretations and practices of the

country in which the Group operates.

No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been made as the Group

had no taxable profits arising in Hong Kong for the Period.

CRREPEERER25% °

KEBEEHBIREAMREHIEME E’ME
AHEMB TSR RERBR R R -
#E‘r&i@[ﬂgfﬂiﬁﬁﬁ E’J%RIE@FK
B EERNRITER  BE
"iflﬂ‘s% RRERBERGE -

E%$EE%$%E§%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ

CHRIER BB NS AOEE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

65.

66.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

The basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net profit of the current
period attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Company by

the weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares.

The calculation of basic EPS is detailed as follows:

Item EH

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

TG BRI EIEHE
(74)
65. Bl &

EAXGREHRREBNADRER
B BCRE)E HUF M - BRIAEITESN

Earnings Wz
Net profit of the current period BEBRAR R EBER
attributable to ordinary shareholders A% 28 & & HAE A)E
of the Company

Shares fig 15
Weighted average number RRRBEITHEING B
of the ordinary shares outstanding /) hAE 15 2
of the Company
Basic EPS (RMB/share) EARFR Y (T, 1)

The Group holds no potential shares that are significantly dilutive.

Notes to items in cash flow statement
Other cash received relating to operating activities

ltem B H
Interest income B A
Government grants BT B
Others HAh

Total A

EEBRH I ISHETE

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
20231 RA1HZE
2023%6H30H
1k 53

3,899,023,175.98

8,639,291,296.00

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022%1HA1BZE
2022%6A30H
1F B

2,391,013,134.13

8,724,803,487.67

0.45 0.27
REBEEAHRILEER -
66. AEREREBEIRE
WEEARELESERNI
&

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1B &
2023%F6H30H
1k HA

762,319,913.41
214,742,047.49
423,760,184.42

1,400,822,145.32

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1RE
20226 A30H
1FEA R

612,297,543.82
281,707,268.67
291,268,259.94

1,185,273,072.43
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W5 R B 5 ()
(BRHFIFEAS) - 2BEE [ B ARET)
202341 8 1HE6530H 1 HF
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #t 38 32 B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (#)
66. Notes to items in cash flow statement 66. HEHREXREESE(E)
(Continued)
Other cash paid relating to operating activities

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

S EM R ETES A BHIER

AN
k7

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
20231 H1HZE

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1H&E

2023F6A30H 20229 6A30H
ltem IHEH 1EHA R 1E BRI
After-sales and repair fee =BRERRE 570,827,111.16 600,940,765.20
Freight and packaging BEENARSE 716,119,910.05 849,926,095.17
Marketing and external support fee TISHEE RINB LS 737,504,801.04 627,263,939.50
Travel expenses ERE 327,242,843.89 223,708,394.51
Office expenses FIENE ¢ 217,474,586.06 204,137,146.18
Others EHith 2,822,860,416.47 2,236,966,847.83
Total A& 5,392,029,668.67 4,742,943,188.39

Other cash paid relating to financing activities XTTHMEZEEEEHEHENIR
AN
&

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
20231 H1HZE

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1H=E

2023%6H30H 20226 A30H
[tem IEH 1EHA RS 1 HAfE
Lease liabilities HEEE 653,189,628.74 519,119,306.80
Handling fee for guarantee for EBRERRRHFEE

borrowings and letters of guarantee
Acquisition of a subsidiary under
common control

F—ZHTEETAA

5,369,538.56

16,808,244.15

1,584,461,400.00

Repurchase of shares 5] B A 10 - 500,137,881.94
Others Hi 900,467,920.88 18,300,793.70
Total S5 1,559,027,088.18 2,638,827,626.59
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)
67. Information of cash flow statement

)

Supplement to cash flow statement

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

Item HH
Net profit A
Add: Impairment loss of credit i ERRMEERL
Impairment loss of assets BEFEERL
Increase in special reserve EIE AL N
Depreciation of fixed assets, TEE  KBEHLE
investment properties and WENEEELE
right-of-use assets HiE
Amortisation of intangible assets B E Y
Amortisation of long-term EHG S SR

prepaid expenses
Gain on disposal of fixed assets,

REBTEE - B

(%)

G OF B AR R IH H AR R

67. B REXRHEBEBR

(1)

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1B &
2023%6H30H
- 5

4,785,408,482.88
304,646,325.05
249,812,747.87
11,660,041.78

4,664,768,677.39
1,150,094,184.75

31,704,151.57

ReREaXkmiEEas

1 January 2022 to

30 June 2022

2022FF1R1HE

20226 H30H
1F EAf

2,958,993,158.57

336,256,382.19
304,006,174.56
41,673,772.42

4,382,997,921.29
1,041,623,801.60

48,133,494.58

(22,667,230.91)
5,998,918.09
527,442,000.75

(180,705,749.04)

(507,847,686.03)

33,441,858.66

(199,159,379.56)
352,343,587.03

(682,087,372.41)

(9,576,726,122.95)

intangible assets and BEME A EH
other long-term assets BER U (64,090,657.14)
Loss on retirement of fixed assets TAERERL 774,235.67
Finance expenses B 752 1,330,091,722.10
Investment income R W (191,459,493.08)
Profit on change of fair value AhEEEHIKZE (32,360,522.89)
(Increase)/decrease in deferred BEEFREHEE
tax assets ($2Hn),E (274,621,091.71)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred RIEREHRAR
tax liabilities #hn S Crid) 171,224,576.08
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEHOGEM) R (3,631,660,287.80)
(Increase)/decrease in operating 4R st e G TE B /Y
receivables ($Zhn),E A (13,781,227,626.81)
Increase/(decrease) in operating SELEMEERN
payables =, CRid) 18,167,735,201.80
Net cash flow from operating RESTEREARIRS
activities mE R 12,892,500,667.51 (1

,136,282,471.16)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial Fi ~& f B % #t 38 32 B IH H 5E B
Statements (Continued) (%)
67. Information of cash flow statement 67. REREBRMBEREN(H)
(Continued)
(1) Supplement to cash flow statement (Continued) (1) ReRERFATER(E)
Non-cash payment of material investment and financing TERBEENEARENESR
activities: EE

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to

30 June 2023 30 June 2022

2023F1H18Z& 2022F1A1RZE

20236 H30H 20226 HA30H

Item IHE IHEAE LEEARE

Acquisition of long-term assets from the #4755 « 324t LK US| H
endorsement of bank acceptance bills ~ $R{TEAHEZHZ
received from the sale of goods and HEEERNEE
provision of services 455,918,569.92 540,381,348.85

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to

30 June 2023 30 June 2022
2023F1H1B& 20221 R1R=E
2023%F6H30H 2022F6H30H
Item 1HH - 5 1 HAfA
Net change in cash and cash ReERReSEMELEE
equivalents:
The closing balance of cash and HeRREEEDH
cash equivalents HiRep%E 66,976,922,483.70 61,521,907,395.61
Less: The opening balance of cash BRERESEEDH
and cash equivalents e 62,761,077,773.98 68,626,280,826.76
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReMREEBYE

and cash equivalents #an Gl ) EE 4,215,844,709.72 (7,104,373,431.15)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

67. Information of cash flow statement

(Continued)
(2) Cash and cash equivalents

Iltem

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

* ~é;4ﬁﬁji%$ﬁi%igiﬁ H iR
(%)
67. RERERMBEEAER(F)

30 June 2023
HH 2023%6H30H

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

Cash and cash equivalents
Incl: Cash at bank

Bank deposits on demand

Other cash equivalents
on demand

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of period

Item

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of period
Less: Balance of restricted cash and
cash equivalents

B4 RELEEY eyl ekl e 62,761,077,773.98
E BEFRS 1,896,076.84 4,727,914.64
AR AR
RITTER Sl et | 62,641,043,332.01
AR AR
EmEkEe 110,835,641.48 115,306,527.33
HARRE KRS EEYHE
Syl el e 62,761,077,773.98
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
UERE 20234 6H30H 20225 12A31H
HMREKESHE

76,747,311,019.25 70,841,690,615.34

R AR B R B

BB SHE 9,770,388,535.55 8,080,612,841.36

Closing balance of cash and
cash equivalents at end of period

HRES LR EEMHE

66,976,922,483.70 62,761,077,773.98




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial

Statements (Continued)

68. Assets with restrictions in titles or use rights

ltem
BISgE|

Cash and cash equivalents

E%Ew

Notes receivable

e S
Financings receivable
JEYW TR IR R E
Fixed assets

Bl & E

Accounts receivable
JFE&E i B R
Long-term receivable
= B IR

Assets held for sale

REREEE

Total

A=
(==

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

9,770,388,535.55

6,967,066,764.07

1,431,145,252.45

189,017,710.58

63,589,641.23

8,866,507,721.93

58,290,540.00

27,346,006,165.81
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MEE

Reasons for restrictions

ZRERA

Used in security monies for special
accounts such as letter of guarantee,
bank acceptance bills and letter of credit
and amounts frozen for litigations.
ARIERRE -« RITAKRR - ERIFHEF
MR FRRE S RFAARERIFIE ©
Used in securing issued notes payable.
ARG B EN RIE -
Used in securing issued notes payable.
ARG B EN RIE -
Used in securing bank borrowings and
pledge to guarantee the obligations
under the staff retirement benefit.
ARERBGRITER - 8B TRIKEHN T
BHIRMEER -
Used in securing bank borrowings.
FARBERESRITER °
Used in asset securitisation financing.
AREERBHLRE -
Cash and cash equivalents included in
asset groups held for sale are restricted
due to restrictions on payment transactions
in the country where they are located.
FAEGEEEATHRESNREEEY
B P2 B ¥ S 5 32 S 9 AR RARR T S PR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

69.

Hedges

Cash flow hedging

KION, a subsidiary of the Company, conducted cash flow hedging
on forward currency contracts designated to the exchange rate risk
of forecast sale, forecast purchase and firm commitment. The total
cash flow of the hedged item amounted to RMB3,619,902,897.24
(EUR459,547,663.13), of which the amount due within 1 year was
RMB2,996,026,502.35 (EUR380,346,384.12), and the remaining
portion will become due in 2024. The hedged items would affect
the profit and loss for the period of 2023 to 2024. There was no
material invalid hedge for the current period. During the period
from 1 January to 30 June 2023, the gain on fair value changes
of the hedging instrument included in the other comprehensive
income amounted to RMB54,506,024.94 (EUR6,848,000.00) and
income transferred to profit or loss for the period amounted to
RMB21,928,168.62 (EUR2,755,000.00).

On 15 January 2020, Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) used
the interest rate swap instrument as hedging instrument, and
conducted cash flow hedging on the floating-rate borrowings
amounting to EUR241 million against the cash flow fluctuation
incurred by change in interest rates. The hedged items would affect
the profit and loss for the period of 2023 to 2024. There was no
material invalid hedge for the current period. During the period
from 1 January to 30 June 2023, the loss on fair value changes
of the hedging instrument included in the other comprehensive
income amounted to RMB10,525,975.10 (EUR1,426,385.38). There

was no amount transferred into profit or loss for the period.

B 5 3 M 5 (4)

(B#FIFEHS) - 2 BEBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

T SO B R R IE H s R
(74)

69.

M

ReEmEEH
FAAKIONE HINE & B I F
HTEEAHE - TE AR DA R T R
HEHZEEINERBETER SR
EEH -WHEHEARSR=ELE
E A AR 3,619,902,897.24
7t ( B JT 459,547,663.13 T )
HF1FRIHEHNSEAAR
# 2,996,026,502.35 ;T ( B JT
380,346,384.12 L) © F & B H #5
20244 B8 - W E BB A TE B
IS B2023F E 20245 -
RNEMERERHBEANIESD - 2023
F1A1BE6A308ILHM - ZE
HTAFAEMGERENARE
BEZeH WA ARYS4,506,024.94
7t ( BL 7T 6,848,000.00 7t ) - &
HEBErZBaz0RaeE A A
K ® 21,928,168.62 jt ( B T
2,755,000.007T) °

20201 158 » TRRMLEE S
(BE)VERERARDASHNEL
BMTEEAEHRTIAR  EBEH24
BETHZE)F B REBRF &
PO EMNBESRERDETRSR
EEH WHEHEAEHTFELER
B EARE A2023F £20244F - AHE
EREHEMME S - 2023F1 A1
HZE6HA30H LM ZEHIT A
AEMGZEEREN AR BEZSHE
kB ANRM10,525,975.10 7T (BT
1,426,385.387T) ' EHIMEE AE
RS o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

V. Notes to Key Items of Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)
69. Hedges (Continued)

Fair value hedging

On 31 December 2018, KION, a subsidiary of the Group, signed
interest rate swap contracts to conduct fair value hedging on
the interest rate risk of fixed-rate medium-term notes issued
this period of par value of EUR100,000,000.00. As at 30 June
2023, the aforesaid hedged items of the Group were presented
as bonds payable in the financial statement with a book value of
RMB587,883,727.20 (EUR74,632,000.00). During the period from
1 January to 30 June 2023, the book value of the changes and
adjustments of fair value of hedged items accrued to hedged items
was RMB2,387,413.36 (EUR317,000.00). There was no material

invalid hedge for the current period.

KION, a subsidiary, conducted fair value hedging of the interest
rate risk of lease receivables by entering into an amortising
interest rate swap contract. The interest rate swap contract as a
hedging instrument reflects the notional amount and maturity
of the portfolio of hedged items and will mature in 2029. In
conclusion, the fair value hedging exposes the lease receivable to
a variable interest rate consistent with its relevant currency zone.
Therefore, from an economic point of view, the variable rate is
equivalent to the variable rate for refinancing the portfolio of
hedged items. As at 30 June 2023, the above hedged items of
the Group were presented in the financial statements as long-
term receivables and non-current assets with maturity of less
than one year, with a carrying value of RMB16,115,262,632.70
(EUR2,045,837,000.00), and the cumulative book value of hedged
items adjusted by changes in the fair value of the hedged items was
RMB388,325,275.80 (EUR49,298,000.00). The change in fair value
of the ineffective portion of the hedged item during the period
amounted to RMB6,517,429.00 (EUR865,000.00).

“AREEEH

2018412 A31H8 - AWE%"ET
KIONZET TRIEXEREH - BEH
{THEE A BT 100,000,000.00
7T B [ TE N A Hl 2 4R 60 A 2 &L B
EOTARBEES - K2023F6 A4
308 - ANEE LW ERER
BHREPIRBENES  REE
BB AR¥587,883,727.207t (BT
74,632,000.007T) * 2023F1A1H
Z6HA30R LMW ERERE AAE
BEEHABNAARERBENRE
BEEAARY2,387,413.36 L (BT
317,000.007T) - ANEAM E X E M|
BRGEI

TAAIKIONEBZE D HENEE
%Ai@ $ITH B WK IR B F K Bk
ETAREBEEN EREHIEA
WAMEEBMEHORMTRERIER A
EMNBESEMIHEER - LHR
2029 R H - BEEWE C WARME
BERACHERRFZEHEAEAE
¥l — BRI R #R R o Bt - R
AERE B2 F K EEE
FEHEAEMENAEREMESE - B
20236 A30H - "EE LW E
HIER EMBmEP IR ARBAREK
—FANBNERDEE - F
EEEAEAR16,115,262,632.70
7t ( B JT 2,045,837,000.00 ) © #
EHBEEAABEEDARNR
AR EHEENREEMAER
A R # 388,325,275.80 7t ( Bt T
49,298,000.00 ) o 7N Hi % E Hi 18
BEENERIT PN AR BEEY
B AR 6,517,429.00 7T ( B T
865,000.00) °

//

il
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

VI. Change in Scope of Consolidation
Other than the change in scope of consolidation arising from the

establishment of new subsidiaries during the period, there was no other

S5 i R WA R (A

(BEFIZAS) - 2 EEMBNRET)
202341/ 1HZ6A30H 1 KR

N~ 6 T S )
AHFRTATNEHAHBERE  mE
faGBERERE  HRTFAAMAM

change in the scope of consolidation. The newly-established subsidiaries T
are as follows:
Amount  Net assets & Nt profit
Paid-in capital  Percentage of Voting invested ~ atend of period ~~ of the period
Place of Principle place (nten  shareholding rights (inten (inten fin ten
Name of enterprise Type of enterprise registration ~ of business  Nature of business  thousand RMB) (%) (%) thousand RMB)  thousand RMBJ  thousand RMB)
EET FRifl EXL) REE  HBREEE  AHENE
PEAR PERY i I2MEY ZBRE (ET) (%) RRE%) (B7) (BT) (ET)
Weichai (Shandong) Domestic non-financial ~ Weifang, Weifang, Manufacturing 10,000.00 100.00 100.00 10,000.00 10,006.69 6.69
Powertrain Co,, Ltd. subsidiary Shandong ~ Shandong  EAEX
¢ (IR) Bham BNECRTAE  WRES  UREH
ERAT
Etian Intelligent Agriculture  Domestic non-financial ~ Gaomi, Gaomi, Agricultural services 45134 97.49 97.49 440.00 45136 0.02
Senvices (Gaomi) Co, Ltd. ~ subsidiary Shandong ~ Shandong  EERE
HREIRERH(EE)  AMELATEE  UERT  LERE
ERAT
Weichai Lovol (Weifang) Domestic non-financial ~ Weifang, Weifang, Manufacturing 10,000.00 100.00 100.00 10,000.00 9,969.18 (30.82)
Agricultural Equipment subsidiary Shandong Shandong of machinery
Co, l1d. ENEERTAE  WREE  UWRES BRRE
RREREN)RR

KRERLA




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

VII Interest in Other Entities
1. Interest in subsidiaries
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are

presented as follows:

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

S5 e R WA (A

(B#FIF8H5) - 2BEBARET)
2023F 1 91HZ6H30H 1 EE

+t 7E
1.

At 3 58 v A BE 2
EF AT RS
ARREBFRAANBEROT :

Place of key Place of Nature of Percentage of
[tem operation  registration business shareholding (%) Way of acquisition
g TELEH e EBHE BREAI%) REA
Direct Indirect
ER A
(1) Weichai (Weifang) Material Forming and Shandong Shandong Manufacturing  100.00 - Through establishment or
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. industry investment
HECE) M HRERER VERAA W& W3R g% BBRUIRES A
() Weichai Power (Shanghai) Technology Shanghai Shanghai Manufacturing  100.00 - Through establishment or
Development Co., Ltd. industry investment
BEEN(LE)NRERER AT g g RHER BBRUIRES A
(3)  Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel Engine Jiangsu Jiangsu Manufacturing - 71.06  Through establishment or
Co., ltd. industry investment
BEGNGNEAREREERR & L& HER BBRUIRES A
() Weichai Power (Beijing) International Beijing Beijing Project  100.00 - Through establishment or
Resources Investment Co., Ltd. investment investment
BEY R ERERREERAA R iR EARE BBRUIRES A
(5)  Weichai Power (Luxembourg) Holding S.arl.  Luxembourg Luxembourg Project - 100.00  Through establishment or
investment investment
BRI (ERE)ERERAR ERE ERE EARE BBRUIRES A
(6)  Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Hong Kong Hong Kong Services  100.00 - Through establishment or
Development Co., Ltd. investment
HrEN(BR)ERERER AT A R hB% BBRUIRES A
(7)  Shandong Heavy Industry India India India Manufacturing - 97.68  Through establishment or
Private Limited industry investment
WRBIAEEREEAT 0E 0E HER BBRUIRES A
(8)  Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Energy Technology Shandong Shandong Manufacturing 51.00 9.75  Through establishment or
Company Limited industry investment
BREAREHMBERRA W& W3R HER BBRUIRES A
(9 Weichai (Angiu) Material Forming Co., Ltd. Shandong Shandong Manufacturing - 100.00  Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
B (ZE)MHKEARAR W& W HER FER—EHTEEAH
(10)  Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Shaanxi Manufacturing 51.00 - Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
REELAERRAF i i HER FE-EHITEEAH
(1) Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Shaanxi Manufacturing 3.06 94.00  Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
REERERERAF R i HEX ER—EH T EEAH
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

VIL Interest in Other Entities (Continued)
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1. Interest in subsidiaries (Continued) 1. EFATRHRHER(E)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are ARFEZEFRANBRAT - (&)
presented as follows: (Continued)

Place of key Place of Nature of Percentage of
[tem operation registration business shareholding (%) Way of acquisition
e TELE it E3 3031 BIREA(%) RERR
Direct  Indirect
Ei 3
(12)  Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Shaanxi Manufacturing - 100.00  Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
RESSEEERAA B R REX FR—EHT AN
(13)  Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Shaanxi Manufacturing 51.00 - Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
REZTAEREREEAT RE i REX FR—EHTEEAMH
(14)  Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. Hunan Hunan Manufacturing 86.37 - Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
WAERERELAR il ik RER FR—EHT AN
(15)  Weichai Torch Technology Co., Ltd. Hunan Hunan Manufacturing 70.08 0.04  Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
BRNERBERNBRAR il ik RER FR—EHTEEAMH
(16)  Société International des Moteurs Baudouin France France Manufacturing - 100.00  Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
FERHZYNERER AT Pz iz REX FR—EHTEEAMH
(17) KON Germany Germany Manufacturing - 46.52  Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
KION =8 = REX FR—EHTEEAMH
(18)  Weichai America Corp USA. USA. Manufacturing ~ 100.00 - Through business combination
industry involving entities not under
common control
Weichai America Corp XH XH Hig% ¥R-ERITEEEH
(19)  Shandong Weichai Import and Shandong Shandong  Import and export ~ 100.00 - Through business combination
Export Co., Ltd. involving entities under common
control
WRAEEEOERAR W I idulsl RA-BHTREA0
(20)  Weichai Lovol Intelligent Shandong Shandong Manufacturing 61.10 - Through business combination
Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd. industry involving entities under common
control
BEERBZRENBERAFRAR W R RER R—EHTe%AMH
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) RS i 25 BT 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)

1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE

VIL Interest in Other Entities (Continued) A H Al R A RE 2R (4)

1. Interest in subsidiaries (Continued) 1. EFLRAIRHER(E)
Subsidiaries with material interests of minority shareholders are as FESEEISHEREEINTRAAW
follows: T~

Percentage of Accumulated
shareholding of Attributable to Dividends paid to minority interests
minority shareholders minority interests  minority shareholders  at the end of period
YEIRR BEOH M EER MR RE
Name of subsidiary FREARE BRI RRER T BEF DERFRE
KION KION 53.48% 515,904,684.25 (101,576,759.53)  17,809,768,111.21
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co, Ltd. e 1N 49.00% (55,970,943.28) (588,000.00)  4,735,646,341.57
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. REZTEERER

GG 49.00% 186,887,274.18 - 5,407,705,334.54

Weichai Lovol Intelligent Agricultural BEERBERENE
Technology Co., Ltd. RNBRAA 38.90% 152,478,238.50 - 1,523,127,624.21

Total At 799,299,253.65 (102,164,759.53) 29,476,247 411.53
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHFRIEBES) 2 EEEBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1B
VII. Interest in Other Entities (Continued) + f o A8 P RS ()
1. Interest in subsidiaries (Continued) ETFRAIPHERS(E)
The following table illustrates the key financial information of TRIRT EMFRABEZEMBE
the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any B gz AREBRNZTLEZH
intercompany eliminations: HERIBATHEEE -
30 June 2023
202356A308
Current assets  Non-current assets Total assets ~ Current liabilities  Non-current liabilities Total liabilities
Name of subsidiary FRR4R il -4 FRBEE EEAH it -0 FREAE BER:
KION KION 4248969181380  81,350,196,685.99  123839,888499.79  41,581,666988.40  48,341,713475.08  89,923,380,463.48
Shaani Heavy-duty Motor Co, ltd. ~ FEERAE
BRAH 53261,15,266.80  7,155,143,630.61  60,416,298,897.41  43,942,468,846.79 6,367,976,279.26  50,310,445,126.05
Shaani Fast Gear Co, Lid. REL AR
5 [@éf 2l 15792,752317.33  4307,364,146.02  20,100,116,463.35 811312343453 522,900,831.81 8,636,024,266.34
Weichai Lovol Intellgent Agricultural -~ EX£EREZEE
Technology Co,, Ltd. Mﬁﬂxfﬁﬁﬂ G 11,667543825.04  3997,284539.92  15,664,828,364.96  11,606,194,136.77 550,794,286.59  12,156,988,423.36
Total A5 1232111432297 96,809,989,002.54  220,021,132,22551  10524345340649  55,783,384,872.74  161,026,838,279.23
31 December 2022
20228128318
Currentassets — Non-current assets Total assets Current liabilities  Non-current liabiities Totallibilties
Name of subsiciary FLR4E hEEE FREEE EEajt B FREaRE gfadt
KION KION 3797418316350 7472999077861 112,704,173 942.11  35,591,439,686.40 45,990,011,096.02 81,581,450,782.42
Shaanxi Heawy-duty Motor Co, Ltd. ~ RERS
ERAH 4536227129812 7,692,099,121.76  53,054,370419.88  36,979,725,211.82 5,887,850,355.97 42.867,575,57.79
Shaanii Fast Gear Co, L1d. REE AR
ERERRA 1424785425092 42739643%.20 1852181864712 6,904,268,04898 525,766,383.25 7430,034.432.23
Weichai Lovol Intellgent Agricultural -~ £ EREZES
Technology Co, Ltd BAkHERLA 9,766,673,562.70 369954895540 1346622251810 10,176,583,365.88 404,305,158.13 10,580,888,524.01

Total i 107350,982,275.24 9039560325197 197,746585,527.21  89,652016313.08 5280793299337 142459,949,306.45




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

VIIL Interest in Other Entities (Continued)

1.

Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)
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A F At R P R B 25 (A
1. EFLAPHERS(E)

1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023
20231810 E2023F6A30A 1L

Total
comprehensive Cash flows from
Revenue Net profit/(loss) income/(loss)  operating activities
Name of subsidiary FRRER mEkE/ BEEH
BEHA  EAR/(BB) (BR)AR BeRE
KION KION 42,248,655,240.60 944,917,776.08  2,296,034,145.61  2,889,473,892.40
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co,, Ltd. ~ BEERAEARAT  PEEENARER) (87,795,493.50)  (87,795493.50)  6,382,766,906.86
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. REEZTHERER
EARH 7,346,910,027.85 360,635,356.98 371,472,239.30 155,408,593.92
Weichai Lovol Intelligent Agricultural ~ #EEREEEE
Technology Co., Ltd. HERABRAR 7,651,735,573.92 416,270,220.48 416,270,220.48 836,916,224.94
Total At 80,566,015,994.27 1,634,027,860.04 2,995,981,111.89  10,264,565,618.12
1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022
202251 A185202256 4300 LA
Total
comprehensive Cash flows from
Revenue Net profit/(loss) income/(loss) operating activities
Name of subsidiary FRARE FalaE/ METE
BEPAN  ERE/(BR) (BR)@E Rene
KION KION 39,219,502,209.40 990,337,535.47  3,591,903,804.00 (3,068,395,380.50)
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. ~ REERAEFRRA  15016,237,495.40 (549,103,746.19)  (550,411,486.04) 2,951,844,904.62
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. REZTHEERER
NG 5,110,547,137.81 126,020,903.17 119,411,096.62 84,515,987.80
Weichai Lovol Intelligent Agricultural X EREZE%
Technology Co., Ltd. MERHERAR 8,935,424,207.68 407,005,114.89 407,270,677.73 3,094,126,489.06
Total ik 68,281,711,050.29 974,259,807.34 3,568,174,092.31 3,062,092,000.98
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023
VIL Interest in Other Entities (Continued)
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2. Interest in joint ventures and associates 2. EEEENBEELE S
HY R
Particulars of the principal joint venture and associate of the RARREEZAEREMBEPENS
Company are presented as follows: I
Place of key Place of Nature of Registered  Percentage of Accounting
[tem operation  registration business capital shareholding (%) treatment
HE TERER it EHME AMER FRELAI(%) BitEE
Direct Indirect
B# Cf:3
Joint venture
BRERE
(1) Xi'an FC Shaanxi Shaanxi  Manufacturing RMB - 51.00 Equity method
industry 500,000,000.00
[iEy-25 byt PR BER AR B
500,000,000.00
Associate
BErZE
(1) Shandong Heavy Industry Shandong Shandong Finance RMB 31.25 6.25 Equity method
Group Finance Co., Ltd. company 1,600,000,000.00
WRETRENK W& LE iR NGl AR &%
BRAF 1,600,000,000.00
Key financial information of the principal joint venture: FEGELEMNTENBEER

Xi'an FC is held as to 51% by the Group, and as to 4% and 45%
by Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. (“Fast
Gear Transmission”) and Caterpillar (China) Investment Co., Ltd
(“Caterpillar”), being another two shareholders of Xi‘an FC,
respectively. The board of directors of Xi'an FC comprises seven
directors, three of whom being nominated by the Group, one being
nominated by Fast Gear Transmission and three being nominated
by Caterpillar. According to the articles of association of Xi'an FC,
important board resolutions require unanimous approval, and thus

Xi'an FC is a joint venture of the Group.

AEBBBOLERFS1%KRE - A

el S S ORI TR VA WY i B
BAREEHEBEERETAR (AT
EHETHED D MREES(H
BEEBRAT (A TEBIRERE
1) FIREBID R A4%F45% o
ALERESSHERESHERK B
FP=FZHAEEEF - —BHEETH
BEHEMT FI=—FBHEREEDZ
T BEAZERARERIE &
EEEERZTEESS2BAED
B ARARERBERASESE D
% °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE

VII. Interest in Other Entities (Continued) A TR PR RERR (5)
2. Interest in joint ventures and associates 2. EEELENBELESP
(Continued) REs (1)

Key financial information of the principal joint venture: (Continued) BEERLENEMNTENHEE  (B)

ltem

HH

30 June 2023/

Incurred during

the period from

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023968308,
2023F1H1B %
20236 H30H 1t
HEBERE

Xi'an FC

HZER

Current assets
Incl: Cash and cash equivalents

Non-current assets

mEEE
e BA B EEY
ERBEE

961,112,390.30
75,884,591.93
241,141,326.80

1,202,253,717.10

540,451,067.40
48,815,096.25

Total assets BAEAR
Current liabilities mEaE
Non-current liabilities SEREBE
Total liabilities BES

589,266,163.65

Shareholders’ equity attributable to
the parent

Share of net assets based on percentage
of shareholding

FENG LR RRER

BRI A ENFEENRE

612,987,553.45

312,623,652.26

Adjustments
— Others

HBER
—Hit

(8,697,775.89)

Carrying value of investment in a joint

HeaEbXREREN

303,925,876.37

venture FREEE
Revenue EEIA
Finance expenses Mi%EER
Income tax expenses FrisHi & A
Net profit F A
Other comprehensive income E 4R & Wz
Total comprehensive income bRe e 5

117,536,147.60

(646,837.08)

12,724,567.34
127,365,328.60

127,365,328.60

Dividends received from a joint venture

in the current period

AEWEIRE A EDER

el

31 December 2022/
Incurred during
the period from

1 January 2022 to

30 June 2022
20229128318/
20221 A1 ZE
202296 A30H I
HAfR 5

Xi'an FC

[iikg-&5

804,708,939.57
66,054,234.35
203,681,397.94

1,008,390,337.51

489,845,646.71
33,436,372.77

523,282,019.48

485,108,318.03

247,405,242.20

(8,432,834.14)

238,972,408.06

404,045,804.25
(560,333.53)

81,581,063.68

81,581,063.68
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

VIL Interest in Other Entities (Continued)
2. Interest in joint ventures and associates
(Continued)

Key financial information of principal associates:

The Group holds 37.50% equity interest of Shandong Heavy
Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Heavy Industry
Finance Co."”), which provides the Group with services of deposits,
credit lending, settlement and other financial services. It is a key
associate of the Group and is accounted for using equity method in
the Group's accounts.

S5 i R WA R (A
(B ¥R BT S) -

EREENBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k #fEH

t Tﬁ{&iﬁﬂqﬂﬁl@%ﬁﬁ(%ﬁ)
EEEOXNBELES

R (&)
PENFE

BERE

MBEE

AREBEALVRETEHVKARA
AI([IWWERETMEAA])37.50% K
o WREIHB A ANEBERE

BT ;,\

BEREM SRR -

EAKEEZNBELE  XEHY
‘/< 9P%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ$§ﬁl/ﬁﬁw

30 June 2023/
Incurred during
the period from

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F6A308,
2023F1H1B &
2023F6H30R Lt
HREEE
Shandong Heavy
Industry Finance Co.

IWREIBEA T

31,223,562,562.38
1,394,049,672.02
4,309,281,543.19

35,532,844,105.57

31,999,410,605.39
3,152,655.73

ltem 15H

Current assets MENEE

Incl: Cash and cash equivalents Hep  BEFEEEHEY
Non-current assets FERBEE

Total assets BEA

Current liabilities MEBAE

Non-current liabilities ERBBE

Total liabilities afEAF

32,002,563,261.12

Shareholders’ equity attributable to BERERARNKREER
the parent
Share of net assets based on

percentage of shareholding

BERLOIGENFEENR

3,530,280,844.45

1,323,855,316.67

34,562,368.00

1,358,417,684.67

189,751,490.03
117,788,372.69
117,788,372.69

Adjustments AEEIA

— Others —Hfh

Carrying value of investment H2 PEERREN
in associates FREEE

Revenue EESON

Net profit 5 )

Total comprehensive income o N G

Dividends received from associates REBWEWREEERER
in the current period & A1

31 December 2022/
Incurred during
the period from

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022

20224128318,/

20226 1A18%
20226 A30H 1
M A5
Shandong Heavy
Industry Finance Co.

IWRETHBAA

30,369,998,324.42
13,076,559,071.04
4,122,964,219.38

34,492,962,543.80

31,077,317,416.31
3,152,655.73

31,080,470,072.04

3,412,492,471.76

1,279,684,676.91

35,027,819.29

1,314,712,496.20

223,835,252.43
141,976,490.15
141,976,490.15
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHFRIEES) 2 EEEBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ26H30H 1B
VII. Interest in Other Entities (Continued) + f Hof =S P RS ()
2. Interest in joint ventures and associates EeELENBELED
(Continued) R ()
Summary financial information of non-material joint ventures and TEZHNALEENBECENER
associates: MEEER
30 June 2023/ 31 December 2022/
Incurred during Incurred during
the period from the period from
1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
202356 H30EH Ay by ENI=Ve
2023F1A1RZE 20221 A1 ZE
2023F6H30A Lt 202266 HA308 1t
ltem 1HE HEBERE MR R
Joint ventures B
Total carrying value of investments WEEEBBESS 63,233,050.94 64,829,664.78
The total amount of the following T & 18 35 1% L A
calculation based on the STERAETE

percentage of shareholding
— Net (loss)/profit

—%(EBR), 78

,
(.

— Total comprehensive income e W 4R
Associates oS
Total carrying value of investments KEAREEEAR
The total amount of the following T 5 & T8 1R 5 A%t 171
calculation based on the percentage FEHEETE
of shareholding
— Net loss —FE1E
— Other comprehensive income —HEfbiRe s
— Total comprehensive income — e kELBRE

3,718,

(127,

7

,653,456.02
(119,

596,613.84)
596,613.84)

39,070.50
39,070.50

733,723.67 3,722,039,038.58

445,049.73) (87,072,097.05)
10,458,216.90

791,593.71) (76,613,880.15)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

VIL Interest in Other Entities (Continued)

2.

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)
202341 10265304 15

& At B P R RE A ()

Interest in joint ventures and associates 2. EEELENBELESF
(Continued) MR (E)

Excess loss on joint ventures or associates: EEPEABECETENBES

B

Non-cumulative

Cumulative unrecognised loss

unrecognised loss in Unrecognised as at the end of

the previous period loss for the period the period

R RERH KHRERH B RBERH

Name of joint ventures or associates S & MEHHE XL A RFEX BX BMREX

Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd. RAEBRE TERDERA A 104,429,713.39 4,494,222.6 108,923,936.01

Baoding Shangi Tianma Automobile  RERAXREABER AR
Co., Ltd. 7,750,463.68 - 7,750,463.68

As the Group takes no responsibility for additional losses incurred
by Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd. and Baoding Shangi Tianma
Automobile Co., Ltd. in recognising its share of the net losses
incurred by both companies, the writing-off of carrying values
of long-term equity investments and other long-term interests
constituting effectively net investments in both companies are

limited to zero.

MR AEBE SRR S TERNE
RARMRERARETEGRAA
TEAERERIMERET - R
REDERZELENFHEIER - AR
BERENRAEEANAEMEE £
BREEFRENRMESZRLES
RER -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

VIIL. Transfers of Financial Assets

Transferred financial assets that had been not
derecognised in their entirety

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had long-term receivables amounting
to RMB8,866,507,721.93 (31 December 2022: RMB7,534,696,296.90)

which had been transferred but not derecognised in their entirety.

Transferred financial assets that had been
derecognised in their entirety but continuously
involved

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had outstanding endorsed or discounted
acceptance bills with a carrying amount of RMB6,672,817,697.89 (31
December 2022: RMB2,905,727,836.20). As at 30 June 2023, they were
due in 1 to 12 months. If acceptance banks dishonor the bills, endorsees
shall have the right to turn to the Group for recourse (“Continuing

Involvement”) according to the Law of Negotiable Instruments.

The Group considered substantially all risk and reward of the bills have
been transferred. Therefore, the Group derecognised the bills and the
book values of related accounts payable that have been settled. The
maximum loss and undiscounted cash flow of Continuing Involvement
and repurchase were equal to the book value of the bills. The Group

considers the fair value of Continuing Involvement not significant.

The Group did not recognise any significant profit or loss at the date of
transfer for the period. The Group had no current or accumulated gain or
expense arising from the Continuing Involvement in financial assets which
had been derecognised. The endorsement and discount were incurred

evenly throughout the period.
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FPHS i R Mt 5 (48

(BRERIFERSN - £BEE M BARKET)

2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1R

I\~ b A R
CEBEREEALIBRNS
mEE
M2023F6 A30H - AEBEEZR
ABBERIIERANKBAERKRIAEARE
8,866,507,721.937C(2022412A318 :
AR#7,534,696,296.907T) °

CREBRIBIREEES AW
CEBIRERE

M2023F6A30H  AEEKRIHHEE
ESdMBNALEZRNEREERARE
6,672,817,697.89 T (2022412 A318 :
AER#2,905,727,836.207T) ° R 20234
6308 EEHBEA1Z12A B
(BEFEVEBHET  5&ELBITEBMNK
B HEHBBEABRRAAEEER([EEY
NP

AEERG  AKBELKEB T HETH
BryRE AR - Eit - R IEFERE R A
ZHEBANEAERNERNEREE - &
BEARBBNRRKERMANRRDR
ESREKEERE -AKERL  #EY
ARARBELAIERKX -

FHAREBMPEES ABRONEREL
YAREKR - AEBEERNEES ACTK LT
REMEEZHMBFRAN W DL E
A BEMBBRERNPABGHHAE -
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1 January to 30 June 2023

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BRIEFIFAHS) - 2 BEE 7 B A RET)
2023F 15 1HZE6H30H i #E
IX. Disclosure of Fair Value Ju -~ fM;g; LR §
1. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value 1. ULAREEFENEEMN
a8E
Inputs used in the measurement of fair value
MR EEHEERNGAR
Quoted prices Key observable Key unobservable
in active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BETERE EZUEE BEATEER
Item =L (E-BR) BAEEZER) HAEEZER) aif
. Recurring fair value measurements - RBENDRBERE
() Financial assets at fair value (- W}ﬁfgﬁéﬁﬁﬁ\
through profit or loss f ERINCYE S
%mﬂéé
1. Financial assets held for trading 1. XFUEREE 57,584.10 13,456,717,999.19 3,649,859.20 13,460,425,442.49
(1) Investment in debt instruments (1) EHIE
KA - 176,848,772.10 - 176,848,772.10
(2) Investment in equity instruments () #&IE
RA 57,584.10 - 3,649,859.20 3,707,443.30
(3) Derivative financial assets and (3) 175eR
structured deposits EEEf
ety - 13,279,869,227.09 - 13,279,869,227.09
() Receivable Financing (2) EYERE - 8,212,214,639.91 - 8,212,214,639.91
() Investments in other equity instruments (Z) EERTARE 2,774,806,710.03 - 1,636,159,812.26 4,410,966,522.29
(V) Other non-current financial assets (D) Bt nBeREE - 1,031,489,832.80 - 1,031,489,832.80
Total asset measured at fair value on a RENLRBETEN
recurring basis EELE 2,774,864,294.13 22,700,422,471.90 1,639,809,671.46 27,115,096,437.49
(V) Financial liabilities held for trading (h) RBHERERE
1. Financial liabilites at fair value 1. WAREEHE
through profit or loss BEFHAEH
BEMeRER - 159,447,426.88 - 159,447,426.88
(1) Derivative financial liabilities (1) 17528
B - 159,447,426.88 - 159,447,426.88
(V) Other non-current liabilities (R) EFRgaE - 37,565,889.90 38,495,387.70 76,061,277.60
Total liabilities measured at fair value on a BRI BEHER
recurring basis REEE - 197,013,316.78 38,495,387.70 235,508,704.48




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

IX. Disclosure of Fair Value (Continued)

2.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities not measured at fair value

The management of the Group considers that the carrying values of
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost in
the financial statements approximate the fair values of those assets

and liabilities.

Estimation of fair value

Fair value of financial assets/liabilities

The finance team of the Group is led by the head of finance
department. It is responsible for formulating policies and procedures
applicable to the measurement of the fair value of financial
instruments. The finance team directly reports to the Chief Financial
Officer and the Audit Committee. On each balance sheet date, the
finance team analyzes the change in value of financial instruments
and ascertain the key inputs which apply to the valuation. The
process and result of valuation is subject to approval by the Chief

Financial Officer.

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
the forward exchange contracts, cross currency swap and interest
rate swap instruments, some structured deposits and other debt
instruments of subsidiaries. The Group believes that the fair value
estimated using valuation techniques is reasonable and the most

appropriate value as of the balance sheet date.

The fair values of listed equity instruments are determined according
to quote prices on the market. For listed equity instruments for
which circulation is restricted, fair values are determined based on
quoted prices on the market with necessary adjustments. The fair
values of investments in non-listed equity instruments are estimated
using the valuating model of market comparison or income
approaches, and the assumptions adopted are not supported
by observable market price or interest rate. The Group needs to
estimate unobservable market parameters such as price-to-book
ratio or cash flow. The Group believes that the fair value and its
changes estimated using valuation techniques is reasonable and the

most appropriate value as of the balance sheet date.
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(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

The key unobservable inputs of Level 3 fair value measurement are

summarised as follows:

[tem

Y

Financial assets

tHEE

Other equity investment instruments
EtERTEARE

Shantui Engineering Machinery Co,, Ltd.

WETRBRRDERAA

Xiamen Fengtai Bus and Coach
International Co., Ltd

ERERERHEREARAT

Huarong Xiangjiang Bank

FRIRIRG

Zhejiang EP Equipment Co., Ltd.

Others
Ef

Sub-total
5

Financial liabilities
tHER
Other non-current liabilities
AtFREaR
Put option
Bl

HRB D RHBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Fair value as at
30 June 2023
2023F6A30H
MMEE

1,160,884,868.22

2,583,490.00

38,170,000.00

219,621,425.10

214,900,028.94

1,636,159,812.26

38,495,387.70

IX. Disclosure of Fair Value (Continued)
Unobservable inputs

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

Ju -~ SRR R ()
4. FHEE@WAE

MTREZEBRAAANBEAENEE
TR B R AEBL
Fair value as at Range
31 December 2022 Valuation technique Unobservable inputs (weighted average)
2025128318 #EER
MhEE RERRE MIBRENR (mETHE)
815,509,293.28 Put option method Diviclend yield, expected
Elrdes annualised volatilty
% BRE(RHE
2,693,327.00 Market comparison approach Price-to-sales ratio 0.70
LA kAL
39,990,000.00 Market comparison approach Price-to-hook ratio 1.00
[k v )2
222,464,313.00 Income approach Cash flow
g ReiiE
219,498,986.66
1,300,155,919.94
36,275,712.30 Binomial options pricing model Volatility of equity value

~ N R

REBERSE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (GRS, 2 EEEBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
IX. Disclosure of Fair Value (Continued) Ju-A R EERN PR (5)
5. Reconciliation for fair value measurement 5. AAEEFENAE
Total current profitfoss Acquisition, issuance, sale and settlement
TEHETER R BE B hEREE
Recognised
Recognised through other Foreign
Transfer into Transfer out through profit comprehensive Other transfer exchange
31 December 2022 Level 3 of Level 3 orloss income Acquisition [ssuance Sale Settlement in out) gainfloss 30 June 2023
W% ARf it WBE
ftem 2R 128318 BAEZENX BIEZER itARE Gaks BE B/ i &8 #A(L) 353 64308
Investment in equity instruments BRIARE 1,300,155,919.94 - - - 336,003,893 - 1,636,159,812.26
Other non-current financial liablities £t 36,275,712.30 - - 2,219,675.40 - 38495387.70
6. The level change in the fair value 6. ARAEBEEXXER
From 1 January to 30 June 2023, there were neither transfers 2023F1A1HZEZ6A830H IHERT -
between Level 1 and Level 2 for the measurement of fair value of AEETESBEENSREBELR
financial assets and liabilities, nor transfer into or out of Level 3 BEFEEE BIANE_BRZMH
(1 January to 30 June 2022: nil). MER . rEEARENE ZELN

B3R (20221 1B E6 A308 ILH
) o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and

The related parties defined in these financial statements included the
related parties under Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises and

related parties under the information disclosure requirements of China

S5 i R WA R (A

(BFHFES) » 2B BARET)

2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

Transactions + ~BH I 7 BAR R H AL 5
R BREFREOEE O LS
HEBIh AR - baEhEER

EEEEZEE(

FEE)FRIESZ

Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC"”) and Shenzhen Stock SFEEERERERAENBEH S -
Exchange.
1. Parent 1. &2 F
Proportion of Proportion of
ownership voting
interest in power in
Company Place of registration Nature of business Registered capital the Company the Company
HALT HARRE
! itfh EBHE &R KR RAEL
(%) (%)
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Weifang City, External investment financial quarantee investment RMB1,200,000,000.00 16.30 16.30
HEEREEERAT Shandong Province advisory planning and organisation/coordination A& 1,200,000,000007C
WERE 5T and management of production operating
activities of corporates under the Group
YRERERERRESNERL/
A REEMROF LERERD
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. is the ultimate controller RAFMEKERAGALRELS

of the Company.

2. Subsidiaries

Details of subsidiaries are set out in Note VII.1.

3. Associates and joint ventures

Details of associates and joint ventures are set

BAERRAF -

2. FRH

FRBERFRMEL 1.

3. BMELENSELRE

out in Note VII.2. HECEMELLEFRMEL

20



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions

(Continued)

4.

Particulars of other related parties which 4,
entered into material transactions with the

Group

Name of related party

H BB s 58

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

S5 e R WA (A

(B#FIF8H5) - 2BEBARET)
2023F 1 91HZ6H30H 1 EE

+ B 5 B AR e H A2 B (A
BEAEERLEEARZN
H A BB 5 150

Relationship with us

Hitb B 5 A B E

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.
HRERBRMNARA A

Weichai Electric Equipment Co., Ltd
RBERRAA]

Weichai (Yangzhou) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
HBRBN)HFEEBRAF

Weichai New Energy Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd.
MR R A EAR AR

Lovol Construction Machinery Group Co., Ltd.
BAETISEBRAF

Yangzhou Yaxing Coach Co., Ltd.
BMNEETERN AR AR

Ferretti S.P.A.

ERF RN AR F

Sinotruk

BREHE

Sinotruk (Ji'nan) Aftersales and Intelligence Services Co., Ltd.
BROBE)EDSEERBERAF
Sinotruk Ji'nan Truck Co., Ltd.
MEETEEERRERNBRAF
Sinotruk Ji'nan Commercial Truck Co., Ltd.
MEETEEAEEAERSRAAF
Sinotruk Chengdu Wangpai Commercial Vehicles Co., Ltd.
MEETEERBEEEREFGRAF
Sinotruk Jining Commercial Truck Co., Ltd.
MEETEEAEEAERRARF
Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.

W HE TAZ AR (D B IR 2 7

Sinotruk Fujian Haixi Vehicles Co., Ltd.
FREEREERREERAEGRAA
Zhongtong Bus Holding Co., Ltd.
RiEEHERGOER QA

Sinotruk Hangzhou Engines Co., Ltd.
REEREEMMNBESHRER A

HSRTE

Common control by parent
A= & 7~ & 2
Common control by parent
A= & 7~ & 2
Common control by parent
A% AT
Common control by parent
A= & 2~ & 2
Common control by parent
A= & 2~ a2
Common control by parent
AT
Common control by parent
A &= & 2~ a2

Same ultimate controller
il 482 /NC]

Same ultimate controller

A — AR YERR A 7

Same ultimate controller
il 282 /NC]

Same ultimate controller

A — R R A

Same ultimate controller

A — B R A

Same ultimate controller

A — R AR A

Same ultimate controller

A — X ARYERR A 7

Same ultimate controller
Al — S A& 2R A

Same ultimate controller
[Fl — R AR R 7]

Same ultimate controller

Al — S ARAE A A

253
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)
202341 10265304 15

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions  ~Bi Wi 77 B 18 R A2 5 (4])

(Continued)

4. Particulars of other related parties which 4, REAEBEBEBEARIH
entered into material transactions with the

Group (Continued)

Name of related party

HBm s 548

HibBAME S B ()

Relationship with us

Hitb B 5 AR E R

Shanzhong Jianji (Jining) Co., Ltd.
B OEE)BR AR
Sinotruk International Co., Ltd.
FREEREEBRBRARADA

Linyi Shan Zhong Excavator Co., Ltd.
BTl EZREEAR AR

Sinotruk Ji'nan Power Co., Ltd.

TEEAKREERBNERAA

Same ultimate controller
A — S AAERR A A
Same ultimate controller
A — S AAERR A A
Same ultimate controller
A — S AAERR A A
Same ultimate controller

[fl — R AR R A

Same ultimate controller
B — AR A F

Same ultimate controller

CNHTC Qingdao Heavy Industry Co., Ltd.
FREEREESEETIERAA

CNHTC Ji'nan Specialty Vehicles Co., Ltd.
RREEREEERSFEEERAA A — R A AEAR A F)

Shandong Shantui Construction Machinery Import and Same ultimate controller

Export Co., Ltd.
W BR L HE TRZ Mkt tH D B PR A A

Sinotruk Ji'nan Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.

HEETEEAEEREERAF
Shandong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd.
LWERMEHERR AR

Qinchuan Machine Tool & Tool (Group) Corp.

=R TASKER DK A A
Beiqi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.
EAERAEROERAR

Al — S AR A A

Same ultimate controller

Al — S AR IERR A A

Same ultimate controller

Al — S AR IERR A A

Same key management personnel
F—BAREEAE

Same key management personnel

F—RREEAR

Suzhou Foresight Energy Technology Co., Ltd. Associate

M IR BRI RN AR A A BrE

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. Minority shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
PREET R AEEHEEFREMT LA FRAZDHBKRR

Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. Minority shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
PREAE S E RN B R AR FRAAZDHKRE

Tianjin Wangsheng Investment Co., Ltd. Minority shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
REMHRIREFR DA FRARZDHKRR



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

S5 e R WA (A

(B#FIF8H5) - 2BEBARET)
2023F 1 91HZ6H30H 1 EE

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions 1 ~BH 5 77 BAR& M3 5 (4)

(Continued)
4. Particulars of other related parties which 4, RAXAEEREEARISH
entered into material transactions with the Hbpag mE R (&)

Group (Continued)

Name of related party

HiBRBE £

Relationship with us

HA B 5 EASXER

Shaanxi Wanfang Tianyun Vehicle Equipment Co. Ltd.
REABHREREEREFR AT

Shaanxi Wanfang Vehicle Parts and Components Co. Ltd.
PRESH AEZHHERA A

Shaanxi Automotive Group Commercial Vehicles Co., Ltd.
POAKERAEGRA A

Xi'an Oude Rubber and Plastic Technology Co., Ltd.
ARRERERMER AR

Xi'an Deshi Vehicle Components Co., Ltd.
ARELAEZHMHAREELA

Shaanxi Tongli Special Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd.
PREENIERAEEREEARA

Shaanxi Huazhen Vehicle Component Parts Co., Ltd.
PREEZRAEZHHERA A

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
PREEAERAEGRAR

Shaanxi Lantong Transmission Axle Co., Ltd.
PREGEREBEE R A A

Shaanxi Yuanxing Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.
PREERITHIEREEGRA A

Shaanxi Fangyuan Automobile Standard Components Co. Ltd.

pREE TS B AEFEN AR A A

Shaanxi Deyin Leasing Co. Ltd.

ERMEHERR AR

Shaanxi Huazhen Industry and Trading Services Co., Ltd.
PRAEZETERBERA A

Shaanxi Automobile Industry Co., Ltd.
PREAEEEGRA R

Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive Transportation Co., Ltd.
PRI TE IR A R A A

Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERR 2 BHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERR 2 BEHA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERR 2 BAHA LT
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERR 2 BARA L
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)

FRAEEMRZEHBAL

255
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions

(Continued)

4.

Particulars of other related parties which 4,
entered into material transactions with the

Group (Continued)

Name of related party

H g s 548

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)
202341 10265304 15

+ B B 5 B AR B A2 B (A1)

BAEEBLEEARIH
HibBAME S B ()

Relationship with us

Hitb B 5 AR B E

Shaanxi Zhongfu Wulian Technology Service Co., Ltd.
PrEg s E mE R RS AR A R

Xi'an Zhide Automotive Electronic Control System Co., Ltd.

AZERABREFEFEZRBERAA

Shaanxi Tianxingjian Vehicle Networking Information
Technology Co., Ltd.

PREERITIREE B E ERIMER AR

Shaanxi Huazhen Automobile Filtration System Co., Ltd.

PREEZRAERERAERAR

Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd.

HERTERRERB N AR QA

Ballard Power Systems Inc.

BRESHHESER QT

Shaanxi Automobile Wuhai Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.

PSS ERTERRAA

Xi'an Cummins Engine Co., Ltd.

ARFEANESDHEERA A

Xi'an FC Intelligence Transmission Co., Ltd.

ARERERESHERAA

Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd.

PREGEREF R A EE AR AR A Al

CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.

PEPRAER(AR)EREGRAA

Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAEERR 2B AL
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAAEERR 2B AL
Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)

FRARAEEMR ZE@BAL

Related party of substantial shareholders of subsidiary(ies)
FRAABERE 2 BHA L
Associate of parent
NRIZHEEZE

Associate of subsidiary(ies)
FRAEIZH SR

Associate of subsidiary(ies)
FRAEIZE SR

Associate of subsidiary(ies)
FRAEIZH SR
Associate of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAEIZH SR
Associate of subsidiary(ies)
FTRAEIZH SR

Associate of subsidiary(ies)
FRAEIZE SR
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(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions | -
(Continued)

5. Major transactions between the Group and its
related parties

(1)

Transaction of goods and services with related

parties

Purchase of goods from related parties

i W ' Bl A S L 22 oy ()

5. AEEHEBABLINEIER
5
(1) BEEITARNSEHERS

E BB B B dn

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
POPEESDENEESS 202261 A1HE
202346 H30H 202296 H30H

Company AR] 1 HA RS LEHAFE
(Restated)
(B&Eul)
Weichai Power Westport New Energy i Se P8 #7688 8) h
Engine Co., Ltd. BRAF 1,759,639,303.97 426,863,194.55
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive PREEE T REEHER
Transmission Co., Ltd. BREEAA CREpP R 1,075,211,894.39

Shaanxi Automotive Group Commercial
Vehicles Co., Ltd.

Shaanxi Wanfang Vehicle Parts and
Components Co. Ltd.

Xi'an Cummins Engine Co., Ltd.

Xi'an FC Intelligence Transmission
Co., Ltd.

Shaanxi Wanfang Tianyun Vehicle
Equipment Co. Ltd.

Xi'an Deshi Vehicle Components
Co., Ltd.

Shaanxi Huazhen Vehicle Component
Parts Co., Ltd.

Lovol Construction Machinery Group
Co., Ltd.

BRAEERmAEARRQA

REE T NETEM
BRRQA

PR ESEARAQA

AZEREREHER QR

REGE T REREE =
BRAF

AR EATETEMF
BREFERA
REEFTET M
BRAF
BEABETISEEBERAQA

677,329,206.64 223,909,171.41

427,955,696.48 324,681,861.46
387,116,636.37 452,398,922.19

326,252,478.98 289,742,861.74

325,763,012.23 360,858,790.11

286,519,329.17 155,264,796.56

243,941,178.52 132,714,935.66

225,940,421.54 1,777,423.89



258 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. 43 HIRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions + -
(Continued)
5. Major transactions between the Group and its
related parties (Continued)
(1) Transaction of goods and services with related
parties (Continued)
Purchase of goods from related parties (Continued)

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

o B i el AR M ML A2 5 ()

5. ARBHEABMINERR
5 (%)
() BMBEIBRNEBRS
(&)
BB R ER D (A)

Company NG
Weichai Electric Equipment Co., Ltd. HMEENEBHERAT
Weichai Group Holdings Limited TR EBBR AR
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. #2¢E # A& 15 AR A 7)
Shaanxi Tongli Special Purpose Vehicle — PRiEi@ B A /AE
Co., Ltd. BREERR
CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles RERAER(ALR)
Co., Ltd. EREARAR

Xi‘an Oude Rubber and Plastic
Technology Co., Ltd.
Others

BAREEGRERMAR DA

Total

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1A1B &
20236 H30H
- HA

214,327,785.35
214,076,177.16
186,578,507.15

184,479,467.64

129,849,342.15

124,705,531.60
1,461,900,248.49

8,175,633,781.30

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1RE
202296 H30H
1EHAfA

(Restated)
(B&Ei)

129,415,264.86

132,184,518.55

201,851,133.63

150,226,330.77

117,206,585.48

164,971,116.82
874,210,836.88

5,213,489,638.95




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions

(Continued)

5. Major transactions between the Group and its

related parties (Continued)

(1) Transaction of goods and services with related

parties (Continued)
Sales of goods to related parties
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

+ B Bk 5 B AR e AR 5 ()
5. AKEEERBELINEER

& (8&)

() BBITERMNSEHERXS
(58)
IR 77 34 B

1 January 2023 to

1 January 2022 to

Company

P>
al

Sinotruk Ji'nan Commercial Truck
Co., Ltd.

Sinotruk Jining Commercial Truck
Co., Ltd.

Sinotruk Ji'nan Truck Co., Ltd.

Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.

Sinotruk (Ji'nan) Aftersales and
Intelligence Services Co., Ltd.

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
Transmission Co., Ltd.

Weichai Electric Equipment Co., Ltd.

Lovol Construction Machinery Group
Co., Ltd.

Shantui Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd.

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.

Shaanxi Wanfang Tianyun Vehicle
Equipment Co. Ltd.

Sinotruk Chengdu Wangpai

Commercial Vehicles Co., Ltd.

TEEAREEEBAE
BRAE
TEEAKEEERAE
BRAE
TEEREEER RERND
BRRE

R AEREROD AR AR
5R0ER) B THEBRE
BRAR
REDEL R TEEBHEE
BEREERA
HEEBENRBER QA
EAETREERAA

W TREMBR D BRAF
HSERB N ER QA
PRPGE T KB TEER
BRRE

TR EIEEKREERE
BREARAT

30 June 2023
2023F1H1B &
202346 H30H

1k HA

1,864,592,639.66

1,695,019,267.61

1,213,479,396.20
1,004,776,094.18

957,965,308.81

477,728,922.06
313,019,567.44

272,602,138.12
268,369,216.24

210,243,463.29

203,927,945.96

169,650,319.12

30 June 2022
20221 A1 &
202296 H30H
1F EAfH

(Restated)
(B&Ei)

402,390,046.69

189,683,587.99

429,159,937.91
87,848,584.04

831,175,114.84

327,560,447.68
291,325,613.43

215,805,601.58

82,430,839.45

119,287,101.62

79,243,094.45

280,464,460.16
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions + -
(Continued)
Major transactions between the Group and its

5.

(1

related parties (Continued)

parties (Continued)

Transaction of goods and services with related

Sales of goods to related parties (Continued)

o B i el AR M ML A2 5 ()

5. AREEEBINERR
5 (%)
() BBIERNSBERS
(&)
IR T 4 ()

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
20231818 ZE 2022F1R1B=E
20236 H30H 2022%6H30H

Company NS IHHAR LEEAE
(Restated)
(B&Eih)
Weichai Power Westport New Energy ¥4 Pa B #T 6L R E) 1
Engine Co., Ltd. BRAA 168,572,371.43 94,920,294.29
Weichai New Energy Commercial LR A B AR AR
Vehicle Co. Ltd. 148,814,860.85 292,649,475.90
Zhongtong Bus Holding Co., Ltd. FREERNDABERAF 143,144,041.22 57,838,630.35
Shaanxi Huazhen Vehicle Component PRPOEZ /R BT 2
Parts Co., Ltd. BHRAF 126,300,066.41 24,475,760.16
Weichai (Yangzhou) Special Vehicles (BN EEEAR QA
Co., Ltd. 122,593,117.46 145,982,324.22
Sinotruk Fujian Haixi Vehicles Co., Ltd.  F B & 5&E @250 55
BRAF] 119,638,890.87 74,886,150.83
Others EHAity 1,974,250,375.74 1,766,329,075.48
Total & ARG 5,793,456,141.07




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X.

Related Party Relationships and Transactions

(Continued)
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

5. Major transactions between the Group and its

related parties (Continued)

(1) Transaction of goods and services with related

parties (Continued)

Receiving services from related parties

+ B Bk 5 B AR e AR 5 ()

5. AKEEERBELINEER

5 (&)
(1) BBIBEmNEBERS
(%)

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1HZE
202346 H30H
IEHAME

Company NG|
Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive BR7G B E S E YR
Transportation Co., Ltd. ERAQF

Weichai Heavy-duty

Machinery Co., Ltd.
Weichai Group Holdings Limited
Others

HESRERB D BRAR

MR EREBRBR AR
Hith

147,280,992.26

10,713,640.74
5,666,498.62
127,219,037.73

Total

at

290,880,169.35

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
20221 A1 &
202296 H30H
1F EAfH

(Restated)
(B=Eq)

97,181,960.27

26,658,871.23
4,529,621.41
136,136,085.21

264,506,538.12




262 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. 4¢3 HIRHER A A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHFIF8ES) - £BERE N BARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions  ~Bi 5 5 B8 L HAZ 5 (4)
(Continued)
5. Major transactions between the Group and its 5. AEEHEBABINEIER
related parties (Continued) 2 (&)
(1) Transaction of goods and services with related (1) BETERMEBRS
parties (Continued) (&)
Rendering services to related parties 7] B It 77 PR 1 45 7

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
2023F1A18B & 2022F1R1RE
20236 6H30H 20226 H30H

Item 1HE IFHARE 1 EARE
(Restated)
(B&Eiq)
Others Hih 52,785,623.68 54,766,702.67
The prices for the Group’s sale of goods and rendering AEERBEBFHEEND - 18
services to related parties as well as purchase of goods and MK REERREXSH
receiving services from related parties were determined with HERLEMISERRE o

reference to market rates.
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(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

+ B Bk 5 B AR e AR 5 ()

(Continued)
5. Major transactions between the Group and its 5. AEEHEBABINEIER
related parties (Continued) 2 (1&)

(2) Leasing with related parties

(2) BBt HHE

Lease revenue/

expenses for

the period from
1 January 2023 to

[tem Type of leased assets 30 June 2023

2023F1B1B &

20236 H30H

ILHBEE

1EH HEBERR WA X
As lessor Buildings, equipment & land

EREEA FEEREB L 8,794,482.82
As lessee Buildings, equipment & land

EREMA It ] 4,742,643.84

The prices for the Group’s leasing with related parties were

determined with reference to market rates.

Lease revenue/
expenses for

the period from

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1HE
202296 HA30H
IFAAAEE
WA H
(Restated)
(B&E)

8,493,447.06

10,010,963.64

AEEERER O HEXBER
ZEMBERRE °

(3) Transfer of assets with related parties (3) B LT EEEZE

Iltem

HHE

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
20231 H1HZE
20236 H30H
Lk 5 B

Particulars of transaction

Transfer of assets
EEEE
Transfer of assets

BEEE

Purchase of fixed assets

BERTEE 234,676.21
Sale of fixed assets
L& B EEE 225.67

The price for the Group’s purchase and sale of fixed assets

from and to related parties were determined with reference

to market rates.

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1R1H&E
20226 A30H
1FERfE

(Restated)
(B&Ei)

35,270,266.15

1,275,228.72

AR R BREE T BREE A EH &
EEEBMBEMSERARE
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HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)
5. Major transactions between the Group and its
related parties (Continued)

(4)
(@

(®)

Other related party transactions

On 5 June 2023, the Company entered into a share
transfer agreement with CNHTC and Shengrui
Transmission, pursuant to which the Company would
sell 38% interest in Shengrui Transmission to CNHTC at
the consideration of RMB760,091,400. The transaction

was completed after the reporting period.

Related party transaction with Shandong Heavy
Industry Finance Co.

On 30 March 2022, the Group entered into the
Financial Services Agreement with Shandong Heavy
Industry Finance Co. Pursuant to the agreement,
Shandong Heavy Industry Finance Co. provided deposit,
credit, accounting and clearing services as well as other
financial services to the Company and its controlling
subsidiaries. The interest rates for credit relating to
financial services as well as fee rates are determined
according to the Financial Services Agreement and
based upon the relevant requirements of the People’s
Bank of China’s under which the lending rate shall not
exceed the minimum level permitted under the interest
rates and fee rates for money lending of similar types
and categories available to the Group from other major

commercial banks in the PRC.

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)
202341 10265304 15

+ B B 5 B AR B A2 B (A1)

5. REHEHE

2 (18)
(4)
(a)

(b)

BTN EER

H@EB T 25

RARAR2023F6 A5H
HEAEERBREDE
FIREEERREE O
(E¥N/NCIES S NP it
38% IR EEESL E A
B EBERERAARK
76,009. 148 7L - ZEZE
EREAETTRAE] o

B FE T E]AY
BT R 5
AEERIIRETHBER
AP 20223 A30H %
K emRB R - B
i WRETLHHAF
BARNE RIERFRRR
HER-EE - FERHE
thEmMREE - FEEH
RIS EEFI =B XIBIE
(& m AR T 15 5 i 2 B
ARBRITEBEFRF X8
BRENER E SRR
SEAEEMAPERAEE
EFRITES N RARE
REEFEREE TN
BIEKFHEE ©



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)
5. Major transactions between the Group and its
related parties (Continued)
(4) Other related party transactions (Continued)

(b)

Related party transaction with Shandong Heavy
Industry Finance Co. (Continued)

Shandong Heavy Industry Finance Co. provides
distributors of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company, with credit line to apply for
establishing bank acceptance bills for the purchase of
products from Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. In
2023, the credit line amounted to RMB500,000,000.00
(2022: RMB1,000,000,000.00). Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Co., Ltd. assumes security obligation in favour
of the distributors for the difference between amount
of notes and guarantee money. As at 30 June 2023,
open position of outstanding acceptance bill was nil (31
December 2022: Nil). For details, see Note XII.2.
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S5 e R WA (A

(B#FIF8H5) - 2BEBARET)
2023F 1 91HZ6H30H 1 EE

T+ ~BRE TS B AR S AL 5 (4])
5. AEEEEHSNEIEX

7 (&)
(4)
(b)

H BT X5 (&)

1)) RE T B Al Ay
B33 5 (&)
IWREIHBARALRRA
Rz FRARABAER AR
BEERABIMLHEEIR
HIZEEE - BEMALR
TERRIEZANEERA
FRAREERATER -
2023F M REHERA
K ® 500,000,000.00
7L (2022F « AR
1,000,000,000.007T ) °
PRAERAEBRAT R
KHPRERRSBAER
B2z EEENRTRE
EF - #®2023F6 730
B - AR ER & E
Zi A (2022412 A 31
H:&) BBEBKER
BRERMWFE+F=Z 2
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HRB D RHBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)
5. Major transactions between the Group and its
related parties (Continued)
(4)  Other related party transactions (Continued)

(b)

Related party transaction with Shandong
Heavy Industry Finance Co. (Continued)
Amounts of transactions with Shandong Heavy Industry

Finance Co. are as follows:

S5 ik 2 B RE (A1)
(BFHFES) » 2B BARET)
2023414 1HE6H308 1+ HIE

+ B Bk s B AR S AR 5 ()

5. ARBHEABMINERR
5 (%)
(4) HAdEB TR 5 (&)

(b) EFRETRHER AL
BT R 5 ()
ALRERURETHBR
AEENSHEX BN
T

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
202351 A1HZ  EPIrrE PNk
202346 H30H 202296 H30H

ltem 1HE - HA 1EEAfE
(Restated)
(B&Eit)
Bank deposit placed FERITIER sl BT eyl 43,813,796,772.86
Interest income received W2 89 F) B A 80,560,756.01 192,625,330.96
Interest expenses paid SAHF B E 3,191,361.88 6,068,100.01

Repayment of short-term borrowings {8 i 52 Bi & 73X

27,500,000.00 215,000,000.00

Acquisition of long-term borrowings  EU{5 & ERfE &% - 90,000,000.00
Repayment of long-term borrowings 8% K EAfE X 5,000,000.00 40,000,000.00
Establishment of bank acceptance bills B B $8 17 /& 4 [E = 1,068,224,433.96 1,462,403,403.54
Balances of accounts with Shandong Heavy Industry AEBRIREIHMBER
Finance Co. are as follows: AR S IR RERFE AN T

30 June 2023 31 December 2022

[tem BH 2023%6H30H 2022912 A31H
(Restated)
(B&Eit)
Cash and cash equivalents THEBIHNEEES
placed with related parties PIWALHPAWAERTIN 23,558,435,638.00
Interest receivable R U F B 100,884,850.89 7,597,644.33
Balance of short-term borrowings R fE R TR 80,000,000.00 107,500,000.00
Non-current liabilities due within —FERNRNBHEOIERD
one year aE 10,000,000.00 -
Balance of long-term borrowings REAE R EE 70,000,000.00 85,000,000.00
Balance of bank acceptance FAEMBITAKES

bills established AEE

1,068,224,433.96 1,286,555,773.74
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions  ~Bi % 5 B8 X HAZ 5 (5)
(Continued)

6. Amounts due from/to related parties 6. B AT EWENRIEERE
30 June 2023 31 December 2022 (restated)
2023%F6A30H 2022F12A31B (B &)
Gross carrying Provision for Gross carrying Provision for
[tem amount credit losses amount credit losses

AR R R 2R FREXER Rm EREXER

Accounts receivable
e R X
Sinotruk (Ji'nan) Aftersales and Intelligence
Services Co., Ltd.

BR(ER)ETEEERBERLA 550,541,553.02 10,965,560.38 5,325,584.22 69,762.86
Weichai Electric Equipment Co., Ltd.
HEBNREERDA 398,453,023.05 (TR 271,959,699.20 1,487,804.82
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
REAEEERNERAD A 268,720,531.17  131,438,112.00 85,176,232.65 -
Sinotruk Ji'nan Commercial Truck Co., Ltd.
FREEREEEEEBEER AT 218,195,529.39 behPRElV R 217,136,889.26 1,130,003.09
Weichai New Energy Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd.
Yt R R E AR A A 145,289,808.78 SRS 244,363,709.60 1,567,737.27
Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.
I TR MR D R AR 133,046,122.72 2,670,479.98 12,337,475.10 246,749.50
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.
Y BRI AERA R 88,661,473.03 542,369.45 78,387,572.53 566,549.79
Sinotruk Ji'nan Truck Co., Ltd.
FEEAREEERERHERAF 72,356,881.07 GEACRE  127,592,767.89 1,852,900.47
Weichai (Yangzhou) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
HE(BMN)FBREERAA 70,833,426.23 1,446,856.37 60,788,842.09 1,277,865.52
Shaanxi Automotive Group Commercial Vehicles

Co., Ltd.
RAEEBAEFRRA 59,313,632.09 908,711.75 19,620,781.95 417,515.50
Sinotruk Ji'nan Power Co., Ltd.
FEESEEERYNERAA 49,912,484.95 879,116.56 14,764,624.86 214,042.25
CNHTC Ji'nan Specialty Vehicles Co., Ltd.
FEEASEERSREERAA 47,361,374.38 906,540.24 12,420,336.98 383,373.98
Lovol Construction Machinery Group Co., Ltd.
EREISEARAR 29,369,905.76 1,332,661.61 29,703,808.87 1,372,741.97
Shaanxi Zhongfu Wulian Technology Service

Co., Ltd.
BREH E Y E R B REER A A 28,020,000.00 - _
Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd.
BNGERBROHBRAA 24,710,279.62 1,429,203.66 12,198,759.59 638,230.91

Zhongtong Bus Holding Co., Ltd.
FREERMHERAR 23,867,539.56 331,844.32 37,318,007.55 1,517,418.40




268 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. 4B HIRHERA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions

(Continued)

6. Amounts due from/to related parties

(Continued)

[tem
1EH

Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine
Co., Ltd.

HREBNERSNERAAF

Sinotruk Jining Commercial Truck Co., Ltd.

HEEEEEERAEERAA

Xi'an FC Intelligence Transmission Co., Ltd.

ALEFEREDERAA

Sinotruk Fujian Haixi Vehicles Co., Ltd.

RREAEERREREAEERAA

Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.

AR ABRHBRAF

Shandong Shantui Construction Machinery Import
and Export Co., Ltd.

WERILE TR RE L O BR LA

Shaanxi Huazhen Vehicle Component Parts
Co., Ltd.

RAEZEHRTETHHEARAA

Others

Hity

Total

At

S5 i R WA R (A
(BHFIZHI)  2BELBARKET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k #fEH

+ B Bk s B AR S AR 5 ()

6.

30 June 2023

2023%¥6H30H
Gross carrying
amount

R R 2R

22,029,074.82

15,729,824.13

14,705,083.59

14,093,143.36

13,568,123.78

12,947,300.00

11,665,663.60

71,696,635.92

2,385,088,414.02

Provision for
credit losses

ERRKLH

344,927.08

29,865.86

134,478.66

74,151.72

80,882.72

388,419.00

4,666.95

19,588,946.44

176,591,249.11

B8 B¢ 75 BB WL FE {9 SR TH 6R BE
(%)

31 December 2022 (restated)
2022612831 (B &)

Gross carrying

Provision for

amount credit losses
REHBE ERBLERE
9,987,112.87 92,526.67
97,020,904.65 2,087,624.12
16,677,103.45 366,853.81
19,725,578.89 616,430.18
40,973,927.07 940,678.68
7,492,800.00 224,784.00
13,265,165.63 4,666.95

521,784,322.77

19,975,035.69

1,956,022,007.67

37,051,296.43




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions

(Continued)

6.

Amounts due from/to related parties

(Continued)

[tem
1BH

Other receivables

H At YR
Xi'an Cummins Engine Co., Ltd.
BLEAREHRERAF
Shaanxi Automotive Group Commercial Vehicles

Co., Ltd.

RAEEBRERRRA
Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd.
LEREHEERAR
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
PR TEEERGARAR
Others
Hfty

Total

At

Interim Report 2023 AR HAZRE

S5 e R WA (A
(BHFIZHI)  £BEELBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k

+ B Bk 5 B AR e AR 5 ()

6.

30 June 2023
2023F6A30H

Gross carrying

amount

AR IE BR 2R

68,867,976.87

22,668,413.54

21,849,890.52

17,121,366.28

13,167,866.22

143,675,513.43

Provision for
credit losses

FREXER

13,803,798.10

13,803,798.10

A Bt 75 BB WL FE {9 SR TH BR BE
(%)

31 December 2022
2022%12R318

Gross carrying

Provision for

amount credit losses
REHRE ERBLERE
331,489.31 -
514,938.60 -
310,656.00 -

17,509,442.68

114,123,078.83

13,837,539.59

132,789,605.42

13,837,539.59

269
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)
6. Amounts due from/to related parties
(Continued)

[tem
HH

Prepayments
SEENET S|
Shaanxi Huazhen Industry and Trading Services Co., Ltd.
PREEHRTERBERA A
Shaanxi Yuanxing Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.
PREEETTHERERFR AR
Ballard Power Systems Inc.
BREINERBRAF]
Sinotruk Hangzhou Engines Co., Ltd.
PR EREEMMNEESEER QT
Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd.
HESRTRB R B R AR
Ferretti S.P.A.
ERF RN AR A A
Weichai Electric Equipment Co., Ltd.
HERBENRBERAF
Suzhou Foresight Energy Technology Co., Ltd.
NG RM BRI RO AR DA
Weichai (Yangzhou) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
M (BN SEEEFRAT
Shaanxi Automotive Group Commercial Vehicles Co., Ltd.
POASBERAEAERA A
Others
HA

Total

At

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

+ B Bk s B AR S AR 5 ()

B8 B¢ 75 BB WL FE {9 SR TH 6R BE

(%)

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

54,315,281.82

37,079,337.96

22,272,610.47

15,649,648.40

11,688,044.77

10,619,235.00

4,388,473.63

4,053,943.28

3,730,895.58

2,881,964.18

7,000,753.52

173,680,188.61

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

35,775,060.30

73,103,622.16

27,598,734.46

2,181,187.52

10,619,235.00

4,053,943.28

5,143,041.40

87,888,238.28

246,363,062.40




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)
6. Amounts due from/to related parties
(Continued)

ltem
HH
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

+ B Bk 5 B AR e AR 5 ()

6. BT EWENREKRE
(%)

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

Notes receivable

AL ES
Sinotruk (Ji'nan) Aftersales and Intelligence Services Co., Ltd.
FAOER)ETSEERBERLDA
Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.
L TR 0 B IR 2 7
Lovol Construction Machinery Group Co., Ltd.
BEAEBEILEEERAT
Zhongtong Bus Holding Co., Ltd.
PREEROERAQA
Weichai New Energy Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd.
SRR A EBR AR
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.
HERBERBRHERAR
Sinotruk International Co., Ltd.
PEEIEEEEBRAR
Shandong Shantui Construction Machinery Import and Export Co., Ltd.
SR HE TR R OB BR A A
Sinotruk Chengdu Wangpai Commercial Vehicles Co., Ltd.
TREREERBEIRHAEBRAA
Linyi Shan Zhong Excavator Co., Ltd.
BomUEZEEER AR
Sinotruk Ji'nan Commercial Truck Co., Ltd.
TREAEEAEEAESGRAA
Others
HAt

Total

At

557,520,907.98

425,283,266.19

306,945,228.45

195,313,200.60

103,255,433.99

89,719,027.38

79,328,128.00

73,332,100.00

59,376,000.00

36,741,064.72

29,751,620.00

63,358,235.63

2,019,924,212.94

901,123,584.16

249,246,996.65

138,038,994.00

213,966,500.00

142,459,824.31

44,441,458.36

97,379,200.00

38,200,000.00

53,331,699.90

37,442,205.00

505,468,264.49

2,421,098,726.87
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)

6.

Amounts due from/to related parties
(Continued)

[tem
HH

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

+ B Bk s B AR S AR 5 ()

6. BETEWENREKRE
(%)

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

Receivable Financing

EWRERE

Sinotruk (Ji'nan) Aftersales and Intelligence Services Co., Ltd.
FACER)ETSEERBERLDA

Shantui Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.

L TR 0 B IR 2 7

Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
PREAESEE RN ERA A

Weichai New Energy Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd.
SRR A EBR AR

Sinotruk Ji'nan Commercial Truck Co., Ltd.
PEEEEEREMAEGRAR

Zhongtong Bus Holding Co., Ltd.
PEEERGOBERAF

Sinotruk International Co., Ltd.
PEETEEBEREBRAR

Others

HAt

312,361,712.32 110,986,851.83

159,998,062.54 57,042,277.54
148,121,488.36 20,000,000.00
116,374,565.73 55,992,755.15
108,080,900.00 107,028,400.00
42,526,874.66 253,000.00
33,347,700.00 29,131,900.00

144,146,888.90 529,175,564.02

Total

At

1,064,958,192.51 909,610,748.54
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions  ~Bi % 5 B8 X HAZ 5 (5)
(Continued)
6. Amounts due from/to related parties 6.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

A Bt 75 BB WL FE {9 SR TH BR BE

(Continued)

ltem
HH

Notes payable

ERRE
Shaanxi Automotive Group Commercial Vehicles Co., Ltd.
BRAEEEBERR AR
Xi'an Cummins Engine Co., Ltd.
PR ERAET R E AR A A
Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd.
HESTBI RN ERAF
Shaanxi Wanfang Vehicle Parts and Components Co., Ltd.
PREET AETHHERAR
Shaanxi Wanfang Tianyun Vehicle Equipment Co. Ltd.
RAEE S REREERERAA
Xi'an Deshi Vehicle Components Co. Ltd.
AZREAETHHEREELDA
Xi'an Oude Rubber and Plastic Technology Co., Ltd.
AREBERLER M AR A
Shaanxi Huazhen Vehicle Component Parts Co., Ltd.
REEZAEZHHERAF
Shaanxi Tongli Special Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd.
REBNERAEEREMERAA
Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive Transportation Co., Ltd.
PREEEE AEYRAER AR
Shaanxi Lantong Transmission Axle Co., Ltd.
PR REBMER LA
Weichai (Yangzhou) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
(BN SEERR QA
CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
PERIER(AR)ERERARAA
Xi'an Zhide Automotive Electronic Control System Co., Ltd.
AREEAEEFEHRFAERLDA
Sinotruk Ji'nan Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
PREEEEEEERAEGRAR
Others
HA

Total

att

(%)

30 June 2023
2023 6H30H

612,268,502.45

489,815,000.00

410,065,648.29

359,060,612.04

267,727,312.64

242,598,209.22

111,598,000.00

104,657,057.68

99,280,000.00

76,780,282.74

57,367,680.53

53,935,980.00

37,279,909.00

34,520,000.00

30,311,140.75

140,624,794.57

3,127,890,129.91

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

959,120,000.00

450,000,000.00

166,611,548.28

7,670,000.00

8,270,000.00

6,440,000.00

34,020,000.00

7,570,000.00

3,110,000.00

2,100,000.00

65,549,372.81

24,844,617.00

200,353,058.85

1,935,658,596.94
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)

6.

Amounts due from/to related parties
(Continued)

[tem
HH

Accounts payable

FE A3 BR X

Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd.

LB R N ERAF

Shaanxi Automotive Group Commercial Vehicles Co., Ltd.

POAEERAEERAA

Xi'an Cummins Engine Co., Ltd.

TR RSB R A A

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.

REEL R AEEHEEEREEAR

Shaanxi Wanfang Vehicle Parts and Components Co., Ltd.

PRAER TETHEERAF

Xi‘an FC Intelligence Transmission Co., Ltd.

AREREEEHER DA

Xi'an Deshi Vehicle Components Co., Ltd.

ARELAREZHMHAEREEAA

Shaanxi Wanfang Tianyun Vehicle Equipment Co. Ltd.

RAEAEARNEREEHZERDF

Shaanxi Tongli Special Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd.

REBOERAEEREMEAA

Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive Transportation Co., Ltd.

PREaEEAEYRER AR

Lovol Construction Machinery Group Co., Ltd.

BEABEILEEGRAT

Shaanxi Huazhen Vehicle Component Parts Co., Ltd.

PREEZAEZHHERAF

Xi‘an Oude Rubber and Plastic Technology Co., Ltd.

ARBESERMAR A A

Shaanxi Lantong Transmission Axle Co., Ltd.

PREEREB AR A A

Shaanxi Tianxingjian Vehicle Networking Information
Technology Co., Ltd.

PREERITHRERBESRMER A A

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.

REEAERIEGRAA

Weichai Group Holdings Limited

SR =B AR A A

Xi'an Zhide Automotive Electronic Control System Co., Ltd.

AREEAEEFEHRFAER DA

Shaanxi Huazhen Automobile Filtration System Co., Ltd.

REEZRAERBERHERA A

Others

A

Total
Al

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

+ B B 5 B AR B He A2 5 (B

B8 B¢ 75 BB WL FE {9 SR TH 6R BE

(%)

30 June 2023
2023%¥6HA30H

1,194,537,379.20

737,527,358.19

540,260,203.41

516,811,878.37

467,683,139.79

326,252,478.98

318,920,971.65

299,115,496.35

280,383,208.41

131,770,356.92

126,345,956.05

111,509,513.23

83,249,608.09

72,228,852.87

56,806,745.17

CYNAVA EENE]

41,090,595.34

26,855,161.15

23,730,235.48

234,039,036.31

5,641,835,328.69

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

103,756,941.47

1,003,015,020.53

562,280,474.39

330,981,541.34

492,915,891.51

202,270,777.08

330,012,991.97

304,387,139.67

290,970,760.94

120,569,695.82

21,428,688.34

144,896,191.93

79,735,752.57

102,836,514.60

36,955,948.13

76,190,132.77

26,799,416.50

67,159,805.01

20,097,429.41

380,896,303.72

4,698,157,417.70




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)

6.

Amounts due from/to related parties
(Continued)

ltem
HE
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

+ B Bk 5 B AR e AR 5 ()

6. BT EWENREKRE
(%)

30 June 2023
2023¥6H30H

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

Contract liabilities

cRAE
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
PR AEEERDBRAF
Sinotruk Jining Commercial Truck Co., Ltd.
PREEEEBEMAEGRAR
Weichai (Yangzhou) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
ML (BN FBEEAR QA
Lovol Construction Machinery Group Co., Ltd.
EARETIEEFRAT
CNHTC Ji'nan Specialty Vehicles Co., Ltd.
PEESEEERSEEFRAT
Others
Hth

161,438,112.00 28,724,410.41
97,429,777.95 -
51,086,336.28 57.16
11,577,868.75 2,744,267 .66
7,101,608.01 -

15,677,732.02 35,465,341.68

Total

At

344,311,435.01 66,934,076.91

Item
HH

30 June 2023
2023F6H30H

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

Other payables

Hp AR
Shaanxi Automobile Industry Co., Ltd.
BREEAEEEARAR
Weichai Group Holdings Limited
AR S B AR A A
Shaanxi Tongli Special Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd.
PREENERAEEREMLRAA
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.
HERERBRHERRAA
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
PRAERERAEBRAA
Others
A

400,292,062.00 276,035,988.36

162,670,428.38 209,338,644.14
58,484,717.83 29,135,913.80
20,809,946.57 11,955,990.64
20,374,774.88 527,624.68

11,815,972.29 670,700,147.14

Total

AN
=]

674,447,901.95 1,197,694,308.76
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)
6. Amounts due from/to related parties
(Continued)

[tem
HH

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

+ B Bk s B AR S AR 5 ()

6. BETEWENREKRE
(%)

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023%F6H30H 2022912 A31H

Dividends payable

FE A5 IR Rl
Weichai Group Holdings Limited
SR =B AR A A
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
PREAESEE RN ERA A
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.

REELHAEEHEEEGREEAR

224,762,997.96 -

2,940,000.00

156,679,200.00

Total

At

224,762,997.96 159,619,200.00

[tem
HE

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
20234 6H30H 20229 12A31H

Lease liabilities

HEAE
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.
REE LR AEEHEEEREERLR
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.
pREaSEEBROBRA A

20,652,415.38 22,834,578.89

1,071,162.44 2,122,720.56

Total

At

21,723,577.82 24,957,299.45




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
X. Related Party Relationships and Transactions
(Continued)
6. Amounts due from/to related parties
(Continued)

ltem
HH
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

-+ B Bk Oy B AR e AR 5 ()

6.

Long-term payables
REIEMRRK
Other immaterial associates

HMFEBABEDLE

ltem
HH

Non-current liabilities due within one year
—FERIBNFERDES

Other immaterial associates

HiIFE AR &b

Other than lease liabilities, long-term payables and non-current
liabilities due within one year, amounts due from/to related
parties were non-interest bearing and unsecured, of which the
terms of repayment for amounts of trading nature will follow the
requirement of terms of trading, while amounts of non-trading

nature have no fixed terms of repayment.

A Bt 75 BB WL FE {9 SR TR R BE

(%)

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

528,474,639.00

30 June 2022
2023%6A30H

238,743,106.90

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

518,801,326.80

31 December 2022
2022%12A831H

207,863,468.70

BHEERE RHEMR  —FREF
HIWFERB R E NS - B FE(TRE
7 RIBE AEAE - EER - H

BBk

EFRBEUE DGR

BE - FEESEREREERY -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XI. Share-based Payment

Share Incentive Scheme Applicable to KION
Managers

As part of the cash-settled Share Incentive Scheme of KION, managers
were granted virtual shares over a fixed period of time (3 years). In 2023, a
share incentive scheme operated by KION became applicable to managers
from 1 January 2023, for a term of three years. On 1 January 2023,
1,146,965 (2022: 266,172) virtual shares with specific fair value were
granted to managers. Such virtual shares were apportioned in proportion
to the total annual remuneration of the respective managers who were

granted such shares.

Share Incentive Scheme Applicable to KION
Executive Board

As part of the cash-settled Share Incentive Scheme of KION, members
of the Executive Board were granted virtual shares over a fixed period
of time (3 years). The remuneration component measured over the long
term of members of the Executive Board is on the same basis of the Share
Incentive Scheme Applicable to KION Managers above. On 1 January
2023, i.e. the beginning of the period subject to appraisal, 280,382
virtual shares (2022: 61,222 shares) with specified fair value were granted
to members of the Executive Committee by KION and apportioned in
ways stipulated in the service contract of each member of the Executive

Committee.

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)
202341 10265304 15

T ety 3 AF

KIONKE R B B st 2

YEARAIR & & B I KIONR A 2 Bh =t &8l a9 —
By KEBEE—EEREHHEAGE)E
WP ERKGD o F£2023F - KIONEH LR
B 7 B2023F1 A1HE A= FHBE
ENETEl o £2023F 118 - EEWET
1,146,965 B B/ E A BEK EHK
(20224 : 266,17217) » ZEKBRD L
REMLBERTROFEALFHOE
JE LE 31T D BE ©

KION#{TZ E SR E BT &

EBIAIR S & EMKIONR A ZUB) 5T 8180 —
By TEZESREE—EEEREE
NOEF)HEETERRKRS - HITEEEK
BRI R AR 2 8 L KION£E 1 ik 7
BB B A — B o 2023F 1 A1 HEXK
HEZZYH  KIONEFHRITZESRE
280382 ABREAABEMNERRKRMN
(20224 : 61,22217) * ZEEBHIZBE
UHITEEERENRBEERTRENT
DB -



Interim Report 2023 FHEAdRE 279

S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
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T e A (B1)
KION#{TZEERERBT &

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XI. Share-based Payment (Continued)
Share Incentive Scheme Applicable to KION

Executive Board (Continued) (&)
Details of liabilities incurred from the cash-settled share-based payments AEBNUBESEENRNMINEENEE
of the Group are as follows: A

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

30 June 2023
20236 HA30H

Item
EH

Share Incentive Scheme Applicable to
KION Managers:

KIONAE I8 ik 4 BB =1 21

Granted in 2020

2020 & T

Granted in 2021

20216 F

Granted in 2022

20225 % T

Granted in 2023

2023F & T

Sub-total
gt

Share Incentive Scheme Applicable to
KION Executive Board:

KIONSATT % B & ix e B =t & -

Granted in 2020

20206 % T

Granted in 2021

2021F& T

Granted in 2022

20225 % T

Granted in 2023

2023F & T

Sub-total
Nt

Total

Att

2,301,299.00

2,634,614.00

6,103,383.00

11,039,296.00

1,341,083.57

596,681.77

1,260,962.38

3,198,727.72

14,238,023.72

Equivalent

to RMB
MEARME

18,127,562.35

20,753,117.94

48,076,958.23

86,957,638.52

10,563,849.39

4,700,121.97

9,932,726.76

25,196,698.12

112,154,336.64

Equivalent
to RMB
ra AR

971,962.00

1,348,130.00

1,259,757.00

7,214,776.73

10,007,034.18

9,351,050.24

3,579,849.00

26,572,861.15

219,674.28

847,376.88

266,989.96

1,630,620.21

6,289,993.84

1,981,839.77

1,334,041.12

9,902,453.82

4,913,890.12

36,475,314.97
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XII. Commitments and Contingencies
1. Significant commitments

[tem
HH

S5 i R WA R (A
(BHFIZHI)  2BEELBARET)

2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k #fEH

+o ARG R R
1. EERHEEE

Contracted for but not yet recognised in the financials statement

SENEHRRMBRRPEIH

— Commitment on acquisition and construction of long-term assets

—BERRHEEAR
— Commitment on external investment

— BN EAGE

Total

At

2. Exposure to Confirmation risks
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a tri-party cooperation agreement with distributors and
endorsing bank. Distributors will deposit guarantee money of no
lower than 30% to the bank and apply for establishment of bank
acceptance bill for the purchase of products of Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Co., Ltd. according to the amount of credit facility provided
by the bank. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. assumes security
obligation in favour of the distributors for the difference between
amount of notes and guarantee money. Products are delivered to
distributors and revenue is recognised when Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Co., Ltd. receives the amount equal to such difference as
aforesaid from the distributors. As at 30 June 2023, open position
of outstanding acceptance bills amounted to RMB997,444,515.00
(31 December 2022: RMB872,669,205.00). Further, pursuant to
the tri-party indemnity agreement entered into among Shaanxi
Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., the distributors and the guarantors of
the distributors, the distributors shall indemnify Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Co., Ltd. in respect of the aforesaid security obligation for the
said difference in amount or losses suffered, and their guarantors
shall be jointly liable for the same. As at the approval date of
these financial statements, distributors under this arrangement
have hardly had any default. The Group is of the view that the risk
exposure related to the provision of these security obligations is

minimal, and thus no accruals and provisions have been made.

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023%F6H30H 2022912 A31H

5,481,418,643.68 6,952,343,391.69

5,481,418,643.68

6,952,343,391.69

RE 2O R

KRB ZFRARKAENTEARA
AL  AKBRIT=ZFFRI =
FEaEmZE - SHEARRITEANK
MN30%MREFESL - BBERITHTH
—EEAREE - PERIRITALE
EARBERAER TEFRAFE
W REEARE R AR ALH
MR ERSEERFC L MER
MEZEFRBET -BKAEAAREFH
BRARIEWEIEHEEFA Ll =88
W& SR (A A 8P A E @ R
RUA - BLZE2023F6H308 4
REEMEALEZMOEAARE
997,444,515.007T (2022912 A 31
H: AR%872,669,205.007T) ° It
Hh - REEPRAERAEERAA - &
HEREHEORBEAN=ZFRESE
Al - EEEEERAEARBERRD
REARENEZHEERETHEZNIE
K HRBEAREETREET - &
EABHREIERL B - ERH
TR TRRBERENER
REERRERBHZEREEEHES
WEBRE/ - Bt RERETAE -
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(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XII.Commitments and Contingencies
(Continued)
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S5 e R WA (A

(B#FIF8H5) - 2BEBARET)
2023F 1 91HZ6H30H 1 EE

7R i BT ()

Business related to finance lease company

Regarding the outright product sales to distributors in cash by
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. entered into a cooperation
agreement with Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd.. It is agreed
by and between the two parties that Shanzhong Finance Leasing
Co., Ltd. shall provide finance lease service to distributors or
ultimate customers of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. Shaanxi
Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. shall jointly guarantee repurchase
of physical assets upon presentation in respect of the leasee’s
(ultimate customers’) failure to pay the instalment payments and
interests under the finance lease and the distributors are not able to
perform repurchase obligations, on condition that product quality
required by Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. is satisfied. As at
30 June 2023, risk exposure in respect of possible guarantee for
joint liabilities was RMB1,080,591,218.98 (31 December 2022:
RMB916,147,888.00). To date, the Group had not received
any request for repurchase under this sort of business. As at
the approval date of these financial statements, the Group is of
the view that the risk exposure related to the provision of these
guarantees for joint liabilities is minimal, and thus no accruals and

provisions have been made.

HaEHEARBEBENE
%

HNARAZ FARKRAERNTEHR
BRAR RS HEEN GKHENE
m RAERREERAGE LIS
BEHERGERE  EHHNTEILE
MEHERRAER TEFR QAN
EHEEmREOREPRHEBERER
% RAERNEFRARRMEM
ENFERMAF (KmEP)REZNTRE
HESHAFENER - BEBBLCHE
BT BEEIT I ETSE - 12m B PR A
BRAEEERAANENERE K
HTREETHRYBEST HE
20236 A30H F EHEETREFE
S0 A AR #1,080,591,218.98
L (2022 12 A31H « AR¥
916,147,888.007T) ° B E AN B 55
HHERE B - REBERKEB
BEBTHREBENR AEBRAH
RHZEETETRFEAENRRER
N B RERTER BE o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XII.Commitments and Contingencies
(Continued)

3.

Business related to finance lease company
(Continued)

Weichai Lovol signed a cooperation agreement with Huiyin Finance
Leasing Co., Ltd. for the agricultural equipment products sold
by Weichai Lovol, a subsidiary of the Company, for which Huiyin
Finance Leasing Co., Ltd. provides financial leasing services. Both
parties agreed that if, under the direct sales model, the lessee
(end customer) fails to pay the rent and interest agreed under the
financial lease contract in full as scheduled, Weichai Lovol shall
perform the repurchase obligation; and if, under the distribution
model, the lessee (end customer) fails to pay the rent and interest
agreed under the financial lease contract in full as scheduled and
the relevant distributor fails to perform the repurchase obligation,
Weichai Lovol shall perform the repurchase obligation. As at 30
June 2023, risk exposure in respect of possible guarantee for
joint liabilities was RMB875,265,904.37 (31 December 2022:
RMB914,575,369.85). As at the approval date of these financial
statements, the Group is of the view that the risk exposure related
to the subsequent performance of repurchase obligations by
Weichai Lovol is minimal, and thus no accruals and provisions have

been made.

XIIL. Subsequent Events

1.

Profit distribution

Distribution of interim dividend for year 2023

On 30 August 2023, pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate,
the Board of the Company distributed to all shareholders a cash
dividend of RMB2.26 (including tax) for every 10 shares held,
without any capitalisation of reserve, based on the total number of
shares which shall be entitled to profit distribution on the record
date at the time of the implementation of the distribution plan in

the future.

S5 i R WA R (A

(B#FIFEHS) - 2 BEBARET)
2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1 EE

7R i BT ()

HBpEHEARAEMNE
% (&)
HRARR Z FRARIMEEREEN
RAERREEEERARIEHAE
TERBHRELEEER  HEE)
Eﬁitfﬁmméffﬁ ol CUNEIE SRR (37!
o EHME  EEERT - BAM
7‘5( R EP)AREIRAREIMNRE
HEAROTENRES RAE - #HEE
REITRIEER  CHEXNT - &
R (REEF)REEIRBRBL TR
EHEARNTNHAERFE - B
RS TEITRI RS - HEE)
JEATEIE &R - 82202346 H30
B EREERETEKRMOABARE
875,265,904.37 7L (2022 12 A 31
H: AR%914,575,369.857T) © &
EAFBHREIERLB - AEER
AU EREBERBITOEREM
AEEEE) - EABERESEE

Jr*‘ﬁ;* R AR FIH

FE 2 B E R
k22023 F R HRAT
7202398 HA30H » ARAREEE
RERER G EE *‘*@aﬂwkzléa
WA RBRELAZENES
MR EEAE ﬁ%‘n‘fﬂx&ﬁ
T0RRER SAFIARKE2.26L(F&
) FERATESEEIRA -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XIV. Other Significant Events LR LA R R
1. Leases 1. &
As the lessor EAEEA

Finance leases: As at 30 June 2023, the balance of unrealised
finance income was RMB1,696,680,077.40 (31 December 2022:
RMB1,297,678,800.90) and was apportioned over the lease periods

BMEME : R2023F6AH308 -
AERRMERENHRERARE
1,696,680,077.40 7T (2022 F 12 A
AN R % 1,297,678,800.90
contract signed with the lessee, the minimum lease receivables ) REBEEMEBREREERE
A EAREET D # - REEATH
ABIMHEEAR - TAIHEEER
SEBEWRRENT ¢

based on fixed periodic interest rate. Pursuant to the leasing 31 H

under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

30 June 2023

31 December 2022

Lease period Gitk-¢: 2023 6H30H 20229 12A31H
Within (and inclusive of) 1 year 1FLAR(E1F) 5,107,543,148.40 4,408,512,270.30
1 to (and inclusive of) 2 years 122F(825F) 4,256,556,404.10 3,747,065,074.20
2 to (and inclusive of) 3 years 2E3F(E3F) 3,379,307,408.40 3,021,454,330.50
3 to (and inclusive of) 4 years 3R4F(E4F) 2,470,195,543.20 2,154,919,830.30
4 to (and inclusive of) 5 years AZESF(E5F) 1,716,546,123.60 1,379,620,194.00
Over 5 years 5%+ 1,350,079,800.30 1,033,735,322.70
Total = 18,280,228,428.00 15,745,307,022.00

For fixed assets leased out under operating lease, refer to Note V.17.

REBHEBEEEE  28MER

17 »
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XIV. Other Significant Events (Continued)

2.

Segment reporting

Operating segments

The Group organises and manages its operating business in
accordance with the nature of business and provision of products
and services. Each operating segment of the Group is one operating
group, providing products and services with risks and rewards
different from those of other operating segments.

The details of operating segments are as follows:

(@ manufacturing and sale of engines and related parts
("Engines”);

(b)  manufacturing and sale of automobiles and automobile
components other than Engines (“Automobiles and
automobile components”);

(o forklift trucks production, warehousing technology and
supply chain solution services (”Intelligent logistics”);

(d)  manufacturing and sale of agricultural equipment (complete
machineries), agricultural machineries, agricultural vehicles
and related parts (“Agricultural equipment”).

Management monitors the results of operating segments separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated
based on reported segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted
total profits. The adjusted total profits are measured consistently
with the Group’s total profits, except that finance expenses,
investment income, profit or loss on change of fair value as well
as other unallocated income or expense are excluded from such

measurement.

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - £ HEN B NRET)
202341 10265304 15

9 At B2 0 ()

2.

P e

gE b
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BB LB 3 BXAS N RIS EL AR AR 2 0 &P
B 3R M ) 2 o M AR A o

AT R & DA A BBt
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(0 XELEE - BERMRHERE
RTERE([EEMR]
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XIV. Other Significant Events (Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued)

2.

Operating segments (Continued)

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, derivative

instruments, dividends receivable, interests receivable, investment in

other equity instruments, deferred tax assets and other unallocated

head office assets.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative instruments, borrowings,

income tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated

head office liabilities.

Inter-segment transfers are transacted with reference to the prices

used in the transactions carried out with third parties.

Item R

Incurred during this period THELE

Segment revente: AHUA -

Sale to external customers MEPHE

Inter-segment sale ARRHE

Total ait

Segment results AxE

Adjustment: HE:

Interest income MEWA

Dividend income and unallocated ~ REMA Rk HE M
income

Corporate and other unallocated £ REMRAERR
expenses

Finance expenses HEAA

Profit before tax HaTE

Automobiles
and automobile
Engines components

$98 RERRETRM

23,362,556,951.67 32,113,420,188.24
5845,194,405.41  1,145,864,883.04

29,207,751,357.08  33,259,285,071.28

3,404,226,060.65  (15,867,247.81)

Interim Report 2023 AR HAZRE

S5 e R WA (A
(BRI 2FEMBARET)
2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k
4 ﬁ%i%%ﬁ(%ﬁ)
2 HE (&)
REDE (&)
SHAETREREES  HTET
B WAIRF - RIS - Ao

TARE BEMSHEEMEMR
DECHBEEE ©

DWEETBENTETR A &
RFEH - BEMBHARAREAM
ANEWEEE -

DERANEBEE  2RAE=T7E
IR SZARAHERGIE o

Intelligent

Inter-segment
logistics elimination Total

Eﬁh%un A Fﬂﬁ% éﬁ'

42,197,842,072.81 - 106,135,266,883.70
50,813,167.79  (7,131,411,984.54) =

42,248,655,240.60  (7,131,411,984.54) 106,135,266,383.70

193845028193 (393,199,416.85) 5,386,797,461.14

1,156,307,939.25

438,598,682.22

(57,097,620.98)
(1,177,297,262.00)

5,747,309,199.63

285
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XIV. Other Significant Events (Continued)
2. Segment reporting (Continued)

Operating segments (Continued)

Item R

30 June 2023 2023%6430H
Seqment assets HHEE

Adjustment: aE:

Corporate and other TEREMAPEAE

unallocated assets

Total assets BEE

Seqment labilties AHERE

Adjustment FE:

Corporate and other CERAMADEAR
unallocated liabilities

Totalliabilities hafk

Incurred in this period THEER

Other segment information: ~ Z# 7 &EH :

Share of profit and loss from: (5 T3 A A1FIEREE :

(Lossygain from associates ~ EEETIALME(BK) /hE

and joint ventures

Loss of impairment of GERBEL
inventories

(Loss)/gain of credit impairment fEUZE R E K AER
of receivables and RE(BR) /TR
lease receivable

Loss of impairment of assets ~ ZEF/AEX

Depreciation and amortisation %7 J & 8

Gain from disposal of fied ~ B BEREH B
assets

Investment in associates REENRERENRE
and joint ventures

Canttal expenditure AR

Automobiles
and automobile
Engines

RBH RERAEREM

components

85,199,389,328.71  65,864,132,537.31

40,964,599,043.04  53,664,474,288.72

(128511,165.44)  68,3821,800.78

(25,209,222.61)  (17,104,345.21)

(52,242,107.72)  (196,539,991.23)

(843,745,460.74)  (676,532,309.05)

15,615,030.53 380,128.67

3,269,149,435.40
1,449,125,319.67

1,254,650,021.34
985,474,056.94

S5 i R WA R (A
(BHSIZAI - BN BN RHT)
2023F 1 H1HZE6H30H 1k #fEH
9 At T 0 ()
2. DHEPE®E (&)

L Wi =
S E(E)
Inter-

Agricultural Intelligent segment sale

elimination

BESBHEE

equipment

RRER

logistics

ERMR

6,869,227,824.21 118,359,585,225.81 (53,672,328,875.34) 222,620,006,040.70

99,989,836,179.83
322,609,842,220.53

12,506,783,343.15  67,372,325,076.21 (10,093,135,153.74) 164,415,046,597.38

48,645,950,271.94

213,060,996,869.32

(7463376.13)  46,769,734.00 (20,383,006.79)

(8,634,897.50)  (164,146,249.19) (215,094,714.51)

2509,54246  (58,373,768.56)
(397,121.18)  (34320912.18)
(177,182,330.69) (4,149,106,913.23)
1.300575.24  46,794,922.70 64,090,657.14
20,191,081.02  900,319,797.89
153,242,380.68  5,937,464,487.66

5,444,310,335.65
8,525,306,244.95
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BIERFES) S BB (T BN RIET)

1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE

XIV. Other Significant Events (Continued) U H A EEREIE(4)

2. Segment reporting (Continued) 2. ZEbHRE (&)
Operating segments (Continued) KrEDE (&)
Automobiles
and automobile Agricultural Intelligent Inter-segment
Engines components equipment logistics elimination Total

ftem %8 3o HBRAETHR BERE B4 APRES aif
Incurred in the previous period (restated) LEREE(RER)
Seqment revenue: FIYA -
Sale to external customers NEPEE 16,974,273,794.51  21,736,545,830.79  8,896,683,698.48  39,161,803,680.20 - 86,769,307,003.98
Inter-seqment sale NPHEE 2717,184,014.09 63539945203 38,740,509.20 57,698,529.20  (3,449,022,504.52) -
Total At 1969145780860 22,371945,282.82  8935,424,207.68 39,219,502,209.40  (3,449,022,504.52)  86,769,307,003.98
Segment results NHzE 12233028147 (62357585199 364,130,401.42  1,291,194,92351 (99,101,880.75)  2,155,881,873.66
Adjustment: 8
Inerest income HEHA - - - - - 107247486946
Dividend income and unalocated income REWARFA Bl - - - - - 801,241,69145
Corporate and other unallocated expenses PEREMASERT - - - - - (59,503,061.09)
Finance expenses BERE - - - - - (546,115,31043)

Profit before tax HaE - - - - - 3423,980,063.05
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XIV. Other Significant Events (Continued)
2. Segment reporting (Continued)
Operating segments (Continued)

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRHEFRIZRS) - 2 BENBARKET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

09 A EE B ()
2. DEERE ()

rEDE(E)

Automobiles Inter-
and automobile Agricultural Intelligent segment sale
Engines components equipment logistics elimination Total

lfem L L9k AERAERHM RERE Bunn  BEAUEEE At
31 December 2022 20005128318
Segment assets HPEE 6823941941882 52,232,604,69952  6,774,340,86836 107,402,285,965.21 (32,011,848,610.15)  202,636,802,341.76
Adjustment P
Corporate and other unallocated assets PERERANTEE 91,029,285,510.73
Total assets BEE 293,666,087,852.49
Segment libilities HHEE 3443441453082 44.85870752041 10,921.232,56434  56,003,644,18938  (7,272,23842397)  138,945,760,380.98
Adustment: aE:
Corporate and other unallocated iabiites A% RAMAARERE 50,609,675,311.10
Total liabilties ek 189,555,435,692.08
Incurred in this period AEBREE
Other segment information: AlpgEn
Share of profit and oss from: f fE EETSIRIMERER :
Gain/oss) from associates and joint ventures BRAEENE/(Bk 8368373824 (170.774.137.78)  (156,804.262.12)  100,247,03790 - (143,647 623.76)
(Loss)/gain of impairment of inventories Wﬁ %)/HE (57,179,766.25)  (124,141,273.87) 16,558,930.26  (266,605,810.33) - (431,367,920.19
(Loss)igain of redt impairment of EUSBRESRIGNER

receivables and lease receivable WEB%)/FE (12,618059.91)  (231,610948.31) 894150477 (177,132,806.40) - (412,420,309.85)
Loss of impairment of assets EERERK (302,755,837.%) - - (141,084,81297) - (443840650.93)
Depreciation and amortisation TERES (1,714,662,881.39)  (1523,246,658.97)  (278,968,211.33)  (7,631,070,027.49) - (11,147,947.779.18)
(Loss)/gain from disposal of ixed assets ETEERE(ER) /5 (2,055,566.60) 1103692133 80865119 32,898651.40 - 4)48865730
Investment n associates and joint ventures — REENAECENRE 3311,90,393.29  1,201,199,390.33 - 828,063,824.00 - 5.340,553,607.62
Capital expenditure EERY 36547489529 160409822931  185,172,659.74  10,486,293,711.60 - 1593031355361
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XIV. Other Significant Events (Continued)
2. Segment reporting (Continued)
Group information
Information about products and services

Revenue from external transactions
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

1 ﬁ%i%% {(#)
DEHRE (48)
%.15@
Em L HEE
HINZ HWA

1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
2023F1A18ZE 20221 A1BE
2023%6H30H 20226 H30H

Item 1HAE LEHA 1FEAf
Powertrain, complete vehicles and B C BEEEL
machineries and key components BT AUEEr PRk A 29,818,471,371.94
Other components H it E 5,900,525,027.11 5,580,849,189.41
Intelligent logistics Been 42,197,842,072.81 39,161,803,680.20
Agricultural equipment -3 8,461,447,670.98 8,619,619,263.63
Others Hib 5,235,162,883.93 3,588,563,498.80
Total AEt 106,135,266,883.70 86,769,307,003.98
Geographic information 5B
Revenue from external transactions HINZ S WA
1 January 2023 to 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
2023F1H1B & 2022F1R1H=E
2023%F6H30H 20226 H30H
[tem HH LIEHARE LEEAFE
China B A BE SO ERIPPAS  42,595,764,514.94
Other countries and regions EH A BIR A b [ 55,568,919,569.48" WV VERV T INe!
Total &t e PAs s e 86,769,307,003.98

Revenue from external transactions is attributable to the areas

where customers are located.

HINZZGBABBNEFPAERSE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XIV. Other Significant Events (Continued)
2. Segment reporting (Continued)
Group information (Continued)
Geographic information (Continued)

Total non-current assets

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

R ﬁl&i?%lﬁ(%ﬁ)
D EBERE (4])
SEER(E)
W= 8 (&)
ERBEELTE

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
20236 HA30H 2022912 831H

32,965,983,043.04 33,117,968,164.81
77,123,564,150.86 72,687,403,558.70

ltem B H

China h B A BE

Other countries and regions H b B R0 [
Total &&h

(P A PERElE 105,805,371,723.51

Non-current assets are attributable to the areas where the assets are
located, excluding lease receivables, financial assets and deferred

tax assets.

FRBEERBNZEEMBE RS -
BREEERE REEMERL
PRISIHEE °



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
XV.Notes to Key Items of the Company Financial
Statements
1. Notes receivable
Classification of notes receivable
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IEAVAEES JU R £ S NS R

1. BEREE
FE U Z 4% > 48

31 December 2022
202212 A31H

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

14,771,956,773.14 12,342,277,798.91
1,180,000,000.00 -

ltem HH
Bank acceptance bills BITEAGEE
Commercial acceptance bills HMEALIEE
Total A%t

15,951,956,773.14 12,342,277,798.91

Notes receivable pledged by the Company at period end

Item 5 H

HIRA AR E AN EKER

30 June 2023
20236 H30H

31 December 2022
2022912 A831H

Bank acceptance bills RITHEAIEE

8,157,088,971.69 7,080,982,949.24

Notes receivable endorsed or discounted by the Company
at period end and not yet expired as at the balance sheet

HRARRCEEHMBAEHE
EERGBERARKRIBNEK

date Fi5
30 June 2023 31 December 2022
2023F6H30H 2022%12A318
Derecognised  Not derecognised Derecognised  Not derecognised
Item HH KRR R LLFER RIEHR KR FHER
Bank acceptance bills RITEAER 279,311,577.32 10,170,000.00 -

As at 30 June 2023, the Company had not transferred any notes
into accounts receivable due to issuers’ failure in performance (31
December 2022: Nil).

As the Company considered that the bank credit rating of the bank
acceptance bills was relatively high, there was no significant credit

risk or material losses due to a default by the bank.

MN2023FE6A30H  ARREREE
ANENBAMBZEE AEKERN
E=4 (2022128318 - &) o

ARBRBAFHENRITELERD
ERBRITERAFARR  TFEEEK
BiERRER  TERBTROMES
EREX-
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XV.Notes to Key Items of the Company Financial +% /A &) 3= B 0 % # % H H 1 &

Statements (Continued) (%)

2. Accounts receivable 2. FBWERR
ARBEEFPHIE S EFIAEAR
HRE  BA—REFHEFPEM KK
REBERNFET  RETPH
ERHBERIZ6MEA - BIEERX
WAFHE °

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

The Company trades with its customers primarily on credit terms,
and generally requires prepayments or cash on delivery for new
customers. Credit period for credit customers is generally one to six

months. Accounts receivable is non-interest bearing.

(1) An aging analysis of accounts receivable based on invoice (1) EREFZAZAHNEKRED
G U

dates is presented as follows:

30 June 2023 31 December 2022

Age BRER 2023F6H30H 2022912 A31H
Within 1 year 1 AR 5,172,346,785.85 2,511,375,778.20
1to 2 years 1224 2,978,422.38 3,016,369.49
2 to 3 years 2E3IE = _
Over 3 years 3F B 239,335.10 3,211,335.10
Sub-total N 5,175,564,543.33 2,517,603,482.79
Less: Provision for bad debts VB ERREE 53,554,914.71 25,373,940.19

Total

5,122,009,628.62

2,492,229,542.60




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XV.Notes to Key Items of the Company Financial

Statements (Continued)
2. Accounts receivable (Continued)
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T2 ) R B R I H kR
(%)
2. BUWERMR(E)

(2)  Disclosure of accounts receivable by category of provision for

(2) EWEFREREGTIRSE

bad debts SRR R
30 June 2023
2023F6H30H
Carrying
Gross carrying amount Provision for bad debts amount
REE BRER REEE
Amount Proportion Amount Proportion Amount
&8 t Al E Al £8
Category 55 (0] (%)
Items assessed for expected RERRBRER
credit losses by group HETEES
with distinctive credit risk EREX
characteristics 5,175,564,543.33 100.00 53,554,914.71 1.03 5,122,009,628.62
31 December 2022
20224128318
Carrying
Gross carrying amount Provision for bad debts amount
RE®RE BRER HEER
Amount Proportion Amount Proportion Amount
£ [5di] &8 541l &8
Category 5l (%) (%)
Items assessed for expected RERRBEH
credit losses by group HETEES
with distinctive credit risk ERBEX
characteristics 2,517,603,482.79 100.00 25,373,940.19 1.01 2,492,229,542.60
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial +i A% R &ERFHEH 3B
Statements (Continued) (%)
2. Accounts receivable (Continued) 2. FEWRRF(E)
(2)  Disclosure of accounts receivable by category of provision for (2) FEWERIREEREETIR X

bad debts (Continued) SRR (E)

(@)  As at 30 June 2023, the Group's accounts receivable (a) M2023F6H30H '+ AR
for which credit losses are provided for using AENRR AR ESEE
impairment matrix based on aging analysis are sHEEAEREHEERK
presented as follows: RREAAT :

30 June 2023

20236 H30H

Gross carrying
amount Lifetime Expected
estimated to expected credit loss
be in default credit loss rate (%)

Z=(E

At BEEN FEBED EHER
Y AR T B8R 28 ERE\EX BR=2
Age IR (%)
Within 1 year 1F AR 1,724,169,901.50 30,058,957.14 1.74
1 to 2 years 1224 2,978,421.38 446,763.21 15.00
2 to 3 years 2E3%F = = =
Over 3 years 3FLA 239,335.10 119,667.55 50.00

Total A5t 1,727,387,657.98 30,625,387.90 1.77
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FPHS i R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial +i A& FZEBERFHEH B
Statements (Continued) (%)
2. Accounts receivable (Continued) 2. BEWERH(E)
(2)  Disclosure of accounts receivable by category of provision for (2) EWEFIRBEREFTIRA A

bad debts (Continued)
(b)  As at 30 June 2023, provisions for credit losses for the
Company’s accounts receivable with good credit history

are presented as follows:

Gross carrying

amount
estimated to
be in default

fHETREED
W ARE 8RR
Age AR R

Accounts receivable with good (= &SRB E ®Y
credit history A& S FFE 3,448, 176,885.35

DEREE)

(b) M2023%6H308 - AR
B1{= A RO 6 1B 19 FE MK
BHEAIRIERBRER
WIERIAT

30 June 2023
20236 A30H

Lifetime Expected
expected credit loss
credit loss rate (%)

Z(E
FEBED EHER
ER\EX BR=E
(%)

22,929,526.81
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial +i A& FZEBERFHEH B
Statements (Continued) (%)
2. Accounts receivable (Continued) 2. BWER(E)
(3)  Movements in provision for bad debts: (3) ZEREFEMEHIFN

Lifetime Lifetime

expected credit expected credit

loss (without loss (with

impairment impairment

of credit) of credit)

BEEFES BEFES

AHEREA AHERBX

(REBHE (B&%E

Provision for bad debts BRER ERARE) 5 RFHE) CH

Balance as at 31 December 2022 202251283 1H %8 25,373,940.19 25,373,940.19
Provision for the period NHEIEHR 31,164,948.55 31,164,948.55
Reversal during the period A HjEE o) (11,974.03) (11,974.03)

Written-off during the period INERRL Y (2,972,000.00) (2,972,000.00)

Balance as at 30 June 2023 202356 A30H B 53,554,914.71 53,554,914.71




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial
Statements (Continued)
2. Accounts receivable (Continued)

4)

As at 30 June 2023, the top five balances in respect of
accounts receivable by closing balance are presented as

follows:

Name of entity BUEE
First place F—4%
Second place F-4
Third place E=4
Fourth place U
Fifth place FRH
Total A&t

As at 30 June 2023, no accounts receivable had been pledged
to secure bank borrowings of the Company (31 December
2022: Nil).
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

T2 ) R B R I H kR

(%)

2. BUWERMR(E)

(4)

Gross carrying

amount

AR ERER

2,664,564,470.00
400,532,489.24
265,414,771.51
256,682,443.47
206,048,680.96

3,793,242,855.18

(5)

MR2023F6 8308 @ BREKH
REMNHRGEN LN EK
BRBE RIS

Provision for
Proportion credit losses
5] EREXER

(%)

51.48 14,814,270.88
7.74 2,009,800.92
5.13 5,308,295.43
4.96 374,782.65
3.98 1,030,243.40

73.29 23,537,393.28

20236 A30H » "RAFE
15 P8 UL AR 3k (2022 4F 12 A 31
B &®)EHRAREGRITER
BIEM -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial

Statements (Continued)

3.

Other receivables

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

T ﬁfﬁf%ﬂﬂ%%ﬁ%lﬁ H iR
e

3.

[tem HH
Interest receivable U F B,
Dividend receivable JiE LS A% )
Other receivables o 4th JE YR
Total &E
(1) Interest receivable
[tem 5 H
Fixed deposits EHTF R
(2) Dividends receivable
Item B/ H
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. BRP A TSt R
BRETAA
Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. PR EEEB AR AR

Total

At

H 1t F& WK

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

87,586,032.98

209,546,457.52

297,132,490.50

(1) FEYEFE

30 June 2023
20236 H30H

87,586,032.98

(2) FEU AR

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

31 December 2022
2022912 831H

304,839,087.00
216,552,615.76

521,391,702.76

31 December 2022
2022912 A31H

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

301,779,087.00
3,060,000.00

304,839,087.00
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial

Statements (Continued) (%)
3. Other receivables (Continued) 3. HihEWR(E)
(3) Other receivables (3) E Ak
(@)  Analyzed by nature as follows: (a) TMEESHWT :

ltem

Advance to subsidiaries

30 June 2023
2023%6H30H

147,178,916.71

31 December 2022
2022%12A831H

151,571,281.88

Reserve fund HHRE 1,851,744.23 2,869,041.49
Deposits He 1,979,704.97 1,045,114.41
Others Hith 63,036,103.86 66,584,045.30
Sub-total Net 214,046,469.77 222,069,483.08
Less: Provision for bad debts W BRI 4,500,012.25 5,516,867.32
Total &5 209,546,457.52 216,552,615.76
(b)  Analyzed by age as follows: (b) IRERERDMTWOT -

30 June 2023 31 December 2022
Age AR B0 20236 A30A 20224128318
Within 1 year 1E AR 72,136,701.02 87,102,079.25
1 to 2 years 18224 10,885,334.00 3,450,687.14
2 to 3 years 2E3F 184,302.96 593,627.53
3 to 4 years 3E445F 25,062.87 89,144.59
4 to 5 years 4F 54 2,060,461.06 130,355,070.47
Over 5 years SEL E 128,754,607.86 478,874.10
Sub-total Net 214,046,469.77 222,069,483.08
Less: Provision for bad debts B BRI 4,500,012.25 5,516,867.32
Total &5 209,546,457.52 216,552,615.76

Age is calculated from the date of recognition of other

receivables.

Rk B H A8 R EERR B
ERBE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FEHS ik R Mt 5 (48
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated) (BHEFIZE) » 2 RBEMBARET)
1 January to 30 June 2023 2023%F 1 H1HZ6H30H 1FAE
XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial +i A& FEBZERFHEH B
Statements (Continued) (%)
3. Other receivables (Continued) 3. HEW(E)
(3) Other receivables (Continued) (3) HibmRk(E&)
(c)  Provision for bad debts in respect of other receivables is (c) EHMmUimBi121EA
based on 12-month expected credit losses and lifetime TEHERERREBETFE
expected credit losses. ERTEEAE BB KT IR MR

FRIB R -

(d)  Movements in provision for bad debts (d) ZEREGNEHER

Stage 2
Lifetime Stage 3
expected Lifetime
Stage 1 credit loss expected

Expected credit (without credit loss

loss forthe ~ impairment of  (with impairment

next 12 months credit) of credit)

22KR FZER

£-K8 EEEED EERED

AR12{8R RHERR% RHERRA

Item % BAGREX (REEGREE) (BREGEREE)

Balance s at 31 December 2022 W2E12831BEE 5,037,993.22 478,874.10 5,516,867.32
Provided for the period ¥ 100.00 - 100.00
Reversed during the period FHEE 1,016,955.07 - 1,016,955.07
Witten-off during the period KB - - -

Balance as at 30 June 2023 202356A30A4E 4,021,138.15 478,874.10 4,500,012.25




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
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XV.Key

Statements (Continued)

Notes to the Company Financial

3. Other receivables (Continued)

(3) Other receivables (Continued)

(e)  As at 30 June 2023, the top 5 other receivables are

presented as follows:

Closing balance

RENEE MREBE

Name of entity ~ Efr &7
First place £-4%

Advance to
subsidiaries
FATEER

147,178,916.71

Others

it

Others

it
Reserve fund
ks
Reserve fund

ik

44,987,923.94

1,103,164.52

469,946.34

300,000.00

Second place 5%
Third place $=%
Fourth place F4
Fifth place ER%
Total Bt

194,039,951.51

4. Long-term equity investments

) Long-term equity investments are categorised as follows:

Iltem

T2 ) R B R I H kR

(%)
3. HbEEWK(E)
(3) EtbmEMR(E)
(e) F2023F6H30H © &
RRTT 55 S 09 HA SR AR 58 A
T B E b FE IR e 40
T :

Percentage

of total closing

balance of other

receivables (%)

fhE A

BB R ARERR

i Ee o]
(%)

Closing balance
of provision
for credit losses

FREKER
MBS

Within 1 year,
1-2 years and
3-5 years

1EUA 128K
3-5F

Within 1 year

(BN

1-2 years

1-26

Within 1 year

15 5AR

Within 1 year

1R

68.76

23,497.32

15,000.00

38,497.32

4, RHIRERE
(1) FEHRERESENT :

BEH

30 June 2023
2023%¥6H30H

Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associates and
joint ventures

HFYRARE

HgE AELERERE

24,293,425,710.52

2,209,492,738.92

26,502,918,449.44

462,392,040.06

Sub-total NEE
Less: Provision for impairment OB EERE
Total A&t

26,040,526,409.38

31 December 2022
2022912 A831H

23,976,942,699.78

2,183,138,396.90

26,160,081,096.68

462,392,040.06

25,697,689,056.62
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial
Statements (Continued)

4. Long-term equity investments (Continued) 4. EHRERE(E)
(2)  As at 30 June 2023, the breakdown of long-term equity (2) #2023F6H308 © fkAKE

investments under cost method was as follows:

HORHBERERA@LT :

Provision for Balance of
impairment provision for
Increase during  Decrease during duringthe  impairment as at
31 December 2022 the period the period 30June 203 period end of period
Investee entity RREER 20225128318 ABEM AHHS  ABE6ANA  AHHRHERE REREIRHE
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) Intemnational 4858 AR ERARDE 10,143,162,448.23 [N 10,459,645,458.97
Development Co, Ltd.
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co,, Lid REEREERAT 3,053,746,00085 3,053,746,000.85
Huzhou Yingean Investment Partnership LLP ANRREEAENE(ERAE) 1,138,365,000.00 1,138,365,000.00
Shaani Fast Gear Co,, Ltd. REELHERERELLT 1,082,558,680.59 1,08,558,680.59
Weichai America Corp Weichai America Corp 743,099,228 57 743,009,22857
Weichai Power (Shangha) Technology X8 (L) HRERARAE 650,000,000.00 650,000,000.00
Development Co, Ltd.
Tsintel Automotive Technology (Suzhou) Co, Ltd. BB RERR (&M ERAF 471,777,360.69 471,777,360.69
Thuzhou Gear Co, Ltd. HNERERERAR 532,334,743.21 53,334,781
Weichai (Weifang) Material Forming and B (A5 TEREZERD 460,150,000.00 460,150,000.00
Manufacturing Co, Ltd. ERAT
Weichai Ballard Hydrogen Fnergy Technology 4B ET#HIFARAT 561,000,000.00 561,000,000.00
Company Limited
Weichai Power (Befing) Interational Eran (L) ERERRE 300,000,000.00 300,000,000.00
Resource Investment Co., Ltd. BRAA
Weichai Torch Technology Co, Ltd. BXNERBROERDA 25,452,009 245,452,07097
Weichai (Weifang) Medium-duty Diesel Engine ~ #5¢ (3647 p R Xl AR WAT1247583 ATI4T5.83
(o, Ltd.
Weichai Power (Qingzhou) Drive Control X8 (EN) BRRITARAE 150,000,000.00 150,000,000.00
Technology Co, Ltd.
Weifang Weichai Power Technology Co, Ltd N RERERLT 140,70,000.00 140,770,000.00
Zhuzhou Torch Machinery Manufacturing Co, Ltd.  #MEA BEHBERRELAR 130,898,993.14 130,898,993.14
Shandong Synergy Ol Co, Lt LEEERRERAR 109,50,458.68 109,509,458.68
Weichai Power Freshen Air Technology Co, Ltd. BN ZRFIRRARAR 100,000,000.00 100,000,000.00
Shandong Weichai Importand Export Co,, Ltd. — IWRHESELDERAR 256,501,972.60 256,501,972.60
Chongyou Hitech Electronic System EfaNERTRENZA(ER) 677,195,366.01 677,195,366.01
(Chongging) Co, Ltd. BRAR
Weichai Lovol Inteligent RYERRZELURROERAA 159205026468 1,592,050,264.68
Agricultura] Technalogy Co,, Ltd.
Shandong Qiking Machinery LR ERRTERGERDT 162,004,201.62 162,094,201.62
Manufacturing Co, Ltd.
Shandong Wusing Vehicl Co, Ltd. LRRESHRABRAA 49,444,19577 49,444,195.77
Weichai (Qingdao) Science and ER (BB MRARRARAR 285,000,00000 285,000,000.00
Technology Research Institute Co., Ltd.
Other subsidiaries £ AT 45,302,89.59 445,302,896.59
Total A% PENRVERETIEN  316,483,010.74 24,041,608,368.37 251,817,342.15




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)

1 January to 30 June 2023
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XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial
Statements (Continued)
Long-term equity investments (Continued)

4,

3)

As at 30 June 2023, breakdown of long-term equity

investments under equity method was as follows:

31 December

202

2008

Investee entity BREEN 128318

Shandong Heavy Industy Group LREIEBERARAR 107635471178
finance Co, Lid.

Shengrui Transmission Corporation Limited B3 BB RAARAR 333,445,539.16

Weifang Weichai Intelligent Technology ERRERENRARAT 3553321821

(o, Ltd.

Jlangsulitake Bectrc Co,, Lt TEERNERROERDA 22912877551

Other associates and joint ventures EfthaathE 298,101,454.33

Totdl aif 1972,563,698.99

Increase in

investment

EmRE

34,000,000.00

34,000,000.00

Other increases

T2 ) R B R I H kR

(%)

4. RURERE(E)
(3) 1$2023%6H308 -

Changes during this period
KE28

Investment gains

and losses
under the
equity method
BT
RE&RE

36,381,927.89

(44,277,856.26)
(14,853,836.24)

17,0m,217.13
(1,967,110.50)

(7,645,657.98)

IS

RN

R HIRE R AR T

Declaration
of cash
dividend 30June 203
W3E

EERSRA 6A308

1,112,736,639.67

289,167,682.90
20,679,381.97

246,199,992.64
330,134,343.83

1,998,918,041.01

Balance of
provision for
impairment as at
end of period
AEERE
HR5E

210,574,697.91

210,574,697.91
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023

XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial

Statements (Continued)
5. Revenue and cost of sales

(1)

Revenue and cost of sales:

S5 i R WA R (A

(BRI - 2EELBARET)
2023%F 1A 1HE6/430H 1B

(%)

T2 ) R B R I H Rk

5. ERWARBKAE

(1) &EHEUWARM

1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023
2023F1R102

BERABR

1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022
20261R18%

2023F6H30H L/ 2022F6A308 [HHIR
REE Revenue Cost
WA B 1/ON PR A
19,827,632,025.33 TR ERTAS  12,485,639,884.81 9,397,995,840.28
847,988,679.88 732,671,555.44 486,982,349.12 400,536,000.73

Item EH

Revenue from principal TEED
operations

Other revenue Hib %%

Total At

PARYER YA B EWC ALY YEX I  12,972,622,233.93

Details of revenue:

9,798,531,841.01

(2) ERWAH

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1HZE

20236 H30H
Item ISgE| AFHA
Engines N 17,961,200,656.27
Components TEMH 1,866,431,369.06
Sale of raw materials RMEHEE 523,104,639.39
Leasing of fixed assets HHEEEEE 110,103,484.83
Others Hith 214,780,555.66
Total &5t 20,675,620,705.21

BANE R -

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
20221 A1 &
202296 H30H
1 EAF

10,854,035,634.70
1,631,604,250.11
313,654,289.54
95,208,973.63
78,119,085.95

12,972,622,233.93




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(All amounts in RMB unless otherwise stated)
1 January to 30 June 2023
XV.Key Notes to the Company Financial
Statements (Continued)
5. Revenue and cost of sales (Continued)
(3) Other information of revenue:

Item B H
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S5 e R WA (A

(BRI RIS - £ EEN BARKETT)
2023%F 1A 1HZ6/430H 1B

+ﬂ§§$£%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ
(%)
5. ERWARBKA(K)
(3) HEWAMEMBES

Total

At

Classified by major regions of operation:
Including: Mainland China HAp o A KRR
Other countries and regions
Classified by time for recognition of
revenue:
Including: Transferred at a certain
point of time
Provided over a certain
period of time

Revenue under the Standard on Lease HEEATHRA

RIBREMERDME

20,675,620,705.21

H B R Mt -
RWAMERRH DR

B ERE-REEE

20,565,517,220.38

EX-RERAREH

110,103,484.83

Total A5t

20,675,620,705.21

6. Investment income

[tem BHH

6. REWH

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1H1HZE
20236 H30H
IEFAE

1 January 2022 to
30 June 2022
2022F1RH1RE
20226 A30H
1+ H3fE

IR RE N R HRE

Gain on long-term equity investments

under the equity method wE W=

Gain on long-term equity investments PR AN A 4% B ) &= B AR A
under the cost method wE W=

Other Efh

(7,645,657.98)

129,061,497.47

612,013.00
59,914,096.89

101,493,428.81
18,615,088.46

Total S

52,880,451.91 249,170,014.74
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Supplemental Information

1.

Schedule of Extraordinary Profit and Loss

Item

EH

Gains or losses from disposal or retirement of non-current assets

Government grants charged in profit or loss for the current
period, except for those closely related to the ordinary
operation and gained constantly at a fixed amount or
quantity according to certain standard based on state
policies

Profit and loss on the changes in fair value generated from
financial assets held for trading, derivative financial assets,
financial liabilities held for trading, derivative financial
liabilities and other non-current financial assets, and
investment income received from disposal of the above
financial assets /liabilities, other than effective hedging
business relating to ordinary operating business of the
Company

Reversal of provision for impairment of receivables
that were individually tested for impairment

Non-operating income and expenses other than
the above items

Tax effect

Effect on minority interests

FRBEERERBERS

AR HBEanBTE(ERLERE
REXBEYER  FAEX
BERE RB—EREERNL
EEREZXNBREMBRIN)

BRRARERRKZEBHEBEN
BEREMREEBI  HEXS
HEMEE TEEREE -

XEZMEHEE TEEREE -

HFRSeMEEELN AR
EBEZPERD  UNEE LM
ERMEE /AERGSHNKREKSR

BB T TIRE R S A E WO R (E
HfEE O]

B 5 18 2 S ey E At 48 ZE SN IR A
Mz

TS 2R
LHRRBEFER

Total

At

The Group recognised extraordinary profit and loss items in accordance
with the provisions in Explanatory Announcement on Information

Disclosure for Companies Offering their Securities to the Public No. 1 —

Extraordinary Items (CSRC Announcement [2008] No. 43).

1~ JEAEH P 4H 25 W AR

1 January 2023 to
30 June 2023
2023F1A1B&
202346 H30H
IEHAE

RMB

AR®T

62,130,217.23

128,459,146.18

171,797,571.85

30,061,805.40

158,455,280.94
(129,939,878.54)
(132,425,389.97)

288,538,753.09

AEBHIFFLF BRI R OERKEB(R
RBETEZNRREERERBERSESE
- EURE)(EES

)M RERT

~4[2008] 43
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Supplemental Information (Continued) i S E R ()

2. Return on Net Assets (“RONA”) and 2 - B&EEWSEZME RIS
Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)

1 January to 30 June 2023 20235 1H1EHZE6 8308 It 1A
&
Weighted
average RONA
e
BEERSE
(%) Diluted
Item EH R
Net profit attributable to the EBRARER
Company’s ordinary shareholders & A% 3 #95% #1138
Net profit attributable to the HBREEE L ERR

Company's ordinary shareholders EERRAREERK
after extraordinary profit and loss % B8 HY 55 A

1 January to 30 June 2022 2022F1A1HZEZ6A30A IL &
&
Weighted
average RONA EPS
hn#E 715
FEERGE BRI =
(%) Basic Diluted
Item EE - ke
Net profit attributable to the HENQ R T RRRES
Company’s ordinary shareholders E R 3.28 0.27 0.27
Net profit attributable to the HBRIELEEHEERBRB
Company's ordinary shareholders RAREBRRED
after extraordinary profit and loss b AN 2.22 0.19 0.19
The Group holds no potential ordinary shares that are significantly dilutive. FEBEBEABEBELELLEBR -
The Group presents RONA and EPS in accordance with Compilation Rules REBEFE E WS ENT R E T 53R
No. 9 for Information Disclosure by Companies Offering Securities to the KBRPEFEE(AABITESFNRAES
Public — Calculation and Disclosure of Return on Net Assets and Earnings BEEWANEIOR —FEEWRREEFER

per Share (Revised in 2010) of the CSRC. BT ERIREY(2010FE:T)HIRE ©
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Other Information

Directors’” and Supervisors’ Interests in Shares

oA &R

o3 MR R By M HE B B Ay

and Underlying Shares 16} % fii

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short position (if any) of the directors, RZ-ZZTE-_=F,XA=+H % H5TKAB
the chief executive and the supervisors in the shares, underlying shares and REFENAR G REME EZE(THERES KL
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning ~ E1{&HI ([ FH X EAE 150 1) EXVER) IR D - 48

of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”),

were as follows:

Bk kESFT  BERBEFRBEGIE

352{EMEARBAFTENELMAALE - R
BETRBEFETEFRHHREST A ([1R%E
FADREEAERRRARBEREZZMER

NA([EBBRP MR RER (ME)WT

Percentage of

the issued share

Number of Number of capital of
Name of Director Capacity “A" shares held “H" shares held the Company
RN
EEHE 5% i TAl REE FiEH] REE CSRITREESL
Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner 58,842,596 (Note 1) - 0.67%
D E=EEA (H5ET)
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.16%
iR R E=mEEA (H3ET1)
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner 13,684,324 (Note 1) - 0.16%
HALE E=EEA (H5ET)
Yuan Hongming Beneficial owner 1,000,440 - 0.011%
R E=EEA
Interest held by spouse 444 - 0.000005%
BB B 2
1,000,884 - 0.011%
Notes: Mz -
1. These shares were derived from the previous domestic shares of the Company. The 1. ZERMZAARNATINER - NERAARRN T

domestic shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-
denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in
Renminbi or credited as fully paid up. These shares became “A” shares of the Company
upon the “A” share listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

2. All the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position.
3. The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 8,726,556,821 issued shares

of the Company as at 30 June 2023 (comprising 6,783,516,821 “A” shares and
1,943,040,000 “H" shares).

3. BB D

THEBE  UARKIIE  SREEBAR1.00
T MARBRBBREBREIARINRER - 2FK
MRARBABRERINERZZHETRRBAR
BlZ AR »

2. ERMBINMAREERDBETR -

LETRERARRIAR=_ZFT=_=FA
=+ H #8,726,556,821 IR B B 1T 10 ( B &
6,783,516,82 1% AR% & 1,943,040,000 & HAZ ) &t &

=
=



Other Information (Continued)

Interests in the shares of associated corporations
of the Company

Interim Report 2023 FHiFkE 309

HoAtE R ()

TP 7S 2 ) AH B 325 1 M oy ) i

Approximate

Class and percentage

number of interest in the

securities entire issued

interested share capital

Name of associated or deemed of associated

Name of director corporation Nature of interest to be interested corporation

HEERR 1HAEEEE 2R

WERSEEREN ERITRAN

BEEpE HEEE AR ERME HFHERREA ERENEIL

Richard Robinson Smith KION Group AG (“KION")  Beneficial owner 50,000 ordinary shares 0.04%
(Tefl]) BREBA 8 @ Ak

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, none of the Directors, the chief
executive nor the supervisors had an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to
the Model Code.

BREXFREBREEN RZZ_=FA=+8 "
BEEF BSTHRABREEFRARRLEL
MAEBEEOBR D - HEROHESFTEERIE
&5 N E R DI 5 352 (545 E A A ER 0 % 61 P
MFENELMANERIARE - RBFREST
AIEAERAROERIRE -
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Other Information (Continued)

Details of Changes in Share Capital and

Substantial Shareholders” Shareholdings
(I) Changes in share capital
Changes in share capital (as at 30 June 2023)

HoAt E R ()

Jie A A Bl A e R A B 1 DL

() BAZHHER
BAEHBERAR(BE_T_ZFX
A=+H)

Before the movement Increase/decrease in the movement (+, -) After the movement

AREBH AREEEE (+-) EYe L3

New shares Capitalisation

No. of shares Percentage issued  Bonusissue of reserve Others Sub-total No. of shares  Percentage
1] thl EOE R LHEER if g #8 ]
| Resticted iculating shres ~ EREGERD 1,735,186,683 19.88% 2087 109008 17338%45% 19.87%
1. State-owned legal person shares 1 EREAfR 1,642,531,008 1882% 1,642,531,008 1882%
2. Shares held by other domestic ntites 1 EpRERR 92,635,675 1.06% 1292087 129087 91,363,588 105%
including: Shares held by domestic natural persons Eh e BRERAER 92,655,675 1.06% -1,292,087 -1,292,087 91,363,588 1.05%
I Nonestricted irclating shaes o BRERMER 6,991,370,138 80.12% 129,087 1292087 699,662,225 80.13%
1. RMBordinary shares 1+ AREEER 548,330,138 57.85% 1,292,087 1292087 5049,622,205 57.81%
2 Overseaslisted oreign shares 2 B EmEsER 1943,040,000 227% 1943,040,000 220%

I Total number of shares g 8,726,556,821 100.00%

8,726,556,821 100.00%



Other Information (Continued)

Details of Changes in Share Capital and Substantial
Shareholders’ Shareholdings (Continued) (
(1) Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as (I

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

HoAtE R ()

J A 525 g o 32 3 R R RS O
)
) TEREEREBER(R=2ZTZ==

at 30 June 2023)

Total number of Shareholders

The number of shareholders is
350,205 among which 349,968 are
shareholders of “A" shares and 237

are shareholders of “H" shares.

Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders

F£XA=1+8)

RERAH #350,205F  EFARRK
$349,968F - HAEMEE 237

P o

AT 108 IR FF IR B R

Approximate
percentage of Number of Number of
sharesheld  Total number of restricced  shares pledged
Name of shareholder Type of shareholder (%) shares held shares held or frozen
BREAEIL BRERE EASREN
L RRUE (%) BREY Rogg Sk 4
HKSCC Nominees Limited Foreign shareholder 22.22% 1,938,710,526 -
EBRREEREABRLA MERE
Weichai Group Holdings Limited State-owned legal person 16.30% 1,422,550,620 1,345,905,600 -
BEBEREEER LA BEBEA
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited Overseas legal person 6.33% 552,809,577 -
EENREEARAT BNEA
Weifang Investment Group Company Limited State-owned legal person 3.40% 296,625,408 296,625,408 -
EHTRESEERAA BAEA
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited Domestic non-state-owned legal person 1.87% 163,608,906 -
FEEFERRHERAR RREREEA
IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H.  Overseas legal person 131% 113,938,700 -
B RIVMR AR HERRF BNEA
Shandong Enterprise Trust Operation Company Domestic non-state-owned legal person 0.74% 64,469,893
Limited
WEEAEFELERHERAT BRFEEBEA
Tan Xuguang Domestic natural person 0.67% 58,842,596 44,131,947 -
BX FRARA
National Social Security Fund 114 Portfolio Funds, wealth management products, etc. 0.55% 47,804,357 -
2EHRES——MAS £ BMERS
National Manufacturing Transformation and State-owned legal person 0.49% 42,682,926

Upgrade Fund Co., Ltd.
ARESENARERNERAR

BREA

311
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Other Information (Continued)

HoAt E R ()

Details of Changes in Share Capital and Substantial i A< % B A 35 B B 3 FF B 1% Ot

Shareholders’ Shareholdings (Continued)

(%)

(1) Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as (II) FERRFREBER(RZ=ZTE==

at 30 June 2023) (Continued)

Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders

Name of shareholder

IRR A

FXA=1+H) (&)
A1 104 8 R BRI IR B ARIF R

Number of the
non-restricted
shares held Types of shares

FRERERTROBE BHEE

HKSCC Nominees Limited
BEBRREEREABRAA

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited

BRERREEER DA

China Securities Finance Corporation Limited

FAES BB ERAA

IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H.
B M IVM BT B i g B R A A

Weichai Group Holdings Limited
HREREEARAA

Shandong Enterprise Trust Operation Company Limited
IWREREFELLERHBERAA

National Social Security Fund 114 Portfolio
2EMHRES——NES

National Manufacturing Transformation and Upgrade Fund
Co., Ltd.
BEREEXENARESRHAERDA]

Huaxia Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — Huaxia China Securities
Financial Asset Management Plan
FERG-RERT-EEPELRMEEEEE

Dacheng Fund — Agricultural Bank of China — Dacheng China
Securities Financial Asset Management Plan

ARREE - RERT-AKTESREEEEE

1,938,710,526 Overseas listed foreign shares
Boh ETINE IR

552,809,577 RMB ordinary shares

163,608,906 RMB ordinary shares
AR L w K

113,938,700 RMB ordinary shares

76,645,020 RMB ordinary shares
AR L

64,469,893 RMB ordinary shares

47,804,357 RMB ordinary shares
AR L

42,682,926 RMB ordinary shares

33,002,800 RMB ordinary shares
AR LB

31,855,600 RMB ordinary shares
ARKELBR



Other Information (Continued)

Details of Changes in Share Capital and Substantial

Shareholders” Shareholdings (Continued)

(1) Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as
at 30 June 2023) (Continued)
Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders
(Continued)

Notes:

1. Among the aforesaid shareholders, Mr. Tan Xuguang is the chairman of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited. It is not certain whether there is any connected relationship among the
top ten shareholders and the other top ten non-restricted shareholders or whether there is
any acting in concert relationship among them.

2. As at the end of the reporting period, the Company’s securities account designated for
repurchased shares holds 87,265,525 shares of the Company, representing 1% of the
total share capital of the Company.

Interim Report 2023 FRHEAZRE

HoAtE R ()

J% A 525 g Fn 32 3 B R R IS O

(%)

I EERRERBER(R=2T==
F£XA=1+H)(HE)
AT10% MR & 184 IR 3 35 R 151
(&)

1. A ERRS B EERMEREREEERARF
BER - ARARMEAME + A RE R E A+ 5
ERERTRRZAZEFEEBEE  hARME
REBN—BITHAL -

2. HIEARERR ARFILBEEAELFELPFRESE
NAN&1787,265,5250%  (h R RAARER LA R1% °
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Other Information (Continued)

Substantial Shareholders

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant

to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange) shows that as at 30 June 2023, the following persons (other than the

directors, chief executive and supervisors) had the following interests and the

short positions (if any) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company:

HoAt E R ()

FEERER

RRARRECEF LB GEIE3361E)FENT
ERRELCM(BAEMBBEZMARDME)
R M-_ZT=ZFXA=tH  TIAL(E
£ RREEABREFHRINEARRRND R
HEROTEE TR RER (INE) ¢

Percentage of Percentage of

share capital share capital Percentage of

Long/Short Number of comprising Number of comprising total issued

Name Capacity position Ashares  only Ashares Hshares  only H shares share capital

FEARKAK EHREA EEEARA

£ Ly e/ %A ARHE Aol HE&E Bk agEat

Weichai Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Long 1422,550,620 2097% - - 16.30%
EEREERRAA ERERA i

Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. (Note 1) Interest of corporation controlled byyou ~ Long 1422,550,620 2097% - - 16.30%
WRETEEARAAHE) it 3 i

Brandes Investment Partners, LP (Note 3) Investment manager Long - - 78,578,612 16.18% 3.60%
(H3) REER e

Lazard Emerging Markets Equity Portfolio (Note 4) Investment manager Long - - 23,707,500 5.86% 1.30%
(W) AR e

Barclays PLC (Note 3) Person having a Security interest in shares ~ Long - - 525,552 0.11% 0.02%
(MzE3) FARRRHREERNA e

Interest of corporation controlled byyou  Long - - 25,453,050 5.24% 1.17%
it 3 e

25,978,602 5.35% 1.19%

Interest of corporation controlled byyou  Short - - 24,102,475 4.96% 1.10%
i Ha



Other Information (Continued)
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HoAtE R ()

Substantial Shareholders (Continued) R ()
Percentage of Percentage of

share capital share capital Percentage of

Long/Short Number of comprising Number of comprising total issued

Name Capacity position Ashares  only A shares Hshares  only H shares share capital

FARKRAK fEHR KA HERARA

1 5 e/ %8 ARZE BAl HR#A Bk L ERA

Morgan Stanley (Note 2) Interest of corporation controlled byyou ~ Long - - 49,335,508 5.08% 1.13%
(PzE2) (ARSI AR e

Interest of corporation controlled byyou ~ Short - - 42,078,545 433% 0.96%
it g we

Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager Long - - 328,810,940 16.92% 3.77%
KEER e

Citigroup Inc. Interest of corporation controlled byyou  Long - - 2,570,860 0.13% 0.03%
{rerEE AR RS e

Approved lending agent Long - - 131,669,697 6.77% 151%
HERLREA e

134,240,557 6.90% 1.54%

Interest of corporation controlled byyou ~ Short - - 1,450,000 0.07% 0.02%
{RATE S £ B R we

Platinum Investment Management Limited Investment manager Long - - 38,745,643 1.99% 044%
REER e

Trustee Long - - 71,321,948 3.98% 0.89%
ZHEA e

116,067,591 5.97% 1.33%

MG Ple Interest of corporation controlled byyou ~ Long - - 114,756,000 5.91% 132%
{RATHE S B R e



316 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRDER AT

Other Information (Continued)

Substantial Shareholders (Continued)

Notes:

1. Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., being a subsidiary of the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong Province, held the entire share
capital of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Weifang Diesel Engine
Works).

2. The number of H shares (and the relevant shareholding percentages) reported above
by the relevant substantial shareholder does not take into consideration the Company’s
bonus share issuance on 21 July 2017 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation
under the SFO where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial
shareholder.

3. The number of H shares (and the relevant shareholding percentages) reported above
by the relevant substantial shareholder does not take into consideration the Company’s
bonus share issuance on 21 July 2017 and 20 August 2015 as there is no disclosure of
interest obligation under the SFO where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings
for a substantial shareholder.

4. The number of H shares (and the relevant shareholding percentages) reported above
by the relevant substantial shareholder does not take into consideration the Company’s
bonus share issuance on 21 July 2017, 20 August 2015 and 17 August 2012 as there is
no disclosure of interest obligation under the SFO where there is no change in percentage
of shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company as
at 30 June 2023.

HoAt E R ()

FEBR ()

GEX

I WREAENHEARLURETEEARAARE
e S 0 9 7 R 28 ) B TR A A i ) ) 2
WA -

2. LRRHZAMIBREREZAREE (REWR
BB LWt RARAR Bt F LA+ —
BEALIRR S T8 « 1T i IR 838 % B 0 5 15
Pl MEBREZRET AL EED - HIBAR
B -

3. 252 ERERRRESE ZHREE (RERR
BEA) Y EFARARAR-_TE—tFLA - +—
AR-ZE-—AFNA-TENARIKETE @ WD
HRREEFRPEGRN  MEERRZBRERD
tear B - BB AR E R -

4. FR20ERERRRESE ZHREE (RERR

BED)WESARARBAR - E—+F LA+ —
B Z2-—AFNAZ+BR=ZF—ZFNA++t
AMARKETS  HIARREZESFRPER
Pl MEZRR2BRBEED LI EES)  BIDER

Bl -

BEXEEEN RZZE_=FXA=THAR
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Other Information (Continued)

Emolument Policy

The Group is strictly in compliance with laws and regulations such as the Labour
Law and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, and formulates a remuneration
system and incentive policies that suit the actual situation of the enterprise by
combining the development strategy of the enterprise, the characteristics of the

industry and the ability to pay for labour costs.

The Group adopts a differentiated and standardised annual salary system
and a non-annual salary system according to different job positions such as
management, research and development and production, where the non-annual
salary system is subdivided into salary systems such as performance-based salary

system, piece-rate (hourly) salary system and shift production daily salary system.

By evaluating the position value of all kinds of personnel and referencing the
market remuneration level, we have set the salary standard with competitive
advantages by reasonably setting the salary level hierarchy of personnel,
determining the salary level by position and the salary distribution plan by
performance, and adjusting the salary according to the performance appraisal,
increasing the incentives for talents in key positions such as research and
development, marketing and technical staffs. At the same time, we have
implemented incentive mechanisms for innovation projects, patent specialisation,
management innovation and other subsidies for overseas positions and staff
housing, and established a sound salary incentive policy to promote high-quality

and rapid development of enterprises.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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Other Information (Continued)

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures
At no time during the Period was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities of the
Company
During the Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises five
independent non-executive Directors of the Company. The Chairman of the
Audit Committee is Ms. Jiang Yan, an independent non-executive Director.
Ms. Jiang has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules for the purpose of this appointment. During the Period, the Audit
Committee discharged its responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial
results and internal control matters of the Company. In accordance with the
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee has
reviewed with the Company’s auditors the reviewed consolidated financial

statements for the Period.
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Other Information (Continued)

Compliance With Corporate Governance Code
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

Throughout the Period, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan”), and that
certain directors of the Company did not attend the Company’s annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meeting(s) held during the Period due to other
essential business engagements, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the

Listing Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The Company
considers that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation
of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to grasp business
opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that through the
supervision of its board and its independent non-executive Directors, there is

adequate balance of power and authority in place.

The Company has also adopted the revised terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee on 30 March 2023 in light of the relevant updates to

the Listing Rules.

Compliance with the Model Code

During the Period, the Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the aforementioned code of

conduct of the Company for the Period.

Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company, the Company has maintained

the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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Other Information (Continued)

Auditors
The Company appointed KPMG Huazhen LLP as the Company’s auditors on 28
June 2023.

Approval of the Financial Statements
The reviewed consolidated financial statements for the Period were approved by
the Board on 30 August 2023.

Publication of the Interim Report on the
Websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
the Company

The 2023 interim report will be despatched to the shareholders as well as made
available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk

and the Company’s website at www.weichaipower.com in due course.
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Address
Tel

Fax

P.C.

Service hotline
E-mail
Website

ILREBHES T S MR E SRR ERSRA1975RF
: +86-536-8197777 (##%)

1 +86-536-8197073

1 261061

1 400 618 3066

: weichai@weichai.com

. http://www.weichaipower.com

: Section A 197, Fu Shou East Street, High Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province
: +86-536-8197777 (Gen)

: +86-536-8197073

1 261061

: 400 618 3066

: weichai@weichai.com

: http://www.weichaipower.com
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